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The information in this prospectus is not complete and may be changed. We may not sell these securities until the
registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission is effective. This prospectus is not an offer to
sell these securities and it is not soliciting an offer to buy these securities in any state where the offer or sale is not
permitted.

SUBJECT TO COMPLETION, DATED JULY 24, 2007
PROSPECTUS

33,000,000 Shares

VMware, Inc.

Class A Common Stock
$ per share

We are selling 33,000,000 shares of Class A comstmek. We have granted the underwriters an optiggutchase up to 4,950,000
additional shares of Class A common stock fromousotver over-allotments.

This is the initial public offering of our Class@@mmon stock. We currently expect the initial palglffering price of our Class A
common stock to be between $23.00 and $25.00 pee sBur Class A common stock has been approvdisfiog on the New York Stock
Exchange under the symbol “VMW.”

EMC Corporation, or EMC, currently owns substaiiall of our outstanding common stock, and follagithis offering EMC will
continue to be our controlling stockholder. Follagithis offering, we will have two classes of authed common stock: Class A common
stock and Class B common stock. EMC, will own 38,800 shares of Class A common stock and all 300000 shares of Class B common
stock, representing approximately 89% of our totaktanding shares of common stock. The rights@hblders of Class A and Class B
common stock are identical, except with respegbting, the election of directors, conversion, agrtactions that require the consent of hol
of Class B common stock and other protective promsas set forth in this prospectus. The holde@lass B common stock shall be entitled
to 10 votes per share and the holders of Classvtuan stock shall be entitled to one vote per shiElrerefore, EMC will hold approximately
99% of the combined voting power of our outstandingymon stock upon completion of this offering.

Investing in our Class A common stock involves risk See ‘Risk Factors” beginning on page 14.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commissiorangistate securities commission has approved apgisved of these securities or
determined if this prospectus is truthful or cont@lé\ny representation to the contrary is a crirhafiense.

Per Share Total
Public Offering Price $
Underwriting Discoun $
Proceeds to VMwar $

»H H &

The underwriters expect to deliver the shares tot@asers on or about , 2007.

Citi JPMorgan Lehman Brothers
Credit Suisse Merrill Lynch & Co. Deutsche Bank Securitie




, 200°
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You should rely only on the information contained m this document or to which we have referred you. W have not authorized
anyone to provide you with information that is different. This document may only be used where it igdal to sell these securities. The

information in this document may only be accurate o the date of this document.
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SUMMARY

This summary highlights information contained elsere in this prospectus. This summary sets foehrhterial terms of this offering,
but does not contain all of the information thatiyghould consider before investing in our ClasoAmon stock. You should read the entire
prospectus carefully before making an investmeaisdn, especially the risks of investing in ouag€d A common stock discussed ur‘Risk
Factors” Unless the context otherwise requires, the tefws,” “us,” “our,” “our company” and “VMware” refer to VMware, Inc. and its
consolidated subsidiaries. Unless the context eties requires, the term “EMC” refers to our parezémpany, EMC Corporation, and its
consolidated subsidiaries other than us.

Our Business

We are the leading provider of virtualization s@uos. Our virtualization solutions represent a pieing approach to computing that
separates the operating system and applicatiowa@tfrom the underlying hardware to achieve sigaift improvements in efficiency,
availability, flexibility and manageability. Our kions enable organizations to aggregate mulplwers, storage infrastructure and networks
together into shared pools of capacity that caalleeated dynamically, securely and reliably tolaions as needed, increasing hardware
utilization and reducing spending. We believe thatmarket opportunity for our virtualization satuts is large and expanding, with
24.6 million x86 servers and 489.7 million busineksnt PCs installed worldwide as of December 2@ér customer base includes 100% of
the Fortune 100 and over 84% of the Fortune 1,000.customer base for our server solutions has mgtovinclude 20,000 organizations of all
sizes across numerous industries. We believe dutigas deliver significant economic value for austers, and many have adopted our
solutions as the strategic and architectural fotiaddor their future computing initiatives.

In the eight years since the introduction of otstfirtualization platform, we have expanded offering with virtual infrastructure
automation and management products to addresgdistl and heterogeneous infrastructure challeagels as system recoverability and
reliability, backup and recovery, resource provigig and management, capacity and performance rearexg and desktop security. Our
broad and proven suite of virtualization solutiaslresses a range of complex IT problems thatdecinfrastructure optimization, business
continuity, software lifecycle management and degkhanagement.

We work closely with over 200 technology partnéms|uding leading server, processor, storage, nédwg and software vendors. We
have shared the economic opportunities surroundigalization with our partners by facilitatinglaton development through open
application programming interfaces (APIs), formatsl protocols and providing access to our sourde emd technology. The endorsement
support of our partners have further enhancedwseness, reputation and adoption of our virtutibnasolutions.

We have developed a multi-channel distribution nhéalexpand our presence and reach various segrogtits market. We derive a
significant majority of our revenues from our latigdirect sales channel of more than 4,000 chapaethers that include distributors, resellers,
x86 system vendors and systems integrators. Weueethat our partners benefit greatly from the s&leur solutions through additional
services, software and hardware sales opportuniieshave trained a large number of partners addusars to deploy and leverage our
solutions.

We have achieved strong financial performance te,d& demonstrated by our revenue growth. Oulrretanues were $703.9 million in
2006 and $387.1 million in 2005, representing amaase of 82% in 2006. Software license revenues $491.9 million in 2006 and $287.0
million in 2005, representing an increase of 7192006.
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The historical financial information we have incaddin this prospectus includes allocations of @ertarporate functions historically
provided to us by EMC, including tax, accountimgasury, legal and human resources services aped g¢meral corporate expenses. These
allocations were made based on estimates whicbom®dered reasonable by our management. Our ioetoesults are not necessarily
indicative of what our results of operations, fiogh position, cash flows or costs and expenseddvoave been had we been an independent
entity during the historical periods presented batwour results of operations, financial positicash flows or costs and expenses will be in the
future when we are a publicly traded, stand-al@mapany.

Industry Background

The introduction of x86 servers in the 1980s predid low-cost alternative to mainframe and proarieUNIX systems. The broad
adoption of Windows and the emergence of Linuxexges operating systems in the 1990s establishéd&8/ers as the industry standard. The
growth in x86 server and desktop deployments hasdoced new operational risks and IT infrastruettinallenges. These challenges include:

» Low Infrastructure Utilizatior. Typical x86 server deployments achieve anagyeutilization of only 10% to 15% of total capgg
according to International Data Corporation (ID&market research firm. Organizations typically ame application per server to
avoid the risk of vulnerabilities in one applicatiaffecting the availability of another application the same serve

» Increasing Physical Infrastructure Cos. The operational costs to support growing ptalsnfrastructure have steadily increased.
Most computing infrastructure must remain operatiat all times, resulting in power consumptionplany and facilities costs that
do not vary with utilization levels

* Increasing IT Management Co:. As computing environments become more complex|evel of specialized education ¢
experience required for infrastructure managemerggmnel and the associated costs of such persbanelincreased. Organizations
spend disproportionate time and resources on maasikd associated with server maintenance, andelguge more personnel to
complete these task

« Insufficient Failover and Disaster Protecti. ~Organizations are increasingly affected bydbentime of critical server applicatic
and inaccessibility of critical end user desktofise threat of security attacks, natural disastezalth pandemics and terrorism has
elevated the importance of business continuitygitegnfor both desktops and serve

» Desktop Management and Secu. Managing and securing enterprise desktopseptesimerous challenges. Controllin
distributed desktop environment and enforcing mansnt, access and security policies without impgitisers’ ability to work
effectively is complex and expensive. Numerous lpagcand upgrades must be continually applied thtde£nvironments to
eliminate security vulnerabilitie

Virtualization was first introduced in the 1970setoable multiple business applications to sharefahdharness the centralized
computing capacity of mainframe systems. Virtualarawas effectively abandoned during the 1980s¥3fDs when clienserver application
and inexpensive x86 servers and desktops estathliteeemnodel of distributed computing. Rather thiaaring resources centrally in the
mainframe model, organizations used the low coslisifibuted systems to build up islands of commytiapacity, providing some benefits but
also introducing new challenges. In 1999, VMwatedduced virtualization to x86 systems as a mearmdficiently address many of these
challenges and to transform x86 systems into géparpose, shared hardware infrastructure tharefidl isolation, mobility and operating
system choice for application environments.
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We believe that the addressable market opportdimitgur virtualization solutions is large and exgimg. IDC estimates that less than
one million of the 24.6 million x86 servers andsl¢isan five million of the 489.7 million businedent PCs deployed worldwide are running
virtualization software. We believe industry trerid&ards more powerful yet under-utilized mutire servers and the increasing complexit
managing desktop environments will further acceéethe widespread adoption of virtualization fottbserver and desktop deployments.

Our Solution

Our virtualization solutions run on industry-stargtlaervers and desktops and support a wide rangpeséting system and application
environments, as well as networking and storagastifucture. We have designed our solutions totioméndependently of the hardware and
operating system to provide customers with a bplatform choice. Our solutions provide a key intggm point for hardware and
infrastructure management vendors to deliver difiiated value that can be applied uniformly acedksapplication and operating system
environments. Key benefits to our virtualizatiomusions include:

Server Consolidation and Infrastructure Optimizati  Our solutions enable organizations to achigyeificantly higher resourc
utilization by pooling common infrastructure resoes and breaking the legs“one application to one ser” model.

Physical Infrastructure Cost Reductic Through server consolidation and containmeunt,solutions reduce the required numbe
servers and other related infrastructure overh®aglanizations are able to significantly decreasgesiglal infrastructure costs through
reduced data center space, power and cooling sxgairts

Improved Operational Flexibility and Responsiven We offer a set of automation and managementisak that reduce tt
amount of time IT professionals must spend on Igrgeactive tasks, such as provisioning, configoratmonitoring and
maintenance. Additionally, as the need for physitfrhstructure decreases, so does the need fdrighé/-specialized personnel
required to manage and maintain such environm

Increased Application Availability and Improved Biwess Continuit.  Our solutions enable organizations to redwath plannec
and unplanned downtime in their computing environtady allowing them to securely migrate entireual environments to
separate servers or even data center locationsutitlser interruptior

Improved Desktop Manageability and Secu. Our desktop virtualization solutions allowdfganizations to efficiently control a
secure desktop environments to end users regafi¢issir location, desktop hardware, operatingesysor business application
access need

Our Competitive Strengths

We believe that the following competitive strengplosition us well to maintain and extend our lealigrin virtualization solutions:

leading technology and market positis

broad product portfolic

open standards and choice of operating syst
large installed base of custome

strong partner network; ar

robust global support operations and servi
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Our Growth Strategy

Our objective is to extend our market leadershipiitualization solutions. To accomplish this oltjee, we intend to:
» broaden our product portfoli

» enable choice for customers and drive standi

» expand our network of technology and distributi@ntpers;

* increase sales to existing customers and pursueuastwmers; an

* increase market awareness and drive adoption tofalization.

Risks that We Face

You should carefully consider the risks describadar “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this prospecitnese risks could materially and
adversely impact our business, financial conditaperating results and cash flow, which could cabsdrading price of our Class A common
stock to decline and could result in a partialaatloss of your investment.

Our Relationship with EMC

We were acquired by EMC in January 2004, and padhis offering we were operated as a wholly owselsidiary of EMC. As a rest
in the ordinary course of our business, we haveived various services provided by EMC, includiag, taccounting, treasury, legal and hui
resources services. EMC has also provided us Wélseérvices of a number of its executives and eyepl® prior to this offering and will
continue to do so after this offering.

EMC Will Be Our Controlling Stockholder. Immediately following this offering, EMC, whiakill hold approximately 43% of our
Class A common stock and 100% of our Class B comstaek, will own approximately 89% of our outstamglicommon stock and 99% of the
combined voting power of our outstanding commorlsi@pproximately 88% of our outstanding commoristand 98% of the combined
voting power of our outstanding common stock if timelerwriters exercise in full their ovallotment option). As a result, EMC will continua
control us following the completion of this offegnand will be able to exercise control over altt@ requiring stockholder approval,
including the election of our directors and appt@fasignificant corporate transactions.

Agreements Between EMC and Us. We will enter into several agreements with Eptdr to the completion of this offering, including
a master transaction agreement, an administratinéces agreement, a new tax sharing agreememaiectual property agreement, an
employee benefits agreement, an insurance magege@ent and a real estate agreement. For a déstigp these agreements and the other
agreements that we will enter into with EMC, re@ftain Relationships and Related Person Transestidkelationship with EMC
Corporation.”
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Exchange Offer

In connection with the offering, we are conductingoluntary exchange offer pursuant to which weddfering our eligible employees t
ability to exchange their existing EMC options agdtricted stock awards for options to purchaseGlass A common stock and restricted
stock awards of our Class A common stock, respelgtiat an exchange ratio based upon EMC's twovagighted average trading price prior
to the consummation of this offering and the initiablic offering price of our Class A common stogke exchange ratio is designed to
preserve the intrinsic value of the tendered EM@ral. In this prospectus, we refer to this voluntatchange offer as the “exchange offer.”
We are making the exchange offer to eligible emgésyfor compensatory purposes. Our board of dirgbielieves that ownership by our
employees of options to purchase our Class A constark and restricted stock awards of our ClassAraon stock received in the exchange
offer will serve as an effective tool to encouraggck option and restricted stock recipients torathe VMware stockholders’ interest by
enabling the option recipients to have an econataike in our success.

We and EMC commenced the exchange offer on JW@9@7, prior to the effectiveness of our registrattatement on Form S-4, in
accordance with Rule 162 of the Securities Act@83, as amended, and Rule 13e-4(e)(2) of the SmsuEixchange Act of 1934, as amended.
We commenced the exchange offer on such date asxpasted to cause the exchange offer to expireuroently with the pricing of shares in
this offering. We believe that the proposed timifighe exchange offer relative to this offering¢isthat the initial value of the VMware
options and restricted stock received by eligibigplyees in the exchange offer will be based upeniritial offering price of shares in this
offering, will advance the compensatory objectiuéthe exchange offer and that tying equity compéoas to the initial offering price of shal
will provide eligible employees a strong incentteeparticipate in our potential growth from the ¢éiwe become a public company.

All of our employees in the United States who HBMC options and EMC restricted stock will be eligilto participate in the exchange
offer. As of June 30, 2007, there were approxinyated00 employees who would be eligible to parttgin the exchange offer. Based on an
assumed initial public offering price of $24.00 glare (the midpoint of the range set forth oncihneer page of this prospectus) and an
assumed EMC two-day weighted average trading pifid9.54 (the average of the volume-weighted ayemice per share of EMC stock for
the two days ended July 20, 2007), a maximum of@pmately 14.7 million shares of our Class A classnmon stock underlying options o
the form of restricted stock awards granted woddssued pursuant to the exchange offer, if adiilele employees tendered all of their EMC
options and EMC restricted stock. We estimate tthetunamortized fair value of the exchanged awaitide approximately $103.1 million,
which will be recognized over their vesting periods

To assist potential investors in understandingotitential impact of the exchange offer on earnipgsshare, we note that supplemental
pro forma basic and supplemental pro forma dile@chings per share amounts would have been $028&8?2 for the year ended December
31, 2006 and $0.11 and $0.11 for the three momttisceMarch 31, 2007, respectively, assuming tHeviahg:

» Supplemental pro forma basic and diluted earnirgspare data assumes actual pre-tax income isegddiy $380,000 and
$3,756,000 for the three months ended March 317 20@ the year ended December 31, 2006, respsgtare net income is
reduced by $238,000 and $2,348,000 for the thregmseended March 31, 2007 and the year ended Dexe3itb2006, respectivel
to reflect the estimated impact of the respectimeqol’s amortization of the incremental stock comgagion expense resulting from
the exchange offe

» Supplemental pro forma basic weighted average slta assumes the issuance and sale of the fa8GBD00 shares of our Clas:
common stock (assuming the over-allotment opticexercised in full) had occurred January 1, 20@ppEmental pro forma basic
weighted average shares also assumes the issuahsala of 9,500,000 shares of our Class A comrtank $o Intel Capital
(describec
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below undel“Recent Developmer”) had occurred January 1, 2006. (This differs fromtihsic pro forma per share data prese
under “Summary Consolidated Financial Data,” “StdddConsolidated Financial Data” and the consatiddinancial statements.
That presentation includes only the incremental lmemof shares necessary to be sold to fund the anedahe April 2007 dividend
to EMC in excess of the most recent twelve monglaiisiings.) The calculation includes the exercishefover-allotment option to
provide potential investors the ability to undenstdghe maximum amount of dilution that may occuaassult of this offering and tl
exchange offer. This assumption varies from otherfgrma amounts shown in other parts of the prossethat give effect to the
offering in which the oveallotment option is not assumed to be exerci

» Supplemental pro forma diluted earnings per shareuats assume (1) the issuance and sale of the &lasmmon stock (pursua
to this offering and to the Intel investment) oe thrms described above and (2) the consummatitireafxchange offer assuming
100% of all the options and shares are exchangsdna@ng an initial public offering price of $24.p6r share (the midpoint of the
range set forth on the cover of this prospectud)assuming EMC'’s two-day weighted average tradiigegprior to the
consummation of the initial public offering of C$a8 common stock is $19.54 per share (the averftfeeosolumeweighted averac
price per share of EMC stock for the two days entldg 20, 2007). If zero equity instruments wersuased to be exchanged, diluted
income per share for these periods would be the senthe basic earnings per sh

This compares to reported basic and diluted easnpeg share of $0.26 and $0.26 for the year endeeibber 31, 2006 and $0.12 and
$0.12 for the three months ended March 31, 20Gpestively.

Recent Developments

VMware and Intel Corporation, or Intel, have hadbagoing strategic relationship. VMwaseébase virtualization platform virtualizes Ir
architecture. Intel Capital Corporation, or Intelfital, the global investment arm of Intel, haseaglrto invest $218.5 million in our Class A
common stock at $23.00 per share, subject to theaion of the applicable waiting period under thart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust
Improvements Act of 1976, or the HSR Act, and thisgaction of other customary closing conditiodpon the closing of the investment, Intel
Capital will own 9.5 million shares, or approximigt&2.7%, of our Class A common stock to be outditag after this offering and
approximately 2.5% of our total common stock whigh then be outstanding, which shares will repreédess than 1% of the combined voting
power of our outstanding common stock. Pursuairited Capital’'s proposed investment, at the lafahe closing of the investment, and the
earlier of the completion of this offering and Sapber 30, 2007, our board of directors will appaimew board member, an Intel executive to
be designated by Intel and acceptable to our b&dedhave also entered into an investor rights ages¢ with Intel Capital pursuant to which
Intel Capital will have certain registration anthet rights as a holder of our Class A common st8ele “Description of Capital Stock.” In
addition, we and Intel have entered into a rousing customary collaboration partnering agreemettekpresses the parties’ intent to continue
to expand their cooperative efforts around jointedepment, marketing and industry initiatives. ligténvestment is intended to foster
strengthened intercompany collaboration towardglacating VMware virtualization product adoption loel architecture and reinforcing the
value of virtualization technology for customers.

This investment will not cause any change to VMvwsacentinued operation under our rules of engageéméh respect to open industry
partnerships and confidentiality principles thatpublish to our technology partners.

In June 2007, VMware adopted the 2007 Equity acéntive Plan, which provides for the granting aicktoptions or other stock-based
awards, including awards of restricted stock. Tigtoduly 2, 2007, VMware’s

6
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Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee tmad-based grants to issue approximately 33l@mstock options and
approximately 453,000 restricted stock units. Thesards have a fair value of approximately $260il6an, which will be recognized over tt
awards’ vesting periods, resulting in incrementplity-based compensation expense through 2011:Mi@agement’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Gaiems—Equity-based Compensation.”

Corporate Facts

We were incorporated in Delaware in 1998 and haeraied, in large part, as an independent entigesbur inception. Since our
acquisition by EMC in January 2004, we have bearatpd as a wholly owned subsidiary of EMC. Ourdgearters are located at 3401
Hillview Avenue, Palo Alto, California 94304 andrq@hone number is (650) 427-5000. Our website iswumware.com. Information
contained on, or that can be accessed throughwelosite does not constitute part of this prospectus

VMware is our registered trademark. The VMware lagour trademark. This prospectus also includedetnames, trademarks and
service marks of other companies and organizatibmaughout this prospectus, references to “desktogfer to various common types of
personal computers, including desktops, laptops nextebooks among others, and references to “basitient PCs” refer to desktops used by
business users.
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Class A common stock offered by

Class A common stock to be outstanding &
this offering

THE OFFERING
33,000,000 share

75,000,000 shares, including 9,500,000 shares issbed to Intel Capital, subject to the
closing of the Intel investment, and 32,500,000 aha&urrently held by EM@

Class B common stock to be outstanding after 300,000,000 shares, all of which are held by EMIC

this offering

Total common stock to be outstanding after this375,000,000 shares

offering

Voting rights

Use of proceed

Listing

Proposed symbc

Following this offering, we will have two classefsauthorized common stock: Class A
common stock and Class B common stock. The rightfseoholders of Class A and Class B
common stock are identical, except with respegbting, conversion, the election of
directors, certain actions that require the coneéhblders of Class B common stock and
other protective provisions as set forth in thisgpectus. The holders of Class B common
stock are entitled to 10 votes per share, anddldebhs of Class A common stock are
entitled to one vote per share. The holders of CBasommon stock, voting separately as a
class, are entitled to elect 80% of the total nunabehe directors on our board of directors
which we would have if there were no vacancies unbmard of directors at the time.
Subiject to any rights of any series of preferredlsto elect directors, the holders of Clas
common stock and the holders of Class B commorkstating together as a single class,
are entitled to elect the remaining directors ontmard of directors, which at no time will
be less than one director. Each share of ClassrBrmm stock is convertible into one share
of Class A common stock at any time. ¢ Description of Capital Stoc”

We estimate that our net proceeds from this oftevill be approximately $741.4 millic
($853.7 million if the underwriters exercise inlfikleir over-allotment option), based on the
assumed initial public offering price of $24.00 gbare (the midpoint of the range set forth
on the cover page of this prospectus). We intengséthese net proceeds to repay
approximately $350.0 million of intercompany indetmess owed to EMC incurred to fund
a dividend to EMC, to purchase from EMC our newdwgerter facilities for an amount
equal to the cost expended by EMC to date in coasiig the facilities, which totaled
approximately $127.0 million as of June 30, 200 #or working capital and other general
corporate purposes, including to finance our grow#velop new products, fund capital
expenditures and potential acquisitions. “Use ofProceed!”

Our Class A common stock has been authorizeddtingj on the New York Stock
Exchange

“VMW”

(1) EMC’'s ownership of our Class A and Class B common sidtkepresent approximately 89% of our total datsling shares of commu
stock and 99% of the combined voting power of austanding common stock following this offerir

8
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Unless otherwise stated, the number of sharesasfsG\ and Class B common stock outstanding immegiafter this offering is based
upon the offering of 33,000,000 shares of Clasemon stock pursuant to this offering, 9,500,008res of Class A common stock to be
acquired by Intel Capital (as described above ufi@ecent Developments”), 32,500,000 shares of Gdassmmon stock and 300,000,000
shares of Class B common stock held by EMC anduers 80,000,000 shares of Class A common stockvesséor issuance under our 2007
Equity and Incentive Plan, including:

» 35,799,411 shares of Class A common stock issugdula the exercise of stock option awards granteldine and July 2007 with an
exercise price of $23.00 per share and 452,67@&shdrour Class A common stock deliverable upornvésting of restricted stock
units; anc

» shares of Class A common stock issuable either tipoexercise of stock option awards or restristedk awards that will b
granted pursuant to the terms of the exchange.t

Assuming that:

» all employees eligible to take part in the exchaoffer tender their existing EMC options and reséd stock awards in exchange
options to purchase our Class A common stock astdicted stock awards of our Class A common stoespectively

« EMC's weighted average stock price, as calculated patga the terms of the exchange offer, is equlMilC’ s closing price 0
$19.54 (the average of the volu-weighted average price per share of EMC stockifertivo days ended July 20, 2007); i

» the initial public offering price for shares of odQtass A common stock is $24.00 (the midpoint efridinge set forth on the cover p
of this prospectus

then 10.0 million shares of Class A common stodkaiweighted average strike price of $14.47 wéligsuable upon the exercise of stock
options granted pursuant to the exchange offedandhnillion shares of Class A common stock willduject to restricted stock awards grai
pursuant to the exchange offer.

If EMC’s weighted average stock price as calculgesuant to the terms of the exchange offer i8®greater and the other assumptions
set forth above remain the same, then 0.5 millienenshares of Class A common stock will be issuaptn the exercise of stock options
granted in the exchange offer and 0.2 million nedrares of Class A common stock will be subjecesiricted stock awards granted in the
exchange offer. If EMC’s weighted average stockeas calculated pursuant to the terms of the exgehaffer is $1.00 less and the other
assumptions set forth above remain the same, tlemilion fewer shares of Class A common stocK b issuable upon the exercise of stock
options granted in the exchange offer and 0.2 omlfewer shares of Class A common stock will bgesthio restricted stock awards granted in
the exchange offer.

If the initial public offering price for shares ofir Class A common stock is $1.00 greater and tther @ssumptions set forth above rer
the same, then 0.4 million fewer shares of Clags®#imon stock will be issuable upon the exercisgt@tk options granted in the exchange
offer and 0.2 million fewer shares of Class A conmnstock will be subject to restricted stock awagdmted in the exchange offer. If the initial
public offering price for shares of our Class A coon stock is $1.00 less and the other assumptetrfersh above remain the same, then 0.4
million more shares of Class A common stock willis®iable upon the exercise of stock options gdaint¢he exchange offer and 0.2 million
more shares of Class A common stock will be sulifeegstricted stock awards granted in the exchaifige.

Unless otherwise stated, all information in thisgectus assumes the underwriters do not exehageover-allotment option.
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SUMMARY CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following tables present our summary consodiddtistorical financial information. You should dethis information together
with the consolidated financial statements andedlaotes and the information under “Managemenissssion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” iield elsewhere in this prospectus.

The data for the years ended December 31, 200@@0t and the period from January 9, 2004 to Dece®ibe2004 have been
derived from our audited consolidated financiatesteents included elsewhere in this prospectus.diite for the three months ended
March 31, 2007 and 2006 have been derived fronunaudited consolidated financial statements inauglsewhere in this prospectus.
We have prepared the unaudited consolidated finhstEatements on the same basis as the auditedlictated financial statements and
the opinion of management, the statements refleatipistments, which include only normal recurremjustments, necessary to present
fairly the financial information set forth in theseatements. On January 8, 2004, all of our cagitadk was purchased by EMC. The
acquisition was accounted for as a purchase; aicgdyd our assets and liabilities were adjusteth&r fair market values. Prior to the
acquisition by EMC, our fiscal year ended on Jap34r. In connection with the acquisition, our fisgaar end was changed to
December 31 to conform to EMEYear end. The data for the fiscal year endedaigr8i, 2003 was derived from the audited constdid
financial statements of our predecessor, whichnaténcluded in this prospectus. The data for theqgal from February 1, 2003 to
January 8, 2004 was derived from the unauditedaimzged financial statements of our predecesshighware not included in this
prospectus. As a result of our acquisition by EM@ the resulting change in basis, the results efaipns and financial position of our
predecessor are not comparable with our resultgerfations and financial position following our aisition by EMC.

Our consolidated financial statements include alfionis of certain corporate functions provided sdoy EMC, including general
corporate expenses. These allocations were maee basestimates of effort or resources incurredwrbehalf and which are considered
reasonable by management. Additionally, certairiotiosts incurred by EMC for our direct benefiglsas rent, salaries and benefits t
been included in our financial statements.

The financial statements included in this prospeatay not necessarily reflect our results of opemat financial position and cash
flows as if we had operated as a stand-alone coyngharing all periods presented. Accordingly, owstaiical results should not be relied
upon as an indicator of our future performance.
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Successor Compan'

Predecessor Compan'

Three Months Ended Years Ended

Period from

Period from

March 31, December 31, January 9, 2004 tc February 1, 2003 tc Year Ended
2007 2006 2006 2005 Decemberysl, 20C January 8 2004 January 31, 200:
(in thousands, except per share amounts) (in thousands)
Summary of Operations:
Revenues
License@ $169,55° $ 90,30( $491,90: $287,00¢ $ 178,87 $ 61,98( $ 31,21¢
Serviced? 89,13¢ 38,77: 212,00: 100,06¢ 39,88: 12,22( —
Total revenue 258,69! 129,07 703,90: 387,07 218,75¢ 74,20( 31,21¢
Costs of revenue:
Cost of license revenue:
@@ 20,55¢ 12,40¢ 59,20: 40,34( 32,81: 3,44¢ 5,59¢
Cost of services revenues
@@ 23,46¢ 9,59¢ 64,18( 24,85 12,62¢ 4,77( —
44,024 22,00« 123,38 65,19: 45,43¢ 8,21¢ 5,59¢
Gross profi 214,67: 107,07: 580,52: 321,88: 173,32( 65,98 25,62(
Operating expense
Research and
developmen®) 54,95¢ 22,33t 148,25 72,56 43,90( 25,38: 15,78¢
Sales and marketing 86,707 42 ,56¢ 238,32 124,96« 59,97¢ 23,02¢ 12,457
General and
administrative® 26,62« 11,847 69,60: 30,76: 19,037 11,53¢ 4,16¢
In-process research anc
developmen — — 3,70( — 15,20( — —
Operating income (los: 46,38: 30,32t 120,63¢ 93,59t 35,207 6,03: (6,799
Investment incom 2,971 34C 3,271 3,077 53 463 554
Other income (expense), r 59 (34¢) (1,369 (1,337) (110 (27) —
Income (loss) before tax: 49,41¢ 30,311 122,54 95,34( 35,15( 6,46¢ (6,239
Income tax provisioff) 8,33¢ 9,981 36,83: 28,56¢ 18,36¢ 1,84¢ 14E
Income (loss) befor
cumulative effect of
change in accounting
principle 41,08( 20,33¢ 85,71 66,77" 16,78: 4,62( (6,389
Cumulative effect of a
change in accounting
principle (net of tax — 17t 17¢ — — — —
Net income (loss $ 41,08 $ 2051 $ 8589 $66,77° $ 16,78:| $ 462 $ (6,389
Net income per weighte
average share, basic and
diluted for Class A and
Class B $ 01z $ 00¢€ $ 026 $ 020 $ 0.0t N/A N/A
Weighted average shares,
basic and diluted for
Class A and Class 332,50C  332,50( 332,50( 332,50( 332,50( N/A N/A
Pro forma basic and diluted
earnings per share for
Class A and Class B $ 0.11 $ 0.24
Pro forma weighted averac
shares, basic and dilute
for Class A and Class 363,36¢ 363,36¢
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As of March 31, 2007

Pro Forma

Actual Pro Forma ©® As Adjusted @
(in thousands)
Balance Sheet Data

Cash and cash equivalel $ 258,46¢ $ 476,96¢ $ 741,40¢
Working capital 3,44¢ 221,94¢ 486,38t
Total asset 1,244,31 1,462,81 1,854,25
Total debi 800,00 800,00 450,00(

Redeemable common sto — 218,50( —
Total stockholders’ equity (deficify (183,49) (183,49) 776,44

(1) InJune 2006, we acquired all of the outstandirageshof Akimbi Systems, Inc. See Note B to the obdated financial statemen
included elsewhere in this prospeci

(2) The Company did not separate its revenues or ¢sstvenues between license and services for thegreded January 31, 2003. F
purposes of this presentation, the total revenodda@tal cost of revenues for such period have Ipgesented as license revenues and cos
of license revenues, respective

(3) Includes stoc-based compensation, acquisi-related intangible amortization and capitalizedwafe development costs amortizati
and excludes capitalized software development castsdicated in the table belo

Successor Compan' Predecessor Compan'
Three Months Year Ended Period from January 9, Year Ended
Ended March 31, December 31, Period from February 1, January 31, 200:
2004 to December 31,
2007 2006 2006 2005 2004 2003 to January 8, 200

Cost of license revenu
Stock-based

compensatiol $ 36 $ 14 $ 99 $ — $ — $ — $ —
Acquisition-related

intangible

amortization 5,21t 5,381 21,84( 23,357 25,487 — —
Capitalized software

development costs

amortizatior 7,981 2,76¢ 22,29¢ 6,15¢ 1,317 — —

Cost of services

revenues — —
Stock-based

compensatiol 494 39t 2,38¢ 1,29¢ 1,061 — —

Research an

developmer
Stock-based

compensation not

capitalized 6,39 2,22t 26,34: 14,65¢ 10,29: — —
Total capitalized

software

development cos! (7,599 (17,67)) (43,019 (25,109 (8,15%) — —
Stock-based

compensation

included in total

capitalized software

development costs

above 927 5,32¢ 10,48¢ 3,54¢ — — —

Sales and marketin
Stock-based

compensatiol 2,94¢ 1,84( 12,02( 5,341 4,67 — —
Acquisition-related

intangible

amortizatior 577 544 2,18¢ 1,78¢ — — —

General and

administrative
Stock-based

compensatiol 1,77¢ 1,99¢ 10,38! 5,77¢ 3,51¢ — —
Acquisition-related

intangible

amortizatior 492 374 1,49¢ 1,00( 772 — —

(4) The income tax effect of stock-based compensatioguisition-related intangible amortization, calpited software development costs
and amortization of capitalized software developnuasts was $5,144, $(167), $18,042, $9,567, $9$83and $—for the three montt
ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, the years e
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(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

December 31, 2006 and 2005, the period from Jar@ye&2904 to December 31, 2004, the period from draatyrl, 2003 to January 8, 2(
and 2003, respectivel

Unaudited pro forma per share data gives effe¢hénveighted average shares used in the calcojatidhe additional 30.9 million
shares, which, when multiplied by the assumed wifigprice of $24.00 per share (the midpoint ofifwege set forth on the cover page of
this prospectus), and after giving effect to aata allocation of offering costs, would have besguired to be issued to generate
proceeds sufficient to pay the portion of the $800,dividend declared in April 2007 (see Note Mrte consolidated financial stateme
included elsewhere in this prospectus) that exabétke most recent twelve mon’ net earnings

The pro forma balance sheet data gives effectaddsuance and sale of 9,500,000 shares of ous Blasmmon stock to Intel Capital 1
proceeds of $218,500. Pursuant to the terms ahtfestor rights agreement with Intel Capital, ie #wvent we do not complete an
underwritten public offering with an aggregate prio the public of at least $250,000 on or befoeeddnber 31, 2007, Intel Capital may
require us to repurchase the Class A common statkttholds. The pro forma balance sheet datasgeffect to the investment as
redeemable common stock due to this repurchaserée

The pro forma as adjusted balance sheet data gffext to (i) the issuance and sale of 9,500,0@0eshof our Class A common stock
Intel Capital for proceeds of $218,500, (ii) thelassification of the capital proceeds of $218,650én the Intel sale from redeemable
common stock to permanent equity since the redempgiature described above lapses upon completitimsooffering, (iii) the issuance
and sale of 33,000,000 shares of our Class A constomk in this offering at an assumed initial paldffering price of $24.00 per share
(the midpoint of the range set forth on the cowegepof this prospectus), (iv) the repayment of $380 of principal amount of the
$800,000 intercompany note we incurred to fundvaddnd to EMC, (v) the purchase from EMC of our rfieeadquarters facilities for an
amount equal to the cost expended by EMC to daternstructing the facilities, which totaled approately $127,000 as of June 30,
2007, and (vi) the deduction of estimated undeimgitliscounts and offering expenses payable b

The stockholders’ equity (deficit) as of March 2007, gives retroactive effect to the $800,000d#vid paid to EMC in the form of a
note in April 2007. See Note M to the financialtetaents
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RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider the risks describelbly before making a decision to buy our Class Wrmon stock. If any of the followi
risks actually occur, our business, financial cdiwdi and results of operations could be harmedhht case, the trading price of our Class A
common stock could decline and you might losergtlast of your investment in our Class A commorelstYou should also refer to the other
information set forth in this prospectus, includittgprward-Looking Statements” and our consolidatiétiancial statements and the related
notes.

Risks Related to Our Business

The virtualization products and services we seledrased on an emerging technology and therefore th&ential market for our products
remains uncertain.

The virtualization products and services we develog sell are based on an emerging technologyophatand our success depends on
organizations and customers perceiving technolbgivd operational benefits and cost savings assatigith adopting virtualization solutior
Our relatively limited operating history and théatevely limited extent to which virtualization adlons have been currently adopted may make
it difficult to evaluate our business because thieiptial market for our products remains uncertdmthe extent that the virtualization market
develops more slowly or less comprehensively tharexpect, our revenue growth rates may slow méliedaour revenue may decline
substantially.

We expect to face increasing competition that cotdgdult in a loss of customers, reduced revenuesiecreased profit margins.

The market for our products is competitive and wgeet competition to significantly intensify in tiigture. For example, Microsoft
currently provides products that compete with safmeur entry-level offerings and has announcedhtisntion to provide products that will
compete with some of our enterprise-class prodadfse future. We also face competition from otb@empanies, including several recent
market entrants. Existing and future competitory m&roduce products in the same markets we serugtend to serve, and competing
products may have better performance, lower priceer functionality and broader acceptance tharpooducts. Many of our current or
potential competitors also have longer operatisgohies, greater name recognition, larger custdrases and significantly greater financial,
technical, sales, marketing and other resourceswieado. This competition could result in increapeding pressure and sales and marketing
expenses, thereby materially reducing our profitgims, and could harm our ability to increase, ause us to lose, market share. Increased
competition also may prevent us from entering mtoenewing service contracts on terms similahtisé that we currently offer.

Some of our competitors and potential competitapply a wide variety of products to, and have vestlablished relationships with, our
current and prospective end users. Some of theapetiiors have in the past and may in the futuke tadvantage of their existing relationst
to engage in business practices that make our ptetkss attractive to our end users. For exanMilzosoft has recently implemented
distribution arrangements with x86 system vendagsiadependent software vendors, or ISVs, relatezkttain of their operating systems that
only permit the use of Microsoft’s virtualizatioarfnat and do not allow the use of our corresponébngat. Microsoft has also recently
implemented pricing policies that require customergay additional license fees based on certaés o$virtualization technology. These
distribution and licensing restrictions, as welloéiser business practices that may be adopteckifutore by our competitors, could materially
impact our prospects regardless of the merits opoaducts. In addition, competitors with existirggationships with our current or prospective
end users could in the future integrate competitygabilities into their existing products and mékem available without additional charge.

We also face potential competition from our parsn&or example, third parties currently selling products could build and market th
own competing products and services or market cangperoducts and services of third parties. Ifave unable to compete effectively, our
growth and our ability to sell products at profiamargins could be materially and adversely aéfeéct
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Industry alliances or consolidation may result im¢reased competition.

Some of our competitors have made acquisitionsitared into partnerships or other strategic refstidps with one another to offer a
more comprehensive virtualization solution tharytimelividually had offered. We expect these tretalsontinue as companies attempt to
strengthen or maintain their market positions mekolving virtualization infrastructure industiMany of the companies driving this trend h
significantly greater financial, technical and athesources than we do and may be better posititmadquire and offer complementary
products and technologies. The companies resttimy these possible combinations may create mamgetling product offerings and be a
to offer greater pricing flexibility than we can miay engage in business practices that make it diffieult for us to compete effectively,
including on the basis of price, sales and marggtirograms, technology or product functionalitye$é pressures could result in a substantial
loss of customers or a reduction in our revenues.

Our operating results may fluctuate significantlyhich makes our future results difficult to predi@nd may result in our operating
results falling below expectations or our guidanoghich could cause the price of our Class A comnsinck to decline.

Our operating results may fluctuate due to a waéfactors, many of which are outside of our €ohtAs a result, comparing our
operating results on a period-to-period basis nwybe meaningful. You should not rely on our pasuits as an indication of our future
performance. In addition, a significant portionoofr quarterly sales typically occurs during the aenth of the quarter, which we believe
generally reflects customer buying patterns foegise technology. As a result, our quarterly apieg results are difficult to predict even in
the near term. If our revenue or operating regaltdelow the expectations of investors or se@sifinalysts or below any guidance we may
provide to the market, the price of our commonistwould likely decline substantially.

In addition, factors that may affect our operatiagults include, among others:

« fluctuations in demand, adoption, sales cyclesmiuing levels for our products and servic

» changes in custom¢ budgets for information technology purchases arttiértiming of their purchasing decisiol

» the timing of recognizing revenue in any given ¢eiaas a result of software revenue recognitioicjed;

» the sale of our products in the timeframes we gte, including the number and size of ordersaichequarter

» our ability to develop, introduce and ship in adljnmanner new products and product enhancemegttsnbet customer demand,
certification requirements and technical requiretsg

» the timing of the announcement or release of prisdoicupgrades by us or by our competit

» our ability to implement scalable internal systedorsreporting, order processing, license fulfillmeproduct delivery, purchasing,
billing and general accounting, among other fundjs

» our ability to control costs, including our opengtiexpenses

« our ability to attract and retain highly skilled ployees, particularly those with relevant expereeircsoftware development a
sales; ant

» general economic conditions in our domestic anerirdtional markets

If operating system and hardware vendors do not perate with us or we are unable to obtain early ass to their new products, or
access to certain information about their new protis to ensure that our solutions interoperate withose products, our product
development efforts may be delayed or foreclosed.

Our products interoperate with Windows, Linux atlden operating systems and the hardware devicesroérous manufacturers.
Developing products that interoperate properly negusubstantial partnering, capital investmentemgloyee resources, as well as the
cooperation of the vendors or developers of theaijrey
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systems and hardware. Operating system and hardwad®ors may not provide us with early accesseo technology and products, assist us
in these development efforts or share with ortsells any APIs, formats, or protocols we may néfettiey do not provide us with the necess
early access, assistance or proprietary technaagytimely basis, we may experience product deveémt delays or be unable to expand our
products into other areas. To the extent that sofvor hardware vendors develop products that ctenwpiéh ours or those of EMC, they may
have an incentive to withhold their cooperatiorgliahe to share access or sell to us their propsieA®ls, protocols or formats or engage in
practices to actively limit the functionality, oompatibility, and certification of our products. addition, hardware or operating system vendors
may fail to certify or support or continue to cBribr support, our products for their systems.ny af the foregoing occurs, our product
development efforts may be delayed or forecloseticam business and results of operations may bersaely affected.

We rely on distributors, resellers, x86 system versdand systems integrators to sell our productsdaur failure to effectively develop,
manage or prevent disruptions to our distributioma&nnels and the processes and procedures that suppem could cause a reduction
in the number of end users of our products.

Our future success is highly dependent upon maimigiand increasing the number of our relationshijls distributors, resellers, x86
system vendors and systems integrators. By relgindistributors, resellers, x86 system vendorssystems integrators, we may have little or
no contact with the ultimate users of our produttsreby making it more difficult for us to estalibrand awareness, ensure proper delivery
and installation of our products, service ongoingtomer requirements, estimate end user demanceapdnd to evolving customer needs.

Recruiting and retaining qualified channel partreerd training them in the use of our technology jaratluct offerings requires
significant time and resources. In order to develog expand our distribution channel, we must oomtito expand and improve our processes
and procedures that support our channel, includirgnvestment in systems and training, and thosegsses and procedures may become
increasingly complex and difficult to manage. Wagmrlly do not have long-term contracts or minimpunchase commitments with our
distributors, resellers, x86 system vendors antkgys integrators, and our contracts with thesemdlgmartners do not prohibit them from
offering products or services that compete witrso@ur competitors may be effective in providingdantives to existing and potential channel
partners to favor products of our competitors gprievent or reduce sales of our products. Our cbigrartners and x86 system vendors may
choose not to offer our products exclusively calatOur failure to maintain and increase the nundfeelationships with channel partners
would likely lead to a loss of end users of ourdurets which would result in us receiving lower newes from our channel partners. One of the
Company'’s distribution agreements is with Ingrancidj which accounted for 29% of our revenues indMe agreement with Ingram Micro
under which the Company receives the substantignitaof its Ingram Micro revenues is terminablg dither party upon 90 days’ prior
written notice to the other party, and neitherypads any obligation to purchase or sell any prtslunder the agreement. The terms of this
agreement between Ingram Micro and us are subatigirgimilar to the terms of the agreements we haitle other distributors, except for
certain differences in shipment and payment teintemnification obligations and product return tgyhiWhile we believe that we have in
place, or would have in place by the date of amhgarmination, agreements with other distribusafficient to maintain our revenues from
distribution, if we were to lose Ingram Micro’s tlibution services, such loss could have a negatiygact on our results of operations until
such time as we arrange to replace these diswibgtrvices with the services of existing or nestriiutors. We believe that we could replace
the revenues earned from Ingram Micro’s distribuservices in a relatively short period after slokthese services and that the negative
impact on our results of operations due to suass Wwould be short-term.

The concentration of our product sales among a lted number of distributors increases our potentakdit risk and could cause
significant fluctuations or declines in our produaevenues.

As of December 31, 2006, approximately 28% and 1d1d,as of December 31, 2005, approximately 30%l4A6, of our total accounts
receivable outstanding were from two distributé& anticipate that sales of our
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products to a limited number of distributors witintinue to account for a significant portion of ¢otal product revenues for the foreseeable
future. The concentration of product sales amomtairedistributors increases our potential creidiks. One or more of these distributors could
delay payments or default on credit extended tmthEny significant delay or default in the colleiof significant accounts receivable could
result in an increased need for us to obtain wgrkipital from other sources, possibly on worsegsthan we could have negotiated if we had
established such working capital resources priauth delays or defaults. Any significant defaoltild result in a negative impact on our
results of operations.

We are dependent on our existing management and key development personnel, and the loss of keypenel may prevent us from
implementing our business plan in a timely manner.

Our success depends largely upon the continueitssref our existing management. We are also sotistigt dependent on the
continued service of our key development persoforgbroduct innovation. We generally do not havepayment or non-compete agreements
with our existing management or development persband, therefore, they could terminate their emplent with us at any time without
penalty and could pursue employment opportunitigls any of our competitors. The loss of key empks/eould seriously harm our ability to
release new products on a timely basis and coghdfgiantly help our competitors.

Because competition for our target employees i®imge, we may not be able to attract and retain tiigthly skilled employees we need to
support our planned growth.

To execute our growth plan, we must attract anaimdtighly qualified personnel. Competition for sleepersonnel is intense, especially
for engineers with high levels of experience inigeing and developing software and senior saleswgikess. We may not be successful in
attracting and retaining qualified personnel. Weehfiom time to time in the past experienced, aedewpect to continue to experience in the
future, difficulty in hiring and retaining highlyk#led employees with appropriate qualificationsaf of the companies with which we
compete for experienced personnel have greatenmssothan we have. In addition, in making emplaynakecisions, particularly in the high-
technology industry, job candidates often consitlervalue of the stock options, restricted sto@ntg or other equitipased compensation th
are to receive in connection with their employméndecline in the value of our stock after thiseofiig could adversely affect our ability to
attract or retain key employees. If we fail to @ttrnew personnel or fail to retain and motivateaurent personnel, our business and future
growth prospects could be severely harmed.

If we are unable to protect our intellectual propigrrights, our competitive position could be harmedwe could be required to incur
significant expenses to enforce our rights.

We depend on our ability to protect our propriet@ghnology. We rely on trade secret, patent, dghyand trademark laws and
confidentiality agreements with employees and tpadies, all of which offer only limited protectioAs such, despite our efforts, the steps we
have taken to protect our proprietary rights mayb®adequate to preclude misappropriation of ooprietary information or infringement of
our intellectual property rights, and our abilitygolice such misappropriation or infringementiigertain, particularly in countries outside of
the United States. Further, with respect to paights, we do not know whether any of our pendiategpt applications will result in the
issuance of patents or whether the examinationggwill require us to narrow our claims. Evenafgnts are issued from our patent
applications, which is not certain, they may betested, circumvented or invalidated in the futiWlereover, the rights granted under any
issued patents may not provide us with propriepmogection or competitive advantages, and, as aithtechnology, competitors may be able
to develop similar or superior technologies to own now or in the future. In addition, we rely aantractual and license agreements with third
parties in connection with their use of our produanhd technology. There is no guarantee that saitiep will abide by the terms of such
agreements or that we will be able to adequatdigree our rights, in part because we rely on “chetap” and “shrink-wrap” licenses in some
instances.

Detecting and protecting against the unauthorizedai our products, technology and proprietarytadgd expensive, difficult and, in
some cases, impossible. Litigation may be necessdhe future to enforce or defend
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our intellectual property rights, to protect olade secrets or to determine the validity and sodplee proprietary rights of others. Such
litigation could result in substantial costs andedsion of management resources, either of whiciddearm our business, operating results and
financial condition, and there is no guarantee wetvould be successful. Furthermore, many of ourent and potential competitors have the
ability to dedicate substantially greater resoutogsrotecting their technology or intellectual peoty rights than do we. Accordingly, despite
our efforts, we may not be able to prevent thirdipa from infringing upon or misappropriating aotellectual property, which could result i
substantial loss of our market share.

We provide access to our hypervisor and other sel@source code to partners, which creates addgilorsk that our competitors could
develop products that are similar or better thanreu

Our success and ability to compete depend subalignipon our internally developed technology, whis incorporated in the source
code for our products. We seek to protect the sooode, design code, documentation and other writigterials for our software, under trade
secret and copyright laws. However, we have chts@novide access to our hypervisor and other sadesource code to more than 35 of our
partners for co-development, as well as for opets Aflermats and protocols. Though we generally mdrtccess to our source code and other
intellectual property, and enter into confidentiatir license agreements with such partners, alsasetith our employees and consultants, our
safeguards may be insufficient to protect our sghtour technology. Our protective measures mapddequate, especially because we may
not be able to prevent our partners, employeesmsudtants from violating any agreements or licenge may have in place or abusing their
access granted to our source code. Improper diselas use of our source code could help compstiterelop products similar to or better
than ours.

Claims by others that we infringe their proprietatgchnology could force us to pay damages or preuenfrom using certain technology
in our products.

Third parties could claim that our products or temlbgy infringe their proprietary rights. This rigkay increase as the number of prod
and competitors in our market increases and ovedapur. In addition, to the extent that we gaager visibility and market exposure as a
public company, we face a higher risk of beinggbbject of intellectual property infringement clainAny claim of infringement by a third
party, even one without merit, could cause us tarisubstantial costs defending against the claimd,could distract our management from our
business. Furthermore, a party making such a ciégngccessful, could secure a judgment that reguiss to pay substantial damages. A
judgment could also include an injunction or otbeurt order that could prevent us from offering ptwducts. In addition, we might |
required to seek a license for the use of sucliécteal property, which may not be available omageercially reasonable terms or at all.
Alternatively, we may be required to develop nofminging technology, which could require signifi¢affort and expense and may ultimately
not be successful. Any of these events could sslgidwarm our business, operating results and filmhoondition. Third parties may also assert
infringement claims against our customers and chligmartners. Any of these claims could requirecuisitiate or defend potentially protracted
and costly litigation on their behalf, regardle$she merits of these claims, because we generalgmnify our customers and channel part
from claims of infringement of proprietary rightstbird parties in connection with the use of omngucts. If any of these claims succeed, we
may be forced to pay damages on behalf of our meste or channel partners, which could materialtjuoe our income.

Our use of “open source” software could negativelffect our ability to sell our products and subjegs to possible litigation.

A significant portion of the products or technolegjacquired, licensed or developed by us may imcate so-called “open source”
software, and we may incorporate open source soétimdo other products in the future. Such open@®aoftware is generally licensed by its
authors or other third parties under open soutaméies, including, for example, the GNU GeneraliPllicense, the GNU Lesser General
Public License, “Apache-style” licenses, “Berketggftware Distribution,” “BSD-style” licenses andhet open source licenses. We monitor
our use of open source software in an effort tadsabjecting our products to conditions we do not
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intend. Although we believe that we have compliethwur obligations under the various applicabdetises for open source software that we
use such that we have not triggered any such gongljtthere is little or no legal precedent govegrthe interpretation of many of the terms of
certain of these licenses, and therefore the paténtpact of these terms on our business is soraewknown and may result in unanticipated
obligations regarding our products and technolodtes example, we may be subjected to certain t¢iomdi, including requirements that we
offer our products that use the open source soéfarno cost, that we make available source codenbdifications or derivative works we
create based upon, incorporating or using the sparce software and/or that we license such medifins or derivative works under the te|

of the particular open source license.

If an author or other third party that distribugesch open source software were to allege that wenbacomplied with the conditions of
one or more of these licenses, we could be reqtiré@ttur significant legal expenses defending agtasuch allegations. If our defenses were
not successful, we could be subject to significkamhages, enjoined from the distribution of our pieid that contained the open source
software and required to comply with the foregategditions, which could disrupt the distributiordasale of some of our products. In
addition, if we combine our proprietary softwarghwdpen source software in a certain manner, usgi®e open source licenses we could be
required to release the source code of our prapyietoftware, which could substantially help oumpetitors develop products that are similar
to or better than ours.

Our sales cycles can be long and unpredictable, and sales efforts require considerable time andperse. As a result, our sales are
difficult to predict and may vary substantially fro quarter to quarter, which may cause our operatingsults to fluctuate significantly.

The timing of our revenue is difficult to predi@ur sales efforts involve educating our custombmutithe use and benefit of our
products, including their technical capabilitieslgrotential cost savings to an organization. Custsrtypically undertake a significant
evaluation process that has in the past resultadengthy sales cycle, which typically lasts sal/eronths, and may last a year or longer. We
spend substantial time, effort and money on owrssefforts without any assurance that our effoitisproduce any sales. In addition, product
purchases are frequently subject to budget consdtanultiple approvals, and unplanned administeafprocessing and other delays. If sales
expected from a specific customer for a particglaarter are not realized in that quarter or atoalt, results could fall short of public
expectations and our business, operating resuttfiaancial condition could be materially adverseffected.

Our current research and development efforts mayt pooduce significant revenues for several yeafsat all.

Developing our products is expensive. Our investriteresearch and development may not result irketable products or may result in
products that take longer to generate revenueggmerate less revenues, than we anticipate. Oeanegsand development expenses were
$148.3 million, or 21.1% of our total revenues 808, and $72.6 million, or 18.7% of our total rewes in 2005. Our future plans include
significant investments in software research anetldgment and related product opportunities. Weelelthat we must continue to dedicate a
significant amount of resources to our researchdavelopment efforts to maintain our competitiveifion. However, we may not receive
significant revenues from these investments foesswears, if at all.

We may not be able to respond to rapid technolog@tenges with new solutions and services offeringshich could have a material
adverse effect on our sales and profitability.

The markets for our software solutions are charaete by rapid technological changes, changingacust needs, frequent new software
product introductions and evolving industry stamidaiT he introduction of third- party solutions erdpimg new technologies and the
emergence of new industry standards could makexisting and future software solutions obsolete amtharketable. We may not be able to
develop updated
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products that keep pace with technological develammand emerging industry standards and that ssitlte increasingly sophisticated needs
of our customers or that interoperate with newpmtated operating systems and hardware devicegtify @r products to work with these
systems and devices, and there is no assurancanhaf our new offerings would be accepted inrttegketplace. Significant reductions in
server-related costs or the rise of more efficiefiastructure management software could also affemand for our software solutions. As a
result, we may not be able to accurately predietifecycle of our software solutions, and they rbagome obsolete before we receive the
amount of revenues that we anticipate from theranif of the foregoing events were to occur, oulitghid retain or increase market share in
the virtualization software market could be matbriadversely affected.

Our ability to sell our products is dependent oretiquality of our support and services offerings,dour failure to offer high-quality
support and services could have a material adverect on our sales and results of operations.

Once our products are integrated within our custshierdware and software systems, our customeysd®gend on our support
organization to resolve any issues relating topsaducts. A high level of support is critical féret successful marketing and sale of our
products. If we or our channel partners do notatiffely assist our customers in deploying our pidusucceed in helping our customers
quickly resolve post-deployment issues, and proeifiective ongoing support, our ability to sell quroducts to existing customers would be
adversely affected, and our reputation with po&miistomers could be harmed. In addition, as vpamct our operations internationally, our
support organization will face additional challesgiecluding those associated with delivering suppmaining and documentation in langua
other than English. As a result, our failure to mtain highguality support and services, or to adequatelystissir channel partners in providi
high-quality support and services, could resuttustomers choosing to use our competitors’ prodastead of ours in the future.

Adverse economic conditions or reduced informatitathnology spending may adversely impact our revesiu

Our business depends on the overall demand fomiation technology and on the economic health ofcowrent and prospective
customers. The purchase of our products is ofteerefionary and may involve a significant commitingfircapital and other resources. Weak
economic conditions, or a reduction in informatieohnology spending even if economic conditionsrowp, would likely adversely impact
our business, operating results and financial dadin a number of ways, including by lengthengades cycles, lowering prices for our
products and services and reducing unit sales.

We may engage in future acquisitions that could mipt our business, cause dilution to our stockhotdeand harm our business,
operating results and financial condition.

In the future we may seek to acquire other busgsggwoducts or technologies. However, we may aathe to find suitable acquisition
candidates and we may not be able to complete sitiqns on favorable terms, if at all. If we do qalete acquisitions, we may not ultimately
strengthen our competitive position or achievegnals, or may be viewed negatively by customensftial markets or investors. Acquisitic
may disrupt our ongoing operations, divert managerfrem day-to-day responsibilities, increase atypenses and adversely impact our
business, operating results and financial condiiaiure acquisitions may reduce our cash avaifableperations and other uses and could
result in an increase in amortization expenseedlad identifiable assets acquired, potentiallytilie issuances of equity securities or the
incurrence of debt. We have limited historical exgrce with the integration of acquired companid®ere can be no assurance that we will be
able to manage the integration of acquired bus@sesHectively or be able to retain and motivatg frersonnel from these businesses. Any
difficulties we encounter in the integration progesuld divert management from day-to-day respdlitgl, increase our expenses and have a
material adverse effect on our business, finarcatlition and results of operations.
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Operating in foreign countries subjects us to addital risks that may harm our ability to increase maintain our international sales an
operations.

In 2006, we derived approximately 44% of our revefrom customers outside the United States. We kales and technical support
personnel in numerous countries worldwide. We efzecontinue to add personnel in additional caestrOur international operations subject
us to a variety of risks, including:

» the difficulty of managing and staffing internat@offices and the increased travel, infrastrucamd legal compliance costs
associated with multiple international locatio

« difficulties in enforcing contracts and collectiagcounts receivable, and longer payment cyclegogfy in emerging market
» difficulties in delivering support, training and cdonentation in certain foreign marke

» tariffs and trade barriers and other regulatorgartractual limitations on our ability to sell ogxcelop our products in certain foreign
markets;

* increased exposure to foreign currency exchangerisk;
» reduced protection for intellectual property righteluding reduced protection from software pirécygome countries; ar
« difficulties in maintaining appropriate controldatng to revenue recognition practic

As we continue to expand our business globally,soiecess will depend, in large part, on our abibtanticipate and effectively manage
these and other risks associated with our intesnatioperations. Our failure to manage any of thisss successfully could harm our
international operations and reduce our internatisales.

Our products are highly technical and may contaimrers, which could cause harm to our reputation aradiversely affect our business.

Our products are highly technical and complex arften deployed, have contained and may containgrdefects or security
vulnerabilities. Some errors in our products maly & discovered after a product has been installedused by customers. Any errors, def
or security vulnerabilities discovered in our protduafter commercial release could result in Idsgwenue or delay in revenue recognition,
loss of customers and increased service and wgrcast, any of which could adversely affect ouribess, operating results and financial
condition. In addition, we could face claims fooguct liability, tort or breach of warranty, inciad claims relating to changes to our products
made by our channel partners. Our contracts wistiotners contain provisions relating to warrantgldisners and liability limitations, which
may not be upheld. Defending a lawsuit, regardiésts merit, is costly and may divert managemeattention and adversely affect the
market’s perception of us and our products. Intaiiif our business liability insurance coverageves inadequate or future coverage is
unavailable on acceptable terms or at all, ourr®ss, operating results and financial conditioriccbe adversely impacted.

Our independent registered public accounting firmentified a material weakness in the design and igtion of our internal controls as
of December 31, 2006, which, if not remedied, cotggult in material misstatements in our financigtatements in future periods.

Our independent registered public accounting fieported to our board of directors a material weagrie the design and operation of
internal controls as of December 31, 2006 relatettie capitalization of software development cotmaterial weakness is defined by the
standards issued by the Public Company Accountier€ght Board as a more than remote likelihood ah@aterial misstatement of the
annual or interim financial statements will notdrevented or detected. The material weakness eelsintim a lack of adequate internal cont
to ensure the timely identification and accumulatid costs once a project reaches technological
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feasibility under applicable accounting standafidge consolidated financial statements includedhis prospectus reflect adjustments to
properly state our capitalized software developneests for the periods included therein. Our indeleat registered public accounting firm
was not engaged to audit the effectiveness ofrdarnal control over financial reporting as of Desxer 31, 2006. If such an evaluation had
been performed, additional material weaknesseshaag been identified.

Under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 28@@the current rules of the Securities and Exgg&ommission, or SEC, our
management and auditors will be required to evalaatl report on the effectiveness of our interpatmol over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2008. We believe we have a plan icepiaremediate the material weakness by implemgiilditional formal policies,
procedures and processes, hiring additional accwupersonnel and increasing management reviewpaeibight over the financial statement
close process. We believe we had adequate coirirplace at June 30, 2007 to remediate the mat@dgakness and that there have not been
and will not be any material costs associated witth remediation. If our remediation is insuffidiemaddress the material weakness, or if
additional material weaknesses in our internal mstare discovered in the future, we may fail teetnour future reporting obligations, our
financial statements may contain material misstatémand the price of our common stock may decline.

If we fail to implement an effective system of imtal controls, we may not be able to accurately ogpour financial results or prevent
fraud. As a result, our stockholders could lose dence in our financial reporting, which could han our business and the trading pri
of our common stock.

We are preparing for compliance with Section 404dbgressing the existing material weakness inmermal controls and by
strengthening, assessing and testing our systeénteshal controls. In particular, we believe welwiéed to increase the number of our
accounting personnel and improve our processesystdms to ensure timely and accurate reportirggofinancial results in accordance with
reporting obligations as a stand-alone public camdallowing this offering. However, the continuopsocess of strengthening our internal
controls and complying with Section 404 is expeasind timeconsuming, and requires significant managememtidte We cannot be certe
that these measures will ensure that we will reatedhe existing material weakness or implemengaale control over our financial proces
and reporting. In addition, we have identified agrtprocesses that need to be automated in oréstare that we have effective internal
control over financial reporting. If we are notalbb automate these processes in a timely fashienyill not be able to ensure compliance.
Furthermore, if we rapidly grow our business, aueinal controls will become more complex and wik neguire significantly more resources
to ensure our internal controls overall remain@ffe. Failure to implement required new or imprédwentrols, or difficulties encountered in
their implementation, could harm our operating hssor cause us to fail to meet our reporting dadtiigns. If we or our independent registered
public accounting firm discover additional matemadaknesses, the disclosure of that fact, eveunidkty remedied, could reduce the market’s
confidence in our financial statements and harmstack price. In addition, future non-complianceéhaection 404 could subject us to a
variety of administrative sanctions, including thespension or delisting of our common stock fromdékchange on which we decide to list and
the inability of registered broker-dealers to makmarket in our common stock, which could furthestuce our stock price.

If we fail to manage future growth effectively, waay not be able to meet our customers’ needs oalble to meet our future reporting
obligations.

We have expanded our operations significantly sinception and anticipate that further significarpansion will be required. This
future growth, if it occurs, will place significademands on our management, infrastructure and mgheurces. To manage any future growth,
we will need to hire, integrate and retain hightilled and motivated employees. We will also nezddntinue to improve our financial and
management controls, reporting and operationaésystand procedures. If we do not effectively marmagegrowth we may not be able to r
our customers’ needs, thereby adversely affectingsales, or be able to meet our future reportisiggations.

22



Table of Contents

Our business is subject to the risks of earthquakié®, floods and other natural catastrophic eventand to interruption by man-made
problems, such as computer viruses or terrorism,igthcould result in delays or cancellations of cosber orders or the deployment of
our products.

Our corporate headquarters are located in the Sarcisco Bay Area, a region known for seismic digthA significant natural disaster,
such as an earthquake, fire or a flood, could lzavmterial adverse impact on our business, opgregsults and financial condition. In
addition, our servers are vulnerable to computerseis, break-ins and similar disruptions from uhatized tampering with our computer
systems. In addition, acts of terrorism or war dazduse disruptions in our or our customers’ bissirge the economy as a whole. To the extent
that such disruptions result in delays or candehatof customer orders, or the deployment of eadpcts, our revenues would be adversely
affected.

Changes to financial accounting standards may affexr reported financial results and cause us toarige our business practices.

We prepare our financial statements to conform wéherally accepted accounting principles, or GAiRhe United States. These
accounting principles are subject to interpretabigrihe SEC and various other bodies. A changhdge policies can have a significant effect
on our reported results and may affect our repgmiftransactions completed before a change iswaroeal. Changes to those rules or the
interpretation of our current practices may advgra#fect our reported financial results or the wes conduct our business.

Risks Related to Our Relationship with EMC
As long as EMC controls us, your ability to influee matters requiring stockholder approval will bienited.

After this offering, EMC will own 32,500,000 shareClass A common stock and all 300,000,000 shafr€dass B common stock,
representing approximately 89% of the total outditagn shares of common stock or 99% of the votimggroof outstanding common stock. The
holders of our Class A common stock and our ClassiBmon stock have identical rights, preferencesmaivileges except with respect to
voting and conversion rights, the election of dioes, certain actions that require the consenbtddrs of Class B common stock and other
protective provisions as set forth in this prospecHolders of our Class B common stock will betkxat to 10 votes per share of Class B
common stock, and the holders of our Class A comstock will be entitled to one vote per share d$8IA common stock. The holders of
Class B common stock, voting separately as a dassntitled to elect 80% of the total numbericéators on our board of directors which we
would have if there were no vacancies on our boérdirectors at the time. Subject to any rightsuwy series of preferred stock to elect
directors, the holders of Class A common stocktaecholders of Class B common stock, voting togedisea single class, are entitled to elect
our remaining directors, which at no time will les$ than one director. If EMC transfers sharesiofddass B common stock to any party other
than a successor-in-interest or a subsidiary of Ebt@er than in a distribution to its stockholdergler Section 355 of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, or in gem&fllowing such a distribution), those sharesi@utomatically convert into Class A
common stock. For so long as EMC or its successanterest beneficially owns shares of our commoglsrepresenting at least a majority of
the votes entitled to be cast by the holders aftanding voting stock, EMC will be able to eledtailthe members of our board of directors.

In addition, until such time as EMC or its succedsenterest beneficially owns shares of our comnstock representing less than a
majority of the votes entitled to be cast by thédbos of outstanding voting stock, EMC will have tbility to take stockholder action without
the vote of any other stockholder and without hgumcall a stockholder meeting, and investordisa offering will not be able to affect the
outcome of any stockholder vote during this perissla result, EMC will have the ability to contiadl matters affecting us, including:

» the composition of our board of directors and, tigtoour board of directors, any determination wétbpect to our business plans and
policies;

* any determinations with respect to mergers, adipis and other business combinatic
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our acquisition or disposition of asse

our financing activities

certain changes to our certificate of incorporat

changes to the agreements providing for our triamsio becoming a public compar
corporate opportunities that may be suitable foand EMC;

determinations with respect to enforcement of 6ol may have against third parties, including wéttpect to intellectual property
rights;

the payment of dividends on our common stock;
the number of shares available for issuance unalestock plans for our prospective and existing leyges.

Our certificate of incorporation and the mastensection agreement also contain provisions thatireghat as long as EMC beneficially
owns at least 20% or more of the outstanding shafrear common stock, the prior affirmative votevaitten consent of EMC (or its
successor-in-interest) as the holder of the ClassrBmon stock is required (subject in each casett@in exceptions) in order to authorize us

to:

consolidate or merge with any other ent

acquire the stock or assets of another entity @egx of $100 million

issue any stock or securities except to our sudsedi or pursuant to this offering or our emplobeaefit plans
dissolve, liquidate or wind us u

declare dividends on our stoc

enter into any exclusive or exclusionary arrangemsth a third party involving, in whole or in pagroducts or services that ¢
similar to EMC's; and

amend, terminate or adopt any provision inconsistéth certain provisions of our certificate of orporation or bylaws

If EMC does not provide any requisite consent allgaus to conduct such activities when requestedywill not be able to conduct such
activities and, as a result, our business and perating results may be harmed.

EMC’s voting control and its additional rights debed above may discourage transactions involviogange of control of us, including
transactions in which you as a holder of our Clagemmon stock might otherwise receive a premiunyfur shares over the then-current
market price. EMC is not prohibited from selling@ntrolling interest in us to a third party and nalyso without your approval and without
providing for a purchase of your shares of Classofamon stock. Accordingly, your shares of Classofgmon stock may be worth less than
they would be if EMC did not maintain voting coritaver us or have the additional rights describeava.

In the event EMC is acquired or otherwise undergoesange of control, any acquiror or successdrb@ientitled to exercise the voting
control and contractual rights of EMC, and may darnsa manner that could vary significantly fronatlof EMC.

By becoming a stockholder in our company, you béldeemed to have notice of and have consentée farovisions of our certificate
incorporation and the master transaction agreemwightrespect to the limitations that are describbdve.
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Our business and that of EMC overlap, and EMC maynepete with us, which could reduce our market share

EMC and we are both IT infrastructure companievigling products related to storage management,-backlisaster recovery, security,
system management and automation, provisioningesalirce management. There can be no assuran&MRatvill not engage in increased
competition with us in the future. In addition, tinéellectual property agreement that we will eritéo with EMC will provide EMC the ability
to use our source code and intellectual propertychy subject to limitations, it may use to prodeegtain products that compete with ours.
EMC’s rights in this regard extend to its majoiywned subsidiaries, which could include joint veatuwhere EMC holds a majority position
and one or more of our competitors hold minoritgigons.

EMC could assert control over us in a manner whimld impede our growth or our ability to enter nearkets or otherwise adversely
affect our business. Further, EMC could utilizecitétrol over us to cause us to take or refraimftaking certain actions, including entering
into relationships with channel, technology andeotmarketing partners, enforcing our intellectualgerty rights or pursuing corporate
opportunities or product development initiativeattbould adversely affect our competitive positimejuding our competitive position relative
to that of EMC in markets where we compete withrth&n addition, EMC maintains significant partnépshwith certain of our competitors,
including Microsoft.

EMC'’s competition in certain markets may affect oability to build and maintain partnerships.

Our existing and potential partner relationshipy fo@ affected by our relationship with EMC. We partwith a number of companies
that compete with EMC in certain markets in whidl& participates. EMC’s majority ownership in us tmigffect our ability to effectively
partner with these companies. These companies avay bur competitors because of our relationship EMC.

EMC competes with certain of our significant chdntechnology and other marketing partners, incigdBM and Hewlett-Packard.
Pursuant to our certificate of incorporation anteotagreements that we will have with EMC, EMC rhaye the ability to impact our
relationship with our partners that compete with&Mvhich could have a material adverse effect arresults of operations or our ability to
pursue opportunities which may otherwise be avkl&bus.

Our historical financial information as a businessegment of EMC may not be representative of ourulesas an independent public
company.

The historical financial information we have incagdin this prospectus does not necessarily refieet our financial position, results of
operations or cash flows would have been had we Beéndependent entity during the historical pdsipresented. The historical costs and
expenses reflected in our consolidated financékstents include an allocation for certain corgofanctions historically provided by EMC,
including tax, accounting, treasury, legal and hamesources services. The historical financialimfation is not necessarily indicative of what
our results of operations, financial position, clistvs or costs and expenses will be in the futWe. have not made pro forma adjustments to
reflect many significant changes that will occupir cost structure, funding and operations asaltref our transition to becoming a public
company, including changes in our employee bagengial increased costs associated with reducedogci@s of scale and increased costs
associated with being a publicly traded, stand-@lmompany. For additional information, see “Sel@@ensolidated Financial Data,”
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€ahdition and Results of Operations” and our histdrconsolidated financial statements
and notes thereto.

Our ability to operate our business effectively msyffer if we are unable to cost-effectively estiahlour own administrative and other
support functions in order to operate as a standaé company after the expiration of our transitiohservices agreements with EMC.

As a subsidiary of EMC, we have relied on admiatste and other resources of EMC to operate ouinbss. In connection with this
offering, we will enter into various service agrests to retain the ability for
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specified periods to use these EMC resources. Segdin Relationships and Related Person Transectibhese services may not be provi
at the same level as when we were a wholly ownbdidiary of EMC, and we may not be able to obthangame benefits that we received
prior to this offering. These services may not bficient to meet our needs, and after our agreesnaith EMC expire, we may not be able to
replace these services at all or obtain these®at prices and on terms as favorable as wentlyrfeave with EMC. We will need to create
our own administrative and other support systenoatract with third parties to replace EMC’s syste In addition, we have received
informal support from EMC which may not be addresisethe agreements we will enter into with EMGe tavel of this informal support may
diminish as we become a more independent compamyfailure or significant downtime in our own adnsitnative systems or in EMC’s
administrative systems during the transitional gatidould result in unexpected costs, impact owlt@and/or prevent us from paying our
suppliers or employees and performing other adinatige services on a timely basis. See “CertailafRmships and Related Person
Transactions—Relationship with EMC Corporation” éodescription of these services.

After this offering, we will be a smaller companglative to EMC, which could result in increased ¢edecause of a decrease in our
purchasing power and difficulty maintaining existipcustomer relationships and obtaining new customser

Prior to this offering, we were able to take adegetof EMC's size and purchasing power in procugagds, technology and services,
including insurance, employee benefit support antitaand other professional services. We are alsm@mpany than EMC, and we cannot
assure you that we will have access to financidl@her resources comparable to those availahis fwior to the offering. As a stand-alone
company, we may be unable to obtain office spaseds, technology and services at prices or on tasifavorable as those available to us
prior to this offering, which could increase oustand reduce our profitability. Our future suscgspends on our ability to maintain our
current relationships with existing customers, aedmay have difficulty attracting new customers.

In order to preserve the ability for EMC to distnilte its shares of our Class B common stock on a-feee basis, we may be prevented
from pursuing opportunities to raise capital, tofettuate acquisitions or to provide equity incergs/to our employees, which could hurt
our ability to grow.

Beneficial ownership of at least 80% of the totating power and 80% of each class of nonvotingteaptock is required in order for
EMC to effect a tax-free spin-off of VMware or c@irt other tax-free transactions. We have agredddhao long as EMC or its successor-in-
interest continues to own greater than 50% of titang control of our outstanding common stock, wik mot knowingly take or fail to take ar
action that could reasonably be expected to precEMC'’s or its successor-in-interest’s ability twdertake a tax-free spin-off. Additionally,
under our certificate of incorporation and the raasitansaction agreement, we must obtain the con$&MC or its successor-iimterest as tr
holder of our Class B common stock to issue stoaittoer VMware securities excluding pursuant to kExyge benefit plans, which could cause
us to forgo capital raising or acquisition oppoities that would otherwise be available to us. S&&rtain Relationships and Related Person
Transactions—Relationship with EMC Corporation.” &gesult, we may be precluded from pursuing aegedowth initiatives.

Third parties may seek to hold us responsible fiabilities of EMC, which could result in a decrease our income.

Third parties may seek to hold us responsible CEs liabilities. Under our master transaction agrent with EMC, EMC will
indemnify us for claims and losses relating toiliibs related to EMC’s business and not relatedur business. However, if those liabilities
are significant and we are ultimately held lialde them, we cannot assure you that we will be sblecover the full amount of our losses fr
EMC.
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Although we intend to enter into a new tax sharimgreement with EMC under which our tax liabilitiesffectively will be determined as
we were not part of any consolidated, combined aitary tax group of EMC Corporation and/or its sulifiaries, we nonetheless could be
held liable for the tax liabilities of other memberof these groups.

We have historically been included in EMC's condated group for U.S. federal income tax purposesyell as in certain consolidated,
combined or unitary groups that include EMC Corgioraand/or certain of its subsidiaries for statd &écal income tax purposes. We inten
enter into a new tax sharing agreement with EME whhbecome effective upon consummation of thifeong. Pursuant to the new tax
sharing agreement, we and EMC generally will makgnpents to each other such that, with respecixtoetairns for any taxable period in
which we or any of our subsidiaries are include&MC'’s consolidated group for U.S. federal income purposes or any other consolidated,
combined or unitary group of EMC Corporation andfsisubsidiaries, the amount of taxes to be pgidswill be determined, subject to
certain adjustments, as if we and each of our did&s included in such consolidated, combinednitary group filed our own consolidated,
combined or unitary tax return.

We have been included in the EMC consolidated gfoup).S. federal income tax purposes for periodwlich EMC owned at least
80% of the total voting power and value of our tangling stock and expect to be included in suchlsalicated group following this offering.
Each member of a consolidated group during anygfaatconsolidated return year is jointly and salrgdiable for tax on the consolidated
return of such year and for any subsequently deteadeficiency thereon. Similarly, in some jurigins, each member of a consolidated,
combined or unitary group for state, local or fgreincome tax purposes is jointly and severallglégor the state, local or foreign income tax
liability of each other member of the consolidateainbined or unitary group. Accordingly, for anyripd in which we are included in the EN
consolidated group for U.S. federal income tax pags or any other consolidated, combined or ungesyp of EMC Corporation and/or its
subsidiaries, we could be liable in the event #mtincome tax liability was incurred, but not diacged, by any other member of any such

group.

Our inability to resolve favorably any disputes tharise between us and EMC with respect to our pastl ongoing relationships may
result in a significant reduction of our revenue.

Disputes may arise between EMC and us in a numftemeas relating to our ongoing relationships,udaig:

» labor, tax, employee benefit, indemnification ariteo matters arising from our separation from EI

» employee retention and recruitir

* business combinations involving

« our ability to engage in activities with certairagimel, technology or other marketing partn

» sales or dispositions by EMC of all or any portadrits ownership interest in u

» the nature, quality and pricing of services EMC &gseed to provide u

* business opportunities that may be attractive tb BE&MC and us; an

» product or technology development or marketingvét@is which may require the consent of EN

We may not be able to resolve any potential catsfliand even if we do, the resolution may be lagsrfble than if we were dealing with
an unaffiliated party.

The agreements we will enter into with EMC may beeaded upon agreement between the parties. Whikreveontrolled by EMC, we
may not have the leverage to negotiate amendmeitiiese agreements if required on terms as fawtahis as those we would negotiate with
an unaffiliated third party.
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Some of our directors and executive officers own EMommon stock, restricted shares of EMC commorcktor options to acquire EM:
common stock and hold management positions with EM@ich could cause conflicts of interests that tatsin our not acting on
opportunities we otherwise may have.

Some of our directors and executive officers own@Edbmmon stock and options to purchase EMC comrawk sin addition, some of
our directors are executive officers and/or direstif EMC. Ownership of EMC common stock, restdcsdares of EMC common stock and
options to purchase EMC common stock by our dirscaod officers after this offering and the preseoicexecutive officers or directors of
EMC on our board of directors could create, or appe create, conflicts of interest with respeat@tters involving both us and EMC that
could have different implications for EMC than they for us. Provisions of our certificate of incoration and the master transaction
agreement address corporate opportunities thatrasented to our directors or officers that are dlsectors or officers of EMC. We cannot
assure you that the provisions in our certificdtencorporation will adequately address potenti@ifticts of interest or that potential conflicts
interest will be resolved in our favor or that wil lve able to take advantage of corporate oppdtiiespresented to individuals who are offic
or directors of both us and EMC. As a result, we i@ precluded from pursuing certain growth inivies.

EMC'’s ability to control our board of directors mamyake it difficult for us to recruit high-quality ndependent directors.

So long as EMC beneficially owns shares of our comistock representing at least a majority of theventitled to be cast by the
holders of outstanding voting stock, EMC can effesdy control and direct our board of directorsrtier, the interests of EMC and our other
stockholders may diverge. Under these circumstampezsons who might otherwise accept our invitat@mjoin our board of directors may
decline.

We will be a “controlled company” within the meangnof the New York Stock Exchange rules, and, aseault, will rely on exemptions
from certain corporate governance requirements th@bvide protection to stockholders of other comies

After the completion of this offering, EMC will owmore than 50% of the total voting power of our coom shares and we will be a
“controlled company’under the New York Stock Exchange corporate govematandards. As a controlled company, certaimpiens unde
the New York Stock Exchange standards free us fl@obligation to comply with certain New York Skdexchange corporate governance
requirements, including the requirements:

» that a majority of our board of directors considtindependent director

» that we have a corporate governance and nominetingnittee that is composed entirely of independ@ettors with a writtel
charter addressing the commi’s purpose and responsibilitie

» that we have a compensation committee that is cegtpentirely of independent directors with a wnittharter addressing tl
committef s purpose and responsibilities; ¢

» for an annual performance evaluation of the nonmigaind governance committee and compensation ctie@l

While we will voluntarily cause our Compensatiorda@orporate Governance Committee to initially bemposed entirely of independent
directors in compliance with the requirements ef ew York Stock Exchange, we are not required amntain the independent compositior
the committee. As a result of our use of the “colfgéd company” exemptions, you will not have thensaprotection afforded to stockholders of
companies that are subject to all of the New Yddck Exchange corporate governance requirements.

Intel's ownership relationship with us and the memiship of an Intel representative on our board meseate actual or potential conflicts
of interest.

Under a pending investment by Intel Capital, In@l have an ownership relationship with us aneépresentative of Intel is expected to
become a member of our board. This relationship anegte actual or potential conflicts of interasd ¢he best interest of Intel may not reflect
your best interests. The terms of this relationsigdiscussed in the section entif‘Recent Developments” and “Certain Relationshipd an
Related Person Transactions.”
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Risks Related to this Offering
Our stock price may be volatile, and you may notdige to resell shares of our Class A common statkr above the price you paid.

Prior to this offering, our Class A common stoclk mat been traded in a public market. The estimiaigel public offering price for the
shares was determined by negotiations betweenditharrepresentatives of the underwriters and noap@ indicative of prices that will
prevail in the trading market. The trading priceoaf Class A common stock could be subject to ligetuations due to the factors discusse
this risk factors section and elsewhere in thispeztus. These broad market and industry factoysd@erease the market price of our Class A
common stock, regardless of our actual operatimfppaance. The stock market in general and teclgyotmmpanies in particular also have
experienced extreme price and volume fluctuatibomaddition, in the past, following periods of viilidy in the overall market and the market
price of a company’s securities, securities clasioa litigation has often been instituted agathstse companies. This litigation, if instituted
against us, could result in substantial costs ati#gersion of our management’s attention and resssur

No public market for our common stock currently estg and an active trading market may not developbersustained following this
offering.

Prior to this offering, there has been no publickaetfor our common stock. An active trading mankety not develop following the
closing of this offering or, if developed, may gt sustained. The lack of an active market may iinywaur ability to sell your shares at the
time you wish to sell them or at a price that yoasider reasonable. The lack of an active markgtalsn reduce the fair market value of your
shares. In addition, an inactive market may impairability to raise capital by selling shares amaly impair our ability to acquire other
companies or technologies by using our sharesrasid=ration, which in turn could materially advéyssffect our business.

If securities or industry analysts do not publishr cease publishing research or reports about usr business or our market, or if they
change their recommendations regarding our stockvadsely, our stock price and trading volume couldatine.

The trading market for our Class A common stock beélinfluenced by the research and reports tithtdtry or securities analysts may
publish about us, our business, our market or ompetitors. If any of the analysts who may covech&nge their recommendation regarding
our stock adversely, or provide more favorabletredarecommendations about our competitors, owkspoice would likely decline. If any
analyst who may cover us were to cease coveragerafompany or fail to regularly publish reportsum we could lose visibility in the
financial markets, which in turn could cause oocktprice or trading volume to decline.

We will have broad discretion in the use of a sificant part of the net proceeds from this offerirgnd may not use them effectively.

Our management currently intends to use the neegis from this offering in the manner describetlUise of Proceeds” and will have
broad discretion in the application of a significpart of the net proceeds from this offering. Thidure by our management to apply these
funds effectively could affect our ability to comtie to develop and market our products.
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Substantial future sales of our Class A common dtae the public market could cause our stock pritefall.

Sales of substantial amounts of our Class A comstack in the public market after this offering,tbe perception that these sales could
occur, could cause the market price of our Claseimon stock to decline and impede our abilityaise capital through the issuance of
additional equity securities. Upon completion aétbffering, we will have 75,000,000 shares of GlAscommon stock outstanding, and EMC
will own 32,500,000 shares of our Class A commaiclstand 300,000,000 shares of our Class B comnuak,stepresenting approximately
89% of the outstanding shares of our common staltlshares sold in this offering will be freely trsferable, subject, in the case of affiliate:
applicable volume and other restrictions under Rdk under the Securities Act, and subject toadlok-Lip arrangements described in
“Underwriting” and “Shares Eligible for Future S&l®ur Class B common stock may be converted ines€£A common stock at any time.
EMC has no contractual obligation to retain thdsmas, other than the lock-up arrangement. In imtiEMC has the right to cause us to
register the sale of its shares of our common stmcler the Securities Act. Registration of thesaehunder the Securities Act would result in
these shares, other than shares purchased byfitiatesf, becoming freely tradable without resinotunder the Securities Act immediately
upon the effectiveness of the registration.

If EMC elects to convert its shares of Class B camrstock into Class A common stock, an additior®4,800,000 shares of Class A
common stock will be available for sale after tleeipd of 180 days from date of this prospectusjéstitio extension in certain circumstances),
subject to volume and other restrictions as appleander Rule 144 of the Securities Act.

Immediately after this offering, we intend to fderegistration statement on Form S-8 under the ri@esuAct covering the shares of
Class A common stock issuable under outstandingmgptnd the shares of Class A restricted stockhwill be outstanding after this offering
and 80,000,000 shares reserved for future issuamber our 2007 Equity and Incentive Plan. Thissigtion statement will automatically
become effective upon filing. Shares registeredeutiais registration statement will be availabledale in the open market, subject to the lock-
up arrangements described above, as well as acly spion vesting requirements and the lapsingesfrictions on restricted stock, although
sales of shares held by our affiliates will be tedi by Rule 144 volume limitations. Sales of sutiséh amounts of these securities could cause
our stock price to fall.

Intel Capital’'s pending investment in our Class Ammon stock may not be consummated, and as a resuit stock price may be
negatively impacted.

The closing of Intel Capitad’ purchase of 9.5 million shares of our Class Amom stock is subject to expiration of the applieabhiting
period under the HSR Act and the satisfaction béptustomary closing conditions, including theeslze of a material adverse change. We
cannot assure you that the investment will closgs ©ffering is not conditioned on the closing lné intel Capital investment, and if the Intel
Capital investment does not close, our stock prieg be negatively impacted.

Purchasers in this offering will immediately expemce substantial dilution in net tangible book vau

The initial public offering price of our Class Armonon stock is substantially higher than the negitala book value per outstanding sh
of our common stock. Purchasers of our Class A comstiock in this offering will incur immediate amdbstantial dilution of $23.52 per share
in the net tangible book value of our common stibaked on the assumed initial public offering ptt&24.00 per share (the midpoint of the
range set forth on the cover page of this prosggcithis dilution is due in large part to the fdwt EMC paid substantially less than the
assumed initial public offering price when they ghased their shares of common stock. The exer€igptions and the grant of restricted st
pursuant to the exchange offer may result in furttieition. In addition, we have issued optiongwtmuire our Class A common stock at $23.00
per share. To the extent these outstanding opéimmsitimately exercised, there will be furtheutdn to investors in this offering. In addition,
if the underwriters exercise their option to pusdadditional shares from us or if we issue addii@quity securities, investors in this offering
will experience additional dilution.

30



Table of Contents

The number of outstanding options to purchase otock and the potential dilution to purchasers inithoffering that may occur upon th
exercise of such options will not be known untiltaf the offering is priced.

Our eligible employees who have options to acgsiit@es of EMC stock or hold shares of EMC restlisteck will have the ability to
exchange such options or restricted stock for agtio acquire shares of our Class A common stodloan Class A restricted stock,
respectively, pursuant to an exchange offer betmglacted concurrently with this offering. The psechumber of options or shares of our
restricted stock to be issued pursuant to this @xga offer will not be known until the pricing dfi$ offering. See “Summary—The Offering”
for a description of the potential dilution thatuteh occur as a result of the exchange offer.

The difference in the voting rights of our Classa@nd our Class B common stock may harm the value dindidity of our Class A
common stock.

The rights of the holders of Class A and Class Broon stock are identical, except with respect tingo the election of directors,
conversion, certain actions that require the canseholders of Class B common stock and othergmtdte provisions as set forth in this
prospectus. The holders of Class B common stodk lsh@ntitled to 10 votes per share, as well agmgeconsent and other rights associated
with the Class B common stock, and the holdersuofGlass A common stock shall be entitled to onte yer share. The holders of Class B
common stock will also be entitled to elect at 18396 of our board of directors, and, subject tp aghts of any series or class of preferred
stock to elect directors, the holders of Class memn stock and Class B common stock, voting togethe single class, will entitled to elect
the remaining directors, which will never be Idsart one. The difference in the right to elect dvecand the voting rights of our Class A and
Class B common stock could harm the value of tles€£A common stock to the extent that any currefutare investor in our common stock
ascribes value to the rights of the holders of@asss B common stock to elect at least 80% of oard of directors or to 10 votes per share.
The existence of two classes of common stock caaddlt in less liquidity for either class of commstock than if there were only one class of
our common stock. See “Description of Capital Stdok a description of our common stock and rigassociated with it.

Delaware law and our certificate of incorporationna bylaws contain anti-takeover provisions that ddwelay or discourage takeover
attempts that stockholders may consider favorable.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation amdaws will have the effect of delaying or prevagtia change of control or changes in
our management. These provisions include the fatigw

» the division of our board of directors into thréasses, with each class serving for a staggeree-#ear term, which would prevent
stockholders from electing an entirely new boardicéctors at any annual meetir

» the right of the board of directors to elect a clioe to fill a vacancy created by the expansiothefboard of director:

« following a distribution of Class B common stock BYIC to its stockholders, the restriction that adfeial owner of 10% or more
of our Class B common stock may not vote in angteda of directors unless such person or group a¥gas at least an equivalent

percentage of Class A common stock or obtains ajppid our board of directors prior to acquiringieécial ownership of at least
5% of Class B common stoc

» the prohibition of cumulative voting in the electiof directors or any other matters, which wouldentvise allow less than a majority
of stockholders to elect director candida

» the requirement for advance notice for nominatimn®lection to the board of directors or for prejpg matters that can be ac
upon at a stockholde’ meeting;
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» the ability of the board of directors to issue,hsitit stockholder approval, up to 100,000,000 shafreseferred stock with terms <
by the board of directors, which rights could beiseto those of common stock; a

» inthe event that EMC or its successor-in-intenestonger owns shares of our common stock repriegpat least a majority of the
votes entitled to be cast in the election of dwexitstockholders may not act by written consedtraay not call special meetings of
the stockholders

Until such time as EMC or its successor-in-intepestses to beneficially own 20% or more of thetantding shares of our common
stock, the affirmative vote or written consentlué holders of a majority of the outstanding shafdbe Class B common stock will be required
to:

« amend certain provisions of our bylaws or certtficaf incorporation

» make certain acquisitions or dispositio

» declare dividends, or undertake a recapitalizatioliquidation;

» adopt any stockholder rights plé“poison pil” or other similar arrangemet

e approve any transactions that would involve a mergmnsolidation, restructuring, sale of substdigtil of our assets or any of o
subsidiaries or otherwise result in any persomtityeobtaining control of us or any of our subsidés; ot

* undertake certain other actiol

In addition, we have elected to apply the provisiohSection 203 of the Delaware General Corpandtew. These provisions may
prohibit large stockholders, in particular thosenavg 15% or more of our outstanding voting stoc&nf merging or combining with us. These
provisions in our certificate of incorporation aoylaws and under Delaware law could discouragerpiateakeover attempts and could reduce
the price that investors might be willing to pay $fnares of our common stock in the future andlr@sthe market price of our shares of
common stock being lower than it would be withdwgge provisions.

As a public company we will incur additional costsid face increased demands on our management.

As a public company, we will incur significant légaccounting and other expenses that we did mettly incur as a private company. In
addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as welihe rules subsequently implemented by the SECQhenNew York Stock Exchange, have
required changes in corporate governance praaifcesblic companies. We expect these rules andatignos to increase our legal and
financial compliance costs and to make some aiet/inore time-consuming and costly. For example, i@sult of becoming a public
company, we intend to add independent directoegteradditional board committees and adopt cepinies regarding internal controls and
disclosure controls and procedures. In additionyilincur additional costs associated with oubficicompany reporting requirements. We
are currently evaluating and monitoring developraevith respect to these rules, and we cannot grediestimate the amount of additional
costs we may incur or the timing of such coststif&rmore, our management will have increased demandts time in order to ensure we
comply with public company reporting requirementsl ghe compliance requirements of the Sarbanesy@ddeof 2002, as well as the rules
subsequently implemented by the SEC and the ajydiciock exchange requirements of the New YorklSExchange.

After the completion of this offering, we do not pect to declare any dividends in the foreseeableife.

After the completion of this offering, we do nottiaipate declaring any cash dividends to holderswwfcommon stock in the foreseeable
future. Consequently, investors must rely on safeleir common stock after price appreciation,ahhinay never occur, as the only way to
realize any future gains on their investment. Ihmessseeking cash dividends should not purchaseamumon stock.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Some of the statements under “Prospectus Summ&igk Factors,” “Managemerg’Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
Results of Operations,” “Business” and elsewherhig prospectus may contain forward-looking stagets that reflect our current views with
respect to, among other things, future events ixah€éial performance. You can identify these fovinoking statements by the use of
forward-looking words, such as “outlook,” “belieye%expects,” “potential,” “continues,” “may,” “wil” “should,” “seeks,” “approximately,”
“predicts,” “i " “plans,” “estimates,” “anfijgates” or the negative version of those wordstheiocomparable words. Any forwaloleking

intends,
statements contained in this prospectus are baswdaur historical performance and on current plasmates and expectations. The
inclusion of this forward-looking information shauhot be regarded as a representation by us, therwnters or any other person that the
future plans, estimates or expectations contentplayeus will be achieved. Such forward-looking staents are subject to various risks and
uncertainties. Accordingly, there are or will bepontant factors that could cause our actual resailtiffer materially from those indicated in
these statements. We believe that these factdrglimbut are not limited to those described un&esK Factors.” These factors should not be
construed as exhaustive and should be read in mctign with the other cautionary statements thatiacluded in this prospectus. We do not
undertake any obligation to publicly update or eswiany forward-looking statement, whether as alre$wew information, future
developments or otherwise.

If one or more of these or other risks or unceti@materialize, or if our underlying assumptipngve to be incorrect, actual results may
vary materially from what we may have anticipatédy forward-looking statements you read in thisgmectus reflect our current views with
respect to future events and are subject to thedether risks, uncertainties and assumptionsimglab our operations, results of operations,
financial condition, growth strategy and liquidityou should specifically consider the factors idfged in this prospectus that could cause our
actual results to differ before making an investhuseision.

33



Table of Contents

USE OF PROCEEDS

We estimate that our net proceeds from the safleeo€lass A common stock that we are offering bellapproximately $741.4 million, at
an assumed initial public offering price of $24 @ share (the midpoint of the range set forthhencover page of this prospectus) and after
deducting estimated underwriting discounts andrivffeexpenses that we must pay. If the underwritarsr-allotment option in this offering is
exercised in full, we estimate that our net prosesil be approximately $853.7 million. A $1.0Gchease (decrease) in the assumed initial
public offering price of $24.00 per share wouldrgase (decrease) the net proceeds to us fromffaring by $31.2 million, assuming the
underwriters do not exercise their over-allotmgsttan and assuming that the number of shares affeyeus, as set forth on the cover page of
this prospectus, remains the same and after dedutte estimated underwriting discounts and oftpgrpenses payable by us.

We currently intend to use the net proceeds:
* torepay $350.0 million of our intercompany indelstess owed to EM(

» to purchase from EMC our new headquarters fadlifie an amount equal to the cost expended by Ed/idate in constructing tt
facilities, which totaled approximately $127.0 naifi, which purchase will be effected through tlemsfer of the equity interests of
the EMC entity which holds the rights to the fa@; anc

» for working capital and other general corporateppses, including to finance our growth, develop peaducts and fund capit
expenditures and potential acquisitio

The intercompany indebtedness was incurred in R007 to fund an $800 million dividend paid to ENMCthe form of a note. The note
matures in April 2012 and bears an interest rath@B0-day LIBOR plus 55 basis points (5.91% a3une 30, 2007), with interest payable
quarterly in arrears commencing June 30, 2007 .ribhe may be repaid, without penalty, at any timaencing July 2007. The dividend was
declared to allow EMC to realize the increased ealfiits investment in us from the time of our dsdion by EMC. The amount of the
dividend was determined by reference to EMC'’s tasibin our common stock so that the dividend wawldresult in the recognition of any
income by EMC for U.S. federal income tax purpo3ée terms of the note were determined by considesur therexisting cash position, o
historic and future ability to generate cash fldvesn operations and the likelihood that we wouldabée to pay the note pursuant to its terms
while still having sufficient cash to meet our ogiing needs. We currently do not anticipate demgacash dividends in the future. We have
chosen to use a portion of the proceeds from tifsing to repay $350.0 million of our intercompaimglebtedness owed to EMC because our
expected cash position following the offering vaillow us to pay down a portion of the note withmaurring interest while still having
sufficient cash to meet our anticipated operatiegds. The purchase price of our headquarterstiesilvas determined as a means to
compensate EMC for costs it expended on our béhédlie construction of the facilities.

We may pursue the acquisition of companies withglementary products and technologies that we behell enhance our suite of
offerings. In April 2007, we entered into an agreatrto acquire all of the capital stock of a prahgtheld offshore software development
company for aggregate cash consideration of less$10 million. Other than this agreement, we dohawe agreements or commitments for
any specific acquisitions at this time. Pendingube of proceeds from this offering, we intendnigeist the proceeds in a variety of capital
preservation investments, generally governmentrg@siand cash.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

We currently do not anticipate declaring any casiddnds in the foreseeable future. Any future detaation to declare cash dividends
will be made at the discretion of our board of dioes, subject to the consent of the holders ofGlass B common stock pursuant to our
certificate of incorporation. Holders of our Classommon stock and our Class B common stock wilrerequally on a per share basis in any
dividend declared on our common stock by our be&idirectors. See “Description of Capital Stock—QGoan Stock—Dividend Rights.”
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CAPITALIZATION

The following table sets forth our capitalizatiea March 31, 2007:

. on an actual basi

. on a pro forma basis to give effect to our pendésgance and sale of 9,500,000 shares of Classinom stock to Intel
Capital for proceeds of $218.5 million. Pursuanth® terms of our investor rights agreement witkell€apital, in the event
the Company does not complete an underwritten puiffering on or before December 31, 2007 with ggragate price to tt
public of at least $250.0 million, Intel Capital ynequire the Company to repurchase the Class Arammstock that it holds.
The pro forma data gives effect to the adjustmemedeemable common stock due to this repurchasgrée anc

. on a pro forma as adjusted basis to give effe(i) twur issuance and sale of 9,500,000 shareso€tass A common stock to
Intel Capital for proceeds of $218.5 million, (iije reclassification of the capital proceeds of&2million from the Intel sale
from redeemable common stock to permanent equiteghe redemption feature described above lags®as eompletion of
this offering, (iii) our issuance and sale of 33@WO shares of Class A common stock in this offgét a public offering pric
of $24.00 per share (the midpoint of the rangdaét on the cover page of this prospectus), (i) tepayment of $350.0
million of principal amount on the $800.0 milliolwte we incurred to fund a dividend to EMC, (v) thechase from EMC of
our new headquarter facilities for an amount et¢m#he cost expended by EMC to date in construdtiedgfacilities, which
totaled approximately $127.0 million as of June3W)7, and (vi) the deduction of estimated undeimgidiscounts and
offering expenses payable by us. “Use of Proceecd”

This table contains unaudited information and sthdnd read in conjunction with “Selected ConsolidéEamancial Data,” “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &webults of Operations” and our consolidated finalnsiatements and the accompanying
notes that appear elsewhere in this prospectus.

As of March 31, 2007

Pro Forma
Actual Pro Forma As Adjusted
(in thousands)
Cash $258,46! $ 476,96¢ $ 741,40¢
Long-term debt:

Total debi $ 800,00( $ 800,00( $ 450,00(
Redeemable common sto — 218,50( —
Equity:

Preferred Stock, par value $0.01 per share, 1000Ghares authorized, no shares

outstanding actual, pro forma and pro forma assel — — —
Class A common stock, par value $0.01 per shas@02)00,000 shares authorized anc

32,500,000 shares outstanding, actual and 2,50@00@hares authorized, 32,500,

shares outstanding, pro forma and 2,500,000,00@s@athorized, 75,000,000 shart

outstanding pro forma as adjus 32t 32t 75C
Class B common stock, par value $0.01 per shad8p1000,000 shares authorized and

300,000,000 shares outstanding, actual, pro formdgpeo forma as adjuste 3,00( 3,00( 3,00(¢

Additional paic-in-capital 6,23¢ 6,23¢ 965, 75¢

Accumulated defici (193,05) (193,05) (193,05)

Total equity (deficit) (183,49 (183,49) 776,44

Total capitalizatior $ 616,50° $ 835,00° $1,226,44

A $1.00 increase (decrease) in the assumed ipitiialic offering price of $24.00 per share wouldrease (decrease) by $31.2 million,
each of cash, additional paid-in capital, totaliggand total capitalization, assuming that the bemof shares offered by us, as set forth on the
cover page of this prospectus, remains the samafterddeducting the estimated underwriting dis¢és@amd offering expenses payable by us.
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DILUTION

If you invest in our Class A common stock, youenetst will be diluted to the extent of the diffecerbetween the initial public offering
price per share of our Class A common stock anchétéangible book value per share of our commocksimmediately after the completion
this offering.

Net tangible book value per share represents tloaiatof total tangible assets less total liab#ifidivided by the number of common
shares then outstanding. Our net tangible bookevasuof March 31, 2007 was approximately ($781.ifljom for a net tangible book value per
common share of ($2.35). After giving effect to Hade of 9.5 million shares of our Class A commimtlsto Intel Capital for $23.00 per share,
our pro forma net tangible book value would haverbé562.7) million, or ($1.65) per common sharkeAgiving effect to our sale of shares
of our Class A common stock in this offering ateessumed initial public offering price of $24.00 pbare (the midpoint of the range set forth
on the cover page of this prospectus), the repayofedB50.0 million of principal amount on the $800nillion note we incurred to fund a
dividend to EMC, the purchase from EMC of our nexadiquarter facilities for an amount equal to th&t e@pended by EMC to date in
constructing the facilities, which totaled $127.0lion as of June 30, 2007, and deducting estimatederwriting discounts and offering
expenses, our pro forma net tangible book valuddvioave been $178.7 million, or $0.48 per commarrslfassuming no exercise of the
underwriters’ over-allotment option). This repretsesn immediate increase in the net tangible ba@bkevof $2.13 per share and an immediate
and substantial dilution of $23.52 per share to mem@stors purchasing shares of our Class A comstaxk in this offering. The following
table illustrates this dilution per share:

Assumed midpoint of offering per she $24.0(
Net tangible book value per share as of March 80y, ($2.35)
Increase in net tangible book value per sharebatable to the Intel Investme $0.7(¢

Pro forma net tangible book value per share befaseoffering ($1.65)
Increase in net tangible book value per sharebatable to this offerini $2.1:
Net tangible book value per share after givingatfte this offerinc $ 0.4¢
Dilution per share to new investc $23.52

A $1.00 increase (decrease) in the assumed ipitialic offering price of $24.00 per share wouldrewse (decrease) the increase in net
tangible book value attributable this offering W.@3 per share, the pro forma net tangible boolevafter giving effect to this offering by
$0.08 per share and the dilution to new invesioithis offering by $0.92 per share, assuming thetumber of shares offered by us, as set
forth on the cover page of this prospectus, remiesame and after deducting estimated undergritiscounts and offering expenses payable
by us.

The foregoing discussion and tables assume noisgestany stock options or issuance of restristeates that will be outstanding
immediately following this offering. As of July 2007, there were options outstanding to purchasg983 11 shares of our Class A common
stock with an exercise price per share of $23.@D4&2,676 shares of our Class A common stock dalble upon the vesting of restricted st
units. In addition, we expect to grant options toghase shares of our Class A common stock andctesdtshares of our Class A common s
pursuant to the exchange offer. The precise numibeptions or shares of restricted stock to beedsuursuant to the exchange offer will no
known until the pricing of this offering. To thetert that any of these options are exercised, timaxebe further dilution to investors in this
offering. Based on the assumptions set forth ine“THifering,” options for 10.0 million shares of €A common stock will be issuable with a
weighted average strike price of $14.47 and 4.Tioniadditional shares of VMware restricted stoakubd be issued pursuant to the Exchange
Offer.
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The following table sets forth, as of March 31, 200n the pro forma basis as described above,iffegehce between the number of
shares of common stock purchased from us and thkectansideration paid by our existing stockhold&v|C, by Intel Capital in its pending
investment of $218.5 million for 9.5 million sharefsour Class A common stock and by the new inwsdtothis offering at an assumed initial
public offering price of $24.00 per share (the noidip of the range set forth on the cover page sf phospectus) and prior to deducting the
estimated underwriting discounts and offering exsgsn

Shares Purchasec Total Consideration
(in millions)
Avg. Price
Number Percentag¢ Amount Percentagt Per Share
($ in millions)
EMC 332.5( 88.1% $ 6131 37.&% $ 1.8/
Intel Capital 9.5C 2.5 218.t 13.t 23.0C
New investors 33.0( 8.8 792.( 48.€ 24.0(
Total 375.0( 100.(% $ 1,623.¢ 100.(%

A $1.00 increase (decrease) in the assumed ipitialic offering price of $24.00 per share wouldrease (decrease) the total
consideration paid by new investors by $33 millionincrease (decrease) the percent of total cereidn paid by new investors by
approximately 1%, assuming that the number of shaffered by us, as set forth on the cover pagdkisforospectus, remains the same.

If the underwriters’ over-allotment option is exised in full, the following will occur:

» the percentage of shares of our common stock heleMC will decrease to approximately 87.5% of th&at number of shares of o
common stock outstanding; a

» the number of shares of our common stock held lyingestors in this offering will be increased tapaoximately 38.0 million
shares, or approximately 10% of the total numbeshafres of our common stock outstand
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SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial dsttauld be read together with “Management’s Disausand Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” and our cddated financial statements and related notes dedwelsewhere in this prospectus.

The data for the years ended December 31, 200@@0%l and the period from January 9, 2004 to Dece®be?004 have been derived
from our audited consolidated financial statemémntbided elsewhere in this prospectus. The datéhtothree months ended March 31, 2007
and 2006 have been derived from our unaudited ¢iolased financial statements included elsewheithimprospectus. We have prepared the
unaudited consolidated financial statements orséimee basis as the audited consolidated finaneidreents and, in the opinion of
management, the statements reflect all adjustmehish include only normal recurring adjustmentsgessary to present fairly the financial
information set forth in these statements. On Jan8a2004, all of our capital stock was purchasgd®EMC. The acquisition was accounted for
as a purchase; accordingly, our assets and liabilitere adjusted to their fair market values.Rddhe acquisition by EMC, our fiscal year
ended on January 31. In connection with the adiprisiour fiscal year end was changed to Decembéo 8onform to EMC'’s year end. The
data for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2003deesed from the audited consolidated financiateshents of our predecessor, which are not
included in this prospectus. The data for the pefiom February 1, 2003 to January 8, 2004 wassddrirom the unaudited consolidated
financial statements of our predecessor, whichnaténcluded in this prospectus. As a result of aeguisition by EMC and the resulting
change in basis, the results of operations anadiahposition of our predecessor are not comparefith our results of operations and finan
position following our acquisition by EMC.

Our consolidated financial statements include alfions of certain corporate functions provided¢doy EMC, including general
corporate expenses. These allocations were maee basestimates of effort or resources incurredwrbehalf and which are considered
reasonable by management. Additionally, certairiotiosts incurred by EMC for our direct benefighsas rent, salaries and benefits have
included in our financial statements.

The financial statements included in this prospeatay not necessarily reflect our results of opemat financial position and cash flows
as if we had operated as a stand-alone companygdalliperiods presented. Accordingly, our histari@sults should not be relied upon as an
indicator of our future performance.
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Successor Compan' Predecessor Compan'
Period
Three Months Ended Years Ended Period from from
March 31, December 31, January 9, February 1, Year
2004 to 2003 to Ended
December 31 January 8, January 31,
2007 2006 2006 2005 2004 2004 2003
(in thousands, except per share amounts) (in thousands)
Summary of Operations:
Revenues
License@ $169,55° $ 90,30( $491,90: $287,00¢ $ 178,87 $ 61,98( $ 31,21¢
Services? 89,13¢ 38,77 212,00: 100,06¢ 39,88: 12,22( —
Total revenue: 258,69! 129,07 703,90: 387,07 218,75¢ 74,20( 31,21¢
Costs of revenue:
Cost of license revenu&s® 20,55¢ 12,40¢ 59,20: 40,34( 32,811 3,44¢ 5,59¢
Cost of services revenué&s® 23,46¢ 9,59¢ 64,18( 24,85: 12,62t 4,77( —
44,02¢ 22,00 123,38: 65,19: 45,43¢ 8,21¢ 5,59¢
Gross profi 214,67: 107,07 580,52: 321,88: 173,32( 65,98 25,62(
Operating expense
Research an
developmen®® 54,95¢ 22,33t 148,25« 72,56 43,90( 25,38 15,78¢
Sales and marketing 86,70 42,56¢ 238,32 124,96: 59,97¢ 23,02¢ 12,457
General and administratiy@ 26,62¢ 11,847 69,60: 30,76: 19,037 11,53¢ 4,16¢
In-process research and developr — — 3,70( — 15,20( — —
Operating income (los! 46,38: 30,32t 120,63¢ 93,59¢ 35,20 6,03 (6,799
Investment incom 2,971 34C 3,271 3,071 53 463 554
Other income (expense), r 59 (348 (1,367) (1,339 (110 (27) —
Income (loss) before tax: 49,41¢ 30,31 122,54 95,34( 35,15( 6,46¢ (6,239
Income tax provisioff) 8,33¢ 9,981 36,83: 28,56¢ 18,36¢ 1,84¢ 14k
Income (loss) before cumulative efft
of a change in accounting princi 41,08( 20,33¢ 85,71 66,77¢ 16,78 4,62( (6,389
Cumulative effect of a change in
accounting principle (net of ta — 17¢ 17t — — — —
Net income (loss $ 41,08C $ 20,511 $ 85,89( $ 66,77¢ $ 16,78 $ 4,62 $ (6,389
Net income per weighted average st
basic and diluted for Class A and
Class B $ 01z $ 0.0¢ $ 0.2¢ $ 0.2 $ 0.0t N/A N/A
Weighted average shares, basic and
diluted for Class A and Class 332,50( 332,50( 332,50( 332,50( 332,50( N/A N/A
Pro forma basic and diluted earnir
per share for Class A and Clas®B $ 0.11 $ 0.2
Pro forma weighted average shai
basic and diluted for Class A and
Class B 363,36¢ 363,36¢
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Balance Sheet Data

Cash and cash equivalel
Working capital (deficiency
Total asset

Total stockholde' s equity

(deficit) ©

Successor Compan'

December 31,

March 31,
2007 2006 2005 2004
(in thousands)
$ 258,46¢ $ 176,13 $ 38,65 $ 36,05¢
3,44¢ (55,319 (134,199 (29,166
1,244,31 1,145,95I 799,80: 697,67¢
(183,49)) (230,81)  453,82¢  560,28:

Predecessor Compan
January 31,

January 8,
2004 2003

(in thousands)

$ 49,880 $  13,68¢
12,18¢ 6,56¢
82,01 39,55¢
(27,45 (35,56¢)

(1) In 2006, VMware acquired all of the outstandingrelsaf Akimbi Systems, Inc. See Note B to the clidated financial statement

(2) The Company did not separate its revenues or ¢ostzenues between license and services for thegreted January 31, 2003. |

3)

(4)

purposes of this presentation, the total revennddatal cost of revenues for such period have Ipeesented license revenues and cost of
license revenues, respective

Includes stock-based compensation, acquisitioriegletangible amortization and capitalized sofevdevelopment costs amortization,
and excludes capitalized software development castsdicated in the table belo

Successor Company

Predecessor Company

Three Months
Ended March 31,

Period from
Year Ended January 9,
December 31, 2004 to

December 31

Period from February 1,

Year Ended
2007 2006 2006 2005 2004 2003 to January 8, 200. January 31, 200:

Cost of license revenu
Stock-based compensatic $ 36 $ 14 $ 9¢ $ — $ — $ — $ —
Acquisition-related intangible

amortization 5,21t 5,387 21,84( 23,357 25,487 — —
Capitalized software development

costs amortizatio 7,987 2,76¢ 22,29¢ 6,15¢ 1,317
Cost of services revenu — —
Stocl-based compensatic 494 39E 2,38¢ 1,29¢ 1,061 — —
Research and developme
Stock-based compensation not

capitalized 6,392 2,22t 26,34. 14,65¢ 10,29: — —
Total capitalized software

development cos! (7,599 (17,67)) (43,019 (25,109 (8,15%) — —
Stock-based compensation

included in total capitalized

software development costs

above 927 5,32¢ 10,48¢ 3,54¢ — — —
Sales and marketin
Stocl-based compensatic 2,94¢ 1,84( 12,02( 5,341 4,672 — —
Acquisition-related intangible

amortizatior 577 544 2,18¢ 1,78¢ — — —
General and administrativ
Stocl-based compensatic 1,77¢ 1,99¢ 10,38: 5,77 3,51¢ — —
Acquisition-related intangible

amortizatior 492 374 1,49¢ 1,00(¢ 77z — —

The income tax effect of sto-based compensation, acquisi-related intangible amortization, capitalized softvdevelopment cos

and amortization of capitalized software developoests was $5,144, $(167), $18,042, $9,567, $9883and $—for the three montt
ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, the years endechibere31, 2006 and 2005, the period from JanuaP@@4 to December 31, 2004,
the period from February 1, 2003 to January 8, 20012003, respectivel
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(5)

(6)

Unaudited pro forma per share data gives effedhenweighted average shares used in the calcojdatidhe additional 30.9 millio
shares, which, when multiplied by the assumed ifigprice of $24.00 per share (the midpoint ofifwege set forth on the cover page of
this prospectus), and after giving effect to aata allocation of offering costs, would have besguired to be issued to generate
proceeds sufficient to pay the portion of the $800,dividend declared in April 2007 (see Note MHe consolidated financial stateme
included elsewhere in this prospectus) that exabétke most recent twelve mo’s net earnings

The stockholde’ equity (deficit) as of March 31, 2007, gives retrtbze effect to the $800,000 dividend paid to EMGhe form of ¢
note in April 2007. See Note M to the financiatstaents
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&Af)Financial Condition and Results of Operationsdd be read in conjunction
with our consolidated financial statements and sdtesreto which appear elsewhere in this prospedthe following discussion should be r
in conjunction with section entitled “Forward-Loolg Statements” and the risk factors set forth uritRisk Factors.”

All dollar amounts expressed numerically (except peshare amounts) in this MD&A are in millions.
Certain tables may not add due to rounding.

Overview

Our primary source of revenue is the licensingigimlization software and related support andises/through a variety of distribution
channels for use by businesses and organizatioalt ©ifes and across numerous industries in thigirmation technology infrastructure. Our
virtualization solutions run on industry-standasgktops and servers and support a wide range odtipg system and application
environments, as well as networking and storagastiucture. We have developed a multi-channetiligion model to expand our presence
and reach various segments of the market. We dkdver 75% of our revenues from our channel pastadrich include distributors, resellers,
x86 systems vendors and system integrators. We dlawaleveloped a network of over 4,000 indireetnectel partners who fulfill orders
through our direct channel partners. A majorityof revenue results from contracts that includd Ipetrpetual software licenses and ongoing
software maintenance contracts. License reventee@gnized when the elements of revenue recogratiertomplete. Maintenance revenue is
recognized ratably over the term of the maintenge&ced, and includes renewals of maintenance aftdd the initial maintenance period
expires. We also recognize revenue from profestemraices provided to our customers.

We have achieved significant revenue growth to dateare focused on extending our growth by broadevur product portfolio,
enabling choice for customers and driving standagxiganding our network of technology and distiitnuipartners, increasing market
awareness and driving the adoption of virtualizatio addition to selling to new customers, weas® focused on expanding the use of our
products within our existing customer base, as noiaur license revenue is based on a per desktpproserver arrangement. We believe it is
important that as we grow our sales, we continudawest in our corporate infrastructure, includogstomer support, information technology
and general and administrative functions. We expecspending in research and development to iseraa we add computer scientists,
software engineers, and employees involved in prodevelopment and maintenance and continue tdehbice for customers and drive
standards. We believe that equity incentives tieectly to the performance of VMware will help usrspete for todevel engineering and ot
talent. We also intend to continue to invest indnaare, networking and software tools to increaseefficiency of our research and
development efforts.

Our current financial focus is on sustaining owvgth in revenue to generate cash flow to expandwarket segment share and our
virtualization solutions. Although we are currerithe leading provider of virtualization solutionge believe the use of virtualization solutions
is at very early stages by customers. We expdeice competitive threats to our leadership fronumiper of companies, some of whom may
have significantly greater resources than we daa Assult, we believe it is important to continaérivest in our research and product
development, sales and marketing and the suppuctiéun to maintain or expand our leadership invineialization solutions market. This
investment could result in contracting operatinggires as we invest in our future. We believe thatwill be able to continue to fund our
product development through operating cash flowmseasontinue to sell our existing products andises: We believe this is the right priority
for the long-term health of our business.

In evaluating our results, we focus on operatinggimeand, to a lesser extent, gross margin. A Sigamt portion of our service revenue
recognized in periods of up to five years subsetjteetine initial contract,
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whereas most of our license revenue is recogniztidnvthe first quarter of contract signing. Asesult, variability in gross margin can result
from differences in when we price our service amgmwthe cost is incurred. Substantially all of mwenue is for contracts in U.S. dollars to
international channel partners. A portion of oueigting expenses classified as cost of salesdsriencies other than the U.S. dollar. This
difference may cause variability in gross margind aperating margins due to fluctuations in the.\d@lar compared to other currencies. As a
result, we focus our attention on operating mabgicause it encompasses the entire cost structppering our operations. We are not
currently focused on shorérm operating margin expansion, but rather onsting at appropriate rates to support our growthfature produc
offerings in what may be a substantially more cotitipe environment.

As a wholly owned subsidiary of EMC, we relied otoi provide a number of administrative supporvses and facilities in other
countries. Although we will continue to operate endn administrative services agreement and cantimueceive support from EMC, our
administrative costs may increase. We also arestingein expanding our own administrative functioingluding our finance and legal
functions, which may be at a higher cost than tiagarable services currently provided by EMC. Wse alill incur additional costs as a
public company, including audit, investor relatips®ck administration and regulatory compliancst&o

EMC’s Acquisition of VMware

On January 9, 2004, EMC acquired all of our outditagy capital stock. The acquisition was accountedif a purchase. Accordingly, all
assets and liabilities were adjusted to theirrfaarket value. For financial statement purposesalioeation of the purchase price paid by EMC
for us has been reflected in our statdre financial statements. This allocation inchittee goodwill and related intangible assets reizeginby
EMC from the acquisition of us. See Note A to tbasplidated financial statements included elsewhetieis prospectus. EMC currently owns
substantially all of our common stock. The resafteperations discussed in this analysis for 20@4fer the period from the date of acquisition
by EMC, January 9, 2004, to December 31, 2004.

The financial statements include expense allocationcertain corporate functions provided to uEiWC, including accounting,
treasury, tax, legal and human resources. Theseasibns were based on estimates of the levelfoftedr resources incurred on our behalf and
which are considered reasonable by managementofdleosts allocated from EMC were $2.3 and $ar3te three months ended March 31,
2007 and 2006, respectively, and $5.1 in 2006, B62005 and $4.5 in 2004. Additionally, certaih@t costs incurred by EMC for our direct
benefit, such as rent, salaries and benefits haga Included as expenses in our financial statesn@he total of these other costs were $20.2
and $10.5 for the three months ended March 31, 20072006, respectively, and $63.7 in 2006, $2v 2005 and $7.3 in 2004. Additionally,
as part of our tax sharing arrangement, we paid EMGme taxes of $63.1 and $6.6 in 2006 and 2@3pactively. We also earned interest
income on our intercompany balance from EMC inagh®unt of $1.3, $0.8, and $2.6 for the three moeifted March 31, 2007 and the years
ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectiveljthedhree months ended March 31, 2006, we incuntedest expense on our
intercompany balance to EMC in the amount of $0.1.

The financial statements included herein may noessarily reflect our results of operations, firiahposition and cash flows as if we
had operated as a stand-alone company duringrididsepresented. Accordingly, our historical resshould not be relied upon as an indicator
of our future performance.

Equity-based Compensation

Since our acquisition by EMC, we have historicaldt issued equity-based compensation in VMwarekdimour employees. Our
employees received equity-based compensation ifotheof EMC stock options and restricted sharesdnnection with the initial public
offering of our Class A common stock, we are cottitigca voluntary exchange offer pursuant to whighaxe offering our eligible employees
the ability to exchange their existing EMC opti@msl restricted stock awards for options to purclwaseClass A common stock and restricted
stock awards of our Class A common stock, respelgtiat an exchange ratio based upon EMC'’s twowdeighted average trading price prior
to the consummation of this offering. As of June 3007, the
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maximum number of shares of EMC stock underlyintioms which could be tendered for exchange wascequpately 12.3 million.
Additionally, as of June 30, 2007, there were apipnately 5.8 million outstanding shares of EMC ries¢d stock held by eligible employees
which could be tendered for exchange. Assuminthalloptions and shares are exchanged, assumimgjttaepublic offering price is $24.00
per share (the midpoint of the range set forthhencover of this prospectus) and assuming EMC’sdeyweighted average trading price prior
to the consummation of the initial public offerin§Class A common stock is $19.54 per share (tleeame of the volume-weighted average
price per share of EMC stock for the two days enildg 20, 2007), there will be approximately 10.@lion options issued in the exchange
with a weighted average exercise price of $14.4¥ware stock and 4.7 million shares of VMwaretriesed stock. Assuming the exchange
is consummated in the third quarter of 2007, warege that the unamortized fair value of the exgeahawards will be approximately $103.1,
which will be recognized over their vesting periodssulting in equity-based compensation expensppfoximately $24.2, $46.6, $20.4, $9.6,
$2.2 and $0.1 in 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010, 2011 @@ Zrespectively. This will result in incremenggjuity-based compensation expense of
approximately $7.1 over the remaining vesting misio

If EMC’s weighted average stock price as calculgesuant to the terms of the exchange offer i8Ggjreater than $19.54, then 0.5
million more shares of Class A common stock williggiable upon the exercise of stock options gdaintéhe exchange offer and 0.2 million
more shares of Class A common stock will be sulifgcgstricted stock awards granted in the exchafffge. Under this scenario, assuming the
exchange offer is consummated in the third quarft@007, we estimate that the unamortized fair @afithe exchanged awards will be
approximately $102.7, which will be recognized otrezir vesting periods, resulting in equity-basethpensation expense of $24.1, $46.4,
$20.3, $9.6, $2.2 and $0.1 in 2007, 2008, 200902RQ11 and 2012, respectively. This will resulinioremental equity-based compensation
expense of approximately $6.8 over the remainirgjing periods. If EMC’s weighted average stock @@s calculated pursuant to the terms of
the exchange offer is $1.00 less than $19.54, @& million fewer shares of Class A common stock b issuable upon the exercise of stock
options granted in the exchange offer and 0.2 omlfewer shares of Class A common stock will bgesthio restricted stock awards granted in
the exchange offer. Under this scenario, assunhiag@xchange offer is consummated in the third quaft2007, we estimate that the
unamortized fair value of the exchanged awardsheilapproximately $103.4, which will be recognipeer their vesting periods, resulting in
equity-based compensation expense of $24.3, $88074, $9.7, $2.2 and $0.1 in 2007, 2008, 2009022011 and 2012, respectively. This
will result in incremental equity-based compensaBapense of approximately $7.5 over the remaimgsijing periods.

If the initial public offering price for shares ofir Class A common stock is $1.00 greater tham#isemed initial public offering price of
$24.00 per share, then 0.4 million fewer shareSlags A common stock will be issuable upon the @gerof stock options granted in the
exchange offer and 0.2 million fewer shares of €lTommon stock will be subjected to restrictextltawards granted in the exchange offer.
Under this scenario, assuming the exchange offerisummated in the third quarter of 2007, we edgnthat the unamortized fair value of the
exchanged awards will be approximately $103.1, whidl be recognized over their vesting periodsuféng in equity-based compensation
expense of $24.2, $46.6, $20.4, $9.6, $2.2 andii®007, 2008, 2009, 2010, 2011 and 2012, respgtiThis will result in incremental
equity-based compensation expense of approximately $&dtbe remaining vesting periods. If the initiabfia offering price for shares of c
Class A common stock is $1.00 less than the assimited public offering price of $24.00 per shatken 0.4 million more shares of Class A
common stock will be issuable upon the exercisgtadk options granted in the exchange offer andrfllBbn more shares of Class A common
stock will be subjected to restricted stock awaydmted in the exchange offer. Under this scenagsyuming the exchange offer is
consummated in the third quarter of 2007, we edérttaat the unamortized fair value of the exchareedrds will be approximately $103.1,
which will be recognized over their vesting peripdssulting in equity-based compensation expens242, $46.6, $20.4, $9.6, $2.2 and $0.1
in 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010, 2011 and 2012, respygtiThis will result in incremental equity-baseshtpensation expense of approximately
$7.1 over the remaining vesting periods.
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The ultimate amount of expense will be determinaskl upon the actual number of exchanged equityiments, the actual IPO price
and EMC’s actual twatay weighted average trading price prior to thescommation of this offering. Additionally, the anheapense is subje
to the amount of equity-based compensation thatlmeagapitalized.

In addition, through July 2, 2007, VMware has gealhapproximately 35.8 million options to purchakarss of its Class A common st¢
with a weighted average exercise price of $23.@Dapproximately 453,000 restricted shares of Cdassmmon stock. The fair value of these
awards is approximately $260.5, which will be retiagd over the awards’ vesting periods, resultingquity-based compensation expense of
approximately $39.7, $69.0, $65.5, $60.7 and $26.8007, 2008, 2009, 2010 and 2011, respectiviglg. annual expense is subject to the
amount of equity-based compensation that may bitatiapd.

Income Statement Presentation
Sources of Revenue

License revenues Our license revenues consist of revenues ddram the licensing of our software products. Geenses are
generally sold on a perpetual basis and are géneraded based upon the number of physical desktwgserver processors on which our
software runs. From inception through early 2004 lisensed certain of our products and providechtgslat no additional cost. Because we
had not established vendspecific objective evidence, or VSOE, of the faifue of the updates, we recognized the entire aontalue ratabl
over the contract period. Commencing in early 2002 offered customers the right to buy updates stamad-alone basis, thereby establishing
VSOE of fair value of the updates. As a resultre@gnized the license portion of the contrachatihception of the license agreement and
recognized the value of the maintenance portidh@fcontract over the maintenance period.

Services revenues Our services revenues consist of software teaamce and professional services. Maintenanceuegeare
recognized ratably over the contract period. Tylpicaur contract periods range from one to fivagge Customers receive various types of
product support based on the level of support @getl. Maintenance also affords customers the togteiceive future product upgrades, if and
when they become available.

Professional services include design, implememniatind training. Professional services are not demsd essential to the functionality of
our products, as these services do not alter iheugt capabilities and may be performed by ourarusts or other vendors. Professional
services engagements that have durations of niety or less are recognized in revenue upon comoplef the engagement. Professional
services engagements of more than ninety daystiahwwe are able to make reasonably dependablaass of progress toward completion
are recognized on a proportional performance lissed upon the hours incurred. Revenue on all etigaigements is recognized upon
completion.

Costs of Revenue and Operating Expenses

Cost of license revenues.Our cost of license revenues principally cansighe cost of fulfilment of our software. Thigst includes
product packaging and personnel and related overagsociated with the physical and electronic @ejivwf our software products. The cost
also includes amortization of capitalized softwdegelopment costs.

Cost of services revenues.Our cost of services revenues includes thesafghe personnel and related overhead to deidatmical
support on our products, as well as to providepsafessional services.

Research and development expense®ur research and development, or R&D, expeimshsde the personnel and related overhead
associated with the development of new productrioffis and the enhancement of our existing softwéieings.
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Sales and marketing costs Our sales and marketing costs include thesaafsthe personnel and related overhead assoacidtiedhe sali
and marketing of our license and service offerirmgswell as the cost of certain specific marketiigatives, including our annual VMworld
conference.

General and administrative expensesOur general and administrative expenses irctbd personnel and related overhead costs of
supporting the overall business. These costs iedié costs associated with our finance, facilitiesnan resources, IT infrastructure and legal
departments.

Results of Annual Operations

Our results of operations for the year ended Deegr@b, 2006 and 2005 and the period from Janua2p®} to December 31, 2004 are
as follows:

2006 2005 2004
Revenues
License $491.¢ 69.¢% $287.C 74.1% $178.¢ 81.&%
Services 212.C  30.1 100.1 25.¢€ 39.¢ 18.2

703.¢ 100.C 387.1 100.C 218.¢  100.(
Cost of revenues

Cost of license revenu 59.2 8.4 40.2 104 32.¢ 15.C
Cost of services revenu 64.2 9.1 24.¢ 6.4 12.€ 5.8
123.¢ 17t 65.2 16.f 45.4 20.€

Gross profil 580. 82.F 321.¢ 83.z 173.% 79.2
Operating expense

Research and developmt 148.:  21.1 72.€ 18.7 43.¢ 20.1

Sales and marketir 238.:  33.C 125.C 32.: 60.C 27.4

General and administrati\ 69.€ 9.9 30.¢ 7.8 19.C 8.7

In-process research and developn 3.7 0.5 — — 15.2 6.8
Operating incomi 120.¢ 17.1 93.6 24.2 35.2 16.1
Investment income and other expenses 1.6 0.3 1.7 0.t (0.7 —
Income before income tax 122t 174 95.2 24.¢ 35.2 16.1
Provision for income taxe 36.¢ 5.2 28.¢ 7.4 18.4 8.4
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting prikec 02 — — — — —
Net income $85.¢ 12.2% $66.6 17.2% $ 16.f 7.7%

Note: Certain columns may not add due to rounc

Revenues

Total revenues increased by $316.8, or 82%, in 200503.9. License revenues grew by $204.9 andcsarrevenues grew by $111.9
yea-over-year. In 2005, total revenues increased IB8R., or 77%, to $387.1. The growth in 2005 re#idcin increase of $108.1 in license
revenue and an increase of $60.2 of services revéfia market and sell our products largely throaigletwork of channel partners, which
includes distributors, resellers, x86 system ves@dmd systems integrators. One distributor accduiote29%, 30% and 27% of revenues in
2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Internationadmee as a percentage of total revenue has bedivet constant, representing 44% in 2(
46% in 2005 and 45% in 2004. Our revenue contiaeslenominated in U.S. dollars with internationatomers.
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License Revenues. Software license revenues were $491.9 in 28287.0 in 2005 and $178.9 in 2004, representing-gear-year
increases of 71% in 2006 and 60% in 2005. We divigdicense revenues into two classes: (1) Viitadéion Platforms and (2) Virtual
Infrastructure Automation and Management. Platfogmesv by 37% and 38% in 2006 and 2005, respectivetyle the Automation and
Management class grew by 156% and 166% in 200&2@08, respectively. The stronger growth in the Auation and Management class is
due to our end-user customedgmand for software that capitalizes on the benefithe virtualization platform to drive more efént, reliable
and flexible system infrastructure. Late in theogetquarter of 2006, we introduced several newyretsdin the Automation and Management
class which were the chief drivers of the growtlthiat class. We expect that this class will corgitmigrow more rapidly than the Platforms
class throughout 2007.

We sell our products through a network of chanetners, which includes distributors, reseller$§ ggstem vendors and systems
integrators. More than 70% of our orders for edcthe three years presented occurred through olarg®st direct channel partners, including
one distributor which represented 29%, 30% and 8¥®&wr revenue in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectivisywe expand geographically, we
may add additional direct channel partners; howenygproximately 90% of the increases in orders0id52and 2006 resulted from increased
sales volumes through our existing direct chanadhgrs. These increases were driven by sevetalr$aincluding greater demand for our
virtualization product offerings attributable toder market acceptance of virtualization as pagtrobrganization’s IT infrastructure, a
broadened product portfolio and expansion of odira@ct channel partner network.

We have over 4,000 indirect channel partners &eckmber 31, 2006, an increase of over 1,500 freceber 31, 2005. Over 1,000
new indirect channel partners were added during200@ders from new indirect channel partners wepraximately 30% of the increase in
license revenue from 2005 to 2006. These indireahnel partners obtain software licenses and sfiom our distributors and x86 system
vendors and market and sell them to end-user cestorin addition, we have a direct sales force ¢batplements these efforts. Our sales force
works with our channel partners to introduce theraustomers and new sales opportunities. Our chaanimers also introduce our sales force
to their customers.

We also experienced an increase in the numberdefreigreater than fifty thousand dollars in 2006 2005, compared to the respective
prior years. Orders from our distributors and esdricustomers which were greater than fifty thodsdoilars were approximately 30%, 23%
and 18% of license revenue in 2006, 2005 and 2@8dectively. The increase in the number of orderatgr than fifty thousand dollars
resulted from broader acceptance of virtualizasiolutions for organizations’ IT infrastructure aamdrend toward end-user customers using our
products broadly across their organizations.

Although many of the Comparg/products are available individually, they areegaily sold in product bundles which encompass rat
the Company’s products. As we develop new prodtiety, are typically sold as a new component toradliof products. Customers generally
purchase the most recent bundle. Late in the segoader of 2006, we introduced a new Enterpriselpct bundle which largely replaced the
previous product bundle. We added three uniqueymtsdo this bundle and increased the corresponidingrice by 15%. This price increase
was partially offset by decreasing prices on cartaire platform products. In some cases, we begarding these products for free. The
impact of pricing on revenue growth in 2006 compar®e2005 was less than 10% of the overall incrégasevenue. The impact of pricing on
revenue growth in 2005 compared to 2004 was naifgignt.

Partially offsetting the annual increases in lieeresvenues was a reduction in the accretion of ggar license revenue recognized
ratably over the license term. From inception tigtoearly 2004, we licensed certain of our prodaais provided updates at no additional cost.
Because we had not established VSOE of the fairevaf the updates, we recognized the entire cantedge ratably over the contract period.
Commencing in early 2004, we offered customergitite to buy updates on a stand-alone basis, tyerstablishing VSOE of fair value of the
updates. As a result, we recognized the licensiopoof the contract at the inception of the
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license agreement and recognized the value of Hietemance portion of the contract over the maaetee period. Revenue recognized ratably
was $0.8, $9.9 and $27.5 in 2006, 2005 and 208perively.

Services Revenues. Services revenues were $212.0 in 2006, $1002005 and $39.9 in 2004, representing year-ovar-yereases of
112% in 2006 and 151% in 2005. Services revenuesistoof software maintenance and professionaicesvrevenues. The increases in
services revenues in 2006 and 2005 were primattiljpatable to growth in our software maintenaneeenues. This growth reflects the
increases in our license revenues, as well as r@@adw customer contracts. Professional serviogsnees increased due to growing demant
design and implementation services and trainingmaros, as end-user organizations deployed virtatadiz across their organizations.

Cost of Revenues and Gross Profit

Our cost of revenues were $123.4, $65.2 and $452006, 2005 and 2004, representing year-overipesgases of 89% in 2006 and
44% in 2005. Our gross profit was $580.5, $321@$iti73.3 in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively asgmting year-over-year increases of
80% in 2006 and 86% in 2005. The annual increasesii cost of sales were primarily attributabléntreased direct support, professional
services personnel and third-party professionalices costs to support the increased services v@geMWe also incurred increased costs to
fulfill our license sales as the volume of our tise sales increased. The aggregate total incréésese costs was $43.3 and $16.2 in 2006 and
2005, respectively. Additionally, the amortizatioihcapitalized software development costs incredase$il 6.1 in 2006 and $4.8 in 2005.
Fluctuations in foreign currency compared to th8.Ulollar did not have a significant effect on aofstevenues and gross profit in 2006 and
2005. Our gross margins, as a percentage of resemaee 82.5% in 2006, 83.2% in 2005 and 79.2%9Dv2 The reduction in our gross
margin in 2006 compared to 2005 was primarily btithble to a change in the mix of our license amdises revenues due to significant
renewals of existing maintenance contracts andawstomers purchasing maintenance contracts. Licqewsaues, as a percentage of total
revenues, decreased from 74.1% in 2005 to 69.92006. Services revenues have a lower gross mdrgimdur license revenues. For the
remainder of 2007, we expect that our servicesmess will continue to increase as a percentageiofatal revenues, thereby negatively
impacting our gross margins. The increase in casgmargin in 2005 compared to 2004 was primatihjbatable to acquisition-related
intangible amortization expense decreasing from%lof revenues in 2004 to 6.0% in 2005. Acquisiielated intangible amortization
expense resulted primarily from EMC's acquisitidrus, which has been reflected in our consolidéiteathcial statements. Partially offsetting
this improvement was a change in our sales mixhitlvlicense revenues, as a percentage of totahtes, decreased from 81.8% in 2004 to
74.1% in 2005. In future periods, our cost of raxeand gross profit will be adversely affected assult of the exchange offer and the
issuance of additional equity grants. The actugliat is subject to a number of factors, includimg number of equity instruments exchanged
in the exchange offer, the initial public offeripgce of our Class A common stock and EMC'’s two-degjghted average trading price prior to
the consummation of this offering. See “Managengebiscussion and Analysis—Equity-based Compensétion

Research and Development Expenses

Our R&D expenses were $148.3, $72.6 and $43.906,2005 and 2004, representing year-over-yeaeasas of 104% in 2006 and
65% in 2005. The increase in R&D expenses in b6t62and 2005 consisted primarily of increased maand benefits of $45.5 and $22.8 in
2006 and 2005, respectively, resulting from addalaesources to support new product developmdma.cbst of supplies expensed and the
depreciation from equipment capitalized increase8&9 and $4.2 in 2006 and 2005, respectivelyitifdpased compensation associated with
higher levels of equity grants increased by $8.2086 and $7.9 in 2005. Partially offsetting thasaual increases in R&D expense were
higher levels of software capitalization, whichrneased by $17.9 in 2006 and $16.9 in 2005. As eepégige of revenues, R&D expenses were
21.1%, 18.7% and 20.1%
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in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The incr@as®&D expenses, as a percentage of revenues 06 @@mpared to 2005 was primarily
attributable to incremental headcount to suppatgtowth of our business. The decrease in R&D ex@ess a percentage of revenues, in 2005
compared to 2004 was primarily attributable toitieased level of software capitalization in 20052005, we reached technological
feasibility on our current VMware Infrastructurenger product. In future periods, our research aenektbpment expenses will be adversely
affected as a result of the exchange offer andsthence of additional equity grants. The actuglat is subject to a number of factors,
including the number of equity instruments exchahigethe exchange offer, the initial public offegiprice of our Class A common stock and
EMC’s two-day weighted average trading price ptiothe consummation of this offering. Additionaltiie amount of equity-based
compensation that may be capitalized will alsociftee future expense. See “Management’s DiscussidrAnalysis—Equity-based
Compensation.”

Sales and Marketing Expenses

Our sales and marketing expenses were $238.3,428.$60.0 in 2006, 2005 and 2004, representiag@eeryear increases of 91%
2006 and 108% in 2005. The increase in sales amkietivag expenses was the result of higher salaresbenefits, resulting from additional
headcount in both sales and marketing personnelhi@mer commission expense resulting from incréasdes volume. Salaries, benefits and
commission expense increased by $51.3 and $3@006 and 2005, respectively. In certain internaia@ountries, EMC hires employees who
work on our behalf. The costs incurred by EMC onleehalf, which principally relates to employeeslidated to our marketing effort,
increased by $20.8 and $17.3 in 2006 and 2005ec#sply. An increase in our marketing programs ttadel of $20.7 and $5.9 in 2006 and
2005, respectively, also contributed to the growwtkales and marketing expenses. Equity-based awafien, associated with higher levels of
equity grants, increased sales and marketing ergen$6.7 in 2006 and $0.7 in 2005. As a percentagevenues, sales and marketing
expenses were 33.9%, 32.3% and 27.4% in 2006, 02004, respectively. The annual increases @s sald marketing expenses, as a
percentage of revenues, were primarily attributédi@cremental salaries, benefits, commissionsegquity-based compensation. In future
periods, our sales and marketing expenses wiltgeraely affected as a result of the exchange afidrthe issuance of additional equity
grants. The actual impact is subject to a numbéaaibrs, including the number of equity instrunseexchanged in the exchange offer, the
initial public offering price of our Class A commstock and EMC'’s two-day weighted average tradingepprior to the consummation of this
offering. See “Management’s Discussion and Analydiguity-based Compensation.”

General and Administrative Expenses

Our general and administrative expenses were $63®%8 and $19.0 in 2006, 2005 and 2004, reprexggéar-over-year increases of
126% in 2006 and 62% in 2005. Increases in gemachdministrative expenses in both 2006 and 2@98 due to additional salaries and
benefits, primarily for new headcount, of $9.5 &89 in 2006 and 2005, respectively, related irsgsan equity-based compensation of $4.6
and $2.3 in 2006 and 2005, respectively, and isg@aecruiting costs to obtain the additional ery@és of $1.7 and $0.6 in 2006 and 2005,
respectively. The increase in headcount droveeaelaicremental costs such as travel, equipmerititifiss; and depreciation of $11.7 and $1.8
in 2006 and 2005, respectively. Other administeatiosts, such as legal, audit and tax increasé&d lyin 2006. Partially offsetting these cost
increases was a reimbursement of $3.3 of legalrBsssved in 2005 incurred in previous years. Aggentage of revenues, general and
administrative expenses were 9.9%, 7.9% and 8.7200%, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The increageireral and administrative expenses,
as a percentage of revenues, in 2006 comparedfs &@s primarily attributable to incremental headt to support the growth of our
business. In future periods, our general and adtnative expenses will be adversely affected asalt of the exchange offer and the issuance
of additional equity grants. The actual impactubjsct to a number of factors, including the numifezquity instruments exchanged in the
exchange offer, the initial public offering priceaur Class A common stock and EMC’s two-day wedgh#iverage trading price prior to the
consummation of this offering. See “Management’sddssion and Analysis—Equity-based Compensation.”
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In-Process Research and Development Expenses

IPR&D was $3.7, $0.0 and $15.2 in 2006, 2005 ar@2@espectively. The IPR&D charge in 2006 waslaitable to our acquisition of
Akimbi. The IPR&D charge in 2004 related to EMCtxyaisition of VMware.

Operating Income

Operating income was $120.6, $93.6 and $35.2 i152P005 and 2004, respectively, representing agear-year increase of 29% in
2006 and 166% in 2005. The increase in operatiognte in 2006 was primarily the result of the insee revenue, partially offset by the
increases in operating expenses discussed indhadnal expense line items above. As a percentdgevenue, operating income declined to
17.1% in 2006 from 24.2% in 2005. Most of the daseein operating income as a percentage of rewgas@ result of increased salaries and
benefits as we expanded our research and develdopsades and marketing and general and adminigtrapiending to support our revenue
growth and to expand future product offerings iratvimay be a substantially more competitive envirentn

Operating income as a percentage of revenue in oPfwved to 24.2% from 16.1% in 2004. Most of therease was due to
amortization of intangible assets remaining flataadollar basis year-oveear and a charge of $15.2 in 2004 related to IPR&ngible ass¢
amortization and IPR&D represented 19% of revenu20i04 compared to 6.8% in 2005.

A portion of our costs of revenues, primarily tlusts of personnel to deliver technical support mnpsoducts, and a portion of our
operating expense primarily related to sales, salpport and research and development, are dentdimaforeign currencies, primarily the
British pound, the Euro, the Japanese yen, thaimdipee, the Australian dollar and the Canadidlarddhese costs and the resulting effect on
operating income are exposed to foreign excharngefltectuations. As a result of fluctuations ind@n currency values compared to the U.S.
dollar, operating income decreased $2.8 in 20086.dffect in 2005 was not significant. In futureipds operating income will be adversely
affected as a result of the exchange offer andstheance of additional equity grants. The actuglaat is subject to a number of factors,
including the number of equity instruments exchahigethe exchange offer, the initial public offagiprice of our Class A common stock and
EMC'’s two-day weighted average trading price ptaothe consummation of this offering. See “ManagetseDiscussion and Analysis—
Equity-based Compensation.”

Investment Income

Investment income was $3.3, $3.1 and $0.1 in 22065 and 2004, respectively. Investment incomeistmprimarily of interest earned
on cash and cash equivalent balances and on anguste us from EMC on our intercompany balanceestment income increased in 2005
compared to 2004 due to higher outstanding casltastd equivalent balances and amounts owed to E846yon our intercompany balances.

Other Expense, Net

Other expense, net was $1.4, $1.3 and $0.1 in ZWW{ and 2004, respectively. The increase in atkpense, net in 2005 compared to
2004 resulted primarily from increased interestezge on balances owed by us to EMC.

Provision for Income Taxes

Our effective income tax rate was 30.1%, 30.0%5%H8% in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Fo62@td 2005, the effective tax r
varied from the statutory rate primarily as a resfithe mix of income attributable to foreign vessdomestic jurisdictions. Our aggregate
income tax rate in foreign jurisdictions is lowkah our income tax rate in the United States. Aalutitly, we generated tax credits that redu
our effective tax rate by 4.9 percentage points&fdercentage points in 2006 and 2005, respégtiRartially offsetting this benefit in 2006
and 2005 were non-deductible permanent differerine2004, the effective tax rate varied substalytiabm the statutory rate primarily as a
result of non-deductible permanent differences,
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primarily IPR&D charges in connection with our a@gjtion by EMC. Partially offsetting this expensaswthe benefit of our mix of income
attributable to foreign versus domestic jurisdicioAdditionally, we generated tax credits thauct our effective tax rate by 8.0 percentage
points in 2004.

Selected Quarterly Operating Results

For the quarter ended

(unaudited)
Mar 31, Dec 31, Sept 30  June 30 Mar 31, Dec 31, Sept30 June 30 Mar 31,
2007 2006 2006 2006 2006 2005 2005 2005 2005
Revenues
License $169.¢ $162.( $126.: $113.c $90.z $87€¢ $71.( $66.6 $61.€
Services 89.1 67.€ 62.5 43.1 38.¢ 27.€ 29.2 25.C 18.1

258.7 229.¢ 188.6 156.¢ 129.1 115.2 100.¢ 91.€ 79.¢
Cost of revenues

Cost of license revenu 20.€ 14.5 18.t 13.¢ 12.4 10.¢ 10.4 10.1 9.C
Cost of services revenu 23.t 22.¢ 19.C 12.¢ 9.6 7.4 6.5 5.9 5.1
44.C 37.2 37.t 26.€ 22.C 18.2 16.¢ 16.C 14.1
Gross profil 2145 192.: 151 129 107.1 97.C 83.t 75.€ 65.¢
Operating expense
Research and developmt 55.C 50.1 43.2 32.€ 22.¢ 10.3 24.2 22.1 16.C
Sales and marketir 86.7 80.€ 61.1 54.1 42.€ 39.7 33.¢ 28.C 23.2
General and administrati\ 26.€ 25.1 18.¢ 13.7 11.¢ 6.8 9.5 8.2 6.2
In-process research and developn — — — 3.7 — — — — —
Operating incomi 46.4 36.5 28.1 25.7 30.3 40.2 16.C 17.2 20.1
Investment income and other expenses 3.C 1.2 1.C (0.9 — 0.1 1.2 0.3 0.1
Income before income tax 49.4 37.7 29.1 25.4 30.2 40.5 17.2 17.€ 20.2
Provision for income taxe 8.3 6.8 9.8 10.: 10.C 12.£ 5.C 5.2 6.C
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting prikec — — — — 0.2 — — — —
Net income $411 $31.C $19.5 $151 $20F5 $28C $1272 $124 $14.z

Note: Certain columns may not add due to rounc

Liquidity and Financial Condition
In summary, our cash flows were:

Year Ended For the Period from

December 31, January 9, 2004

to December 31,

2006 2005 2004
(in millions)

Net cash provided by operating activit $279.¢ $ 238.2 $ 94.C
Net cash used in investing activiti (142.9 (45.7) (14.0
Net cash used in financing activiti — (190.0 (92.9)

Cash provided by operating activities was $279238% and $94.0 in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respegtivel

In 2006, our operating cash flow reflected net meagenerated during the period of $87.0, adjusieddn-cash items such as
depreciation and amortization expense of $66.6sémek-based compensation of $51.2.
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Additionally, working capital, including short- atohg-term deferred revenue, income taxes payaidedaferred income taxes, generated cash
flow of $67.4, primarily the result of an increandotal deferred revenue of $158.1. Our deferm@nue balance consisted of deferred license
revenues of $65.4 and deferred services revenug®4df.1 at December 31, 2006, of which $242.6 waésgorized as current. Of the $63.9
categorized as long-term, $25.0 will be recognasdevenue subsequent to December 31, 2008. Tieagein deferred revenue was partially
offset by an increase in accounts receivable of(b88e to increased revenue and an increase neceivables due from EMC of $48.4.

In 2005, our operating cash flow reflected net meayenerated during the period of $66.8, adjusieddn-cash items such as
depreciation and amortization expense of $39.5stmak-based compensation of $27.1. Working capitaluding short- and long-term
deferred revenue, income taxes payable and defewweche taxes, generated cash flow of $104.7, pifyride result of an increase in total
deferred revenue of $79.5. Our deferred revenuwenbal consisted of deferred license revenues o2%51d deferred services revenues of $97.3
at December 31, 2005, of which $131.6 was categorés current. Additionally, our operating cashvflsas positively impacted by increased
income taxes payable to EMC of $44.1 and increas¢gayable due to EMC of $29.3. These increasdsfarred revenue and amounts owed
to EMC were partially offset by an increase in agus receivable of $52.0 due to increased revenue.

In 2004, our operating cash flow reflected net meayenerated during the period of $16.8, adjusieddn-cash items such as
depreciation and amortization expense of $30.2ksbased compensation of $19.5 angbineess research and development of $15.2. Wo
capital, including short- and long-term deferredergue, income taxes payable and deferred incones tgenerated cash flow of $11.1. Our
operating cash flow was negatively impacted byr@ngase in accounts receivable of $28.1 due te&sed revenue. This increase in accounts
receivable was partially offset by the positive anpof increased net payable due to EMC of $17imereased income taxes payable to EMC
of $10.9.

Cash used in investing activities was $142.4, $484 $14.0 in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectivelgh@aid for business acquisitions,
net of cash acquired, was $46.5 and $2.2 in 20662805, respectively. Capital additions were $5828).7 and $6.0 in 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. The annual increases in capital amditwere attributable to supporting the growthhef business. Capitalized software
development costs on a cash basis were $32.5, $2d.68.2 in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.ifitiease in the amount capitalized in
2005 compared to 2004 was attributable to the dhicton of new and enhanced product offerings. \Aeelrentered into construction contracts
aggregating approximately $162.7 for our new headeus facilities. EMC currently reimburses ustfte costs we are incurring under these
contracts and will continue to do so through thte @ this offering, at which time we will purchathe facilities from EMC. We believe that
cash on hand and cash generated from operatiohisengufficient to pay for costs remaining to coatplour new headquarters facilities.
Through June 30, 2007, EMC has reimbursed us appately $127.0. Additionally, in the second quad&R007, we entered into an
agreement to acquire all of the capital stock pfieately held software development company forraggte cash consideration of less than
$10.0.

Cash used in financing activities was $190.0 arI$h 2005 and 2004, resulting from dividends w&lgo EMC. We had no financing
activities in 2006. In April 2007, we declared &808.0 dividend payable to EMC in the form of a ndtee note matures in April 2012 and
bears an interest rate of the 90-day LIBOR plub&dis points (5.91% as of June 30, 2007), withréstepayable quarterly in arrears
commencing June 30, 2007. The note may be rep#ihut penalty, at any time commencing July 2002 Mtend to use a portion of the
proceeds from the offering to repay a portion &f tiote.

Our cash and cash equivalents balance increased$®8.7 at December 31, 2005 to $176.1 at DeceBhe2006. Based on our current
operating and capital expenditure forecasts, wiewethat the combination of funds currently avaldaand funds to be generated from
operations will be adequate to finance our ongoipgrations for at least the next twelve months.

To date, inflation has not had a material impacbonfinancial results.
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Results of First Quarter Operations
Our results of operations for the three months @édarch 31, 2007 and 2006 are as follows:

Three months ended March 31,

2007 2006
Revenues
License $169.¢ 65.5% $ 90.c 70.C%
Services 89.1 34.5% 38.¢ 30.(%
258.7% 100.(% 129.1 100.(%
Cost of revenues
Cost of license revenus 20.€ 7.% 12.¢ 9.€%
Cost of services revenu 23.k 9.1% 9.€ 7.4%
44.C 17.(% 22.C 17.(%
Gross profi 2147 83.(% 107.1 83.(%
Operating expense
Research and developmt 55.C 21.2% 22.3 17.2%
Sales and marketir 86.7 33.59% 42.¢ 33.(%
General and administrati\ 26.€ 10.2% 11.¢ 9.2%
In-process research and developn — — — —
Operating incom 46.4 17.% 30.5 23.5%
Investment income and other expenses 3.C 1.2% — —
Income before income tax 49.4 19.1% 30.2 23.5%
Provision for income taxe 8.3 3.2% 10.C 7.7%
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting pritec — — 0.2 —
Net income $41.1 15.€% $20.5 15.%

Note: Certain columns may not add due to rounc

Revenues

For the first quarter, total revenues were $258.2007, which was a 100% increase over 2006 reweoiu®129.1. The growth in 2007
reflected an increase of $79.3 in license revemdesa increase of $50.4 in services revenue. Waehand sell our products largely through a
network of channel partners, which includes distids, resellers, x86 system vendors and systeiegrators.

License RevenuesSoftware license revenues increased by 88% frédn3$in the first quarter of 2006 to $169.6 in 2007 believe a
significant majority of the revenue growth in thiest quarter of 2007 compared to the same peri@D06 is the result of increased sales
volumes, driven largely by greater demand for attuslization product offerings attributable to widmarket acceptance of virtualization as
part of organizations’ IT infrastructure, a broademroduct portfolio and expansion of our netwdrindirect channel partners. The increase in
our sales and marketing spending and the increaseridistribution channels, which grew by over 4@@v partners in the first quarter, also
contributed to the generation and cultivation ¢ tdditional demand. Orders from new indirect ctepartners were approximately 5% of
increase in license revenue from the first quart&2006 to the first quarter of 2007.

We also experienced an increase in the numberdefsgreater than $50,000 in the first quarter0ff72 compared to the first quarter of
2006. Orders from our distributors and arskr customers which were greater than $50,000 agreoximately 27% and 24% of revenue in
first quarters of 2007 and 2006, respectively.
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The increase in the number of orders greater tB&0HO0 is a result of broader acceptance of vidatbn solutions for organizations’ IT
infrastructure and a trend toward end-user custem&ng our products broadly across their orgaioizat In the second quarter of 2006, we
introduced a new Enterprise product bundle whichdly replaced the previous product bundle. We dddiese unique products to this bundle
and increased the corresponding list price by IB8s price increase was patrtially offset by dedreaprices on certain core platform products
which were licensed for free. The impact of pricorgrevenue growth in 2007 compared to 2006 wasthes 10% of the overall increase in
revenue.

Services Revenudsirst quarter services revenues were $89.1 in 20@7$38.8 in 2006, representing a year-over-yaaease of 130%.
Services revenues consist of software maintenamt@mefessional services revenues. The increaseriices revenues in 2007 was primarily
attributable to growth in our software maintenareesnues and reflects the increase in license tegeras well as renewals to customer
contracts. Professional services revenues increhsetb growing demand for design and implememat&rvices and training programs, as
end-user customers deployed virtualization acrhosis brganizations.

Cost of Revenues and Gross Profit

Our cost of revenues were $44.0 and $22.0 in theduarter of 2007 and 2006, respectively, reprérsg a year-over-year increase of
100%. Our gross profit for the first quarter wad42 in 2007 and $107.1 in 2006, which is an ineeeaf 100%. The annual increase in our
cost of sales was primarily attributable to inceshdirect support, professional services perscamelthird-party professional services costs to
support the increased services revenues. We alsor@d increased costs to fulfill our license sagshe volume of our license sales increased.
The aggregate total increase of these costs wa$ $iéhe first quarter of 2007. The amortizatidrcapitalized software development costs
increased by $5.2 in 2007, a 188% increase. Fltiohsin foreign currency compared to the U.S.afallid not have a significant effect on ¢
of revenues in the first quarter of 2007 and 2Q0¢ense revenues, as a percentage of total revedeeeased from 70.0% in the first quarter
of 2006 to 65.5% in the first quarter of 2007. Quuss margins, as a percentage of revenues, wel#88 both the first quarter of 2007 and
2006. Although services revenues, which have algr@ss margin than our license revenues, compeasgeater proportion of our revenue
mix in the first quarter of 2007, the gross margmour license revenues improved compared to theduarter of 2006, resulting in our overall
gross margin remaining flat. For the remainder@3¥2 we expect that our services revenues willinaetto increase as a percentage of our
total revenues. Because services revenues haveea ¢poss margin than our license revenues, weotxque gross margins will be negatively
impacted for the remainder of 2007. In future pasicour cost of revenues and gross profit will heeasely affected as a result of the exchange
offer and the issuance of additional equity grahte actual impact is subject to a number of factimcluding the number of equity instrume
exchanged in the exchange offer, the initial pubffering price of our Class A common stock and EMtWo-day weighted average trading
price prior to the consummation of this offeringeS'Management’s Discussion and Analysis—EquityebdaSompensation.”

Research and Development Expen:

Our R&D expenses were $55.0 and $22.3 in thediusirter of 2007 and 2006, respectively, represgrtipear-over-year increase of
146%. The increase in R&D expenses in 2007 combsfatenarily of increased salaries and benefitslof.8, resulting from additional resourc
to support new product development. Software ckgdtzon decreased from $17.7 in 2006 to $7.6 i6720n 2006, we reached technological
feasibility on our current VMware Infrastructurenger product and capitalized the costs to devetap product. By contrast, in 2007, we have
not reached technological feasibility on a prodafctimilar magnitude. As a percentage of revenR&L) expenses were 21.2% in 2007 and
17.3% in 2006. The increase in R&D expense as eeptage of revenues in 2007 compared to 2006 vimaply attributable to less software
costs being capitalized. In future periods, oueagsh and development expenses will be adverskdgtall as a result of the exchange offer and
the issuance of additional equity grants. The ddtapact is subject to a number of factors, inchgli
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the number of equity instruments exchanged in ¥ob&nge offer, the initial public offering price ofir Class A common stock and EMC’s
two-day weighted average trading price prior todbesummation of this offering. Additionally, thenaunt of equity-based compensation that
may be capitalized will also affect the future exgpe See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis—tzdpaised Compensation.”

Sales and Marketing Expense

For the first quarter, our sales and marketing agps were $86.7 in 2007 and $42.6 in 2006, repiieges year-over-year increase of
104% in 2007. The increase in sales and markekpgreses was the result of higher salaries and ignefsulting from additional headcoun
both sales and marketing personnel, and higher éssion expense resulting from increased sales vl 8alaries, benefits and commission
expense increased by $24.2. In certain interndtimmantries, EMC hires employees who work on ourdlie The costs incurred by EMC on
behalf, which principally relates to employees datkd to our marketing effort, increased by $h3rder to expand our geographic reach in
the first quarter of 2007, we added employees madditional countries, as well as increased haatda countries where we previously had
employees. An increase in our marketing prograndstaavel of $4.0 also contributed to the growtlsates and marketing expenses. As a
percentage of revenues, sales and marketing expamese 33.5% and 33.0% in 2007 and 2006, respéctiVee annual increases in sales and
marketing expenses, as a percentage of revenuespwimarily attributable to incremental salariesnefits and commissions. In future perit
our sales and marketing expenses will be adveedtdgted as a result of the exchange offer andsthence of additional equity grants. The
actual impact is subject to a number of factorsluiding the number of equity instruments excharigdtie exchange offer, the initial public
offering price of our Class A common stock and EMI@V0-day weighted average trading price prioh®donsummation of this offering. See
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis—Equity-baSethpensation.”

General and Administrative Expenses

Our general and administrative expenses for tisé duarter were $26.6 and $11.8 in 2007 and 2@3pectively, representing a year-
overyear increase of 125%. Our general and adminige&xpenses increased primarily as a result otiaddi salaries, benefits and recruit
costs of $6.8, resulting from additional resourmesupport the growth of our business. Administ@tosts, such as travel, equipment, facil
and depreciation, increased by $3.4 in 2007. Qiletinistrative costs, such as legal, audit andees, also contributed $1.2 to the increase in
general and administrative expenses in 2007 cordgar2006. As a percentage of revenues, genera@mihistrative expenses were 10.3%
and 9.2% in 2007 and 2006, respectively. The irseréa general and administrative expenses as amtage of revenues was primarily
attributable to incremental headcount to supp@tgitowth of our business. In future periods, ouregal and administrative expenses will be
adversely affected as a result of the exchange affd the issuance of additional equity grants. dd¢teal impact is subject to a number of
factors, including the number of equity instrumesishanged in the exchange offer, the initial pubffering price of our Class A common
stock and EMC'’s two-day weighted average tradingepprior to the consummation of this offering ofr €lass A common stock. See
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis—Equity-baSethpensation.”

Operating Income

Our operating income was $46.4 and $30.3 in tl& duarters of 2007 and 2006, respectively, reptesea year-over-year increase of
53%. As a percentage of revenues, operating mawgns 17.9% and 23.5% in 2007 and 2006, respegtiVéle decrease in margin in 2007
was primarily attributable to the effect of capital software development cost, net of amortizatiet capitalized software development cost
increased operating income by $13.2 in 2006, botedssed operating income by $0.4 in 2007.

A portion of our costs of revenues, primarily tlusts of personnel to deliver technical support mnproducts, and a portion of our
operating expense primarily related to sales, salpport and research and
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development, are denominated in foreign currengiesarily the British pound, the Euro, the Japangsn, the Indian rupee, the Australian
dollar and the Canadian dollar. These costs andethdting effect on operating income are exposddreign exchange rate fluctuations. As a
result of fluctuations in foreign currency valuesnpared to the U.S. dollar, operating income deser@&3.8 in the first quarter of 2007 and
increased $1.1 in the first quarter of 2006.

Investment Income and Other Net Expens

Investment income and other expenses, net, webeii$dhe first quarter of 2007 as compared witt030.the same period of 2006.
Investment income consists primarily of intereshed on cash and cash equivalent balances and amsrdue to us from EMC on our
intercompany balance. Interest expense resultsgpitirfrom balances owed by us to EMC. Investmanbime increased in 2007 compared to
2006 due to higher outstanding cash and cash dguoivaalances and amounts owed to us by EMC ointencompany balances.

Provision for Income Taxe:!

Our effective income tax rate was 16.9% in the fiigarter of 2007 as compared with 32.9% for theesperiod in 2006. The reduction
the effective rate for the first quarter of 200gared to the first quarter of 2006 was primartlyilautable to the benefit of our tax structure,
whereby income in 2007 earned abroad principalBli§ias for deferral from U.S. taxation, wherea006 the income was principally taxec
the United States. Our rate of taxation in forgigisdictions is lower than our U.S. tax rate.

Liquidity and Financial Condition
For the quarters ended March 31, 2007 and MarcR@16, our cash flows were:

Three months ended

March 31,
2007 2006
Net cash provided by operating activit $ 104.¢ $99.€
Net cash used in investing activiti (22.6) (22.6)

Net cash used in financing activiti
Cash provided by operating activities was $104@®$80.6 in the first quarter of 2007 and 2006, eesipely.

In the first quarter of 2007, our operating casiwfreflected net income generated during the pesfagit1.1, adjusted for non-cash items
such as depreciation and amortization expense h2%hd stock-based compensation of $11.6. Addiliprworking capital, including short-
and long-term deferred revenue, income taxes payaid deferred income taxes, generated cash fld8@#, as a result of a decrease in
accounts receivable of $46.4 and an increase eridef revenues of $33.7. Our deferred revenue baleonsisted of deferred license revenues
of $76.4 and deferred service revenues of $263\Maath 31, 2007, of which $262.1 of the total deddrrevenue balance was classified as
current. Of the $78.2 classified as long-term, $44ill be recognized as revenue subsequent to DeeeB1, 2008.

In the first quarter of 2006, our operating casiwfreflected net income generated during the pesf@R1.6, adjusted for non-cash items
such as depreciation and amortization expense26%ind stock-based compensation of $6.5. Addifipnaorking capital, including short-
and long-term deferred revenue, income taxes payaiid deferred income taxes, generated cash fl@s%B, primarily as a result of an
increase in deferred revenue of $29.9 and a dexiraxcounts receivable of $13.9.

Cash used in investing activities was $22.6 fohlibe first quarter of 2007 and 2006. Capital addg were $16.6 and $10.4 in the first
quarter of 2007 and 2006, respectively. Capitalzeftivare development costs
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were $6.7 and $12.3 in the first quarter of 200d 2006, respectively. The decrease in capitalinivare development costs in the first
qguarter of 2007 compared to the first quarter d@®@as attributable to the current version of thruwal Infrastructure software product
reaching technological feasibility in 2006.

We had no financing activities in the first quaré2007 or 2006.

Financing Activities

In July 2007, we entered into a stock purchaseemgeat with Intel Capital, pursuant to which Intelg@tal has agreed to purchase 9.5
million shares of our Class A common stock at $2838r share for an aggregate offering price of $148ibject to the expiration of the
applicable waiting period under the HSR Act andgatsfaction of other customary closing conditiansluding the absence of a material
adverse change. If we do not complete an undeenrjitiblic offering with an aggregate offering prioghe public of at least $250.0 million
or before December 31, 2007, Intel Capital will &alre right to exchange its Class A common stockliares of Series A preferred stock, the
terms of which will be designated prior to the ahgsof the Intel investment. We have also grantedlICapital customary anti-dilution rights
and a put right with a pre-set internal rate ofimet We have also entered into an investor riggte@ment with Intel Capital pursuant to which
Intel Capital will have certain registration anthet rights as a holder of our Class A common stock.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements, Contractual Obligabns, Contingent Liabilities and Commitments
Guarantees and Indemnification Obligations

We enter into agreements in the ordinary courdmusiness with, among others, distributors, reslk86 system vendors and systems
integrators. Most of these agreements require uglemnify the other party against third-party elaialleging that one of our products
infringes or misappropriates a patent, copyriglaglémark, trade secret and/or other intellectugpenty right. Certain of these agreements
require us to indemnify the other party againstaierclaims relating to property damage, persamaky or the acts or omissions by us, our
employees, agents or representatives. In additiom time to time we have made certain guarantegarding the performance of our systems
to our customers.

Contractual Obligations

We have various contractual obligations impactinglmuidity. The following represents our contnaak obligations as of December 31,
2006:

Payments Due by Period

Less thar
1-3 3-5 More than
Total 1 year years* years** 5 years
Operating lease $298.( $ 13.€ $16.€ $14.2 $ 253.¢
Purchase orde! 46.7 46.7 — — —
Construction contract 77.€ 77.€ — — —
Total $422.: $ 137.¢ $16.€ $14.2 $ 253.¢

* Includes payments from January 1, 2008 through Deee 31, 2008
** Includes payments from January 1, 2010 through Déee 31, 2011

Our operating leases are primarily for office spamaind the world. We generally believe leasindhssace is more cost-effective than
purchasing real estate. While our purchase ordergenerally cancelable without penalty, certaindae agreements provide for percentage-
based cancellation fees or minimum restocking adsb@msed on the nature of the product or servioe cbnstruction contracts are for the
construction of our new headquarter facilities. EBl€rently reimburses us for the costs we are nirogiunder these contracts and will
continue to do so through the date of the offeraigyhich time we will purchase the facilities frdvC.
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Critical Accounting Policies

Our consolidated financial statements are basdti@grelection and application of generally acceptambunting principles that require us
to make estimates and assumptions about futurdsetreat affect the amounts reported in our findrat@tements and the accompanying notes.
Future events and their effects cannot be detedniith certainty. Therefore, the determination stiraates requires the exercise of judgment.
Actual results could differ from those estimatag] any such differences may be material to oumnfifed statements. We believe that the
policies set forth below may involve a higher dego¢ judgment and complexity in their applicatibat our other accounting policies and
represent the critical accounting policies usethnpreparation of our financial statements. Ifediént assumptions or conditions were to
prevail, the results could be materially differéaim our reported results. Our significant accongipolicies are presented within Note A to our
consolidated financial statements included elsewirethis prospectus.

Accounting for Stock Options

In 2006, we adopted Financial Accounting Standand 3R, “Share-Based Payment,” or FAS No. 123Rgctmunt for equity-based
compensation expense. Our financial statementadedhe adoption of FAS No. 123R using the modifiezspective transition method of
adoption, which does not result in the restaternéngsults from prior periods.

FAS No. 123R requires recognizing compensationsdastall share-based payment awards made to eegddyased upon the awards’
estimated grant date fair value. The standard sozguity grants made by EMC to our employees, hiolyistock options for EMC stock,
restricted EMC stock and employee stock purchasdased to EMC’s employee stock purchase plan, gtRER\dditionally, we applied the
provisions of SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 16@ Share-Based Payment to our adoption of FASLR8BR. Prior to 2006, we elected to
account for these share-based payment awards Aedeunting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accaing for Stock Issued to
Employees,” or APB No. 25, and elected to only ldise the pro forma impact of expensing the faiugadf stock options in the notes to the
financial statements.

We elected to estimate the fair value of employeeksoption awards and the ESPP using the Blacloi&shmodel. The determination of
the fair value of share-based payment awards oddtesof grant using the Black-Scholes model iscéd by EMC's stock price, as well as
assumptions regarding a number of subjective vimsali hese variables include the expected stock molatility over the term of the awards,
the risk-free interest rate associated with theeetgrd term of the awards, expected dividends atuhleand projected employee stock option
exercise behaviors.

In 2006, the following weighted average assumptfonemployee stock options and ESPP were usdtkiBlack-Scholes model:

Stock

Options ESPP
Dividend yield None None
Expected volatility 34.4% 27.%
Risk free interest rai 4.8% 4.9%
Expected life (in years 4.C 0.5

To determine the expected volatility, we used almioation of implied volatility for six-month and twyear traded options on EMC’s
stock, as well as EMC'’s historical stock price ¥ititg. The expected term assumption is based wgainal historical exercises and
cancellations of EMC stock options. We are usirggghme methodology to calculate expected volatlity expected term that was used prior
to our adoption of FAS No. 123R. The risk-free ietd rate assumption is based upon observed ihtates appropriate for the term of
employee stock options and ESPP. The dividend wstdimption is based on the history and expectafidividend payouts. Stock-based
compensation expense recognized within a givenrtiegaoperiod is based on
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awards that are expected to vest in current ordéyperiods. Accordingly, recognized stock-basedmemsation expense from stock options and
ESPP is reduced for expected forfeitures. FAS l8RLrequires forfeitures to be estimated at the tifngrant and revised, if necessary, in
subsequent periods if actual forfeitures diffenfrthose estimates. Forfeitures were estimated basédstorical experience. See Note | to our
consolidated financial statements for more inforarategarding our implementation of FAS No. 123R.

In June 2007, VMware adopted the 2007 Equity acdntive Plan which provides for the granting ofcktoptions or other stock-based
awards, including awards of restricted stock. Thfoduly 2, 2007, VMware’s Compensation and Corgo@dvernance Committee made
broadbased grants to issue approximately 35.8 millioclsbptions at an exercise price of $23.00 pereshad granted approximately 453,(
restricted stock units. These awards have a fairevaf approximately $260.5 million which will beaognized over the awards’ vesting
periods.

We performed a contemporaneous valuation eachamregjuity grant of common stock was made. In detengp the fair value of the
equity, we analyzed general market data, inclugitgnomic, governmental and environmental factarssitlered our historic, current and
future state of our operations; analyzed our opggatnd financial results; analyzed our forecagishered and analyzed available financial
for publicly traded companies engaged in the sansnailar lines of business to develop appropriatiiation multiples and operating
comparisons; and analyzed other facts and datadssed pertinent to the valuation to arrive at stineated fair value.

We utilized both the income approach and the mafptoach in estimating the value of the equitye frrarket approach estimates the
fair value of a company by applying to the compartyistorical and/or projected financial metrics keamultiples of the corresponding
financial metrics of publicly traded firms in simillines of business. The use of the market approeguires judgments regarding the
comparability of companies that are similar to olfrdifferent comparable companies had been usedmarket multiples and resulting
estimates of the fair value of our stock also wdwdste been different. The income approach involygsying appropriate risk-adjusted
discount rates to estimated debt-free cash floaset) on forecasted revenue and costs. The prajeciged in connection with this valuation
were based on our expected operating performarnsetiog forecast period. There is inherent uncestainthese estimates. If different disco
rates or other assumptions had been used, theimgsestimates of the fair value of our stock woliive been different. Due to the prospect of
an imminent public offering, we did not apply a ketability discount in carrying out either approach

In reaching our estimated valuation range, we daneid the indicated values derived from each vialnapproach in relation to the
relative merits of each approach, the suitabilitthe information used, and the uncertainties imgdl The results of the approaches overlag
with the income approach results falling withinaanower range, which we ultimately relied on in eancluding estimate of value.

In addition to the aforementioned analysis, wedsaithat the fair value of our equity at that tiwees further substantiated by the arm’s-
length transaction with Intel Capital whereby InBzlpital agreed to purchase 218.5 million sharemiofClass A common stock at $23.00 per
share, subject to adjustment if the price in tliisrog is below $23.00 per share.

The fair value of each VMware option granted wasrested on the date of grant using the Black-Scholgtion-pricing model with the
following weighted average assumptions:

Risk-free interest rat 5.0%
Expected dividend yiel 0%
Expected life 3.4 year
Expected volatility 39.2%
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The computation of expected volatility was basedhanhistorical and implied volatility of comparaldompanies, considering factors
such as industry, stage of life cycle, size andrfaial leverage. The expected term was calculasddon the historical experience that
VMware employees have had with EMC stock optiomtgaas well as the expected term of similar grahtsomparable companies. The risk-
free interest rate was based on a treasury instruwigose term is consistent with the expectedoiffthe stock options.

Changes to the underlying assumptions may havgnéfisant impact on the underlying value of thectoptions, which could have a
material impact on our financial statements. Shauidactual forfeitures differ from our estimattss could have a material impact on our
financial statements.

Revenue Recognition

We derive revenue from the licensing of softwaréd eelated services. We recognize revenue for softyweoducts and related services in
accordance with the American Institute of Certiflublic Accountants’ Statement of Position (SORR97Software Revenue Recognition,” as
amended. We recognize revenue when persuasiveneeidé an arrangement exists, delivery has occutihedsales price is fixed or
determinable and collectibility is probable. Howewetermining whether and when some of theseri@iteave been satisfied often involves
assumptions and judgments that can have a signtficgpact on the timing and amount of revenue vpore

Our assessment of likelihood of collection is astritical element in determining the timing of eewe recognition. If we do not believe
that collection is probable, the revenue will béeded until the earlier of when collection is deshprobable or cash is received.

We recognize license revenue from the sale of swéwhen risk of loss transfers, which is genenafign shipment or electronic trans
We license our software under perpetual licen$esugh our direct sales force and through our ceboidistributors, resellers, x86 system
vendors and systems integrators. We defer revesiatng to products that have shipped to our chliasmmté our products are sold through the
channel. We estimate and record reserves for ptediat are not sold through the channel basedstarizal trends and relevant current
information. We obtain sell-through informationinadistributors and resellers on a monthly basisrandncile any estimates, if necessary,
made in the previous month. Historically, actuéimation has not differed materially from the tethestimate. For our indirect channel
partners who do not report sell-through data, werdgane sell-through information based on suctrithistors’ and resellers’ accounts
receivable balances and other relevant factorsx&®system vendors, revenue is recognized in @tgzon the receipt of binding royalty
reports. The accuracy of our reserves depends oability to estimate the product sold through ¢hannels and could have a significant
impact on the timing and amount of revenue we repor

We offer rebates to channel partners, which aregeizced as a reduction of revenue at the timedlstad product sale is recognized. We
account for marketing development funds and salesntives to channel partners as a reduction efmew. When rebates are based on the set
percentage of actual sales, we recognize the obgtie rebates as a reduction of revenue whenrterlying revenue is recognized. In cases
where rebates are earned if a cumulative levehlaflsss achieved, we recognize the cost of theteslss a reduction of revenue proportionally
for each sale that is required to achieve the tafide estimated reserves for channel rebatesalad mcentives are based on channel partners
actual performance against the terms and conditibtise programs, historical trends and the vafub®rebates. The accuracy of these
reserves for these rebates, marketing developmadsfand sales incentives depends on our abiliggtimate these items and could have a
significant impact on the timing and amount of mrewe we report.

Although our return policy does not allow end-uderseturn products for a refund, we may accepirnst from time to time. Channel
partners may also rotate stock when new versiomspobduct are released. The product returns resgivased on historical experience of
actual product returns, estimated channel inveriergls, the timing of new product introductionglgaromotions and other relevant factors.
The accuracy of these
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reserves depends on our ability to estimate satesns and stock rotation among other criterisvdfwere to change any of these assumptions
or judgments, it could cause a material increas#eorease in the amount of revenue that we repearpiarticular period.

Our services revenue consists of software maintenand professional services. We recognize maintengevenues ratably over the
contract period. Professional services includegtesmplementation and training. Professional serviare not considered essential to the
functionality of our products because these sesvittienot alter the product capabilities and mapdxormed by our customers or other
vendors. Professional services engagements thatchaations of 90 days or less are recognizedviemae upon completion of the engagerr
Professional services engagements of more thaa@dfdr which we are able to make reasonably degidadstimates of progress toward
completion are recognized on a proportional pertoroe basis based upon the hours incurred. Revenalk ather engagements is recognized
upon completion. However, if we were to change @imyrese assumptions or judgments, it could caunatarial increase or decrease in the
amount of revenue that we report in a particulaioge

Our software products are sold with maintenancéaarmofessional services. Vendor-specific objectvidence (“VSOE”) of fair value
of professional services is based upon the standéed we charge for such services when sold separs SOE for maintenance services is
established by the rates charged in stand-aloes s&imaintenance contracts or the stated reneteafor maintenance included in the license
agreement. The revenue allocated to software leargduded in multiple element contracts represtregsesidual amount of the contract after
the fair value of the other elements has been éted. Customers under maintenance agreementstitieceto receive updates and upgrades
on a when-and-if-available basis. In the event aggs have been announced but not delivered, proelenue is deferred after the
announcement date until delivery occurs unlessave lestablished VSOE of fair value for the upgr®OE of fair value of upgrades is
established based upon the price set by manageWertitave a history of selling upgrades on a stdodegbasis. We are required to exercise
judgment in determining whether VSOE exists forheacdelivered element based on whether our priicinghese elements is sufficien
consistent with the sale of these elements onrelstbone basis. This could cause a material inereaslecrease in the amount of revenue that
we report in a particular period.

Asset Valuation

Asset valuation includes assessing the recordegt\alcertain assets, including accounts receiyajsledwill, capitalized software
development costs and other intangible assets. 4@ wariety of factors to assess valuation, dépgngon the asset. Accounts receivable are
evaluated based upon the creditworthiness of ostooers, historical experience, the age of theivabke and current market and economic
conditions. Should current market and economic itmms deteriorate, our actual bad debt experiexesdd exceed our estimate. We capitalize
software development costs once our projects heaehed technological feasibility at the earliecafpletion of a detailed project design or a
working model. Changes in judgment as to when teldyical feasibility is reached could materiallygeact the amount of costs capitalized.
amortize capitalized software development costs peeods ranging from 18 to 24 months, which repre the products’ estimated useful
lives. Changes in the periods over which we agtuggherate revenues or the amounts of revenuesajedeould result in different amounts
amortization. Other intangible assets are evalubdésgd upon the expected period during which teetasll be utilized, forecasted cash flows,
changes in technology and customer demand. Cham@iegments on any of these factors could matgriaipact the value of the asset. Our
goodwill valuation is based upon a discounted dst analysis. The analysis considers estimatedmag and expense growth rates. The
estimates are based upon our historical experiandgrojections of future activity, considering tmuser demand, changes in technology and a
cost structure necessary to achieve the relatehtms. Changes in judgments on any of these famatd materially impact the value of the
asset.
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New Accounting Pronouncements

VMware adopted FASB Interpretation 48, “Accountfiog Uncertainty in Income Taxes” (“FIN No. 48"), tite beginning of fiscal year
2007. FIN No. 48 clarifies the accounting for uniagty in income taxes recognized in an enterpsi§i@ancial statements in accordance with
FAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” FIN Nt8 prescribes a two-step process to determinartt@int of tax benefit to be
recognized. First, the tax position must be eveld&b determine the likelihood that it will be saiged upon external examination. If the tax
position is deemed “more-likely-than-ndt be sustained, the tax position is then assdesdetermine the amount of benefit to recognizihé
financial statements. The amount of the benefit ey be recognized is the largest amount thatilgreater than 50 percent likelihood of
being realized upon ultimate settlement. We hadhamges to the amount of our income tax payabéerasult of implementing FIN No. 48.
Prior to the adoption of FIN No. 48, our policy wasclassify accruals for uncertain positions asigient liability unless it was highly probable
that there would not be a payment or settlemensdch identified risks for a period of at leasteary We reclassified $4.5 of income tax
liabilities from current to non-current liabilitigrecause a cash settlement of these liabilitiastignticipated within one year of the balance
sheet date.

In September 2006, the FASB issued FAS No. 157 WVaue Measurements,” or FAS No. 157, which addes how companies should
measure fair value when they are required to da@ salue measure for recognition or disclosureppsges under generally accepted accoul
principles. FAS No. 157 defines fair value, esttiis a framework for measuring fair value in gdheagcepted accounting principles and
expands disclosures about fair value measurenfeAs No. 157 is effective for financial statemersisuied for fiscal years beginning after
November 15, 2007 and should be applied prospégtigrcept in the case of a limited number of ficiahinstruments that requi
retrospective application. We are currently evahgathe potential impact of FAS No. 157 on our fin&l position and results of operations.

In February 2007, the FASB issued FAS No. 159, “Fa& Value Option for Financial Assets and Finahtiabilities-including an
amendment of FAS 115,” or FAS No. 159. The newest&int allows entities to choose, at specified igleaates, to measure eligible financial
assets and liabilities at fair value that are ribenwise required to be measured at fair valua.ddbmpany elects the fair value option for an
eligible item, changes in that item’s fair valuesimbsequent reporting periods must be recognizedrient earnings. FAS No. 159 is effective
for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 200/&. are currently evaluating the potential impddEAS No. 159 on our financial position
and results of operations.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Marlet Risk

During the first quarter 2007, our internationaleeues accounted for 47% of our total revenuesrtational revenue as a percentage of
total revenues was 44% in 2006, 46% in 2005 and #52004. Our revenue contracts are denominatéd$n dollars and the vast majority of
our purchase contracts are denominated in U.SardolA portion of our cost of revenues, primariig tost of personnel to deliver technical
support on our products, and a portion of our dpeyaexpense related to sales and sales supporeaadrch and development, are
denominated in foreign currencies, primarily théiBn pound, the Euro, the Japanese yen, the Indiaee, the Australian dollar and the
Canadian dollar. These costs and the resultingtedfe gross margin and operating income are expstxteign exchange rate fluctuations.
Upon consolidation, as exchange rates vary, cdsts/enue and operating costs may differ materifatiyn expectations. The Company does
not hedge its exposure to foreign currency fluetuatOur exposure to market risk relates primatolyhe variable interest obligation on the t
we incurred to fund an $800.0 dividend to EMC.
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BUSINESS

VMware is the leading provider of virtualizationlgtions. Our virtualization solutions representi@angering approach to computing that
separates the operating system and applicatiowaatfrom the underlying hardware to achieve sigaift improvements in efficiency,
availability, flexibility and manageability. Our &d and proven suite of virtualization solutiondredses a range of complex IT problems that
include infrastructure optimization, business conity, software lifecycle management and desktopagament. The benefits to our customers
include substantially lower IT costs, choice of igiimg systems and a more automated and resilstérss infrastructure capable of
responding dynamically to variable business demafds customer base includes 100% of the Fortu@eah@ over 84% of the Fortune 1,000.
Our customer base for our server solutions has gtovinclude 20,000 organizations of all sizes asnmumerous industries. We believe our
solutions deliver significant economic value fostamers, and many have adopted our solutions estriitegic and architectural foundation for
their future computing initiatives.

Our solutions enable organizations to aggregatéipleiservers, storage infrastructure and netwtogsther into shared pools of capa
that can be allocated dynamically, securely andlsl to applications as needed, increasing haredwélization and reducing spending. In the
eight years since the introduction of our firstwélization platform, we have expanded our offefwith virtual infrastructure automation and
management products to address distributed andogeteeous infrastructure challenges such as systeowerability and reliability, backup
and recovery, resource provisioning and managernapgcity and performance management and desktopitye

We began shipping our first product in 1999, ardhtowe offer 16 products. Our flagship desktop podvVMware Workstation, is in its
sixth generation and our flagship server produitestMware Infrastructure, is in its third genéoat Our products are widely recognized for
their innovation and quality. We believe that aechinological leadership can be attributed to oghlyitalented R&D engineers, over 40% of
whom have advanced degrees.

We believe that the addressable market opportdmitgur virtualization solutions is large and exgeng. IDC estimates that less than
one million of the 24.6 million x86 servers andsl¢isan five million of the 489.7 million businedent PCs deployed worldwide are running
virtualization software. We believe industry trendsards more powerful yet under-utilized mudtire servers and the increasing complexi
managing desktop environments will drive widespraddption of virtualization for both server andktep deployments. We believe that our
innovative virtualization solutions will enable tesmaintain our leadership in this large addressatdrket by increasing our penetration within
our substantial installed base and through thetiaddof new customers.

We work closely with over 200 technology partnéms|uding leading server, processor, storage, nédwg and software vendors. We
have shared the economic opportunities surroundigalization with our partners by facilitatinglaon development through open APIs,
formats and protocols and providing access to ource code and technology. The endorsement andsugour partners have further
enhanced the awareness, reputation and adoptiour efrtualization solutions.

We have developed a multi-channel distribution nhéalexpand our presence and reach various segrogtits market. We derive a
significant majority of our revenues from our latigdirect sales channel of more than 4,000 chapaethers that include distributors, resellers,
x86 system vendors and systems integrators. Weueethat our partners benefit greatly from the s&leur solutions through additional
services, software and hardware sales opportunitieshave trained a large number of partners addisars to deploy and leverage our
solutions.

We were founded in 1998 and have continued to ¢péndarge measure as a stand-alone company fiogpaur acquisition by EMC in
2004. Our independence has been critical to bgldimep and mutually

64



Table of Contents

beneficial relationships with a broad group of pars. During 2006, we generated $703.9 milliorevenues, an 82% increase over our 2005
results. For financial information about our busméy segment and geographic area, see Note k ttisolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this prospectus. We are basedlo Alto, California with 39 offices worldwide

Industry Background
The Proliferation of x86 Servers and Desktops Inthaces New Challenges

The introduction of x86 servers in the 1980s predid low-cost alternative to mainframe and proarieUNIX systems. The broad
adoption of Windows and the emergence of Linuxexges operating systems in the 1990s establish6d&B/ers as the industry standard. x86
server shipments represented 93% of new serv@@0f according to IDC. The growth in x86 server dadktop deployments has introduced
new operational risks and IT infrastructure chajles These challenges include:

Low Infrastructure Utilizatior. Typical x86 server deployments achieve anagyeutilization of only 10% to 15% of total capgcit
according to IDC. Organizations typically do nob mmore than one application per server to avoiditieof faults or security
vulnerabilities in one application affecting theadability of another application on the same ser¥éis “one application to one
server” approach, combined with the relative irgéfincy of most x86-based server applications, ésslted in significant under-
utilization of x86-based server resources. IDCnestés that organizations currently maintain toxakess computing capacity valued
at $140 billion in the form of over-provisionedidte servers. We believe that the industry trendatimls multi-core architectures,
which increase server capacity by combining twenore independent processors into a single packétidikely result in even
lower utilization levels. According to IDC, morestt 95% of x86-based servers currently have fourgesors or less. We therefore
believe applications currently running on theseeer are unlikely to take advantage of the eighsitteen-processor architectures
that are likely to be the industry standard witthia next few year:

Increasing Physical Infrastructure Cos.  Although the average selling prices of senaerd related IT infrastructure continue to
decline, the operational costs to support this grgunfrastructure have steadily increased. Mostgoting infrastructure must
remain operational at all times, resulting in powensumption, cooling and facilities costs thahdbvary with utilization levels. In
some cases, the lack of adequate power supplysemtethe limiting factor to an organizatismbility to deploy new applications ¢
servers. IDC estimates that organizations spen0##fion in 2006 to power and cool the worldwiithstalled base of servers, the
vast majority of which are x86 serve

Increasing IT Management Co:. IDC estimates that organizations typicallyrapenore than 80% of their overall IT budgets or
routine maintenance of existing infrastructure.c@mputing environments become more complex, thel lefvspecialized education
and experience required for infrastructure managepersonnel and the associated costs of suchrpe@kbave increased. To
support the rapid growth of under-utilized senemmd associated IT infrastructure, organizationsdksproportionate time and
resources on manual tasks associated with senietenance, and thus require more personnel to cetefiiese tasks. Furthermore,
automation of operational processes is inhereriitficdlt given the complexity and heterogeneitytbé environments

Insufficient Failover and Disaster Protecti. ~Organizations are increasingly affected bydbentime of critical server applicatic
and inaccessibility of critical end user desktofise threat of security attacks, natural disastezalth pandemics and terrorism has
elevated the importance of business continuity gitenfor both desktops and servers. The increadémendence on x86ased serve
applications has elevated the importance of priotgthem against local hardware failure, applicafaults and human error.
Traditional solutions for both high availability dbusiness continuity are complex and costly aedefiore have only been deployed
for a small subset of applicatior
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» Desktop Management and Secur Managing and securing enterprise desktops presenerous challenges. Controllini
distributed desktop environment and enforcing manant, access and security policies without impgitisers’ ability to work
effectively is complex and expensive. Numerouspegcand upgrades must be continually applied tktdegnvironments to
eliminate security vulnerabilitie

The Emergence of Industry-Standard Infrastructureifualization

Virtualization was first introduced in the 1970setoable multiple business applications to sharefahdharness the centralized
computing capacity of mainframe systems. Virtualarawas effectively abandoned during the 1980sE3fiDs when clienserver application
and inexpensive x86 servers and desktops estathlitebemnodel of distributed computing. Rather thiaaring resources centrally in the
mainframe model, organizations used the low coslisifibuted systems to build up islands of commytiapacity, providing some benefits but
also introducing new challenges. In 1999, VMwatedduced virtualization to x86 systems as a meamsficiently address many of these
challenges and to transform x86 systems into géparpose, shared hardware infrastructure thatrefidl isolation, mobility and operating
system choice for application environments.

Virtualization can be implemented using variousrapphes. The most prevalent approach uses a lageftavare called a “hypervisor”
that resides below the operating system (see Extjibirhe hypervisor provides the capability tol@deamultiple applications and operating
systems to share the underlying hardware safebnisgpsulating each application and operating systets own “virtual machine.”
Organizations use this technology to run multigdplecations and heterogeneous operating systentiseosame hardware and across different
hardware configurations, raising utilization andueing costs.

Exhibit 1: Virtualization Enables Secure Systemtifaning

The Need for Virtual Infrastructure Automation andanagement

The introduction of virtualization technology prasea number of opportunities for driving capitatlaoperational efficiency above and
beyond the simple benefit of safe partitioning.d&coupling the entire software environment fronuitgerlying hardware infrastructure,
virtualization enables the aggregation of multipdevers, storage infrastructure and networks ihéwesd pools of resources that can be deli

66



Table of Contents

dynamically, securely and reliably to applicati@ssneeded (see Exhibit 2). This pioneering appreaables organizations to build a
computing infrastructure with high levels of utdtion, availability, automation and flexibility umj building blocks of inexpensive industry-
standard servers. Although virtualization represéme core enabling technology, the enormous hisressociated with this general purpose
computing infrastructure cannot be fully realizeitheut virtual infrastructure automation and marragat solutions.

Exhibit 2: Virtualization Enables a Distributed Wial Infrastructure

o

FTORAAE T W METWORK SERVERE STORAGE

Market Opportunity

IDC estimates the installed base of x86-based seme2006 at 24.6 million units, growing to 33.8lion units by 2010. According to
IDC, worldwide shipments of x86 servers are expmbtbeincrease from 6.9 million units in 2006 to &illion units in 2010. IDC estimates that
the percentage of all new x86 server shipmentsingrvirtualization software will increase from 5% 2005 to 17% in 2010. We believe
industry trends towards more powerful yet undelizgtil multi-core servers will further accelerate thidespread adoption of virtualization for
server deployments.

Desktop virtualization provides organizations witle ability to manage desktop deployments throhghuse of virtual machines running
on centralized server farms in the corporate datder or IT-managed desktop-based virtual machiasserver-based desktops, users access
these desktops remotely from a desktop or a tiémtclsing a remote display protocol. The centealimanagement of desktop deployments
enables organizations to significantly improve ¢ffficiency of desktop installations, upgrades, patcand backups. Desktop virtualization also
enables organizations to package an IT-managedageskthin a secured virtual machine and depldy iatn unmanaged physical desktop,
which can greatly reduce the manageability chabsrassociated with remote access deployments. $b@ated that the installed base of
business client PCs reached 489.7 million as oebwer 2006. We believe that companies spend appately $1,000 to $2,000 per desktop
per year to deliver the necessary manageabilityritg and resilience. We believe that these dgskistems and associated spending repr
a significant potential market for virtualizatiomded solutions.

Our Solution

Our virtualization solutions run on industry-stargtlaervers and desktops and support a wide rangpeséting system and application
environments, as well as networking and storagastifucture. We have designed our solutions totioméndependently of the hardware and
operating system to provide customers with a bplatform choice. Our solutions provide a key intggm point for hardware and
infrastructure
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management vendors to deliver differentiated véthae can be applied uniformly across all applicatmd operating system environments. |
benefits to our virtualization solutions include:

» Server Consolidation and Infrastructure Optimizatio Our solutions enable organizations to achiéyeificantly higher resource
utilization by pooling common infrastructure resoes and breaking the “one application to one semedel. Our research indicates
that our customers commonly achieve server coretidia ratios that average 5:1 and can achievesrtit exceed 20:1 by using our
solutions to run each of their applications in selated and secure virtual machine. Our solutinokide numerous availability
safeguards to mitigate the risk of loading multigpglications onto the same hardware platform. Aelalso developed tools and
management products to enable easy planning aneiian of physical machines into virtual machiresywell as for the
optimization and ongoing maintenance of a constédl&irtual environmen

» Physical Infrastructure Cost Reductic Through significant server consolidation andtetament results, our solutions increase
utilization rates and reduce the required numbeseofers and other infrastructure overhead. Outtisols enable organizations to
achieve significant reductions in their physicdtastructure costs through reduced data centeespaever and cooling costs
required to support new and existing applicatiést. solutions also allow organizations to reducdefer capital expenditures for
new data center facilitie

« Improved Operational Flexibility and Responsiven  Our solutions include a set of virtual infrastiure automation and
management products that simplify and automaterlabd resource intensive IT operations across thsphardware, operating
system and software application environments. @twal infrastructure automation and managemenit&nis reduce the amount of
time IT professionals must spend on largely readi@asks, such as provisioning, configuration, norimiy and maintenance. In many
cases, our solutions enable organizations to rethiecaumber of IT professionals required to effedti manage and maintain their
infrastructure resources and to adapt their ITastiiucture more quickly to respond to changingriess need:

» Increased Application Availability and Improved Bwess Continuit.  Our solutions enable organizations to redwtéa planned
and unplanned downtime in their computing environtseFor planned downtime, we provide a live migraproduct called
VMotion that enables users to move virtual machmesing applications and operating systems agrhgsically separate machines
with no service interruption or data loss. For ampled downtime, our solutions enable organizatiorseate a simple, cost-effective
and rapid recovery strategy for the vast majorfty86-based workloads, many of which are not cutyerovered by traditional
recovery strategies. The use of our solutions fgramé entire virtual environments to new data geloations enables our customers
to implement fast and efficient business contingthategies

» Improved Desktop Manageability and Secui  Our desktop virtualization solutions allow ongaations to centrally host and
manage desktop environments while providing a adgskke experience to an end user. This virtuaktgsinfrastructure allows IT
organizations to efficiently control desktop enwinoents regardless of location, desktop hardwaresadipg system or business
application access needs. Our virtualization sohgtialso allow organizations to deploy portablekttgsvirtual machines on
unmanaged desktops while providing a layer of gadientrol and security around each virtual machirtee use of desktop
virtualization in remote access deployments pravigiganizations with complete control of the handw@onfiguration and
networking capabilities of an unmanaged desktogngure compliance with security polici

Our Competitive Strengths

We believe that the following competitive strengplosition us well to maintain and extend our lealigrin virtualization solutions.

» Leading Technology and Market Positic  Since our founding in 1998, we have focusedusieely on pioneering virtualizatio
technology, continuously improving our core viriaation platform anc
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progressively expanding the application of virtaation technology to address previously unsolvéblehallenges. Our flagshi
desktop product, VMware Workstation, is in its kigteneration and our flagship server product s\Mikdware Infrastructure, is in its
third generation. Our products and solutions haeeived over 100 industry awards for excellencel@adership in their category.
Our highly skilled employee base includes manyhefihdustry’s foremost experts in systems and aiization technology and
provides us with unparalleled experience and kndgden delivering innovative and high-quality vtization solutions. Our
technology is the most widely deployed on the miatt@ay, and industry analysts have independehtdyacterized us as the leading
virtualization solution provider in the marketplad®e believe that our commitment to virtualizationovation, combined with our
industry-leading market position, creates strorgntrrecognition and preference among current ansppctive customers,
technology partners and resellers and accelefa¢esdoption of our solution

» Broad Product Portfolio We offer a broad virtualization product suttattaddresses an organiza’s virtualization needs from tl
data center to the desktop. We offer 16 virtualimabased products across three product categoriedld@ship server product sui
VMware Infrastructure, bundles several of our prdduo deliver superior functionality and perforroanas well as seamless
integration into existing infrastructure of our tuwers. We believe that our broad product portfofigirtualization solutions
provides us with a substantial advantage over ctitopethat offer discrete, point virtualizationoplucts.

* Open Standards and Choice of Operating Syst Our virtualization software enables customersreate and manage a she
pool of hardware resources that is independerpedific operating system and x86 hardware platforfhss allows our customers to
deploy a heterogeneous environment of operatingsys underlying x86 hardware and associated nkimgand storage
infrastructure. We have successfully certified mibia@n 200 hardware platforms and successfully dastere than 60 operating
systems for use with our solutions. We providemantners access to our source code, as well asAPksn formats and protocols to
facilitate their development of interoperable aiffedentiated products. We also make our APls, fatsrand protocols available for
use by our partners and for inclusion in virtuaima industry standards. We have designed ouraligation solutions to be an
extension of hardware, as opposed to the operayisigm, resulting in a more flexible and robustisoh that delivers both strategic
choice and economic value to custom

» Large Installed Base of Custome We have a large installed customer base of tinare 20,000 organizations using our se
solutions. Our customer base includes 100% of RerflD0 companies and over 84% of Fortune 1,000 aniep. Our customer base
includes organizations of all sizes across numeirtdisstries. We believe that our customers viewasia key strategic solutions
provider. The performance and reliability of ouogucts has resulted in high customer satisfactmhsérong customer loyalty. Mal
customers have implemented a policy to standaatigerun all their new applications on our solutjgmesenting us with significant
opportunities to expand our footprint within thesganizations as they grow their IT infrastructt

» Strong Partner Network. We have extensive relationships with our teébgyy channel and consulting partners. Our netvadrk
partners continues to expand as the interest iradogtion of our technology grows. We believe tepldyment of our leading
virtualization solutions represents a strategiat@hitecture decision for organizations, which teeaignificant product and services
revenue opportunities for our partners. These dppiies provide strong incentives for our partnersollaborate with us to drive
further adoption of our technology. We partner witbre than 200 x86 system vendors, ISVs and o#fodmblogy partners, as well
more than 4,000 distribution, reseller and consglpartners. The endorsement and support of otmgrarhave further enhanced the
awareness, reputation and adoption of our virtaibn solutions

* Robust Global Support Operations and Serv. We offer a full range of 24x7 support offerinfpr both customers and partne
ranging from incident-level to business-criticatvdee, backed by our industry-leading expertisgirtualization solutions. We have
nearly a decade of experience installi
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integrating and supporting our broad virtualizatsmiutions in various production environments fosinesses of all sizes. C
support services cover a broad range of hardwatépins and software configurations. We implemetioblow the sun”approach t
deliver continuous customer support through ouations on three continents. We believe that oubalsupport organization and
capabilities positively impact our customer satiifm, maintenance renewal levels and specifiddiffigrentiate us from smaller
virtualization solution competitor

Our Growth Strategy
Our objective is to extend our market leadershipiitualization solutions. To accomplish this olijee, we intend to:

Broaden our Product Portfolic We continue to innovate and develop new seamdrdesktop solutions and offer additional sen
that enhance the value of our current offerings.éxample, the introduction of our VMware Infrastiure 3 product suite in 2006
expanded our offerings to include new capabilitieBigh availability, resource management and bpaad recovery. We intend to
provide our existing and prospective customers aittlitional solutions that will leverage virtualiiwan technology to further
optimize the value and reliability of their commgiinfrastructure. We may also pursue the acqaisitf companies with
complementary products and technologies that wieveeivill enhance our suite of offerinc

Enable Choice for Customers and Drive Standa We have designed and plan to maintain our eiot@alization platforms as an
operating system-independent extension of x86 harelwBy offering the functionality to pool and mgeéahe resources of multiple
servers and networking and storage infrastructureyirtualization solutions extend beyond senieiualization to enable a next-
generation, operating systesggnostic, distributed computing infrastructure vaignificant scalability, reliability, security, ailability
and flexibility.

Expand our Network of Technology and DistributicartRers. We believe that the endorsement and suppatiiopartners and
user community accelerate the adoption of our gniat We focus on enabling our partners to realeae economic opportunities
through the integration and distribution of oungmns. We intend to expand our network of techggland distribution partners and
increase the value our solutions provide to thellware and software solutions of our partners. Weogntinue to collaborate with,
and create additional revenue opportunities for,pautners to encourage their efforts to drive dgidopand sales of our virtualization
solutions.

Increase Sales to Existing Customers and Pursue@lestomers We believe we have a significant opportunitynicrease our
sales to existing customers by targeting additiboiginess units, pursuing upgrades and broad eisegeployments and enhancing
the functionality of our existing solutions. We hdbntinue to aggressively pursue new customersadip by expanding our direct
and indirect sales channels and our services pfferio complement our virtualization technolo

Increase Market Awareness and Drive Adoption ofidiization. We offer free solutions, which include VMwarkayer, VMware
Server and VMware Converter. These entry-leveltgmig allow customers to evaluate the benefitsusfwirtualization technology
and subsequently purchase advanced versions gbbutions. Our free software offerings, togethethwnore than 400 third-party
applications distributed in virtual appliances,\pde an entry point for potential customers that lemad to additional product sales
and broad adoption of our technology. We also bastannual VMworld industry conference to incregkxbal awareness of
virtualization solutions
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Our Products and Technology

We offer a broad portfolio of products that spares ¢onsumer desktop to the enterprise data céemproducts generally fall into two
categories (see Exhibit 3):

Virtualization Platforms. Our virtualization platforms include a hypewnsigor system partitioning that provides the calighio
safely, securely and efficiently run multiple optérg systems simultaneously on the same physicahima. Our platforms range
from free, entr-level products for the desktop and server to meatufr-rich desktop and server platforn

Virtual Infrastructure Automation and ManagementOur virtual infrastructure automation produgtitize the unique benefits of ¢
virtualization platforms to automate system infrasture services, such as resource managementlairgi, mobility and security.
By deploying our virtual infrastructure automatiproducts with our virtualization platforms, VMwatastomers can reduce the
operational complexity of their environments. Oirtual infrastructure management products autortiegénteraction between
various IT constituencies and the virtual infrastane for a specific set of point solutions. Theskitions range from capacity sizing
and assessment to development lab manage

Exhibit 3: VMware Product Portfolio
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Virtualization Platform Products

VMware Player VMware Player is a free virtualization platfothrat enables individuals to run virtual machinadhweir desktop
but does not allow virtual machine creation. We \dstware Player primarily as an awareness tool toifiarize individuals with the
concept of virtual machines. VMware Player has b#mmnloaded more than 2.6 million times since iswzade generally available
in December 200¢

VMware Workstation VMware Workstation is a desktop virtualizatiproduct for software developers and enterpris
professionals who need to run multiple operatirgfesys simultaneously on a single desktop. Userswad/indows, Linux,
NetWare or Solaris x86 in fully networked, portabigual machines with no rebooting or hard drivgtjgioning required. VMwar:
Workstation delivers excellent performance and aded features, such as memory optimization andlfigy to manage multi-tier
configurations and multiple snapshc
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VMware Server VMware Server is a free virtualization platfothat enables simple partitioning of a server imtdtiple virtual
machines. VMware Server runs as an applicatioroprof an existing Windows or Linux operating systemlike our VMware ESX
Server platform, which runs its own microkernel. Wiste Server is principally an awareness tool foniaistrators to become
familiar with virtualization, though customers magt to pay an annual support and subscriptionfféeey would like the product
supported in a production or test environment. Viven@erver has been downloaded more than 1.7 miilioes since it was made
generally available in November 20(

VMware ESX Server. VMware ESX Server is our enterprise-class wiliaation platform that runs directly on the hardevavith its
own microkernel and requires no third-party ope@asystem. VMware ESX Server is designed exprdeslthe purpose of running
virtual machines securely, efficiently and flexibWMware ESX Server’s microkernel architecture pdeg numerous efficiencies
and performance benefits, including advanced resomranagement features, such as memory over-corentitind share-based
resource allocations to guarantee quality of serwtMware ESX Server also has buiitredundancy features, such as device tea
and storage mu-pathing, to mitigate the risk of any componentuialin a hig-density, shared environme

VMware Virtual SMP. VMware Virtual SMP enables a single virtual izme to use up to four physical processors simattasly,
thereby allowing customers to run proce- and resourc-intensive applications in virtual machin

VMware VMFS. VMware VMFS is a clustered file-system and vo&umanager that enables multiple ESX Servers &ysaf
efficiently and reliably share block-based stordgeias designed expressly for the purpose of hiagdiirtual machines and is
required to enable reliable use of our Virtual &structure Automation produc

Virtual Infrastructure Automation and Management Rrducts

VMware VirtualCenter VMware VirtualCenter provides a central poifitontrol to provision, monitor and manage a vilized 1T
environment. VMware VirtualCenter also managestimime coordination of infrastructure automatioongucts, such as VMware
VMotion, VMware DRS and VMware HA, and provides lbotind software interfaces for network and systemsagement software
vendors to incorporate these technologies and efeerents of virtual machine management into the@r console

VMware VMotion VMware VMotion allows users to move virtual rhées with running applications and operating systérom
one physical machine to another with no serviceriaption or data loss. Our customers have used &ffdwMotion for more than
three years to improve service levels deliveretthéir end users. Customers typically use VMware btoto perform zero-
downtime planned hardware maintenance.-disruptive server migration or dynamic resourcairppsing.

VMware DRS VMware DRS creates resource pools from an aggien of physical servers. VMware DRS dynamicallpcates
virtual machines to resource pools on demand. @mtteal machines have been provisioned, VMware RB&inuously monitors
utilization across the resource pool and intellihebalances a collection of virtual machines asrite servers in the resource pool
using VMware VMotion. The VMware DRS resource magragnt policies may be driven by pre-defined andraated rules that
reflect business needs and priorities. VMware DRI$/drs higher quality of service by managing rese.ccommitments in a shared
environment

VMware HA. VMware HA provides automated recovery from heaace failure for any application running in a vatunachine
regardless of its operating system or underlyinghivare configuration. The technology includes amiemory, replicated database
across all of the VMware ESX Servers in a resopad that tracks the status of every virtual maehin the event of a failure,
affected virtual machines are immediately recovenei alternate systems. This technology addres&ey need to make workloads
instantly recoverable to mitigate the impact ofdveare failures in a shared environme
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* VMware Consolidated Backu VMware Consolidated Backup (VCB) enables L-free, automated backup of virtual machi
from a centralized backup proxy. The product inelidoftware utilities for third-party backup prottuto efficiently snapshot and
back up running virtual machines from a singleuse@roxy server. VCB can be used to perform bitehlével and full-system
backup and recovery with an existing backup infredtire. It provides a critical, zero-downtime gao to manage the increased
density of backup operations in a highly utilizé@sed environmen

*  VMware ACE. VMware ACE enables desktop administrators o ldown desktop endpoints and protect critical canyp
resources against the risks presented by unmarnksgitbps. With VMware ACE, desktop administrataskage an IT-managed
desktop within a secured virtual machine and deftlayan unmanaged physical desktop. Once installdlware ACE provides a
suite of automated security policies around theigirmachine, such as encryption, expiration, netvemd device access policies,
transforming the unmanaged desktop to ensure cang@iwith security policie:

* VMware Capacity Planner. VMware Capacity Planner is a hosted applicatiiat enables VMware service providers to perform
capacity assessments onsite at a customer faditigy service provider installs and runs a colleatdhe customer facility that
conducts agent-less discovery and collection dioperance information for all servers in an envir@am VMware Capacity Planner
loads this performance information into a hosteta dearehouse and provides web-based analytics andl€onsolidation
recommendations to the service provic

* VMware Converter VMware Converter enables customers to quickly @eliably convert local and remote physical maehiinta
virtual machines. Users may also input third-partgge formats or third-party virtual machines iMi@lware Converter to create
virtual machines that run on our platforr

* VMware Virtual Desktop Infrastructure. VMware Virtual Desktop Infrastructure (VDI) dilas companies to host individual
desktops inside virtual machines running on ceizgdlservers in their data center. Users access thigual desktops remotely from
a physical desktop or a thin client using a rendigplay protocol. Since applications are managedraky at the corporate data
center, organizations gain better control overrttlesktop deployments. Unlike other server-basédisas that do not provide a
complete desktop experience or require specifibitectures, VDI includes full desktop environmefasiliar to end users and not
limited by hardware or locatiol

* VMware Lab Manager. VMware Lab Manager automates the setup, capstweage and sharing of multi-machine software
configurations for development and staging envirents. Using VMware Lab Manager, development antkéasns can access
multiple software configurations and virtual maasron demand through a ¢service portal

Support and Services

We believe that our strong services organizatiahfeequent customer touch points help establishlloystomers that provide references
and help promote our technology across variousstnighis. We have implemented a broad services girdltet leverages the professional
services organizations of our partners. We haweedsablished our own services offerings to complanour partnersservices offerings and
ensure customer satisfaction, drive additionalssafel promote renewals and upgrades. Our senif@igs include customized solutions and
onsite support that enable us and our channelgrarto provide a positive overall customer expegen

We have established our global customer suppodrozgtion, VMware Global Support Services, to aligth and support our expanding
customer base.

» VMware Global Support Services.We offer a suite of proactive, top-quality sappackages backed by industry-leading expertise.
We offer three maintenance programs, Platinum, @otfl Silver, that include our support along withigeic minor updates and
enhancements to our products. A majorit
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our server customers purchase Platinum suppoaddition to phone support, our customers have adoesn online product suppt
database for help with troubleshooting and opematiquestions. These programs are offered on ame&ion multi-year subscription
basis. Our support teams, located in Californiaya@ia, Ireland, India and Japan, provide first rasp@and manage the resolution of
customer issues. In addition, we have authorizeioesystems vendors to provide support for oodpcts on our behal

We also offer a range of professional services undeVMware Professional Services offering, whictludes:

VMware Consulting Services. VMware Certified Professionals provide on-sigsistance throughout the virtualization adoption
lifecycle to accelerate the implementation of owtualization solutions. VMware Certified Professa&s conduct initial assessments
and upgrade workshops and prepare detailed impletiem project plans. Once customers are readgtéordardization across their
enterprise, VMware Certified Professionals helgdnate virtual infrastructure into enterprise sysend processe

VMware Education Services. VMware courses provide extensive hands-on ledse study examples and course materials.
Customers work in teams of two on servers locaftsit® using a variety of remote access technoko

Technology Alliances

Consistent with our partner-centric strategy, weeh@ngaged a broad group of hardware and softwareors to cooperatively advance
virtualization technology through joint marketimgpduct interoperability, collaboration and co-depenent. We create opportunity for
partners by enabling them to build products théizatour virtualization technology and create difntiated value through joint solutions.

We have over 200 technology partners with whom rirghjoint offerings to the marketplace. We clagsifir partners as:

Independent Hardware Vendors (IHV ~ We have established strong relationships witgd system vendors, including IBM, HP,
Dell, NEC, Fujitsu, Fujitsu-Siemens and Sun, fonjaertification and co-development. We also woldsely with Intel, AMD and
other IHVs to provide input on product developminénable them to deliver hardware advancementdb#érefit virtualization user
We coordinate with the leading storage and netwgrkiendors to ensure joint interoperability, aslaelto enable our software to
access their differentiated functionali

Independent Software Vendors (IS\ We partner with leading systems managemengsiructure software and applicati
software vendors to enable them to deliver valugeddroducts that integrate with our VMware Infrasture suite of products. Our
Technology Alliance Program facilitates joint sadut creation and coordinated go-to-market actigitidéth our partners. Our ISV
partners have distributed over 400 software apjpdioa as virtual appliance

In addition to developing open APIs, formats anot@cols at multiple levels in our products, we pdevsource code access to select
partners in our “Community Source” program to fiaaik joint development and partner differentiatidfe provide access to our ESX source
code to over 300 developers from more than 30 pestfor joint development projects. We also workhvaur industry partners to promote and
foster the adoption of industry standards.

In addition, we and Intel have entered into a meiand customary collaboration partnering agreethanbiexpresses the parties’ intent to
continue to expand their cooperative efforts arooimt development, marketing and industry initi@s. Intel’s investment is intended to foster
strengthened intercompany collaboration toward lacaéng VMware virtualization product adoption briel architecture and reinforcing the
value of virtualization technology for customers.
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We invest in testing and certification infrastruettio rigorously ensure our software works wellhwitajor hardware and software
products. We have certified over 200 hardware ptats and have successfully tested over 60 opersayisigms for use with our solutions. We
believe that the scale and scope of this effaatsgynificant competitive advantage.

Research and Development

We have made and intend to make significant investmin research and development. We have assembBledng group of developers
with system-level and system management softwgrertze. We employ approximately 1,100 profess®irabur R&D organization and over
40% of the developers in the R&D organization hasreanced degrees. We also have strong ties togadademic institutions around the
world and support academic programs that range &loaned source code for research to sabbaticatgrsgfor visiting professors.

We prioritize our product development efforts tighwa combination of engineering-driven innovatiod austomer and market-driven
feedback. Our research and development cultureglaigh value on innovation, quality and open ¢atation with our partners. We currently
participate in numerous standards groups. For ebame co-chair the Distributed Management TaslcE@DMTF) working group on System
Virtualization, Partitioning and Clustering and chthe Standard Performance Evaluation Corporgi8PEC) working group on virtualization.
We believe the strength of our research and dewsop organization is a competitive differentiator.

Sales and Marketing

We sell and market our products largely througletavork of channel partners, which includes distidlos, resellers, x86 system vendors
and systems integrators, with over 75% of our reedn 2006 derived from this indirect network.

We have established ongoing business relationstithsour distributors. Our distributors purchaséware licenses and software support
from us for resale to end-user customers via resell

A substantial majority of our resellers, namelystdn our VIP reseller network, obtain softwareiises and software support from our
distributors and market and sell them to our eret-gastomers. We offer several levels of memberishqur VIP reseller network depending
on a reseller’s interest and capability of providdemand generation, fulfilment, service delivand education to customers and prospects.
We also have certain resellers, as well as sysiei@grators, who obtain software licenses and sivsupport directly from VMware. The
VIP network agreements signed by the resellery carrobligation to purchase or sell VMware produastsl can be terminated at any time by
either party.

We have a direct sales force that complementstwamrel partners’ efforts. Our sales force work$witir channel partners to introduce
them to end-user customer accounts and new satestapities. Our channel partners also introduaesales force to their end-user customers.

In addition, our channel partner network includegain system integrators and resellers trainedcantified to deliver consulting servic
and solutions leveraging VMware products.

Our strategy is to position our products withinaigty of organizations where end-user customeght@onsider buying virtualization
solutions. We provide product training and markgtssistance to our channel partner network.

We generally do not have long-term contracts orimmimn purchase commitments with our distributorseters, x86 system vendors and
systems integrators, and our contracts with theaarmel partners do not prohibit them from offenqimgducts or services that compete with
ours.
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One of our distribution relationships is with IngrMicro, which accounted for 29% of our worldwiderenues in 2006. The agreement
under which we receive the substantial majoritpf Ingram Micro revenues is terminable by eithentypupon 90 days’ prior written notice to
the other party, and neither party has any oblbgettd purchase or sell any products under the aggat The terms of this agreement between
Ingram Micro and us are substantially similar te tarms of the agreements we have with other digtiis, except for certain differences in
shipment and payment terms, product return righésczrtain indemnification obligations. No otheaohel partner accounted for over 10% of
our revenues in 2006.

Ingram Micro accounted for 23%, and another of@channel partners accounted for 11%, of revenu#seifirst three months of 2007.
No other channel partner accounted for more th&a @Dour revenues in the first three months of 2(

As of March 31, 2007, we had agreements with muse 8,000 channel partners and employed approXynbtH0 sales and marketing
personnel. We maintain sales offices in 31 cousitrie

We primarily sell our software under perpetualtises, and our sales contracts generally requiraisadcustomers to purchase
maintenance for the first year. Software mainteeaasold both directly to enalser customers and via our network of channel pestrand th
majority of professional services are sold dirgotlith some professional services sold via our deapartners. Our sales cycle with end-user
customers ranges from less than 90 days to oveardepending on several factors, including the aimd complexity of the customer’s
infrastructure.

The competitive landscape in which we operate thefunot only other software virtualization venddmst, also traditional hardware
solutions. In establishing prices for our produeis,take into account, among other factors, thaevalir products and solutions deliver, and
cost of both alternative virtualization and hardevaolutions. We believe the significant numberuwgtomers who also purchase our software
services reflects a clear customer perception gsetoalue of our software services.

Our marketing efforts focus on communicating thedfiés of our solutions and educating our custorrgisdributors, resellers, x86
system vendors, systems integrators, the mediamaigsts about the advantages of our innovatitaalization technology. We raise the
awareness of our company, market our products andrgte sales leads through industry events, prddtitions efforts, marketing materials,
free downloads and our website. On average, ousiteefeceives approximately 400,000 unique visiearsh week, as measured by a third-
party tracking system. We also have created ameibmmunity called VMware Technology Network (VM)tkat enables customers and
partners to share and discuss sales and developesenirces, implementation best practices, andsingtrends among other topics.
Attendance at VMworld, the largest annual indusogference on virtualization and hosted by VMwdigs grown from approximately 1,400
attendees in 2004 to more than 6,700 attendee®0ié. 2Ve also offer management presentations, sesmama webinars on our products and
topics of virtualization. We believe a combinatifithese efforts strengthens our brand and enhanodsading market position in our
industry.

Customers

Our customers include 100% of the Fortune 100 amd 84% of the Fortune 1,000. As of January 2007 castomer base for our server
solutions has grown to include 20,000 organizatmfrall sizes across numerous industries. Our custaleployments range in size from a
single virtualized server for small businessespaaithousands of virtual machines for our largegerprise customers. In periodic third-party
surveys commissioned by us, our customers indigate high satisfaction rates with our products arahy have indicated a strong preference
for repeat purchases.

Ingram Micro, one of our distributors, accounted 8% of our revenues in 2006. No other channehpamlaccounted for over 10% of ¢
revenues in 2006. Ingram Micro accounted for 23846, @another of our channel partners accounted &, bf our revenues in the first three
months of 2007. No other channel partner accouiatedver 10% of our revenues in the first three therof 2007.
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Competition

The virtual infrastructure market is evolving, ame expect to face increased competition in theréutwe compete with large and small
companies in different segments of the virtualmatinarket, and expect that new entrants will etitermarket and may develop technologies
that, if commercialized, may compete with our pragu

We believe that the key competitive factors inthual infrastructure market include:

» the level of innovation, quality and maturity obguct offerings

» the ability to provide full virtual infrastructumlutions;

» the proven track record of formulating and delimgra roadmap of virtualization capabiliti¢
» pricing of products, individually and in bundle

» the ability to attract and preserve a large instabbase of customel

» the ability to offer products that support multiplardware platforms and operating syste

» the ability to create and maintain partnering opyaties with hardware and infrastructure softweeadors and development
robust indirect sales channels; ¢

» the ability to attract and retain virtualizationdasystems experts as key employ:t

Microsoft is our primary competitor for virtualizah solutions. Microsoft currently provides prodaititat compete with some of our
entry-level offerings and has announced its intentd provide products that will compete with soofi@ur enterprise-class products in the
future. We have developed our virtualization solog as a software layer between the hardware anapiérating system that is not tied to a
specific operating system. We believe our apprasclifferentiated from Microsoft's and delivers sificant flexibility and superior economic
value to customers.

We also compete with small companies whose produetbased on emerging open-source technologiey$tem virtualization. In
addition, we compete with companies that take diffeapproaches to virtualization. However, wedwithese solutions offer limited support
for heterogeneous operating system deploymentthémumnore, our VMware Infrastructure suite competh products that provide high
availability clustering, workload management angbregce management.

We also expect to compete with new entrants twitthigalization market, which may include partiesremtly selling our products or our
current technology partners. Many of our curremt filure competitors have longer operating hismrigeater name recognition and greater
financial, sales and marketing and other resoutasdo we. We believe our market leadership, latggomer base, strong partner network,
broad and innovative solutions suite and platfognesstic approach position us favorably to compétrtvely for the foreseeable future.

Intellectual Property

To date, the United States Patent and Trademarikedfas issued us 22 patents covering various &spkour server virtualization and
other technologiesThe granted United States patents will expire b@ginin 2018, with the latest granted patent ergiih 2024. We also
have numerous United States provisional and nowigiomal patent applications pending that coveeptispects of our virtualization and other
technologies.

We have been issued trademark registrations ib/ttied States, the European Community and Japagriogvthe trademarks VMWAR
for use in connection with computer software, dloghand reference materials, and VMWORLD for useannection with educational
seminars. VMWARE also is our registered trademarRustralia, Canada, the Republic of Korea, MexBimgapore and Taiwan. We also
have trademark applications pending to registeMM&/ARE mark in China, India and Israel. In additjove have registered trademarks for
GSX SERVER and P2V in the United States and for NIBALEWORLDS in Japan.
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We also rely on intellectual property protectiosisch as copyrights and trade secrets.

Despite our efforts, the steps we have taken ttept@ur proprietary rights may not be adequataréalude misappropriation of our
proprietary information or infringement of our itlextual property rights, and our ability to polisech misappropriation or infringement is
uncertain, particularly in countries outside of theited States. United States patent filings arenided to provide the holder with a right to
exclude others from making, using, selling or imjmgy in the United States the inventions coveredhayclaims of granted patents. Our gra
United States patents, and to the extent any fytatents are issued, any such future patents magritested, circumvented or invalidated in
the future. Moreover, the rights granted underiaayed patents may not provide us with propriepaogection or competitive advantages, and
we may not be able to prevent third parties frofringing these patents. Therefore, the exact effécur patents and the other steps we have
taken to protect our intellectual property canrmpbedicted with certainty.

Employees

As of March 31, 2007, we had approximately 3,00@leyees in offices worldwide. Of these employeg@gpraximately 1,100 are
engaged in sales and marketing, 1,100 in reseatilevelopment, 500 in support and services andr8fifance, administration and
operations. None of our employees are representéabbr unions, and we consider current employksioas to be good.

Included in the VMware employees as of March 31)728re approximately 375 EMC employees. We conwébt EMC to utilize
personnel who are dedicated to work for VMware dullatime basis. These individuals are locatedauntries in which we do not currently
have a subsidiary and are predominantly dedicatedit marketing efforts. Additionally, we utilizeMEZ employees in India for our R&D. We
use contractors from time to time for temporanjgresents and in locations in which we do not cutliehave subsidiaries. In the event that
these contractor resources were not available,onsotibelieve that this would have a material aswaffect our operations.

Facilities
Our corporate headquarters is located in Palo Aledifornia. We have nine office leases and sulgeas Palo Alto totaling 387,000

square feet of office space. Globally, we havetal wf 39 leases and subleases totaling 610,008redeet at this time, of which 17 are leases
through EMC. Currently, we have no owned properties

In addition, we are presently constructing our mewnporate headquarters in Palo Alto, Californiaobphe consummation of the offerit
we will purchase from EMC our new headquarter ftied for an amount equal to the cost expendedM¢ Eo date in constructing the
facilities, which totaled approximately $127.0 naifi as of June 30, 2007. This 462,000 square fificeccomplex will be comprised of six
buildings, which are expected to be completed Bi728nd 2008. We expect to relocate to our new catpdieadquarters site from our several
existing Palo Alto offices as the leases on thaspegrties expire.

We believe that our current facilities, includingraew headquarter facilities, are suitable andjade= to meet our current needs, and we
intend to add new facilities or expand existinglities as we add employees. We believe that sla@tatiditional or substitute space will be
available as needed to accommodate expansion afpauations.

Legal Proceedings

We are a party to legal proceedings which we camsioutine and incidental to our business. Our rgameent does not expect the results
of any of these actions to have a material advefifeet on our business, results of operationsraritial condition.
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MANAGEMENT

Executive Officers and Directors
The names of our executive officers and directacstaeir ages as of July 1, 2007 are as follows:

Name Age  Position(s)

Diane B. Green 52 President, Chief Executive Officer and Direc
Carl M. Eschenbac 40 Executive Vice President of Worldwide Field Opevat
Mark S. Peel 49 Chief Financial Office

Rashmi Gard 42 Vice President and General Cour

Thomas J. Jurewic 42 Vice President of Financ

Joseph M. Tucc 59 Chairman of the Board of Directc

Michael W. Brown 61 Director

John R. Egal 49 Director

David |I. Goulder 48 Director

David N. Strohmr 59 Director

Diane B. Greenéhas been a director of VMware since April 2007 ana member of our Mergers and Acquisitions Coremsitt
Ms. Greene is a founder of VMware and has serveét & esident and CEO from its inception in 1998. Greene has also served as an
Executive Vice President of EMC since January 200&. Greene is also a director of Intuit Inc., ayider of business, financial management
and tax solutions for small businesses, consunmets@ecountants.

Carl M. Eschenbachhas been the Executive Vice President of Worldwiidéd Operations at VMware since May 2005. Priojofaing
VMware in 2002, he was Vice President of North AlzeeiSales at Inktomi from 2000 to 2002. He has hid various sales management
positions with 3Com Corporation, Lucent Technolsgiad EMC.

Mark S. Peekhas been the Chief Financial Officer at VMware sifgril 2007. Prior to joining VMware, he servedZanior Vice
President and Chief Accounting Officer of Amazomgdnc. from July 2002. Prior to joining Amazon.camApril 2000, Mr. Peek spent
nineteen years at Deloitte & Touche, the last tsry as a partner.

Rashmi Gardehas been the Vice President and General Couns@lla@re since September 2005. She joined the compa@01. Prio
to joining VMware, she was Senior Corporate Couasé&llectronics for Imaging, Inc., a printing teolosgy company, and was an associate
with Graham & James LLP and Fenwick & West LLP.

Thomas J. Jurewichas been the Vice President of Finance at VMwareesiune 1999 when he joined the company. He astedr
principal financial officer from July 2006 throudtpril 2007. Prior to joining VMware, he was Viced®ident of Finance at CMC Industries,
Inc., a contract manufacturer for technology ckent

Joseph M. Tucchas been the Chairman of the Board of DirectoMdMivare since April 2007 and is a member of our Mesgand
Acquisitions Committee. He is the Chairman, Chiréé&utive Officer and President of EMC. Prior tanjoig EMC in January 2000, Mr. Tucci
served as Deputy Chief Executive Officer of Getearil.V., an IT services company, from June 1998uph December 1999 and as Chairman
of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of Wangkal, an IT services company, from December 199Ritee 1999. Mr. Tucci is also a
director of Paychex, Inc., a provider of payrolinian resources and benefits outsourcing solutions.
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Michael W. Brownhas been a director of VMware since April 200his chair of our Audit Committee and is a membeouwf
Compensation and Corporate Governance CommitteeBiMwn has been an EMC director since 2005. Frargust 1994 to July 1997,
Mr. Brown served as Vice President and Chief Firedr@fficer of Microsoft Corporation. He was VicedBident, Finance of Microsoft from
April 1993 to August 1994. He joined Microsoft ireBember 1989 and served as Treasurer from Jan88éyt@ April 1993. Prior to joining
Microsoft, Mr. Brown spent 18 years with DeloitteTuche LLP in various positions. Mr. Brown is asdirector of Administaff, Inc., a
professional employer organization providing sesisuch as payroll and benefits administration,Tdmamas Weisel Partners Group, Inc., a
publicly traded investment bank.

John R. Eganhas been a director of VMware since April 200this chair of our Mergers and Acquisitions Commitied is a member
of our Audit Committee. Mr. Egan has been a marggartner and general partner in Egan-Managed &agpitenture capital firm, since
October 1998. From May 1997 to September 1998 Hgan served as Executive Vice President, Prodactdferings of EMC. From Janue
1992 to June 1996, he served as Executive Vicederds Sales and Marketing of EMC. Mr. Egan is agtirector of EMC and NetScout
Systems, Inc., a provider of network and applicaperformance management solutions.

David I. Gouldenhas been a director of VMware since April 2007 a&na member of our Audit Committee and our Mergard
Acquisitions Committee. He is Executive Vice Presidand Chief Financial Officer of EMC. Mr. Gouldserved as EMC’s Executive Vice
President, Customer Operations from April 2004 tmést 2006. He served as EMC’s Executive Vice Bezdj Customer Solutions and
Marketing and New Business Development from Noven20€3 to April 2004 and as Executive Vice Presid&tobal Marketing and New
Business Development from July 2002 to Novembe3280ior to joining EMC, Mr. Goulden served in vars roles, including as a member of
the Board of Management, President and Chief Oiper&ifficer for the Americas and Asia Pacific, aténics N.V.

David N. Strohmhas been a director of VMware since April 200%his chair of our Compensation and Corporate Govem&ommitte
and is a member of our Mergers and Acquisitions @dtae. He has been a Venture Partner of GreylactnBrs, a venture capital firm, since
January 2001 and was a General Partner of Greflook1980 to 2001. He is also a General Partnsewéral partnerships formed by
Greylock. Mr. Strohm is also a director of EMC amais a director of LEGATO Systems, Inc. from itsriding in 1988 until its acquisition by
EMC in October 2003.

Board of Directors

Our board of directors is currently composed ofraembers. The board of directors will be dividetitwo groups, Group | and Group
Il. Each director elected by the holders of ClagsoBimon stock, voting separately as a class, wiliésignated Group | Members. The
remaining directors will be designated Group Il Mers. Upon completion of this offering, Group | Masns will constitute at least 80% of
our board of directors. The board of directors wilhsist of at least five Group | Members and oneu@ || Member.

Upon the completion of this offering, the boardofctors will be further divided into three classwith each class serving for a
staggered three-year term. The board of directdfs@nsist of two class | directors, two clasglitectors and two class Il directors. At each
annual meeting of stockholders, a class of dirsotdll be elected for a three-year term to sucdbedlirectors of the same class whose terms
are then expiring. The terms of the class | dinegtolass 1l directors and class |1l directors wipire upon the election and qualification of
successor directors at the annual meeting of stddkls held during the calendar years 2008, 2002840, respectively. On the later of the
closing of the Intel investment, and the earlieth&f completion of this offering and SeptemberZm7, our board of directors will appoint a
new board member, an Intel Capital executive tdémgnated by Intel Capital and acceptable to oardh At that time, our board of directors
will increase the size of the board pursuant topttewisions of our certificate of incorporation.

A company of which more than 50% of the voting poigeheld by a single entity is considered a “cold company” under the New
York Stock Exchange standards. A controlled compasd not comply
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with the applicable New York Stock Exchange corpogovernance rules requiring its board of directorhave a majority of independent
directors and independent compensation and comgmaternance and nominating committees. Because than 50% of the voting power of
our company will be held by EMC immediately followgi this offering, we will qualify as a “controllesbmpany” under the rules of the New
York Stock Exchange. Immediately following thisexrfihg, we will avail ourselves of the controllechgoany exception provided under those
rules. However, we plan to voluntarily comply witie requirement that we have an independent corafiensand corporate governance
committee. We are not required to maintain comgkawith these requirements. In the event that wenarlonger a controlled company, we
will be required to have a majority of independeinectors on our board of directors and to havemamsation and corporate governance and
nominating committees that are composed entirelpagpendent directors, subject to a phase-in gehiming the first year we cease to be a
controlled company.

Committees of the Board of Directors
Audit Committee

Our Audit Committee consists of Messrs. Brown, @eunl and Egan. Mr. Brown is the chair of the comsmittMessrs. Brown and
Goulden are our Audit Committee financial expeftse New York Stock Exchange corporate governanies mequire that each issuer has an
audit committee of at least three members, andah@tindependent director (as defined in thosesydde appointed to the audit committee at
the time of listing, a majority within 90 days aftesting and the entire committee within one ya#er listing. Mr. Brown is an independent
director. We intend to modify the composition oé ttommittee as needed to continue to comply witketrules.

Our Audit Committee will assist with board overdigii the integrity of our financial statements, @ompliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, our independent auditor’s qualifaatiand independence and the performance of amadtaudit function and independent
auditor and prepares the report required to begpegpby the Audit Committee pursuant to the rufeb@ SEC for inclusion in our proxy
statement. Our board of directors will adopt ateritcharter for the Audit Committee, which we wilake available on our website.

Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee

Our Compensation and Corporate Governance Comnaittegists of Messrs. Brown and Strohm, each ameigent director. Our
Compensation and Corporate Governance Committéeesdmmend compensation for non-employee direcewaluate and set compensation
for the Chairman of our board of directors, ourenve officers and monitor all general compensapoograms. Subject to the terms of our
compensation plans and the consent of the holdergraClass B common stock to the aggregate sizheofnnual equity award pool pursuant
to the terms of our certificate of incorporationy €ompensation and Corporate Governance Commiitekave complete discretion to
determine the amount, form, structure and impleatént of compensation payable to our employeeseapdutive officers, including, where
appropriate, discretion to increase or decreasedsia to award compensation absent the attainofgrerformance goals and to award
discretionary cash compensation outside of thenpatiers of our compensation plans.

Our Compensation and Corporate Governance Commuitealso oversee and advise the board of directdth respect to corporate
governance matters, assist the board of direatddentifying and recommending qualified candiddtesnomination to the board of directors,
make recommendations to the board of directors reipect to assignments to committees of the bafaddectors and oversee the evaluation
of the board of directors.

Mergers and Acquisitions Committee

Our Mergers and Acquisitions Committee consistslsf Greene and Messrs. Egan, Goulden, Strohm aod.Mr. Egan is the chair of
the committee. Our Mergers and Acquisitions Conmeritteviews with our management potential acquisitidivestitures and investments.
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Director Compensation

On June 29, 2007, we granted 40,000 options tdhasecshares of our Class A common stock to eabhabfael W. Brown, John R.
Egan and David N. Strohm, our non-employee diractdfe have not paid any other compensation to mesvdfeur board of directors for
their services as directors. After completion a$ thffering, our non-employee directors will reaeian annual board retainer of $40,000. In
addition, the chairperson of the Audit Committed weiceive additional annual compensation of $26,@hd each other member of the Audit
Committee will receive additional annual compermatf $12,500. The chairperson of the CompensaihCorporate Governance
Committee and the chairperson of the Mergers arguisgions Committee will each receive additionahaal compensation of $20,000, and
each other member of these committees will recadditional annual compensation of $10,000. We alilb reimburse our directors for
reasonable expenses in connection with attendarim@aad and committee meetings.

Stock Ownership of Directors & Executive Officers

Substantially all of our outstanding common stackurrently owned by EMC and none of our officerslioectors beneficially owns any
shares of our common stock, other than the Classmmon stock owned by our non-employee directoes r@sult of the exercise of options in
July 2007. See “Principal Stockholders.” The foliogitable sets forth information as of June 15,722@@h respect to the beneficial ownership
of EMC common stock by each of our directors anecetive officers, and all of our directors and exe® officers as a group. To our
knowledge, except as indicated in the footnotahittable or as provided by applicable communityperty laws, the persons named in the
table have sole investment and voting power wigipeet to the shares of common stock indicated.

Number of Shares of

EMC Percent of
Common Stock Outstanding
Name Beneficially Owned(1 Shares
Diane B. Greene(z 1,136,15: *
Carl M. Eschenbach(: 134,71¢ *
Mark S. Peel 0 *
Rashmi Garde(4 53,52( *
Thomas J. Jurewicz(! 112,00 *
Joseph M. Tucci(€ 8,889,20! *
Michael W. Brown(7, 40,00( *
John R. Egan(€ 2,160,59. *
David I. Goulden(9 1,928,94. *
David N. Strohm(10 731,17¢ *
Paul Auvil** 19,27t *
All directors and executive officers as a group g&tsons)(11 15,205,58 *

* Less than 1%

**  Our former chief financial officel

(1) All amounts shown in this column include shareswtatble upon exercise of stock options currentireisable or exercisable within 60
days of the date of this table, including, in thse of our executive officers, options which aigilelle to be tendered in the exchange
offer.

(2) Ms. Greene is deemed to own 620,000 of these shgreistue of options to purchase these shares;twhptions are eligible to t
exchanged in the exchange off

(3) Mr. Eschenbach is deemed to own 3,885 of thesesligrvirtue of options to purchase these shareishvoptions are eligible to be
exchanged in the exchange off

(4) Ms. Garde is deemed to own 9,000 of these shargsthg of options to purchase these shares, whiptions are eligible to be exchang
in the exchange offe

(5) Mr. Jurewicz is deemed to own 74,194 of these shayevirtue of options to purchase these shareghndptions are eligible to be
exchanged in the exchange off
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(6) Mr. Tucciis deemed to own 6,850,000 of these shhayevirtue of options to purchase these shi
(7) Mr. Brown is deemed to own 10,000 of these shayedrtue of options to purchase these she

(8) Mr. Egan is deemed to own 90,000 of these sharesrtue of options to purchase these she

(9) Mr. Goulden is deemed to own 1,390,000 of theseeshay virtue of options to purchase these sh
(10) Mr. Strohm is deemed to own 85,200 of these sHayesrtue of options to purchase these she

(11) Includes 9,132,279 shares of EMC common stock lgaly owned by all executive officers and dirext@s a group by virtue of optio
to purchase these shares. Excludes shares asdb suhih individuals have disclaimed beneficial omship.

The address of each director and executive offscaer/o VMware, Inc., 3401 Hillview Avenue, Palotd] CA 94304. The business
telephone number of each director and executiveesffs (650) 427-5000.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Partipation

None of our executive officers has served as attireor member of a compensation committee of ahgreentity that has an executive
officer serving as a member of our board of direxcto
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COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Named Executive Officers

Our named executive officers are Diane B. Greeresitent and Chief Executive Officer; Thomas Jeuirz, Vice President of Finance;
Carl M. Eschenbach, Executive Vice President of iiwide Field Operations; Rashmi Garde, Vice Pratided General Counsel; and Paul
Auvil, former Chief Financial Officer. These indilials are referred to as the “Named Executive &f$i¢ Mr. Auvil voluntarily terminated
employment on July 13, 2006.

Background

Prior to June 2007, the elements of the compensafithe Named Executive Officers were determinedpproved by EMC.
Accordingly, certain elements of the compensatiaygble to VMware employees, including the Namedchtiee Officers, relate to
compensation arrangements designed by EMC pridute 2007. These compensation arrangements, atheelbmpensation arrangements
have adopted since June 2007 and expect to addphaimtain in the future, are discussed below. Campensation Committee may adopt
new arrangements or alternative arrangements foitphis offering in addition to those discussetbbe

Objectives of our Executive Compensation Program
It is expected that the objectives of our executiempensation program will be:
» to motivate our executives to achieve our strategperational and financial goa
* to reward superior performanc
» to attract and retain exceptional executives;
» to align the interests of our executives and oocldtolders

To achieve these objectives, our Compensation amgdtate Governance Committee is expected to imphemnd maintain
compensation plans that tie a substantial portfauo executive compensation to the achievemept@fdetermined performance goals and the
price of our Class A common stock. Our Compensafiommittee may adopt other arrangements as it ratgrmdine from time to time to best
meet our compensation objectives.

Elements of our Executive Compensation Program
Overview of Compensation Setting Process

Prior to June 2007, compensation for Ms. Greene, iwlalso an executive officer of EMC, was deteedibhy EMC’s Compensation
Committee. Except as noted below, compensatioM&rGreene was determined by evaluating her raeresponsibility and the competitive
marketplace. EMC’s Compensation Committee did benthmark” Ms. Greene’s compensation to any pdatidavel against the
compensation paid by peer groups, but it did complze elements of her compensation to the competitiarketplace since it reviewed the
compensation paid to similarly situated executiaegeer group companies. For more information erpter group that was considered in
setting Ms. Greene’s compensation, see “Peer Grbelow.

In setting Ms. Greene’s compensation, the EMC Corsgtion Committee also compared the relative wiightof her base salary, cash
incentive bonus opportunities and long-term eggignts and typically placed a strong emphasis ercéish bonus and equity components of
the program. In 2006, base salary and cash bomisrepresented 50% of her annual compensation apyty: In a typical year, her long-term
equity incentives would represent 80% to 90% ofdrerual compensation opportunity. In 2006, EMCrditigrant any long-term equity
incentives to the Named Executive Officers, othantMessrs. Jurewicz and Eschenbach, in lighteofahg-term equity incentives granted in
2005.
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With respect to the Named Executive Officers othan Ms. Greene, EMC’s Compensation Committee waslinectly involved in
setting their compensation, but did approve thetgguvards granted to them by EMC. Prior to thestibation of our Compensation and
Corporate Governance Committee in June 2007, Mse@, together with EMC’s and VMwasdiuman resources departments, determine
compensation levels of these Named Executive Qfibg evaluating each Named Executive Officer's rahd responsibility and the
competitive marketplace. The competitive marketplae these individuals was determined by compattiegcompensation of these individt
to the compensation payable to similarly situategleyees with reference to survey data compiled\fmrth American high technology
companies with revenues of between $1 billion addilion, North American software companies widvenues in excess of $1 billion and
high technology and software companies in the Sandfsco Bay area with revenues in excess of $ibmilAlthough survey data was
reviewed, compensation was not “benchmarked” topamticular level. In 2006, as in prior years, @t emphasis was placed on the cash
bonus and equity components of the compensatioaljp@yo these executives, but salary generallyests a larger portion of their overall
compensation than in the case of Ms. Greene. Thvegulata used in assessing the competitive mddagtpvas provided by a nationally
recognized firm specializing in compensation preddby high technology companies. Over 2,500 congsapérticipated in this survey, with
over 250 in the software products industry, inahgdinany of the companies with whom we directly cetegor talent, such as BEA Systems,
Inc., CA, Inc., Google, Mercury Interactive Corblicrosoft Corporation, Network Appliance, Inc., @& Corp, SAP America, Symantec C¢
Adobe, Inc., Yahoo! Inc., McAfee, Inc. and Busin@gects S.A. Our Compensation and Governance Ctrenwill determine the list of
companies to be included in our compensation aealgsing forward.

Peer Group

EMC’s Compensation Committee, with the assistarfi¢ges independent compensation consultant, WatsgattWVorldwide (“Watson
Wyatt"), reviewed compensation from published tealbgy industry surveys and from EMECpeer group companies for purposes of compi
EMC'’s executive compensation program with marketpces. For 2006, EMC’s compensation peer grouppemies consisted of 20
companies: Accenture Ltd., Adobe Systems Incorpdradnalog Devices, Inc., Cisco Systems, Inc., ©&,, Computer Sciences Corporation,
Dell Inc., Electronic Data Systems Corporation, Glednc., Hewlett-Packard Company, Intel Corporatimternational Business Machines
Corporation, Microsoft Corporation, Network Appl@m Inc., Oracle Corporation, Perot Systems CotmraSeagate Technology, Sun
Microsystems, Inc., Symantec Corporation, and Y&l

To select the peer group companies, EMC, in coasaitt with Watson Wyatt, chose companies which ogtefor talent within EMC’s
labor markets and which are primarily high techggloompanies with one or more of computer hardwamputer software or technology
professional services businesses. The peer groupamies are reviewed and approved by EMC’s Compiens@ommittee. The majority of
the peers ranged in size from one-half to threediBMC's size with respect to revenues, marketaligation and/or employee population.
With respect to decisions pertaining to compensatiid to Ms. Greene, particular attention was pgithe EMC Compensation Committee to
the software companies in the peer group.

EMC reviewed the executive compensation practiéélseopeer group companies in order to inform tMCECompensation Committee’s
decisions with respect to EMC'’s executive compeaasgirogram. The EMC Compensation Committee didhaske its compensation decisions
with respect to compensation payable to Ms. Greenany particular “benchmark” of compensation aggihat paid by its peer group or any
other companies. Our Compensation and Corporate@axce Committee, which is in the process of satgan independent compensation
consultant, may select different peer group congmafiom those selected by EMC and may or may nms#hto “benchmarkéompensation ¢
any particular level relative to peer companies.

Base Salary

In general, base salaries for the Named Executfliedds are determined by evaluating the respolité@s of the executive’s position, the
executive’s experience and the competitive marketpl The competitive
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marketplace was determined with the use of sure¢g,ds described under “Overview of the Compems&etting Process.” Future base
salary adjustments are expected to take into acahamges in the executive’s responsibilities,ekecutive’s performance and changes in the
competitive marketplace. Effective January 1, 200 ,Jurewicz’s salary was increased by $5,000MadGarde’s base salary was increased
by $7,500 in light of the factors described above.

Cash Bonus Plans

The Named Executive Officers, as well as many ofesuployees, participate in our Company Bonus Rrogor the Bonus Program. 1
annual target bonus opportunity under the Bonugraro has two components, the Revenue and ProfitrilBotion Plan and the Management
by Objectives Plan, or MBO. Although we do not sfieally “benchmark” compensation at any particulevel relative to our peer companies,
we rely on survey data (including data on baseigslabonus and on-target earnings to positiorta@at compensation, including the variable
compensation component (i.e., incentive bonus asyaad levels that are competitive with aggregatapensation provided to executives in
similar positions at companies with comparable neeelevels and within comparable geographic aredsralustries. Generally, 50% of a
Named Executive Offic’s aggregate bonus opportunity is tied to the aareent of the Company’s goals under the Revenud aniit
Contribution Plan (or, in Mr. Eschenbach’s case,gbals under the bookings compensation arrangg¢mettc0% of the aggregate bonus
opportunity is tied to the achievement of the exieels goals under the MBO. However, for Ms. Greerie of her aggregate bonus
opportunity is tied to the achievement of the gasider the Revenue and Profit Contribution Plan28% of her aggregate bonus opportunity
is tied to the achievement of her goals under t{BOM

Revenue and Profit Contribution Plan

Bonus opportunities under the Revenue and Profiti@mtion Plan are directly linked to our revergaals and our profit contribution
goals. Profit contribution is calculated by takiBAP operating profit, and adding back or subtragtias the case may be, amounts relating to
stock-based compensation, certain charges from Ei@©rtization of intangibles, including in processearch and development charges, and
the net impact of the cash elements of capital&z#tivare development costs calculated pursuanFf&S36. Bonuses are payable based upon
our achievement of both revenue and profit contidoutargets for the first and second halves ohgaar. Revenue and profit contribution
were chosen as the metrics under this plan be¢hease are key metrics that drive our businessmiframum of 80% of each of the targets is
not achieved for each six-month performance periodyonuses are payable out under the Revenuerafidt@ontribution Plan. In addition, as
set forth in greater detail below, for all of ouamied Executive Officers, including Mr. Eschenbath,minimum of 80% of each of the
revenue and profit contribution targets is not aeld for each six-month performance period, no Mi@uses are paid.

Bonus payments under the plan are determined bifptyihg a participant’s bonus target by one-hdlftee sum of the plan’s revenue
factor and profit contribution factor. The reverfaetor is determined by dividing the revenue perfance by the revenue target, except that the
revenue factor is increased by 2.5% for every 1%vbigch the revenue target is exceeded. The profitribution factor is determined by
dividing the profit contribution performance by theofit contribution target. The maximum revenuetéa and profit contribution factor are
each 150% of the applicable target, such that twemum amount of bonus payments would be madetifshperformance equals or exceeds
150% of target. The first half revenue and prafibicibution targets for 2006 under the RevenueRnadit Contribution Plan were
$257,400,000 and $67,600,000, respectively; therskbalf revenue and profit contribution targetsZ06 were $337,500,000 and
$82,400,000, respectively. Ms. Greene’s target basius opportunity under the Revenue and Profiti@tmrtion Plan was $262,500 for 2006,
with $131,250 for each of the first and second ésil\WMs. Greene received a first half payment oB5$1%83 because VMware achieved 112.1%
of its revenue target and 122.4% of its profit citmttion target for the first half of 2006; Ms. @ree received a second half payment of
$196,426 because VMware achieved 124.6% of itswexearget and 149.3% of its profit contributiorg&t for the second half of 2006.
Bonuses
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payable under the Revenue and Profit Contributian Rere calculated in the same manner for therdaened Executive Officers who
participated in the plan, except that Mr. Auvilisst half 2006 bonus was capped at his first falfj¢t bonus under the plan. The bonus
opportunity for the first and second halves of 20@8e equal to the 50% of the annual targets f06Z0r each of the Named Executive
Officers who participated in the Revenue and P@finhtribution Plan.

The bonuses earned under this program for 2008edf®rth in the “Summary Compensation Table” (NEmquity Incentive Plan
Compensation Earnings) and, as noted above, refiraseievement of more than 100% of the profit dbation target and the revenue target
for 2006. The threshold, target and maximum bompgodunities for each of the Named Executive Officder 2006 are set forth in the table
entitled “Grants of Plan Based Awards.”

Mr. Auvil was not eligible for a second-half borass a result of his voluntary termination of empla&yrnin July 2006. Mr. Eschenbach
does not participate in the Revenue and Profit @mtion Plan portion of the Bonus Program sincehsicipates in a bookings compensation
arrangement, as described below.

The 2007 annual bonus opportunity for each of taeBid Executive Officers who participate in the Rexeand Profit Contribution Plan
are unchanged from 2006. The first half revenuemnfit contribution targets for 2007 under the Bewe and Profit Contribution Plan were
$480,000,000 and $130,100,000, respectively; thergthalf revenue and profit contribution targetsZ007 are $570,000,000 and
$149,600,000, respectively. These targets, asagethe 2006 targets, were set in connection wittCENboard of directors’ consideration and
approval of our annual operating plan.

Management by Objectives Plan

The MBO provides many of our employees, including Bamed Executive Officers, with the opportunityetarn first- and second-half
cash bonuses contingent upon corporate achieveshemtenue and profit contribution targets under Revenue and Profit Contribution Plan
and individual achievement of performance goals tve same period, except that Mr. Eschenbach’s NdBQus is tied solely to the
achievement of the targets under the Revenue afid Eontribution Plan because his duties are prilpaelated to sales and the Revenue and
Profit Contribution Plan encourages both growtkafes and growth in profitable sales. Although EBchenbach’s MBO bonus is tied to the
achievement of targets under the Revenue and RXofitribution Plan, Ms. Greene had discretion foistchis MBO bonus based upon her
assessment of his overall execution against thep@awis strategy. Mr. Eschenbach is not provideth wity additional bonus opportunity
under his MBO bonus if the targets under the Regeand Profit Contribution Plan are exceeded. Thaay purpose of the MBO is to focus
our employees on the completion of goals thatkélp us achieve our long-term strategic objectives.

Performance of at least 80% of each of the revamdeprofit contribution targets under the Revemuet Rrofit Contribution Plan is
required in order for the MBO to be funded. Additadly, achievement of at least 80% of the MBO gdsl®quired to receive the threshold
level of MBO bonus; if the executive achieves perfance at or above the 80% threshold level, bsttlesn the target level of performance,
executive’s MBO bonus payment will be equal to¢beresponding percentage of the target MBO amdurd.number of goals that may be
assigned under the MBO for each six-month periodweay, as well as the relative weighting assigteetthe goals.

The number of individual performance goals assigngtie Named Executive Officers in the first aedand halves of 2006 varied, but
typically between four and eight individual perf@nte goals were assigned in each six-month peWledGreene evaluated whether these
performance goals were achieved by the other NdExedutive Officers, and EMC determined whether Miseene’s performance goals were
achieved. Ms. Greene’s individual performance goallided, and her performance was evaluated wipect to, the consistent execution of
the business plan, maintaining industry leadergfaptnering with industry vendors and
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attracting and retaining key talent in the indushkfy. Jurewicz’s individual performance goals irgéul, and his performance was evaluated
with respect to, leading the planning and budgepirogess, project management, implementing ancebeicig compliance goals and financial
forecasting. Ms. Garde’s individual performancelgaacluded, and her performance was evaluated ne&pect to, supporting patent
applications, product launches and the establishofdagal entities outside of the United States.

Except as noted below, each of our Named Exec@ffieers received their target bonuses for the firsd second halves of 2006 under
the MBO because they achieved all of their indigidoerformance goals and because the MBO wasfiuliged as the revenue and profit
contribution targets under the Revenue and Prafitt@lbution Plan were exceeded. Mr. Auvil receigegayment equal to 80% of his first-half
target since not all of his individual performamgmls were achieved. Mr. Auvil was not eligible osecond-half bonus given his termination
of employment in July of 2006.

Although achievement of the MBO goals for eachhef Named Executive Officers requires significard anstained effort, it is expected
that individual performance goals under the MBJ d achieved by the Named Executive Officers aistprically, these goals have been
achieved by the Named Executive Officers.

Bookings Compensation Arrangement

Mr. Eschenbach also participates in our worldwidekings compensation arrangement under which bkgible to receive commissions
based on bookings in the first and second halvesci year. For the first half of 2006, Mr. Esclaatbcould earn a commission of $61,250 if
bookings of $325,000,000 were achieved. The comamsate was the ratio of the target bonus commsdivided by the bookings target for
the six-month performance period (the “CommissianteR). For performance in excess of the first-lhalbkings target and up to 110% of the
first-half target, the Commission Rate was doulbtedall bookings in excess of 100% of target, amdpferformance in excess of 110% of
target, the Commission Rate was tripled for allkiogs in excess of 110% of target. Since bookimgheé first half of 2006 exceeded the first
half target, Mr. Eschenbach received a first-halfrpent of $67,545. For the second half of 2006, B4chenbach could earn a commission of
$61,250 if bookings of $400,000,000 were achieveti@uld also receive increased commissions fdopaance in excess of target, as
described above. Since bookings in the secondoh@06 exceeded the second half target, Mr. Edidanreceived a second-half payment of
$129,736. There is no maximum payout under thengament because the commission bonus is tied tilgowhich are not capped. The
bookings targets were set in connection with EM&ard of directors’ consideration and approvalaf @perating plan for 2006.

Mr. Eschenbach also received a discretionary bontiee amount of $112,500 from EMC'’s Chief Execat®fficer in recognition of his
strong performance in 2006.

The design of Mr. Eschenbach’s bookings compensatitangement for 2007 is generally unchanged,ptbat effective April 1, 2007,
Mr. Eschenbach can earn first- and sechatli-commissions of $100,000 if the applicable lingk targets are achieved. The Compensatiot
Corporate Governance Committee approved the ineri@athe amount of commissions which could be ehbyeMr. Eschenbach if he achie
the new bookings targets established under our Bp@rating plan to ensure that his cash compemsagiportunity is commensurate with the
competitive market and appropriately reflects listdbutions and leadership in driving VMware’sostg financial performance. The first half
bookings target for 2007 was $610,000,000. The imysktarget and the design of the arrangementhisécond half of 2007 has not yet been
determined.
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Long-Term Equity Incentives

We believe strongly that equity awards will aligre interests of our employees with those of ouldtolders. To facilitate this alignme
our board of directors adopted the 2007 Equity lacdntive Plan on June 5, 2007 and has authorimeéxchange offer, which will allow our
eligible employees to tender restricted EMC stockested and unvested EMC options for restrictedidé stock or unvested VMware
options, respectively.

In June and July 2007, we made broad-based equéyda to our employees to help us achieve ouregfi@bbjectives by:
* motivating our employees, including the Named ExigeuOfficers, to achieve our financial goe
» promoting retention through the use of mr-year vesting schedules; a

» aligning the interests of our employees, includimg Named Executive Officers, with our stockholdeesause the value of our eq
awards will be tied to increases in the value af@lass A common stoc

Our employees, including the Named Executive Offichave also been granted EMC stock options, E&Bicted stock and EMC
performance-accelerated restricted stock, or PAR2006, the only Named Executive Officers to reeeequity awards from EMC were
Messrs. Jurewicz and Eschenbach. EMC has not granteequity awards in 2007 to the Named Execu@ffecers in light of the adoption of
our 2007 Equity and Incentive Plan.

The stock options granted by EMC to our Named EtteeDfficers vest at the rate of 20% per year acheof the first five anniversaries
of the grant date, subject to the recipient’s cared employment. The stock options were granteld aritexercise price equal to the underlying
value of EMC stock on the date of grant. In 2008, Mirewicz was granted an option to purchase P0s@res. In 2006, Mr. Eschenbach was
granted a stock option to purchase 125,000 sharksa sestricted stock award covering a total of, Q@8 shares. Subject to continued service,
one-third of the restricted shares will vest onheafcthe first three anniversaries of the daterahy Mr. Eschenbach was granted these equity
awards in light of retention concerns and in redtgm of his responsibilities and performance.

In 2004, the only Named Executive Officer to bengeal PARs was Ms. Greene. EMC granted PARs td #fleoNamed Executive
Officers in 2005. The PARs granted by EMC to thendd Executive Officers and to our other employeest ©n the fifth anniversary of their
grant date, subject to the continued employmeth@fiward recipient. A portion of the PARs may \&sin accelerated rate, generally with
respect to one-third or one-quarter of the undegyshares in each of the first three or four yéatewing grant, if annual performance goals
are met. In 2004, Ms. Greene was granted 137,50sPAhe EMC Compensation Committee approved theleeted vesting of one-third of
these PARs in respect of 2006 performance sincaclieved the combined first- and second-half targetier the Revenue and Profit
Contribution Plan.

The PARS granted in 2005 to the Named Executivec@¥ required VMware to achieve profit contribuatiaefined as net income before
taxes, interest expense and amortization of intdegissets, of $143 million and revenue of $500ianilin 2006 in order for the 2006 tranche
of the award to vest on an accelerated basis. Tgeas were established in 2005. Since these tavgete achieved, the 2006 tranche of these
awards vested on an accelerated basis. In theo€&ée Eschenbach, the accelerated vesting of 30¢gd@he PARs granted to him in 2005 w
subject to EMCS achievement of earnings per share targets. &l achieved its 2006 earnings per share targéB aients, the 2006 tranc
of this award vested on an accelerated basis.

As described below under “Exchange Offer,” VMwanepboyees may tender their EMC equity awards for \Vdvisvequity awards.
Through May 2007, the terms and conditions andtbe of the equity awards granted to the Named @Erex Officers were approved or
determined by EMC. Since June 2007, the terms and

89



Table of Contents

conditions and the size of VMware equity awardsehlagen, and in the future will be, determined graped by our Compensation and
Corporate Governance Committee, subject to theestrtd the holders of our Class B common stock&aggregate size of the annual equity
award pool pursuant to our certificate of incorpiom

2007 Equity and Incentive Plan

Our board of directors adopted the 2007 Equity lasédntive Plan on June 5, 2007. The plan is a ceh®rsive incentive compensation
plan which permits us to grant both equity-basedi rron-equity based compensation awards to emplam@kedependent contractors of
VMware and its subsidiaries, to certain employddsMC who are assigned to perform services excilgifor VMware and to our directors.
The purpose of the plan is to attract, motivate rtain such persons and to encourage stock owipérglsuch persons, thereby aligning their
interest with those of our stockholders.

Awards under the 2007 Equity and Incentive Plan byjn the form of stock options (either incentsteck options or non-qualified
stock options), or other stock-based awards, inetudwards of restricted stock, restricted stociksuand stock appreciation rights. The plan
also provides for the grant of cash-based awatdes fdllowing is a summary of the principal typesaefards available under the plan:

» Stock Options. Stock options represent the right to purchaseeshaf our Class A common stock within a specifiediod of time at
a specified price. The exercise price for a stqufiom will be not less than 100% of the fair markatue of the common stock on the
date of grant. Stock options will have a maximumtef ten years from the date of grant. Stock opgtigranted may include those
intended to b“incentive stock optior” within the meaning of Section 422 of the Ca

» Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Ui Restricted stock is a share of our Class A comstock that is subject to a risk of
forfeiture or other restrictions that will lapsebgect to the recipient’s continued employment @ aélttainment of performance goals.
Restricted stock units represent the right to rexehares of our Class A common stock in the fufpireash determined by reference
to the value of our Class A common stock), withttigat to cash or future delivery of the share® algbject to the recipient’s
continued employment or the attainment of perforoeagoals

» Stock Appreciation Right Stock appreciation rights entitle the holder upgarcise to receive cash or shares of our Classvmor
stock having a value equal to the excess of (iyvtiee of the number of shares with respect to lvthie right is being exercised
(which value is based on fair market value at itme tof such exercise) over (ii) the exercise pépglicable to such shares. The
exercise price for a stock appreciation right Wwél not less than 100% of the fair market valueusf@ass A common stock on the
date of grant

» Other Stock-Based or Cash-Based Awardur Compensation and Corporate Governance Coeenitill be authorized to grant
awards in the form of other stock-based awardglwracash-based awards, as deemed to be considtietihe purposes of the 2007
Equity and Incentive Plan. The maximum value ofabgregate payment with respect to cash-based awadtkr the 2007 Equity
and Incentive Plan in respect of an annual perfaoceaeriod is $5 millior

The maximum number of shares reserved for the gmrasettiement of awards under the 2007 Equitylaoentive Plan is 80 million, and
not more than 3 million shares may be granted yopden participant under the plan in any twelve-thgoeriod, subject in each case to
adjustment in the event of a dividend or otherritigtion, recapitalization, stock split, reversditspeorganization, merger, consolidation, spin-
off, combination, repurchase or share exchangehar similar corporate transaction. In additiorthte shares referenced in the preceding
sentence, the shares subject to awards grantedamint® the exchange offer (described below) véligsued under the plan. Any shares sul
to awards which are cancelled, forfeited or otheewterminated or satisfied without the issuancghafes will again be available for grants
under the plan.
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Our Compensation and Corporate Governance Comnaitbeenisters the 2007 Equity and Incentive Plare Tompensation and
Corporate Governance Committee has the abilitgatect individuals to receive awards; select tipesyof awards to be granted; determine the
terms and conditions of the awards, including theber of shares, the purchase price of the awarditestrictions and performance goals
relating to any award; establish the time whenatlvards and/or restrictions become exercisable,ordapse; determine whether options will
be incentive stock options; and make all otherrd@teations deemed necessary or advisable for therastration of the plan. The
Compensation and Corporate Governance Committeegnaay awards which, in the event of a “changeoint!” of VMware, become fully
vested and exercisable.

Under the 2007 Equity and Incentive Plan, awardsganerally non-transferable other than by wilbpithe laws of descent and
distribution. However, our Compensation and Corfeof@dovernance Committee in its sole discretion grayt transferable nonqualified stock
options that upon becoming fully vested and exalitssmay be transferred to a third-party pursuauaintauction process approved or
established by VMware.

Our board of directors may amend, alter or discaithe 2007 Equity and Incentive Plan, but no amemt, alteration or
discontinuation will be made that would impair tights of a participant under any award grantedhauit such participant’s consent. In
addition, stockholder approval may be required wétbpect to certain amendments, due to stock egehares or requirements of applicable
law. The 2007 Equity and Incentive Plan, unlessisoterminated by our board of directors, will rémia effect through the tenth anniversary
of its adoption.

In anticipation of becoming a public company, imdand July 2007, our Compensation and Corporatei@ance Committee made
broad-based grants to our employees of optionsitchpse 35,679,411 shares of Class A common stithlkaw exercise price of $23.00 per
share and issued 452,676 restricted stock uniteruhd 2007 Equity and Incentive Plan. Subjecoittioued employment, 25% of the stock
options will vest on the first anniversary of thaugt date and the remaining 75% of the stock optigifi vest in equal monthly installments
thereafter over three years. Our active Named HikexOfficers, as well as Mr. Peek, our Chief Ficiah Officer, received the following stock
option grants:

Shares Subject ti

Name Stock Options

Diane B. Green 1,000,00!
Carl M. Eschenbac 350,00(
Mark S. Peel 250,00(
Rashmi Gard 200,00(
Thomas J. Jurewic 100,00

Additionally, on June 29, 2007, we granted 40,0pfloms to purchase shares of our Class A commaik stith an exercise price of
$23.00 per share to each of Michael W. Brown, JhEgan and David N. Strohm, our non-employee threc The stock options are
immediately exercisable upon grant and will terrteni&not exercised within one year of the grarted&hares acquired upon exercise of these
options will be subject to our right of repurchasehe per share exercise price if the directonteates service other than for death or disab
The repurchase right will lapse with respect to-timel of the shares on each of the first three\arsaries of the grant date.

Exchange Offer

In connection with the offering, we are conductingoluntary exchange offer pursuant to which wecdfering our eligible employees 1
ability to exchange their existing EMC options ardtricted stock for options to purchase our Clasemmon stock and restricted Class A
common stock, respectively, at an exchange rasedapon EMC’s two-day weighted average tradingeppirior to the consummation of this
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offering and the initial public offering price oinClass A common stock. The exchange ratio isgthesi to preserve the intrinsic value of the
tendered EMC awards. In this prospectus, we reféris voluntary exchange offer as the “exchanderdfWe and EMC commenced the
exchange offer on July 9, 2007, prior to the effettess of our registration statement on Form iB8-d¢ccordance with Rule 162 of the
Securities Act and Rule 13e-4(e)(2) of the Exchalsigle We are making the exchange offer to eliginteployees for compensatory purposes.
Our board of directors believes that ownership biyemployees of options to purchase our Class Ansomstock and restricted Class A
common stock received in the exchange offer witvsas an effective tool to encourage stock opiath restricted stock recipients to act in the
VMware stockholders’ interest by enabling the optiecipients to have an economic stake in our |iscce

We expect to commence the exchange offer on suehadao cause the exchange offer to expire comatlyrwith the pricing of shares in
this offering. We believe that the proposed timirighe exchange offer relative to this offeringcisuhat the initial value of the VMware
options and restricted stock received by eligiipkoyees in the exchange offer will be based uperirtitial offering price of shares in this
offering, will advance the compensatory objectigéthe exchange offer and that tying equity compéos to the initial offering price of shau
will provide eligible employees a strong incentteeparticipate in our potential growth from the ¢éiwwe become a public company.

All of our employees in the United States who hBMC options and EMC restricted stock will be eligilo participate in the exchange
offer. As of June 30, 2007, there were approxinyated00 employees who would be eligible to parttgin the exchange offer. Based on an
assumed initial public offering price of $24.00 gbare (the midpoint of the range set forth oncitnver page of this prospectus) and an
assumed EMC two-day weighted average trading jfi¢d9.54 (the average of the volume-weighted ayegice per share of EMC stock for
the two days ended July 20, 2007), a maximum ofamately 14.7 million shares of our Class A classimon stock underlying options o
the form of restricted stock awards granted wowdssued pursuant to the exchange offer, if dilgie employees tendered all of their EMC
options and EMC restricted stock. The VMware awaviisbe governed by the terms of the 2007 Equitd éncentive Plan and generally the
terms of the original EMC stock option or restritsock agreement under which they were grantedwslild employees who elect not to ter
securities in the exchange offer will continue tddhtheir EMC options and EMC restricted stock, evhwill remain subject to the terms of the
applicable grant.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

On June 5, 2007, our board of directors adopteshaployee stock purchase plan that is intended tgubdéfied under Section 423 of the
Code. A total of 6,400,000 shares of our Class #&ehwas reserved for issuance under the plan.riinelplan, our employees will be able to
purchase shares at the lower of 85% of the faiketaralue of the stock at the time of grant or 85%he fair market value at the time of
exercise. Options to purchase shares will firsgtasted under our employee stock purchase plaheodate this offering is consummated and
will be exercisable on December 31, 2007. Thereaftations to purchase shares will be granted twéagly, on or about January 1 and July 1,
and will be exercisable on or about the succeedimg 30 or December 31.

Retirement Benefits

Our employees, including our Named Executive Officare not provided with a defined benefit pengitam or any supplemental
executive retirement plans, nor do we or EMC prewlte Named Executive Officers with retiree hebihefits. Our employees, including our
Named Executive Officers, currently may participat&MC's 401(k) plan. This plan provides for a matchimgiibution of 6% of the
employee’s contribution, up to a maximum of $3,0@0 year. The 401(k) plan is provided as a standkemient of compensation in the
marketplace, designed to assist employees witterséint savings in a tax-advantaged manner. A nregaontribution is made to attract and
retain employees and because it provides an additincentive for
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employees to save for retirement. It is expectatishortly after the consummation of the offeringwill adopt a 401(k) plan for our
employees and this plan will be similar in desigreMC’s 401(k) plan.

Perquisites

Except for reimbursing moving expenses and progidar temporary relocation expenses, we do notigeany perquisites to our
Named Executive Officers. These limited perquisétesprovided to attract executives to Palo Alteegithe high cost of relocating to the P
Alto area.

Post-Termination Compensation

Except for Mr. Jurewicz, who is entitled to a sewrere payment equal to three months of his annialyséhis employment is terminated
without cause, we do not have “change in contrgfeaments or any severance agreements with our tNBmerutive Officers that provide for
benefits upon termination of employment or upomange in control. However, death benefits are pieito our employees by EMC, and
EMC equity awards granted to our employees wilt wegvent of death, disability or retirement. bidéion, EMC equity awards held by our
employees will vest in accordance with EMC’s 20@8c8 Plan in limited circumstances, such as whé€ks liquidated or dissolved, or if
EMC is not the surviving corporation to a merged #me surviving corporation does not issue replasgrawards.

Tax Deductibility

Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code gelyatidallows a tax deduction to public corporatidoscompensation greater than $1
million paid for any fiscal year to the corporati®chief executive officer and four other most Higpompensated executive officers as of the
end of any fiscal year. However, performance-bassdpensation is not subject to the $1 million déidadimit if certain requirements are
met. Our Compensation and Corporate Governance @tgermay consider the impact of Section 162(m)mtiesigning our cash and equity
bonus programs, but may elect to provide compersétiat is not fully deductible as a result of 8sttl62(m) if it determines this is in our
best interests.

Hedging Policy

We have adopted a policy prohibiting any of ouediors or employees, including the Named Execu@@iffcers, from “hedging” their
ownership in shares of our common stock or otheitgdpased interests in us, including by engagimghort sales or trading in derivative
securities relating to our common stock.

Allocation Between Forms of Compensation

In setting compensation for the Named Executivéd@f§, EMC does not have a formal policy for altiroga certain percentage of
compensation between long-term and currently paiccompensation. However, EMC has emphasized leng-equity incentives for its key
employees. These incentives represent a largeopasfithe compensation opportunity provided toNtaened Executive Officers. We expect
that our Compensation and Corporate Governance Qbeenwill place a similar emphasis on long-ternuiggincentives, and like EMC, will
not adopt a formal policy for allocating betweesltand non-cash compensation. The Named Executfiee@ did not receive any non-cash
compensation from EMC in 2006 other than shardsM€’s common stock. Except for non-cash compensaiayable in shares of our
Class A common stock, we do not expect that cash compensation will make up more than a de nirortion of the compensation paya
to the Named Executive Officers.
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Material New Hire

In April of 2007, we hired Mark Peek as our Chigidncial Officer at an annual base salary of $400 &nd with an annual bonus target
of $225,000 under the Bonus Program. Mr. Peek vedea sign-on bonus of $67,000 net of taxes andedgkive relocation assistance of
$7,000 per month for the first 24 months of his Eypment. We also agreed to grant Mr. Peek optiormurchase 250,000 shares of our
Class A common stock on the date of the consummafithis offering; however, since our Compensatiod Corporate Governance
Committee decided to grant stock options in advarfid¢be offering, these options were granted to Régek on June 7, 2007.

In respect of equity that Mr. Peek forfeited whenléft his prior employer, EMC had agreed to gidntPeek EMC restricted stock
awards with a value equal to the value of the stigtions and restricted stock that Mr. Peek foefitMr. Peek subsequently agreed that in lieu
of these EMC equity awards he would instead betgch#33,216 VMware restricted stock units under2®@7 Equity and Incentive Plan. Mr.
Peek’s restricted stock units have terms that pliefor 3-year cliff vesting, with the opportunityrfonethird of the restricted stock units to v
on the first two anniversaries of the grant dathéftargets under the Revenue and Profit ContdbRlan for the second half of 2007 are
achieved. In addition, the restricted stock unitis mmmediately vest if, following a change in coot of VMware, Mr. Peek’s employment is
terminated without cause or Mr. Peek terminateghiployment because his duties have been diminsheldthat he no longer serves as a
chief financial officer of a public company. Theestricted stock unit awards were granted to MekRe recruit him from his prior employer.
Going forward, it is not expected that the struetor amount of his compensation will be materidifferent from that provided to our Named
Executive Officers.

94



Table of Contents

COMPENSATION OF EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Summary Compensation Table

The table below summarizes the compensation infooman respect of the Named Executive Officerstfa fiscal year ended December
31, 2006. The amounts shown in the Stock Awards@ptibn Awards columns show the cost recognizeceufr@dS 123R in respect of awards
from prior years, not the actual amounts paid teeatized by the Named Executive Officers in 200&. more information on FAS 123R, see

footnote 1 below.

Change in
Pension
Eani Value and
’\ll(r)]geEn%L\jlléy Nongqualified All
Plan Deferred Other
Stock Option Compen- C:g:i%‘;n' Compen-
Name and Salary Bonus Awards ' Awards ) sation® Earnings sation (3 Total
Principal Position Year $ $ $ $ $ ()] (&) (&)
Diane B. Green 200€ 350,00( — 4,222,82. 1,394,56° 449,70¢ — —  6,417,09!
President and Chief Executive Offic
Thomas J. Jurewic 200€ 207,50( — 203,59! 20,96: 68,95¢ — 3,00( 504,01°
Vice President of Financ
Carl M. Eschenbac 200¢ 355,00 112,50 921,53 134,59: 319,78 — 3,00C 1,846,40:
Executive Vice President of Worldwit
Field Operation:
Rashmi Gard 200€ 250,00( — 326,02 17,15( 89,19« — 3,00( 685,37
Vice President and General Coun
Paul Auvil® 200¢€ 151,87: — 58,33: 37,27¢ 49,50( — 2,25( 299,23¢

Former Chief Financial Office

(1)

(2)

(3)
(4)
(5)

The amounts shown represent the compensationfoodisancial reporting purposes of previously gethEMC stock awards and EMC
stock options recognized for the year ended DeceBhe2006 under FAS 123R, rather than an amoudttpar realized by the Named
Executive Officer. The FAS 123R value as of thengdate for stock awards and stock options is spoear the number of months of
service required for the grant to become non-ftafdé. The amount disclosed disregards estimatisfeftures of awards that are
otherwise included in the financial statement répgrfor such awards. Ratable amounts expensestdok awards and stock options that
were granted in years prior to 2006 are also reftein this column. There can be no assurancehba@AS 123R amount will ever be
realized. Given his termination of employment, Muvil forfeited 150,000 shares of restricted stackl stock options for 100,000 sha
Represents incentive compensation earned for shalfyear ended December 31, 2006 under the Bawgsa. $87,500, $22,00
$28,750, $122,500 and $37,500 was earned unddiB@ component of the Bonus Program by Ms. Greerre Advil, Mr. Jurewicz,

Mr. Eschenbach and Ms. Garde, respectively. $382 #97,500, $40,209, and $51,694 was earned uhddrevenue and Profit
Contribution Plan component of the Bonus Progranvisy Greene, Mr. Auvil, Mr. Jurewicz and Ms. Gardespectively. Mr. Eschenbe
earned $197,281 under his bookings compensatianggment. For more details on the Bonus Prograa,Gempensation Discussion

and Analysi—Cash Bonus Plar”

Represents a matching contribution to the EMC 40pidn.
Represents a discretionary bonus paid to Mr. Edidenat the discretion of EN's Chief Executive Officel
Mr. Auvil voluntarily terminated employment on Julyg, 2006
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Grants of Plan-Based Awards

The following table sets forth information concerginon-equity incentive plan grants to the Nameddgtive Officers during the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2006. The-equity incentive plans consist of the bonus plaas are described in “Compensation Discussion and
Analysis—Cash Bonus Plans.” The actual amountszeghin respect of the non-equity plan incentivaals in respect of the 2006 fiscal year
are reported in the Summary Compensation TablerthdeNon-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation colufiitre table also sets forth
information with respect to stock awards and optwmards granted by EMC during the fiscal year erildedember 31, 2006.

Al
Other
Estimated Possible Estimated Future Stock
Payouts Under Payouts Under Awards:  All Other Grant
Non-Equity Incentive Equity Incentive Number Option Exercise Date Fair
Plan Awards Plan Awards of Shares  Awards: or Base Value of
Number of Price of
) - ) Stock and
Maximum  of Stock  Securities Option Option
Grant  Threshold Target Maximum Threshold Target or Underlying Awards 1
Name Date ) ) ) #) ) ) Units (#) Options (#)  ($/Sh)  Awards @)
Diane B. Green N/A 70,00 87,50 87,50(? — — — — — — —
N/A 210,000 262,50  393,75()
Thomas J. Jurewic 5/3/200¢ — — — — 20,00 13.3; 93,29
N/A 2490 31,12t 31,1242
N/A 2490 31,12t 46,68(%)
Carl M. Eschenbac 5/3/200¢ — — —  125,00( 125,00 1337 2,254,34
N/A 98,000 122,50( 122,50
N/A N/A  122,50( NA®
Rashmi Gard: N/A 30,00 37,50 37,50 — — — — — — —
N/A 30,00 37,50 56,25(%)
Paul Auvil N/A 44,000 55,00( 55,00(®) — — — — — — —
N/A 44,000 55,000 82,50(%)

(1) This column reflects the grant date fair value cated in accordance with FAS 123(R) of the stockaspand restricted stock grants in
this table.

(2) The amounts shown in the threshold and target awuraflect the amounts that would be paid if thdviildual and corporate goals we
achieved in the first and second halves of 200@utite MBO pursuant to the Bonus Program at thestiold (80%) level and at the
target (100%) level. The amounts in the targetraagimum columns are the same because the MBO daagsaovide for any additional
payments for overachievement of goals. For momrinétion on the MBO, see “Compensation DiscussiahAnalysis—Cash Bonus
Plans”

(3) The amounts shown in the threshold, target andmaxi columns reflect the minimum, target and maxinbamuses payable under 1
Revenue and Profit Contribution Plan pursuant éoBbnus Program for the first and second halv&66. The threshold payment is
80% of the target bonus payment and the maximurmdpayment is 150% of the target bonus paymentirfese information on the
Revenue and Profit Contribution Plan, “Compensation Discussion and Anal—Cash Bonus Plar”

(4) Mr. Jurewicz was granted stock options for 20,008rss. One-fifth of these stock options will vesttbe first five anniversaries of the
date of grant subject to continued employm

(5) Mr. Eschenbach was granted stock options for 1Zbgb@res and was granted 125,000 shares of redtstick. Or-fifth of these stocl
options will vest on the first five anniversaridgioe date of grant subject to continued employm@mie-third of the restricted shares will
vest on the first three anniversaries of the datgant, subject to continued employme

(6) The amount shown in the target column reflectsatheunt that would be paid under Mr. Eschen’s bookings compensatic
arrangement if the target were met. There is narmim or maximum payout under the arrangement bectngesbonus is tied to bookin
which are not subject to a floor ora c
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End

The following table sets forth information conceriEMC stock options and EMC stock awards heldigyNamed Executive Officers

of December 31, 2006. The market and payout vdhrasnvested stock awards are calculated basedhuariet value of $13.20 per share (the

closing market price of EMG’common stock on December 29, 2006) multiplietheynumber of shares subject to the award. Allkstgtions

shown in this table vest at the rate of 20% per pear the first five years of the ten-year optierm, subject to the Named Executive Officer’s

continued employment. For more information on egaivards made to the Named Executive Officers Ssaripensation Discussion and
Analysis—Long-Term Equity Incentives.”

Option Awards Stock Awards
Equity
Incentive
Equity Plan
Incentive  Awards:
Plan Market
Awards:  or Payout
Number
Equity of Value of
Incentive Unearnec Unearnec
Plan
Awards Number Shares, Shares,
Number of Number of of Shares Market Units or Units or
Securities Number of Securities or Units Value of Other Other
Underlying Securities Underlying of Stock Shares or Rights Rights
Unexercise( Underlying Unexercisec  Option Held Units of That That
Unexercised Exercise Option That Stock Held Have Not Have Not
Options Options Unearned Expiration Have Not That Have
#) #) Options Price Vested Not Vested Vested Vested
Name Exercisable Unexercisable # $ Date # $ # $
Diane B. Green 80,00( 320,00(® — 14.4¢  7/22/201' 541,66(® 7,149,99: — —
160,00( 240,00 — 12.85 10/28/201.
200,00( 300,00(® — 11.1¢  4/29/201-
Thomas J. Jurewic — 20,00(® — 13.37  5/3/201¢ 30,00(™  396,00( — —
3,00( 4,50(® — 11.1¢  4/29/201-
26,63 — — 1.27 4/14/201:
12,42¢ — — 1.27 5/16/201:
26,63 — — 1.27 1/17/201:
Carl M. Eschenbac — 125,00(®) — 13.37 5/3/201¢ 201,25(® 2,656,50! — —
— 30,00(® — 11.1¢  4/29/201-
7,214 — — 2.2€ 12/10/201
3,70( — — 1.27 4/14/201.:
Rashmi Gard: 6,00( 9,00(®) —  11.1¢  4/29/201. 62,50(®  825,00( — —
6,21¢ — — 1.27 4/14/201:
12,947 — — 1.27 3/13/201:
2,77¢ — — 1.1 1/19/201:

Paul Auvil — — — — — _ — _ _

(1) The grant date of each stock option is ten yedos t its expiration date

(2) One-quarter of these options will vest on each of Adyof 2007, 2008, 2009 and 2010, subject to coatiremployment

(3) Ms. Greene was granted 137,500 PARs on Octob&t(8B} and 600,000 PARs on July 22, 2005. Subjectmtinued employment, the
PARs will fully vest on the fifth anniversary ofayt; provided, however, that the PARs granted 42@ay vest at an accelerated rate
with respect to one-third of the underlying shanesach of the first three years following graraiinual performance goals are met and
the PARs granted in 2005 may vest at an acceleratedvith respect to one-quarter of the underlhghgres in each of the first four years
following grant if annual performance goals are .nt January 30, 2007, one-third of the PARs grhint€004 vested as a result of the
achievement of the underlying performance goakfid6. On January 30, 2007, ogearter of the PARs granted in 2005 vested dukd
achievement of the performance goal for 2006. Qurtgr of the PARs granted in 2005 vested prighéoend of 2006 in light of strong
VMware performance in 2005 and the beta developmiatew product and its availability in 20(
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(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)

(8)

(9)

One-third of these options will vest on each of OctoB@rof 2007, 2008 and 2009, subject to continuepleyment.

One-third of these options will vest on each of Apil &f 2007, 2008 and 2009, subject to continued eympént.

One-fifth of these options will vest on each of May 32007, 2008, 2009, 2010 and 2011, subject to napti employmen

Mr. Jurewicz was granted 40,000 PARs on May 1752@ibject to continued employment, the PARs willyfvest on the fiftt
anniversary of the date of grant; provided, howgtreat the PARs may vest at an accelerated rateredpect to one-quarter of the
underlying shares in each of the first four yeatlbfving grant if annual performance goals are ret.January 30, 2007, one-quarter of
the PARs granted in 2005 vested due to the achientaof the performance goal for 2006. The vestihgne-quarter of the PARs grant
in 2005 vested prior to the end of 2006 in lighstvtbng VMware performance in 2005 and the betaldgwment of a new product and its
availability in 2006.

Mr. Eschenbach was granted 125,000 shares ofatestrstock on May 3, 2006. One-third of these shati## vest subject to continued
employment on each of May 3, 2007, 2008 and 2009 Bgchenbach was granted 105,000 PARs on MayQDA. Subject to continued
employment, these PARs will fully vest on the fifthniversary of grant; provided, however, that38¢@00 of these PARs may vest at an
accelerated rate with respect to one-third of theeulying shares in each of the first three yeallewing grant if annual performance
goals are met and 75,000 of these PARs may vest atcelerated rate with respect to one-quartdéreofinderlying shares in each of the
first four years following grant if annual perfornee goals are met. One-third of the 30,000 PARstgchin 2005 vested in 2006 as a
result of the achievement of the underlying perfange goal for 2005 and one-quarter of the 75,00R$Pgranted in 2006 vested prior to
the end of 2006 in light of strong VMware perforroarn 2005 and the beta development of a new ptahdtits availability in 200¢

Ms. Garde was granted 50,000 PARs on May 17, 266528,000 PARs on October 17, 2005. Subject toimoad employment, thes
PARs will fully vest on the fifth anniversary ofdtdate of grant; provided, however, that the PARy west at an accelerated rate with
respect to one-quarter of the underlying sharesah of the first four years following grant if arah performance goals are met. On
January 30, 2007, one-quarter of the PARS gramtdtbly and October vested due to the achievemethiegberformance goal for 2006.
One-quarter of the PARs granted in May vested iior po the end of 2006 in light of strong VMwarerfs@mance in 2005 and the beta
development of a new product and its availability2006.

Option Exercises and Stock Vested

The following table provides information regardiogtions and stock awards exercised and vestecctggly, for the Named Executive

Officers during the fiscal year ended December2806.

Option Awards Stock Awards
Value Realizec Value Realizec

Number of Shares Number of Shares

Acquired on Exercise Upon Exercise Acquired on Vesting on Vesting

Name (#) $W (#) $®@
Diane B. Green — — 195,83: 2,452,87!
Thomas J. Jurewic — — 8,00( 95,78(
Carl M. Eschenbac 47,18¢ 360,43t 25,00( 313,58t
Rashmi Gard: — — 10,00( 119,72!
Paul Auvil 354,82: 3,623,78! 40,00( 478,90(
(1) Represents the difference between the exercise and the fair market value of EMC common stockhendate of exercise for ea

(2)

option.
Represents the fair market value of the EMC comstook on the applicable vesting date, multipliedhs number of shares of restric
stock that vested on that da
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Pension Benefits
Our employees are not provided with pension benefit

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation
Our employees are not provided with a nonqualifleterred compensation plan.

Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change of Catrol

The tables below reflect the compensation and litsrdife to each of the Named Executive Officerth@event of termination of
employment. The compensation and benefits payal#ath Named Executive Officer upon a voluntargnteation, an involuntary for cause
termination, an involuntary termination other tHiancause, upon a change in control, a terminalizato death or disability and upon the
Named Executive Offic's retirement is shown below. Except for Mr. Authe amounts shown assume that each terminatiempfoyment
was effective as of December 29, 2006, and thenfaiket value of EMG& common stock was $13.20, the closing price afatamon stock o
the New York Stock Exchange, on that date. The ansogshown in the table are estimates of the amauhitsh would be paid upon terminati
of employment. The actual amounts to be paid céynlmndetermined at the time of the terminatiorwiployment.

Payments and Benefits upon any Termination

Employees, including the Named Executive Officars, entitled to receive earned and unpaid compensapon any termination of
employment. Accordingly, subject to the exceptinoted below, upon any termination of employmentNlaened Executive Officers will only
receive accrued but unused vacation pay. In addiércept as noted below, all unvested stock awailtiserminate upon any termination of
employment and all stock options granted to the &thfxecutive Officers after January 2004, whetlested or unvested, will also terminate
under EMC’s 2003 Stock Incentive Plan. Stock omtigranted prior to January 2004, which are allaggswill remain exercisable upon a
termination of employment for not less than 90 days

Voluntary Termination

A Named Executive Officer who voluntarily terminstemployment is not entitled to any benefits othan those that are paid to all
employees upon any termination of employment asries] above.

Involuntary Termination For Cause

A Named Executive Officer whose employment is texated for cause is not entitled to any benefitewothan those that are paid to all
employees upon any termination of employment asritesi above.

Involuntary Termination Without Cause

Except for Mr. Jurewicz, who is entitled to a sergre payment equal to three months of his annlelysé&his employment is terminated
without cause, the Named Executive Officers arecnatractually entitled to any compensation or fighether than those that are paid to all
employees upon any termination of employment asritessi above. The provision of any compensationtartefits would be made at the
discretion of the Compensation and Corporate Garera Committee. However, if one of our employeepleyment is terminated in
connection with a reduction in force, a pro ratéipa of the PARs granted to the employee will viégite performance goals are subsequently
achieved. Since it is unlikely the Named Execut®fécers would be terminated in connection witheduction in force, the tables below do not
include an estimate of the value of PARs that wadtentially vest if the performance goals weresggiuently achieved.
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Change in Control

Our Named Executive Officers do not have changmirtrol agreements. However, EMC equity awardstgato VMware employees
under EMC’s 2003 Stock Incentive Plan will vesSENIC is not the surviving corporation to a merged #me surviving corporation does not
issue replacement awards.

Death

In addition to providing the benefits that are pded to all employees generally upon any termimatibemployment, upon an
employee’s death, the employee’s survivors willtoare to receive the employee’s base salary fomgirths and we will make a $10,000
contribution to a tax-qualified education fund @spect of each of the deceased employee’s minlrehi In addition, for those employees
who hold equity awards granted under EMC’s 2002 IStocentive Plan, unvested stock options and stwekrds will immediately vest and all
options held by the employee prior to his or heatdevill remain exercisable for three years.

Disability
We do not have guidelines for providing compensatiobenefits upon an employee’s disability otlmt providing the benefits that are
provided to all employees generally upon any teatiam of employment. However, for those employehls Wwold equity awards granted under

EMC’s 2003 Stock Incentive Plan, unvested stockoogtand stock awards will immediately vest, anaptions held by any EMC employee
prior to his or her termination for disability wikkmain exercisable for three years.

Retirement
We do not provide any retirement benefits to thenlld Executive Officers, other than the matching(KPglan contributions of up to
$3,000 per year that are provided to all employeles participate in EMC’s 401(k) plan.

However, employees are generally entitled to caetihvesting and exercisability with respect totEIC equity awards if they are
retirement eligible under EM@’equity plans. For this purpose, employees agébédito retire if they voluntarily terminate emphoent after 2!
years of service or after they have attained ageibfive years of service and provided they gsize month’ advance notice. None of the
Named Executive Officers are retirement eligil

Diane B. Greene
The following table shows the potential payments banefits that will be provided under each ofsbenarios discussed above.

Involuntary Involuntary
Termination Termination
Voluntary Without Change in
Termination For Cause Cause Control Death Disability Retirement
Element ($) ($) $) ($) $) ($) $)
Incremental Benefits Pursuant to
Termination Event N/A
Cash Severanc — — — — 175,00( —
Tax Qualified Education Fund
Contribution — — — — 20,00( —
In-the-Money Value of Accelerated Stock
Options — — — 687,00( 687,00( 687,00(
Value of Accelerated Restricted Stc — — — 7,149,99: 7,149,99: 7,149,99:
Total Value: Incremental Benefits — — — 7,836,99: 8,031,99. 7,836,99:
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In addition, Ms. Greene will also be entitled temise her vested in-the-money stock options upgrtermination of employment (other
than a termination for cause with respect to styations granted after January 2004). As of DeceriBeR006, these stock options had a cash
value of $458,000.

Thomas J. Jurewicz
The following table shows the potential payments benefits that will be provided under each ofghenarios discussed above.

Involuntary Involuntary
Termination Termination Change ir
Voluntary Without
Termination For Cause Cause Control Death Disability Retirement
Element $) $) $) ($) ($) $) $)
Incremental Benefits Pursuant to Termination
Event N/A
Cash Severanc — — 51,87 — 103,75( —
Tax Qualified Education Fund Contributi — — — — 40,00( —
In-the-Money Value of Accelerated Stock Optic — — — 9,04¢ 9,04t 9,04t
Value of Accelerated Restricted Stc — — — 396,00( 396,00( 396,00(
Total Value: Incremental Benefits — — 51,87¢ 405,04' 548,79 405,04!

In addition, Mr. Jurewicz will also be entitledeaercise his vested in-the-money stock options wmyntermination of employment
(other than a termination for cause with respestdok options granted after January 2004). Asexfddnber 29, 2006, these stock options t
cash value of $789,759.

Carl M. Eschenbach
The following table shows the potential payments banefits that will be provided under each ofgbenarios discussed above.

Involuntary Involuntary
Termination Termination
Voluntary Without Change in
Termination For Cause Cause Control Death Disability Retirement
Element ($) ($) $) ($) ($) ($) ($)
Incremental Benefits Pursuant to Termination
Event N/A
Cash Severanc — — — — 177,50( —
Tax Qualified Education Fund Contributi — — — — 30,00( —
In-the-Money Value of Accelerated Stock Optic — — — 60,30( 60,30( 60,30(
Value of Accelerated Restricted Stc — — — 2,656,500 2,656,500 2,656,50l
Total Value: Incremental Benefits — — — 2,716,801 2,924,300 2,716,80I

In addition, Mr. Eschenbach will also be entitledetercise his vested in-the-money stock optiormsigny termination of employment
(other than a termination for cause with respestdok options granted after January 2004). Asexfddnber 29, 2006, these stock options t
cash value of $123,062.
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Rashmi Garde
The following table shows the potential payments banefits that will be provided under each ofgbenarios discussed above.

Involuntary Involuntary
Termination Termination Change ir
Voluntary Without
Termination For Cause Cause Control Death Disability Retirement
Element ($) ($) (%) ($) ($) ($) ($)
Incremental Benefits Pursuant to Terminatior
Event N/A
Cash Severanc — — — — 125,00( —
Tax Qualified Education Fund Contributi — — — — 20,00( —
In-the-Money Value of Accelerated Sto
Options — — — 18,09( 18,09( 18,09(
Value of Accelerated Restricted Stc — — — 825,00( 825,00( 825,00(
Total Value: Incremental Benefits — — — 843,09( 988,09( 843,09(

In addition, Ms. Garde will also be entitled to eise her vested in-the-money stock options upgnt@mination of employment (other

than a termination for cause with respect to styations granted after January 2004). As of DeceriBeR006, these stock options had a cash
value of $274,145.

Paul Auvil

Mr. Auvil voluntarily terminated employment with as July 13, 2006. Mr. Auvil did not receive anynkéts other than those described
above under “Payments and Benefits upon any Tetioma

Indemnification Agreements and Director and OfficerInsurance

We have entered into agreements to indemnify aectbrs and executive officers. We believe thasé¢hgrovisions and agreements are
necessary to attract and retain qualified perserdiractors and executive officers. Our directors afficers are insured against certain losses
from potential third-party claims for which we degally or financially unable to indemnify them. \Welf-insure with respect to potential third-
party claims that create a direct liability to subhlrd party or an indemnification duty on our p®ur certificate of incorporation and our
bylaws contain provisions that limit the liabilibf our directors. A description of these provisigsontained under the heading “Description
of Capital Stock—Limitation of Liability and Inderfication Matters.”
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CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PERSON TRANSACTIO NS

We intend to adopt a policy to address the revapproval or ratification of related person trangaxd. An investor may obtain a written
copy of this policy, once adopted, by sending atemirequest to VMware, Inc., 3401 Hillview Avent®alo Alto, CA 94304, attention: Legal
Department.

Prior to this offering, we have been operated ahally owned subsidiary of EMC. Immediately follavg this offering, EMC will
continue to own approximately 89% of our commortkt@ 3% of our Class A common stock and 100% of@ass B common stock) and v
control 99% of the combined voting power of our ecoam stock. If the underwriters’ over-allotment aptiis exercised in full, immediately
following this offering, EMC will own approximatel®8% of our common stock (41% of our Class A comrsimak and 100% of our Class B
common stock) and will control 98% of the combineting power of our common stock. EMC will continteehave the power acting alone to
approve any action requiring a vote of the majooitpur voting shares and to elect all our direstdm addition, until the first date on which
EMC or its successor-in-interest ceases to bedlfiawn 20% or more of the outstanding sharesunfa@mmmon stock, the prior affirmative
vote or written consent of EMC as the holder of Glass B common stock or its successor-in-intesisbe required for us to authorize a
number of significant actions, as set forth belowler “Description of Capital Stock—Approval RiglusHolders of Class B Common Stock.”

Since our acquisition by EMC in 2004, we have eadento a number of agreements with EMC in theradi course of business relating
to our business and our relationship with EMC. e avill enter into certain agreements with EMGatilg to this offering and our
relationship with EMC after this offering. The miaéterms of such agreements with EMC relatingtio historical relationship, this offering
and our relationship with EMC after this offeringalescribed below. We do not currently expectterinto any additional agreements or
other transactions with EMC, outside the ordinayyrse, or any of our directors, officers or othiitiates other than those specified below.
However, in the future, in accordance with Delawlare, any contract or transaction between us amdodour directors or officers or between
us and any corporation, partnership, associati@ngrother organization in which one or more of disectors or officers is a director or offic
or has a financial interest, will either be apprbby the stockholders, a majority of the disintegdgnembers of our board or a committee of
our board that authorizes such contracts or traiesecor must be fair to us as of the time ouraoes, a committee of our directors or our
stockholders approve the contract or transactioaddition, any transactions with directors, officer other affiliates will be subject to
requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and SEG rahel regulations.

Relationship with EMC Corporation
Historical Relationship With EMC

We have been operated as a wholly owned subsidfdMC since January 2004. As a result, in ther@di course of our business, we
have received various services provided by EMQuifing tax, accounting, treasury, legal and hunemources services. Historically, EMC
not sold our products. Our historical financialtstaents include allocations to us by EMC of itstsaslated to these services. These cost
allocations have been determined on a basis th&l Edhsiders to be a reasonable reflection of tkeeofiservices provided or the benefit
received by us. These allocations totaled $4.5anilih fiscal 2004, $5.3 million in fiscal 2005 a$8.1 million in fiscal 2006.

In April 2007, we declared an $800 million dividettdEMC in the form of a note. The note mature8mil 2012 and bears an interest
rate of the 90-day LIBOR plus 55 basis points (%0%s of June 30, 2007), with interest payable gulgrin arrears, commencing June 30,
2007. We may repay the note, without penalty, sittame commencing July 2007.

In view of the potential overlap between our busiend that of EMC, we and EMC conduct our busegspsrsuant to our Rules of
Engagement with Storage, Server and Infrastru@ofevare Vendors,
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copies of which are made available to our partnehéch outline product development, qualificatiordasales guidelines that we and EMC
follow with partners who also have products thatclly compete with EMC products. These Rules afdgement may be amended from time
to time by our board of directors.

We have previously entered into several agreenveithsEMC with respect to international marketingoguct services resale, call center
support, project specific consulting, research dexklopment and professional services. EMC wilticare to provide these services to us
following the offering pursuant to these agreementsimilar subsequent arrangements. In certagunistances where we do not have an
established legal entity, EMC employees managealubyersonnel have provided services on our behalf.

We have entered into various geographically-speaifarketing services agreements with certain of EMGbsidiaries. Together, these
agreements involve the following countries: AustAastralia, Belgium, Brazil, Canada, Czech Repytdenmark, France, Germany, Hong
Kong, India, Italy, Korea, Luxembourg, Mexico, Netlands, New Zealand, Norway, Spain, Sweden, Sratzé, Taiwan and the United
Kingdom. The terms of these agreements are sulEbarsimilar and under such agreements, the sgaEMC subsidiaries have agreed to
provide us, upon our request, with services theltiothe promoting our products, developing our custobase, and acting as a liaison to certain
customers. Under the provisions of the agreemamsare charged by such EMC subsidiaries in perfogrservices under these agreements.
The agreements are effective until terminated Heeiparty upon 30 days’ written notice. EMC sulzsids provided these services to us on
similar terms before such time as we entered inttiem agreements. From January 1, 2006 througltivat, 2007, the aggregate value that
we paid such EMC subsidiaries (other than in Camadbindia, which payments are included togethén pélyments for services under the call
center agreements, described below) for the pravisf these services was approximately $54.4 millio

We have entered into call center service agreemétiisEMC Corporation of Canada and EMC Data Ster&gstems (India) Private
Limited, each of which is a subsidiary of EMC. Untige terms of such agreements, each of the EMEidiabies has agreed to provide us,
upon our request, with certain telephonic call eeahd customer support. Under the provisions @ftireements, we are charged by such
subsidiaries in performing services under theseeagents. The agreements are effective until tetetinay either party upon 30 days’ notice.
EMC provided these services to us on similar tdsefere such time as we entered into written agreésn&rom January 1, 2006, through
March 31, 2007, the aggregate value that we pail BMC subsidiaries for the provision of these m&w and under the marketing services
arrangements in Canada and India with these salgdiwas approximately $13.1 million.

We have entered into various consulting serviceseagents with EMC whereby we provide certain of Ed€listomers with project-
specific support, including implementing our protiuithin such clients’ environments, as well aphng clients optimize their VMware
products. The provisions of such agreements argtauntially similar, and terminate either upon muagreement between EMC and ourselves,
or upon the completion of the specific projectyidrich a consulting service agreement was exec#tenn January 1, 2006 through March 31,
2007, the aggregate value of the services we paddrand charged EMC for under such agreements ppaexdmately $6.0 million.

We have entered into a Professional Services Reseitd Subcontractor Agreement with EMC wherebyapointed EMC as a non-
exclusive reseller of our professional servicesdéirthe agreement, we have performed and will naetto perform various professional
consulting services for EMC customers. Under theseof the agreement, the agreement may only b@niated upon a material breach, non-
payment, a breach of confidentiality or by eithartp upon 10 business days’ notice. From Janua?9@6 through March 31, 2007, we
charged EMC approximately $4.8 million for serviees rendered under the agreement.

We have entered into a Development Services Agreemi¢h EMC Data Storage Systems (India) Privataited. Under the terms of the
agreement, EMC'’s Indian subsidiary provides us wéearch and development services with respetrtain of our software products. The
agreement automatically renews annually, but may
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be terminated by either party upon 30 days’ pridtten notice. Under the provisions of the agreetner are charged by EMC'’s subsidiary.
EMC provided these services to us on similar tdsefere such time as we entered into written agre¢sn&rom January 1, 2006 through
March 31, 2007, we paid EMC's subsidiary an aggeegalue of approximately $5.5 million for the pigien of these services.

For additional information about our relationshighAEMC, see Note J to our consolidated finandialesnents included elsewhere in this
prospectus.

EMC as our Controlling Stockholder

EMC currently owns substantially all of our comnsinck. EMC will hold approximately 99% of the coméd voting power of our
outstanding common stock upon completion of thierwrig (or approximately 98% if the underwriterseesise their over-allotment option in
full). For as long as EMC or its successor-in-iagtrcontinues to control more than 50% of the coedbivoting power of our common stock,
EMC or its successor-in-interest will be able teedi the election of all the members of our bodrdieectors and exercise control over our
business and affairs, including any determinatisitls respect to mergers or other business comlsinaiinvolving us, the acquisition or
disposition of assets, the incurrence of indebtsslnthe issuance of any additional common stockhaer equity securities, and the payment of
dividends with respect to our common stock. SimildEMC or its successor-in-interest will have fimver to determine matters submitted to a
vote of our stockholders without the consent of atlner stockholders, will have the power to prevenhange in control of us and will have
power to take other actions that might be favor&blEMC or its successor-in-interest.

EMC has agreed not to sell or otherwise disposmgfof our common stock for a period of 180 dagsifthe date of this prospectus
without the prior written consent of Citi, JPMorgand Lehman Brothers, subject to certain excepti8as “Underwriting.’'However, there ce
be no assurance concerning the period of time dwvimch EMC will maintain its ownership of our coromstock following this offering.

Beneficial ownership of at least 80% of the totating power and value of our outstanding commonlste required in order for EMC to
continue to include us in its consolidated groupféaleral income tax purposes, and beneficial oslmprof at least 80% of the total voting
power and 80% of each class of non-voting capitalksis required in order for EMC to effect a tard spin-off of us or certain other tax-free
transactions. As of the date of this prospectusCEMes not intend or plan to undertake a spin-offsoor another tax-free transaction
involving us. It is expected that we will be inckdlin EMC'’s consolidated group for U.S. federabime tax purposes following the offering.

Agreements Between EMC and Us

In connection with this offering, EMC and we wiliter into certain agreements governing variougimt@nd ongoing relationships
between us. These agreements will include:

e amaster transaction agreeme

e an administrative services agreemt
* atax sharing agreeme!

* aninsurance matters agreemt

« an employee benefits agreeme

» anintellectual property agreement; ¢
» real estate agreemen

The agreements summarized below will be filed dshats to the registration statement of which friespectus is a part. We encourage
you to read the full text of these material agrestsmieWe will enter into thes

105



Table of Contents

agreements with EMC in the context of our relatiopsvith EMC as the owner of substantially all effaommon stock. The prices and other
terms of these agreements will be designed to beistent with the requirements of Section 482 ef@lode and related U.S. Treasury
Regulations with respect to transactions betwelatee parties.

Master Transaction Agreement

The master transaction agreement contains keygomd relating to our ongoing relationship with EMie master transaction
agreement also contains agreements relating toath@uct of this offering and future transactiongj aill govern the relationship between
EMC and us subsequent to this offering. Unlessratise required by the specific provisions of theesgnent, the master transaction agreel
will terminate on a date that is five years afte first date on which EMC ceases to own sharegsepting at least 20% of our common stock.
The provisions of the master transaction agreemsgsited to our cooperation with EMC in connectiathviuture litigation will survive seven
years after the termination of the agreement, aadigions related to indemnification by us and EMIl survive indefinitely.

This Offering. The master transaction agreement requires use@ur reasonable best efforts to satisfy cecaditions to the
completion of this offering. EMC may, in its soledaabsolute discretion, choose to proceed withbandon this offering. All costs and
expenses of VMware and EMC relating to this offgnmill be paid by us.

Registration Rights Pursuant to the master transaction agreemvenyill provide EMC with certain registration righbecause the
shares of our common stock held by EMC after tHisrimg will be deemed “restricted securities” afided in Rule 144 under the Securities
Act. Accordingly, EMC may only sell a limited nuntbaf shares of our common stock into the publickets without registration under the
Securities Act. At the request of EMC, we will uag reasonable best efforts to register sharesio€@mmon stock that are held by EMC after
the closing of this offering, or subsequently acedj for public sale under the Securities Act. EM&y request up to two registrations in any
calendar year. We will also provide EMC with “pighggck” rights to include its shares in future régisons by us of our securities under the
Securities Act. There is no limit on the numbethafse “piggy-back” registrations in which EMC mayguest its shares be included.

EMC may not transfer its registration rights ottiean to an affiliate. EMC's registration rights lt#grminate on the earlier of the date on
which EMC has sold or transferred all of its sharesur common stock deemed “restricted securiti@siur common stock held by EMC may
be sold without restriction pursuant to Rule 144(k)he Securities Act.

We have agreed to cooperate in these registratiotiselated offerings. All expenses payable in ection with such registrations will be
paid by us, including the fees and expenses ofiameof legal counsel chosen by EMC, except that&EMill pay all it own internal
administrative costs and underwriting discounts @mimissions applicable to the sale of its shaf@siocommon stock.

Future Distributions. Additionally, we have agreed to cooperate,ustexpense, with EMC to accomplish a distributigr8C of our
common stock, and we have agreed to promptly taikeaad all actions necessary or desirable to effegtsuch distribution. EMC will
determine, in its sole discretion, whether suckrithistion shall occur, the date of the distributemd the form, structure and all other terms of
any transaction to effect the distribution. A distition may not occur at all. At any time priordompletion of the distribution, EMC may
decide to abandon the distribution, or may modifglenge the terms of the distribution, which cchéde the effect of accelerating or delay
the timing of the distribution.

Anti-Dilution Option. Pursuant to the master transaction agreementave granted EMC a continuing right to purctes® us shares
of Class A common stock and Class B common stockder to maintain EMC's respective percentage aship interests in our Class A
common stock and Class B common stock followingcdmapletion of this offering. This option may besesised by EMC in connection with
any issuance by us of
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common stock other than pursuant to this offeringl{ding the exercise of the underwriters’ ovdo@mhent option) or any stock option or
executive or employee compensation plan, exceptemiie issuance pursuant to a stock option or éxecor employee compensation plan
would cause EMC's percentage ownership of commacksb fall below 80.1%. If we issue our commorcktéor cash consideration as
permitted in the foregoing sentence other thanyansto a stock option or executive compensatian ghat causes EMC'’s percentage
ownership of common stock to fall below 80.1%, uplom exercise of the option, EMC will pay a prieg phare of Class A common stock
equal to the offering price paid by us in the mdhissuance of common stock and a price per sti&@kmss B common stock equal to the fair
market value thereof as determined by our boadirettors. If we issue our common stock for nonhoaensideration or pursuant to a stock
option or executive compensation plan that causé6’k percentage ownership of common stock to falblr 80.1%, upon exercise of the
option, EMC will pay a price per share of Classohenon stock equal to the average closing pricauotommon stock on the day prior to the
applicable issuance date and a price per sharéae§ ® common stock equal to the fair market vétheeeof as determined by our board of
directors.

If EMC chooses not to exercise its option, or el its option for a number of shares less thardtal number permissible, in
connection with any particular future common stesuance by us, EMC's right to exercise the opitioconnection with any subsequent
issuance by us will not be affected. However, ichscase EMC’s ownership percentage will be recatedl to account for any prior decision
not to exercise the option in full or at all, apegpriate. EMC$ option to maintain its ownership percentage iwiligerminate on the earlier «
the date of a tax-free distribution, the date upbich EMC beneficially owns shares of common stagresenting less than 80% of the
aggregate voting power of shares of common stoek tutstanding and the date on which, if the optias been transferred to a subsidiary of
EMC, that subsidiary ceases to be a subsidiaryMt E

Restrictive Covenants Under the master transaction agreement, we agreed to obtain the consent of the holders oCtass B
common stock prior to taking certain actions, inahg:

» consolidating or merging with any other ent

e acquiring the stock or assets of another entigxicess of $100 millior

» issuing any stock or securities except to our glidses or pursuant to this offering or our emplpenefit plans
» taking any actions to dissolve, liquidate or v-up our company

» declaring dividends on our stoc

* entering into any exclusive or exclusionary arranget with a third party involving, in whole or iragi, products or services that i
similar to EMC's; and

« amending, terminating or adopting any provisioroimgistent with certain provisions of our certifieatf incorporation or bylaw:

Indemnification. The master transaction agreement providesré@mséndemnities that generally will place the finandgiesponsibility ol
us and our subsidiaries for all liabilities assteawith the current and historical VMware businasd operations, and generally will place on
EMC the financial responsibility for liabilities saciated with all of EMC’s other current and higtal businesses and operations, in each case
regardless of the time those liabilities arise. Tester transaction agreement also contains indie@tion provisions under which we and
EMC each indemnify the other with respect to breaatf the master transaction agreement or anycorigrany agreement.

In addition to our general indemnification obligats described above relating to the current arntdriial VMware business and
operations, we will agree to indemnify EMC agairailities arising from misstatements or omissiamshis prospectus or the registration
statement of which it is a part, except for misstants or
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omissions relating to information that EMC providedus specifically for inclusion in this prospestr the registration statement of which it
forms a part. We will also agree to indemnify EM@agnst liabilities arising from any misstatement®missions in our subsequent SEC filit
and from information we provide to EMC specificdly inclusion in EMC’s annual or quarterly repoftiowing the completion of this
offering, but only to the extent that the inforneaitipertains to us or our business or to the eX@®T provides us prior written notice that the
information will be included in its annual or quentyy reports and the liability does not result fridme action or inaction of EMC.

In addition to EMC'’s general indemnification obligms described above relating to the current asttical EMC business and
operations, EMC will indemnify us for liabilitiender litigation matters related to EMCbusiness and for liabilities arising from misstaént:
or omissions with respect to information that EM@vded to us specifically for inclusion in thisgspectus or the registration statement of
which it forms a part. EMC will also agree to indgfyg us against liabilities arising from informati&EMC provides to us specifically for
inclusion in our annual or quarterly reports follagy the completion of this offering, but only teetlextent that the information pertains to EMC
or EMC's business or to the extent we provide EMi@rpwritten notice that the information will bedluded in our annual or quarterly reports
and the liability does not result from our actiarir@action.

For liabilities arising from events occurring ontmfore the time of this offering, the master teart®n agreement contains a general
release. Under this provision, we will release EM® its subsidiaries, successors and assigns, M@dvill release us and our subsidiaries,
successors and assigns, from any liabilities ayifiom events between us on the one hand, and EMBeoother hand, occurring on or before
the time of this offering, including in connectiaith the activities to implement this offering. Theneral release does not apply to liabilities
allocated between the parties under the mastesaction agreement or other intercompany agreenoetitsspecified ongoing contractual
arrangements.

Accounting Matters; Legal Policies. Under the master transaction agreement, weagike to use our reasonable best efforts to ese th
same independent certified public accounts seldnydelMC and to maintain the same fiscal year as BEMtll such time as EMC is no longer
required to consolidate our results of operation financial position (determined in accordancehwjiénerally accepted accounting principles
consistently applied). We also agree to use owomable best efforts to complete our audit andigeoEMC with all financial and other
information on a timely basis such that EMC may nitsedeadlines for its filing annual and quartdihancial statements.

Additionally, for as long as EMC is providing ustlviegal services under the administrative serviggeement, the master transaction
agreement will require us to comply with all EMClipies and directives identified by EMC as crititallegal and regulatory compliance an
not adopt legal or regulatory policies or directivieconsistent with the policies identified by EMC.

Administrative Services Agreement

Under the administrative services agreement, wivcén signed will become effective as of the clogate of this offering, EMC will
provide us with services, including tax, accountitngasury, legal and human resources servicesentan services in Bangalore, India. For
such time as the administrative services agreeménteffect, EMC and VMware may agree on additlg®avices to be included in the
administrative services agreement. EMC will prowsgevices to us with substantially the same degfe&ill and care as such services are
performed within EMC. With the exception of sendda Bangalore, India, for which we will pay a gefarterly fee, we will pay fees to EMC
for the services rendered based on the numberotaicdcbst of the EMC employees required to progervices, or as otherwise may be agreed.

We anticipate that the initial term of the admirasive services agreement will expire on Septen38e2007 and will be extended
automatically for additional three-month terms @sléerminated by one of the parties. Prior
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to the expiration of the initial term and any supsent renewal term, we will agree with EMC to atljhe fees payable for services (other than
services in Bangalore, India) under the agreenasntecessary, to accurately reflect the level mfices we require. We have the right to
terminate any of the services provided by EMC unbleradministrative services agreement at any tiptn 30 days’ prior written notice of
termination to EMC. As of the date of this prospscive expect that EMC will provide us with thesevges for a period longer than the initial
term.

Furthermore, we have agreed in the administratwveiges agreement that we will be responsibledod will indemnify EMC with
respect to, our own losses for property damagessomal injury in connection with the services jded, except to the extent that such losses
are caused by the gross negligence, breach, kadfawillful misconduct of EMC.

Tax Sharing Agreement

We have been included in EMC'’s consolidated grdhe {Consolidated Group”) for U.S. federal incorag purposes, as well as in
certain consolidated, combined or unitary groups ifclude EMC and/or certain of its subsidiari@s@ombined Group”) for state and local
income tax purposes. We intend to enter into a taeveharing agreement that will become effectiveruponsummation of this offering.
Pursuant to the tax sharing agreement, we and E&f@rglly will make payments to each other such ihih respect to tax returns for any
taxable period in which we or any of our subsidiarare included in the Consolidated Group or anylieed Group, the amount of taxes to be
paid by us will be determined, subject to certaljustments, as if we and each of our subsidianielsided in the Consolidated Group or
Combined Group filed our own consolidated, combiaednitary tax return. EMC will prepare pro forta returns for us with respect to any
tax return filed with respect to the Consolidated @ or any Combined Group in order to determirgeaimount of tax sharing payments under
the tax sharing agreement. We will be responsilni@fiy taxes with respect to tax returns that itbelanly us and our subsidiaries.

EMC will be primarily responsible for controllinghd contesting any audit or other tax proceeding wespect to the Consolidated Group
or any Combined Group. Disputes arising betweerp#rdes relating to matters covered by the taxishagreement are subject to resolution
through specific dispute resolution provisions.

We have been included in the Consolidated Groupdoiods in which EMC owned at least 80% of thaltagbting power and value of
our outstanding stock. It is expected that we ballincluded in the Consolidated Group followingstbffering. EMC, during any part of a
consolidated return year is liable for the tax loe tonsolidated return of such year, except foh saxes related to (i) our separate tax liability
and (ii) our business and operations, of such gedrfor any subsequently determined deficiencyethrer Similarly, in some jurisdictions, each
member of a consolidated, combined or unitary grfoutate, local or foreign income tax purposegpiistly and severally liable for the state,
local or foreign income tax liability of each othmember of the consolidated, combined or unitaougr Accordingly, although the tax sharing
agreement allocates tax liabilities between usEM, for any period in which we were included ie tGonsolidated Group or a Combined
Group, we could be liable in the event that anypine tax liability was incurred, but not dischargeg.any other member of the Consolidated
Group or a Combined Group.

As of the date of this prospectus, EMC does netidtor plan to undertake a spin-off of our stocElC stockholders. Nevertheless, we
and EMC have agreed to set forth our respectiv@sjgesponsibilities and obligations with resgeciny possible spin-off in the tax sharing
agreement. If EMC were to decide to pursue a plessitin-off, we have agreed to cooperate with EM@ @ take any and all actions
reasonably requested by EMC in connection with sutthnsaction. We have also agreed not to knowitadde or fail to take any actions that
could reasonably be expected to preclude EMC'stalbd undertake a tax-free spin-off. In the evEMC completes a spin-off, we have agreed
not to take certain actions, such as asset salesntributions, mergers, stock issuances or staldsswithin the two years following the spiff-
without first obtaining the opinion of tax counselan IRS ruling to the effect that such actionk mat result in the spirff failing to qualify as
a tax-
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free spin-off. In addition, we generally would esponsible for, among other things, any taxes tiaguirom the failure of a spin-off to qualify
as a tax-free transaction to the extent such taseattributable to, or result from, any actiorfailure to act by us or certain transactions
involving us following a spin-off and a percentagesuch taxes to the extent such taxes are ndiwuttible to, or do not result from, any action
or failure to act by either us or EMC.

Insurance Matters Agreement

Prior to the consummation of this offering, we vailso enter into an insurance matters agreemehtBMtC. Pursuant to the insurance
matters agreement, EMC will maintain insuranceqiedi covering, and for the benefit of, us and arteators, officers and employees. The
insurance policies maintained by EMC under therasce matters agreement will be comparable to thwsetained by EMC and covering us
prior to the offering. Except to the extent that EMllocates a portion of its insurance costs tomgswill pay or reimburse EMC, as the case
may be, for premium expenses, deductibles or rieteaimounts, and all other costs and expense&M&t may incur in connection with the
insurance coverage EMC maintains for us. We willdsponsible for any action against VMware in catio@ with EMC’s maintenance of
insurance coverage for us, including as a resutetevel or scope of any insurance, the credifwoess of any insurance carrier, the terms
conditions of any policy, or the adequacy or timetis of any notice to an insurance carrier in cotire with a claim or potential claim or
otherwise, during the term of the insurance matigreement, except to the extent that such actisesaout of or is related to the breach by
EMC of the insurance matters agreement or theelatsurance policies, or the gross negligence fdittdor willful misconduct of EMC in
connection with the insurance matters agreemetiteorelated insurance policies.

We anticipate that the term of the insurance matigreement will expire on a date which is 45 ddter the date upon which EMC owns
shares of our common stock representing less tmaajerity of the votes entitled to be cast by allders of our common stock.

Employee Benefits Agreement

Prior to the consummation of this offering, we wailso enter into an employee benefits agreemehtEMC. The employee benefits
agreement will allocate liabilities and responéiigit relating to employee compensation and bepkfits and programs and other related
matters, including the treatment of outstanding E&ity awards which may be held by our employe#ewing this offering and the
allocation of certain retirement plan assets aalilities and the ownership of work product develdfor our benefit. The employee benefits
agreement will also generally provide that we asuaning employment-related liabilities with respiecemployees employed by us for periods
of time prior to the offering.

Intellectual Property Agreement

The terms of the intellectual property agreemetitfaimalize the relationship between us and EM@wespect to our use of certain
EMC source code and associated intellectual propigitts, as well as EMC'’s use of certain VMwarermse code and associated intellectual
property rights.

Under the terms of the intellectual property agreetnwe and EMC fully will release one another frolams resulting from any acts of
infringement that might have occurred prior to tlae this offering is completed. Going forward, EMA provide to us license rights under
certain source code and associated intellectuglgoty rights to design, develop, distribute, semand support our existing products, as well as
any updates, upgrades and future versions of {hiaghicts, and the implementation of interoperabbigtween future VMware products and
EMC products. These rights exclude our ability $e EMC'’s intellectual property to create certajpety of products.

We, in turn, will provide to EMC license rights werccertain source code and associated intelleptoglerty rights to design, develop,
distribute, service and support EMC'’s existing prctd, any updates,
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upgrades and future versions of those productseisas EMCS5 future products. These rights exclude the abilitgMC to use our intellectu
property to create certain types of products. Tups of the patent rights we provide to EMC andstt@pe of products with which EMC may
use our intellectual property rights will be inljenarrowed at such time as EMC no longer owns 58%ur common stock, and further
narrowed at such time as EMC no longer owns 20%uoftommon stock. The scope of products with wikithC may use our intellectual
property rights will also be narrowed if there isteange of control of EMC at such time as EMC mgkr owns 50% of our common stock.
EMC will indemnify us for any losses arising outasfy use by EMC of the intellectual property rigives provide to EMC under the intellecti
property agreement, and we will indemnify EMC faydosses arising out of any use by us of thelgdalal property rights EMC provides to
us under the intellectual property agreement.

Real Estate Agreements

Prior to the consummation of this offering, we wefiter into a real estate license agreement witCEMhe real estate license agreement
will govern the terms under which we may use thecspwve share, and will continue to share, with EMCertain properties that EMC currel
leases abroad. We do not currently expect thatethleestate license agreement will materially cleathg current arrangements we have with
EMC related to shared space or the amounts weharged for use of such space. We will also enteran agreement which will provide for
our purchase from EMC of the equity interests mEMC entity which holds the ground leasehold igéeimn the land on which our global
headquarters is being built and the interest ingbaipal headquarters itself for an amount equéhéocost expended by EMC to date in
constructing the facilities, which totaled approgiely $127.0 million as of June 30, 2007.

Our Relationship with Intel

We are party to a Class A common stock purchasseagent with Intel Capital dated as of July 9, 2@®@¥suant to the stock purchase
agreement, following the expiration of the appliealvaiting period under the HSR Act and the satiéfe of other customary closing
conditions, including the absence of a materiakasky change, Intel Capital will purchase 9.5 millehares of our Class A common stock, at a
price of $23.00 per share for an aggregate purghi@se of $218.5 million. If we do not complete amderwritten public offering with an
aggregate price to the public of at least $250l0anion or before December 31, 2007, Intel Capitél have the right to exchange its Class A
common stock for shares of Series A preferred stibekterms of which will be designated prior te tlosing of the Intel investment. The st
purchase agreement also contains certain antiaflyrovisions which will terminate upon the clogiof this offering.

Pursuant to Intel Capita’proposed investment in our Class A common stwelhave entered into an investor rights agreeméhtintel
Capital that provides Intel Capital with certaighis, including the following rights:

» demand registration rights, pursuant to whichnsonths after the effectiveness of the registragimbement of which this prospectus
constitutes a part, Intel Capital has the righeffect one demand registration of our Class A comistock held by them at the time
such demanc

» ‘“piggybacl’ registration rights with respect to our Class A aoom stock, subject to standard cutback provisionmosed by
underwriters; an

» the right to demand that we effect a registratidgth wespect to all or a part of their securitie®nps becoming eligible to file ¢
Form &-3, subject to standard cutback provisions imposedrderwriters

The investor rights agreement also restricts I@tghital’s right to sell or transfer the shares wf Glass A common stock acquired
pursuant to the July 9 stock purchase agreemeiat fj@riod of one year from the date of purchaseoAtingly, Intel Capital’'s exercise of any
of the rights described above is subject to thératipn of such one year period.
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The investor rights agreement will obligate us &y for the costs and expenses of registration dtzer underwriting discounts.
Additionally, Intel Capital has agreed not to offeell, contract to sell, pledge or otherwise d&gpof its shares of Class A common stock w
180 days of this offering, subject to extensionameertain circumstances. The investor rights agese also provides that Intslrepresentatiy
on our board shall have no duty or obligation tesgnt any corporate opportunity to us, unless piperunity is expressly presented to such

board member in his or her capacity as a direattiecor she otherwise first acquires knowledgénefdpportunity in the course of his or her
activities as a member of our board.

In addition, we and Intel have entered into a miand customary collaboration partnering agreethanexpresses the parties’ intent to
continue to expand their cooperative efforts arooimt development, marketing and industry initias.

Other Related Person Transactions

In June 2007, our Compensation and Corporate GamesnCommittee granted options to purchase 25&0&&s of Class A common
stock with an exercise price of $23.00 per shafeadel Rosenblum, our chief scientist and the hodlof Diane Greene, our president, chief
executive officer and member of the board of doextOther than the transactions listed above,ave Imot entered into any other transactions
with related persons. Our board of directors wdibpt policies and procedures for the review, apprand ratification of any future related
party transactions.
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PRINCIPAL STOCKHOLDERS

As of the date of this prospectus, substantiallpfabur common stock outstanding is owned by EM@on completion of this offering,
EMC will beneficially own approximately 43% of oissued and outstanding Class A common stock anthdf®ur issued and outstanding
Class B common stock. These shares will repreggmbaimately 99% of the total voting power of owntmon stock (or approximately 98%
the underwriters exercise in full their ovatetment option). After completion of this offegnEMC will be able, acting alone, to elect ourie
board of directors and to approve any action réugistockholder approval. Subject to the expiratibthe applicable waiting period under the
HSR Act and the satisfaction of other customargiclg conditions, Intel, through its investmentlate, Intel Capital, will own 9.5 million
shares, or approximately 12.7%, of our Class A comstock to be outstanding upon completion of éffiiering and approximately 2.5% of t
shares of our common stock then outstanding whiehes will represent less than 1% of the combiratthg power of our outstanding

common stock.

In June 2007, our Compensation and Corporate GareenCommittee made broad-based equity awards tengployees including
grants of options to purchase 1,900,000 sharesro€tass A common stock to our Named Executived@ff with an exercise price of $23.00
per share. Also, our Compensation and Corporatee@ance Committee granted 40,000 options to puecBésss A common stock to each of
Michael W. Brown, John R. Egan and David N. Strobom, non-employee directors. These options werecesal for restricted Class A
common stock in July 2007 and remain subject toreetyear vesting term. Additionally, some of oxeautive officers may acquire VMware
stock options and restricted stock by participatmthe exchange offer.

The following table sets forth information as oh@uw0, 2007 about the number of shares of our canstark beneficially owned and t

percentage of common stock beneficially owned by:

» each person known to us to be the beneficial owharore than 5% of our common sto

e each of our named executive office
» each of our directors; ar

« all of our directors and executive officers as augr.

To our knowledge, except as indicated in the fomsdo this table or as provided by applicable comity property laws, the persons
named in the table have sole investment and vgtivger with respect to the shares of common stodicated.

Name
5% Beneficial Owners

EMC Corporatiori?

Name
5% Beneficial Owners
EMC Corporatiorf2 ®
Directors and Officers
Diane B. Green
Carl M. Eschenbac
Mark S. Peel
Rashmi Gard
Thomas J. Jurewic
Joseph M. Tucc
Michael W. Brown
John R. Egal
David |. Goulder
David N. Strohmr
Paul Auvil**

All directors and executive officers as a group [f&isons}”

Number of Shares of
VMware Class B Common

Stock Beneficially Owned™®)

300,000,00

Number of Shares of
VMware Class A Common

Stock Beneficially Owned(™®)

332,500,00

cNoNoloNeNoe)

40,00(
40,00(
0
40,00(
0

120,00(
113

Percent of
Outstanding Share:

10C%

Percent of
Outstanding Share:

99.9%

* 0% kO k¥ X X X X X
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*%

1)

(@)
®3)
(4)

Less than 1%
Our former chief financial officel

All amounts shown in this column include sharesotzatble upon exercise of stock options currentreisable or exercisable within |
days of the date of this tab

The principal business address of EMC is 176 SBitrbet, Hopkinton, MA 0174
Includes 300,000,000 shares of Class B common stbath are convertible into Class A common stc
Excludes shares as to which such individuals h@s@aimed beneficial ownershi

The address of all persons listed above, other M@ Corporation, is c/o VMware, Inc., 3401 HillweAvenue, Palo Alto, CA 94304.

Following this offering, we will have two classefsamthorized common stock: Class A common stock@lags B common stock. Only

EMC or its successor-in-interest may hold shareSlass B common stock unless EMC distributes itseshof Class B common stock in a
distribution under section 355 of the Code. Thatsgf the holders of Class A and Class B commocksare identical, except with respect to
voting, the election of directors, conversion, aertactions that require the consent of holdeiGlags B common stock and other protective
provisions as set forth in this prospectus. Theléid of Class B common stock shall be entitledtedtes per share and the holders of Class A
common stock shall be entitled to one vote pereshiEine holders of Class B common stock, voting #ply as a class, are entitled to elect
80% of the total number of the directors on ourrda# directors which we would have if there wetevacancies on our board of directors at
the time. Subject to any rights of any series efgnred stock to elect directors, the holders @s€IA common stock and the holders of Class B
common stock, voting together as a single clagseatitled to elect the remaining directors ontmaird of directors, which at no time will be
less than one director. Each share of Class B camstuzk is convertible into one share of Class semn stock at any time unless EMC
distributes its shares of Class B common stockdis@ibution under section 355 of the Code.
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DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

The following description of our capital stock gmabvisions of our certificate of incorporation domglaws, each of which will be in effect
as of the date of this prospectus, are summaréedhand are qualified by reference to our cedi# of incorporation and bylaws, copies of
which have been filed with the SEC as exhibitsuoregistration statement of which this prospeébusis a part.

General
Upon completion of this offering and subject to thesing of the Intel investment, our authorizegdita stock will consist of:
e 2,500,000,000 shares of Class A common stock, glaev$0.01 per shar
e 1,000,000,000 shares of Class B common stock, gdaes0.01 per shar
e 9,500,000 shares of Series A preferred stock, aaiev$0.01 per share, a
* 90,500,000 shares of undesignated preferred spackjalue $0.01 per sha

As of the date of this prospectus, 32,500,000 shafr€lass A common stock are outstanding, andd®@0000 shares of Class B comn
stock are outstanding. Upon completion of this rixfigg, there will be outstanding 75,000,000 shafeSlass A common stock and 300,000,000
shares of Class B common stock. As of the dathisfarospectus, no preferred stock has been desifjpais outstanding.

Common Stock
Dividend Rights

Subiject to preferences that may apply to sharesedérred stock outstanding at the time, the hsldéoutstanding shares of our Class A
common stock and Class B common stock are entitleeceive dividends, out of assets legally avéglatharing equally in all such dividends
on a per share basis, at the times and in the asithat our board of directors may determine fronetto time.

Conversion Rights

Each share of Class B common stock is convertilbliégevheld by EMC or its successor-in-interest &t diption of EMC or its successor-
in-interest into one share of Class A common sttfabur Class B common stock is distributed to ségunolders of EMC in a transaction
(including any distribution in exchange for shapé&MC's or its successor-in-interest's common ktocother securities) intended to qualify
as a distribution under Section 355 of the Cod@nyrcorresponding provision of any successor t&ashares of our Class B common stock
will no longer be convertible into shares of Classommon stock. Prior to any such distribution,shiares of Class B common stock will
automatically be converted into shares of Clas@imon stock upon the transfer of such shares afsacommon stock by EMC other than
to any of EMCS5 successors or any of its subsidiaries (excludg)glf such a distribution has not occurred, estedre of Class B common stc
will also automatically convert at such time as tluenber of shares of Class B common stock owneNO or its successor-in-interest falls
below 20% of the outstanding shares of our comntacks Following any such distribution, we may subtaiour stockholders a proposal to
convert all outstanding shares of our Class B comstock into shares of our Class A common stoakyigded that we have received a
favorable private letter ruling from the Interna\Rnue Service satisfactaxy EMC to the effect that the conversion will néfeat the intende:
tax treatment of the distribution. In a meetingaf stockholders called for this purpose, the haldé our Class A common stock and our C
B common stock will be entitled to one vote perrstend, subject to applicable law, will vote togeths a single class and neither class of
common stock will be entitled to a separate clags.VAll conversions will be effected on a sharedbare basis.
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Voting Rights

Except that holders of Class A common stock argletito one vote per share while holders of CBg®mmon stock are entitled to 10
votes per share on all matters to be voted on bygtmekholders and except with respect to the ielectf directors, conversion, certain actions
that require the consent of holders of Class B comstock and other protective provisions as seh fiorthis prospectus, the holders of Clas
common stock and Class B common stock have idémiigds. The holders of Class B common stock,ngteparately as a class, are entitled
to elect 80% of the total number of directors ontoward of directors which we would have if therergino vacancies on our board of directors
at the time. Subject to any rights of any seriegreferred stock to elect directors, the holder€lass A common stock and the holders of Class
B common stock, voting together as a single clagsentitled to elect our remaining directors, Wit no time will be less than one director
any such election, the holders of Class A commocoksand the holders of Class B common stock aiidezhto one vote per share. In the event
that the rights of any series of our preferredlstwould preclude the holders of Class A commonistoa the holders of Class B common
stock, voting together as a single class, fromtiglg@t least one director, our board of directeilsincrease the number of directors prior to
issuance of that preferred stock to the extentssarg to allow these stockholders to elect at leastdirector. Generally, all other matters to be
voted on by stockholders must be approved by anibajf the votes entitled to be cast at a meekip@ll shares of Class A common stock and
Class B common stock present in person or repreddmt proxy, voting together as a single classjestibo any voting rights granted to hold
of any preferred stock. Additionally, following #sttibution of our Class B common stock to secuhityders of EMC, any person or group that
beneficially owns 10% or more of our Class B commatwck will not have any right to vote their shaoé€lass B common stock in the
election of directors unless that person or grdupeosons also beneficially owns at least an ed@ntgercentage of our Class A common s
with two exceptions:

» where such person or group obtains the consenirdf@ard of directors prior to acquiring benefi@ainership of at least 5% of o
common stock; o

» where such person or group acquires beneficial cstii of at least 5% of our common stock solela assult of a distribution of
Class B common stock to EMC stockholders and, poi@cquiring one additional share of Class B comstock, such person or
group obtains the consent of our board of direc

Preemptive or Redemption Rights

Our Class A common stock and Class B common staekenerally not entitled to preemptive rights anel not subject to redemption or
sinking fund provisions. However, pursuant to arestor rights agreement we entered into with I8&pbital in connection with Intel Capital’s
investment in our Class A common stock, in the evanhave not closed an underwritten public offgrvith an aggregate price to the public
of at least $250 million on or before DecemberZ1]7, then at any time from January 1, 2008 andrbehe earlier of the closing of such a
public offering and the third anniversary of thesihg of the sale of our Class A common stock tell@apital:

» Intel Capital will have preemptive rights with respto the shares of Class A common stock purchagesiiant to the Intel
investment

* holders of shares of Class A common stock purchpsesiant to the Intel investment and not conveideBeries A preferred stoi
will have the right to require us to repurchaselalt not less than all, of such shares of ClassAmon stock; an

» we will have the right to require holders of Cl#ssommon stock purchased pursuant to the Intelstment and not converted to
Series A preferred stock to sell us all, but nesléhan all, of such shares of Class A common s

in the case of the put and call rights, at a psigiicient to provide a cumulative internal raterefurn of 15% per annum from the date of the
closing of the Intel investment; provided that i wxercise our call right
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described above before January 1, 2009, then ttolase price of the shares will be the price tratweuld have been obligated to pay had we
exercised that right on January 1, 2009.

Right to Receive Liquidation Distributions

Upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding-upgetholders of our Class A common stock and ClassrBneon stock are entitled to share
equally in all of our assets remaining after paynwérall liabilities and the liquidation prefererscef any outstanding preferred stock.

Preferred Stock

No shares of our preferred stock are outstandirgf #ee date of this prospectus. However, purstmtite investor rights agreement we
entered into with Intel Capital in connection wittiel Capital’s investment in our Class A commanckt upon closing of the investment our
board of directors will designate the terms, arsree 9.5 million shares, of Series A preferredisttf this offering does not close by
December 31, 2007, Intel Capital will have the titghexchange its shares of Class A common stock ame-for-one basis for shares of Series
A preferred stock.

The holders of Series A preferred stock will bdtisd to one vote per share on all matters to hedron by our stockholders and will v
with the holders of the Class A common stock ardhtblders of the Class B common stock, togetharsasgle class, to elect Group Il
members of our board of directors and on all othatters to be voted on by Class A and Class B btidkrs, subject to applicable law.

Generally, the Series A preferred stock will batésd to annual cumulative dividends at a rate % 4ompounded annually. In the event
of a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of ocwmpany, before any payment or distribution of assets to the holders of shares ranking
junior to the Series A preferred stock, the holddrthe Series A preferred stock will be entitledatl dividends accumulated, accrued on un
thereon. The Series A preferred stock will autoosly convert into Class A common stock upon atidhpublic offering of Class A common
stock, provided that we pay a fee to Intel Capltdigned to provide them with a 15% per annum miedenate of return if the offering price to
the public in the public offering is lower than thece that would reflect such a rate of returnypon conversion of more than 50% of the then
outstanding Series A preferred stock (with the eonsf Intel Capital so long as the Intel Capitahs any Series A preferred stock).
Additionally, the Series A preferred stock will leagreemptive rights that allow holders to mainthigir ownership percentage in us in the
event we sell additional shares of our common stoghreferred stock. The Series A preferred stoitkalso contain customary anti-dilution
provisions in the event that we sell additionalrelaf our common stock or preferred stock at eedower than the conversion price of the
Series A preferred stock.

In the event we have not closed an underwrittedipoffering with an aggregate price to the puldfcat least $250 million on or before
December 31, 2007, then at any time from Janua?pQ8 and before the earlier of the closing of saighublic offering and the third
anniversary of the closing of the sale of our Clag®mmon stock to Intel Capital:

* holders of shares of Series A preferred stock halle the right to require us to repurchase allnotifess than all, of the shares of
Series A preferred stock; a

» we will have the right to require the holders o Beries A preferred stock to sell to us all, litless than all, of the shares of Series
A preferred stock

in each case, at a price sufficient to provide mulative internal rate of return of 15% per annuonf the date of the closing of the Intel
investment; provided that if we exercise our cglht described above before January 1, 2009, thepdrchase price of the shares will be the
price that we would have been obligated to payvwaexercised that right on January 1, 2009. Thexpdtcall rights described in this
paragraph would also apply to the shares of Classmmon stock purchased by Intel Capital in thenegach shares are not converted into
shares of Series A preferred stock.
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For so long as Intel Capital holds a number of shaf Series A preferred stock representing at &2 of the number of shares of ClI
A common stock originally issued at the closindhaf Intel investment, we will not, without the vteih consent of the then-current holders of at
least 50% of the Series A preferred stock, eitlirerctly or by amendment, merger, consolidatiompthierwise:

» create or authorize the creation of or issue ahgradecurity senior to the securities held by I@@&pital or increase the authorized
number of Series A Preferre

» create or authorize the creation of any debt ot geturity, other than debt issued in the ordirtanyrse of business;
» amend, alter or repeal any provision of our cedifé of incorporation which alters or changes thweqrs, preferences or special rig
of the Series A preferred stock so as to affeanthdversely

provided that none of the rights described abovegiie the holders of Series A preferred stoclepasate class vote to approve a merger v
the consideration for the merger consists entioélgash.

Additionally, our board of directors is empowersdbject to the approval of our Class B stockholdensl subject to any requirements of
the New York Stock Exchange, or any applicableamati securities exchange, to cause the remainirfg)OMO00 authorized shares of our
preferred stock to be issued from time to timerie or more series, with the numbers of sharesdaf saries and the designations, preferences
and relative, participating, optional, dividend atter special rights of the shares of each sudassand the qualifications, limitations,
restrictions, conditions and other characteridtieseof as fixed by our board of directors. Amolng $pecific matters that may be determine
our board of directors are:

» the designation of each seri

» the number of shares of each ser

« the rate of dividends, if an’

» whether dividends, if any, shall be cumulative oncumulative
» the terms of redemption, if an

» therights of the series in the event of any va@mnor involuntary liquidation, dissolution or wimd-up of the affairs of ou
company;

» rights and terms of conversion or exchange, if i

» restrictions on the issuance of shares of the smmes or any other series, if any; ¢

» voting rights, if any

Other than with respect to our obligation to deatgrthe terms, and reserve for issuance shar8griefs A preferred stock pursuant to
obligations in connection with the Intel investmeamé have no present plans to issue any sharegfefrped stock. The ability of our board of

directors to issue preferred stock without stocéeobapproval could have the effect of delayingedafg or preventing a change in control of
us or the removal of our existing management.

Warrants
As of the date of this prospectus, there were ristanding warrants to purchase shares of our ¢abitek.

Registration Rights

We will enter into a master transaction agreemettit BMC which, among other things, provides forafied registration and other rigt
relating to the shares of our common stock owneBM{. See “Certain Relationships and Related Pefsansactions—Relationship with
EMC Corporation.” In connection with Intel
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Capital’s proposed purchase of Class A common stock, we @atered into an investor rights agreement witl l@apital which provides Int
Capital with registration rights. See “Certain Riglaships and Related Person Transactions—Our iRegdtip with Intel.”

Approval Rights of Holders of Class B Common Stock

In addition to any other vote required by law orduwy certificate of incorporation, until the firdate on which EMC ceases to beneficially
own 20% or more of the outstanding shares of oaormaon stock, the prior affirmative vote or writteonsent of EMC as the holder of the Cl
B common stock is required (subject in each caset@in exceptions) in order to authorize us to:

» consolidate or merge with any other ent

» acquire the stock or assets of another entity aegx of $100 million

* issue any stock or securities except to our sudsedi or pursuant to this offering or our emplobeaefit plans
» dissolve, liquidate or wind us u

» declare dividends on our stoc

» enter into any exclusive or exclusionary arrangeméth a third party involving, in whole or in pagiroducts or services that are
similar to EMC's; and

» amend, terminate or adopt any provision inconsistéth certain provisions of our certificate of ovporation or bylaws

Anti-Takeover Effects of Our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws

The provisions of our certificate of incorporatiand our bylaws described below may have the effedelaying, deferring or
discouraging another party from acquiring contfali®.

Board of Directors

Our board of directors will consist of not lessrtlsix and not more than twelve directors, withélxact number to be determined by the
board of directors. The members of our board agfaors will be divided into two groups, Group | a@&cbup Il. Each director elected by the
holders of Class B common stock, voting separaslg class, will be designated Group | members.ré@imaining directors will be designated
Group Il members. The initial division of our boarfidirectors into Group | members and Group Il rbens will be made prior to this offering
by the affirmative vote of the majority of the estboard of directors so that the Group | membeéltscanstitute at least 80% of our board of
directors upon the completion of this offering.

Our certificate of incorporation also provides that board of directors will be further classifiedio three classes with staggered three-
year terms. Accordingly, only o-third of our board of directors will be electedeaich annual meeting. Each class will consisteaslyias
possible, of one-third of the total number of dioes and one-third of the respective Group | memlaad Group || members other than those
elected by holders of our preferred stock. No diremay be a member of more than one class oftdir@cThe initial division of the board of
directors into classes will be made by a vote wiagority of the entire board of directors.

Any Group | member of our board of directors mayémoved from office at any time, with or withowuse, by the affirmative vote of
80% of the holders of Class B common stock, vosiegarately as a class. Any Group Il member of oard of directors may be removed fr
office at any time, with or without cause, by ttitranative vote of the holders of at least a majpof the votes entitled to be cast in the elec
of Group Il members.

Any vacancy on the board of directors that redudisy an increase in the number of directors mafillzel only by a majority of the boal
of directors then in office, provided that a quorisnpresent, and any other
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vacancy occurring in the board of directors mayilkedl only by a majority of directors then in of, even if less than a quorum, or by a sole
remaining director. However, until EMC ceases tdHeebeneficial owner of shares of our common stegkesenting at least a majority of the
votes entitled to be cast by the holders of Clasemmon stock and the holders of Class B commarkstwting together as a single class, any
vacancy caused by the removal of a director bystagckholders may be filled only by our stockholdeussuant to the procedures for electing
Group | members or Group Il members, as appropiddéwvithstanding the preceding sentence, if theoagment of any person to a vacancy
would cause the number of Group | members of oardof directors to be less than 80% of the totahber of directors on our board of
directors which we would have if there were no vei@s on our board of directors at the time, thenvacancy will be filled by majority vote

of the Group | members then in office, and thedoefilling the vacancy will be designated a Grdupember of our board of directors.

Stockholder Action by Written Consent; Special Miegfs

Our certificate of incorporation provides that Ustich time as EMC or its successor-in-interesses#o hold shares representing at least
a majority of votes entitled to be cast by the koddof Class A common stock and the holders ofSdBasommon stock, voting together as a
single class, any action required or permittedetdaiken by stockholders at any annual or speciatingeof stockholders may be taken without
a meeting, without prior notice and without a vate Jong as written consent is obtained from thiddrs of the minimum number of votes that
would have been required to authorize or take aétisuch a meeting were held. From and after sumsh as EMC or its successor-in-interest
ceases to hold shares representing at least aityajbthe votes entitled to be cast by the holddr€lass A common stock and the holders of
Class B common stock, voting together as a singkscany action required or permitted to be tdkeatockholders may be effected only at a
duly called annual or special meeting of stockhidded may not be effected by a written conserbasents by stockholders in lieu of such a
meeting.

Except as otherwise required by law, special mgstof our stockholders for any purpose or purpasag only be called by (1) EMC or
its successor-in-interest, so long as EMC or itesssor-in-interest is the beneficial owner okast a majority of the votes entitled to be cast
by the holders of Class A common stock and thedrsldf Class B common stock, voting together dag@esclass, (2) our chairman or (3) our
board of directors or our secretary pursuant tesalution approved by a majority of directors tireoffice. No business other than that stated
in the notice of a special meeting may be transbatsuch special meetings.

Cumulative Voting
Our stockholders do not have cumulative votingtsgh

Amendment

Subject to the rights of holders of our Class B nwm stock to withhold their consent to the amendméthe provisions of our
certificate of incorporation relating to corporafgportunities and conflicts of interest between @ampany and EMC, certain provisions of our
certificate of incorporation, including those ratgtto corporate opportunities and conflicts okeneist between us and EMC, the consent of
EMC or its successor-in-interest as the holderuwf@ass B common stock, our bylaws, our boardirafctiors and the indemnification of our
directors and officers, may be amended by theraffiive vote of at least 80% of the votes entittetle cast thereon. All other provisions of
certificate of incorporation may be amended byatfiemative vote of a majority of the votes entitleo be cast thereon.

The board of directors may from time to time makmend, supplement or repeal our bylaws upon the ofod majority of the board of
directors. Once EMC or its successor-in-intereases to own shares representing at least a majpditye votes entitled to be cast by the
holders of Class A common stock and the holdefSlass B common stock, voting together as a sinlgiescour certificate of incorporation
provides that the sections of our bylaws relateduioclassified board structure, the removal ofécliors and the required advance
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notice related to shareholder proposals and noromat directors by shareholders may only be amérmethe affirmative vote of shares
representing at least 80% of the votes entitlduetoast by the outstanding common stock, voting siegle class, subject to any voting rights
granted to any holders of any preferred stock.

Delaware Law Regulating Corporate Takeovers

We will be subject to the provisions of Section 203he Delaware General Corporation Law regulatingporate takeovers. In general,
those provisions prohibit a Delaware corporatiamfrengaging in any business combination with atsrésted stockholder for a period of
three years following the date that the stockholi#rame an interested stockholder, unless:

» the transaction is approved by the board before#te the interested stockholder attained thais|

* upon consummation of the transaction that resuftede stockholder becoming an interested stocldrolthe interested stockholder
owned at least 85% of the voting stock of the caapon outstanding at the time the transaction cemeed; ol

» on or after the date the business combinationpsoyed by the board and authorized at a meetirsgozkholders by at least two-
thirds of the outstanding voting stock that is oahed by the interested stockholc

Section 203 defines “business combination” to idelthe following:
» any merger or consolidation involving the corparatand the interested stockhold
» any sale, transfer, pledge or other dispositioh(86 or more of the assets of the corporation inaglthe interested stockholdt

* subject to certain exceptions, any transactionrémailts in the issuance or transfer by the cotjorar its subsidiaries of any stock
the corporation to the interested stockhol

e any transaction involving the corporation or itbsidiaries that has the effect of increasing tlupprtionate share of the stock of any
class or series of the corporation beneficially ed/by the interested stockholder;

» the receipt by the interested stockholder of theelieof any loans, advances, guarantees, pledgether financial benefits provide
by or through the corporatio

In general, Section 203 defines an interested hder as any entity or person beneficially ownlis§6 or more of the outstanding
voting stock of the corporation and any entity ergon affiliated with or controlling or controlldxy any of these entities or persons.

A Delaware corporation may opt out of this provisgther with an express provision in its originattificate of incorporation or in an
amendment to its certificate of incorporation olalws approved by its stockholders. However, we hateopted out, and do not currently
intend to opt out, of this provision. The statubelld prohibit or delay mergers or other takeovechnge in control attempts and, accordingly,
may discourage attempts to acquire us.

Provisions of Our Certificate of Incorporation Relating to Related Person Transactions and Corporate @portunities

In order to address potential conflicts of intetestween us and EMC with respect to corporate dppities that are otherwise permitted
to be undertaken by us, our certificate of incogtion contains provisions regulating and definimg ¢onduct of our affairs as they may invc
EMC and its officers and directors, and our powegits, duties and liabilities and those of ouiagfrs, directors and stockholders in
connection with our relationship with EMC. In gealethese provisions recognize that, subject tdithiations related to our technology and
product development and marketing activities, wet BNMC may engage in the
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same or similar business activities and lines aifess, may have an interest in the same areaspfrate opportunities and will continue to
have contractual and business relations with etdtwr,ancluding officers and directors of EMC sewyias our directors.

Our certificate of incorporation provides that, faib to the limitations related to our technologyaroduct development and marketing
activities, EMC will have no duty to refrain from:

* engaging in the same or similar business activirdmes of business as (
» doing business with any of our clients or customer
» employing or otherwise engaging any of our officer&mployees

Our certificate of incorporation provides that ME acquires knowledge of a potential transactiomatter which may be a corporate
opportunity for both us and EMC, EMC will have natglto communicate or present such corporate oppitytto us and we will, to the fullest
extent permitted by law, renounce any interestxpeetancy in any such opportunity and waive anyrckhat such corporate opportunity be
presented to us. EMC will have satisfied its figugiduty with respect to such a corporate oppotyuamd will not be liable to us or our
stockholders for breach of any fiduciary duty asstockholder by reason of the fact that EMC acgior seeks the corporate opportunity for
itself, directs that corporate opportunity to amotherson or does not present that corporate apptyto us.

If one of our directors or officers who is alsoigedtor or officer of EMC learns of a potentialrisaction or matter that may be a corpc
opportunity for both us and EMC and which may beperly pursued by us pursuant to the limitatioriatesl to our technology and product
development and marketing activities, our certtioaf incorporation provides that the director tircer will have satisfied his or her fiduciary
duties to us and our stockholders, will not belédbr breach of fiduciary duties to us and oucktmlders with respect to such corporate
opportunity, and will be deemed not to have derigedmproper personal economic gain from such aatpwpportunity if the director or
officer acts in good faith in a manner consisteiththe following policy:

» where an opportunity is offered to a VMware dire¢tmut not an officer) who is also a director oficdgr of EMC, VMware will be
entitled to pursue such opportunity only when egpheoffered to such individual solely in his orlsapacity as a VMware directc

* where an opportunity is offered to a VMware offieéro is also an EMC officer, VMware will be entill¢éo pursue such opportun
only when expressly offered to such individual 8ole his or her capacity as a VMware offic

» where an opportunity is offered to a VMware offigéro is also a director (but not an officer) of EM@Mware will be entitled to
pursue such opportunity unless expressly offereadedndividual solely in his or her capacity asEMC director; anc

» where one of our officers or directors, who alswae as a director or officer of EMC, learns ofoggmtial transaction or matter that
may be a corporate opportunity for both us and BEM&ny manner not addressed in the foregoing dasmns, such director or
officer will have no duty to communicate or pres#att corporate opportunity to us and will not iadle to us or our stockholders for
breach of fiduciary duty by reason of the fact tBBtC pursues or acquires that corporate opportdaitytself.

The foregoing limitation of liability provisions @amot intended to be an allocation of corporateoopities between us and EMC.

For purposes of our certificate of incorporatiocprporate opportunities” are limited to businesparfunities permitted by the provisions
related to our technology and product developmedtraarketing activities and, subject to this lifiga, include business opportunities which
we are financially able to undertake, which arepfitheir nature, in our line of business, are acfical advantage to us and are ones in which
we have an interest or a reasonable expectancyinamcich, by embracing the opportunities, the getérest of EMC or its officers or directc
will be brought into conflict with our self-interes
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The corporate opportunity provisions in our cectife of incorporation will continue in effect urttile later of (1) EMC or its successor-in-
interest ceasing to beneficially own 20% or moréhef outstanding shares of our common stock anth€glate upon which no VMware offic
or director is also an officer or director of EMCits successor-in-interest. The vote of at |e@8 ®f the votes entitled to be cast will be
required to amend, alter, change or repeal theotatp opportunity provisions.

By becoming a stockholder in our company, you bélldeemed to have notice of and have consentée farovisions of our certificate
incorporation related to corporate opportunities tire described above.

Limitation of Liability and Indemnification Matters

Section 145 of the Delaware General Corporation peavides that a corporation may indemnify direstand officers, as well as other
employees and individuals, against expenses, imguattorneys’ fees, judgments, fines and amouaid im settlement, that are incurred in
connection with various actions, suits or procegslinvhether civil, criminal, administrative or irstggative other than an action by or in the
right of the corporation, known as a derivativaagtif they acted in good faith and in a manneytheasonably believed to be in or not
opposed to the best interests of the corporatiosh, &ith respect to any criminal action or proceedif they had no reasonable cause to bel
their conduct was unlawful. A similar standard pplicable in the case of derivative actions, exd¢bat indemnification only extends to
expenses, including attorneys’ fees, incurred meation with the defense or settlement of sucioast and the statute requires court approval
before there can be any indemnification if the perseeking indemnification has been found liablthéocorporation. The statute provides that
it is not excluding other indemnification that mag granted by a corporation’s bylaws, disinteresdlieettor vote, stockholder vote, agreement
or otherwise.

Our certificate of incorporation provides that epelnson who was or is made a party or is threatembd made a party to or is involved
in any action, suit or proceeding, whether civilirenal, administrative or investigative, by reasufrthe fact that such person, or a person of
whom such person is the legal representative, igagra director or officer of us, or has or hadceagrto become a director of us, or, while a
director or officer of us, is or was serving at oequest as a director, officer, employee or agéanother corporation or of a partnership, joint
venture, trust, enterprise or nonprofit entity liming service with respect to employee benefitplavhether the basis of such proceeding i
alleged action of such person in an official cafyaas a director, officer, employee or agent canily other capacity while serving as a director,
officer, employee or agent, will be indemnified dreld harmless by us to the fullest extent autlearizy the Delaware General Corporation
Law against all expense, liability and loss suffiea@d expenses (including attorneys’ fees) readpmaturred by such person in connection
therewith. Our certificate of incorporation als@yides that we will pay the expenses incurred iieniding any such proceeding in advance of
its final disposition, subject to the provisionstieé Delaware General Corporation Law. These righgsnot exclusive of any other right that
person may have or acquire under any statute, goovof our certificate of incorporation, bylaw ragment, vote of stockholders or
disinterested directors or otherwise. No repeahodification of these provisions will in any wayndnish or adversely affect the rights of any
director, officer, employee or agent of us underaartificate of incorporation in respect of anycorence or matter arising prior to any such
repeal or modification. Our certificate of incorption also specifically authorizes us to maintasurance and to grant similar indemnification
rights to our employees or agents.

Our certificate of incorporation provides that nafeur directors will be personally liable to usaur stockholders for monetary dama
for breach of fiduciary duty as a director, excépthe extent required by the Delaware Generap@mation Law, for liability:

» for any breach of the direc’s duty of loyalty to us or our stockholde
« for acts or omissions not in good faith or whickdlve intentional misconduct or a knowing violatiohlaw;

123



Table of Contents

» for payments of unlawful dividends or unlawful dtqmurchases or redemptions under Section 174 dD#iaware Gener:
Corporation Law; o

« for any transaction from which the director deriadimproper personal bene

Neither the amendment nor repeal of this provisiiiheliminate or reduce the effect of the provisim respect to any matter occurring
any cause of action, suit or claim that, but fa piovision, would accrue or arise, prior to theeadment or repeal of this provision.

The master transaction agreement also providdademnification by us of EMC and its directors,icéi's and employees for specified
liabilities, including liabilities under the Sectieis Act and the Exchange Act.

In addition, EMC maintains liability insurance fit directors and officers and for the directord afficers of its majority-owned
subsidiaries, including us. This insurance provigesoverage, subject to certain exceptions, agdss from claims made against directors
and officers in their capacity as such, includifajras under the federal securities laws. We hase abtained additional liability insurance for
our directors and officers to reduce the deductilalgable under the policy maintained by EMC.

Stock Exchange Listing Symbol
Our Class A common stock has been approved fandistn the New York Stock Exchange under the syrismw.”

Transfer Agent and Registrar
The transfer agent and registrar for our Class #roon stock is American Stock Transfer & Trust Compa
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SHARES ELIGIBLE FOR FUTURE SALE

Prior to this offering, there has been no markesfares of our common stock. Future sales of anbat amounts of shares of our
common stock in the public market could adverségcaprevailing market prices. Furthermore, sinody a limited number of shares will be
available for sale shortly after this offering besa of contractual and legal restrictions on resakes of substantial amounts of our shares of
our common stock in the public market after thérietons lapse, could adversely affect prevailngrket prices and our ability to raise equity
capital in the future.

Upon completion of this offering, EMC will own 3380,000 shares of our common stock, which will espnt approximately 89% of
total outstanding shares of our common stock (88%ei underwriters’ over-allotment option is exeed in full). In addition, we have reserved
35,799,411 shares of our Class A common stock lidsugon the exercise of stock option awards, stiltgevesting, and 452,676 shares of our
Class A common stock issuable upon the vestingsificted stock units, which were granted in Jurge July 2007 with an exercise price of
$23.00 per share. Also, based on the assumptiofisriein the “The Offering,” we will have reseashares of our Class A common stock
issuable either upon the exercise of stock optiwards, subject to vesting, or as restricted stogkrds, subject to the lapsing of restrictions, in
each case for issuance to employees in connectitrttve exchange offer.

Subject to certain exceptions set forth in “Undéting,” we, our directors and executive officerdl€ and Intel Capital also have agreed
not to offer, sell, contract to sell, pledge oresthise dispose (including by effective economigdgstion) of, or establish or increase a put
equivalent position or liquidate or decrease aegllivalent position within the meaning of Sectighof the Exchange Act in respect of, any
shares of our common stock or any securities caitleinto, or exercisable or exchangeable foryaf@f our common stock, or publicly
announce an intention to effect any such transactor a period of 180 days from the date of thisspectus without the prior written consent
of Citi, JPMorgan and Lehman Brothers. Citi, JPMor@nd Lehman Brothers in their sole discretion netgase any of the securities subje
these lock-up agreements at any time without nolicaddition, we have agreed with the underwritaeg we will require, as a condition to
participating in the exchange offer, participatérgployees who receive options to purchase our @Glassnmon stock and restricted stock
awards of our Class A common stock in the exchaoggree to the foregoing lock-up restrictions,jsatto certain exceptions, for a period of
180 days from the date of this prospectus. We raase the securities subject to these lock-upatgets only with the prior written consent
of Citi, JPMorgan and Lehman Brothers in their stikeretion. Such release may occur at any timenatiebut notice. See “Underwriting.”

As a result, in addition to the shares being solithis offering, which may be sold immediately (eptto the extent held by our affiliates,
as described below), after this lock-up periodysth@f common stock held by EMC, shares of oursClasommon stock issued in connection
with the Intel investment, shares of our Class fgomn stock issued upon the exercise of then owstgroptions and shares of restricted
Class A common stock will be eligible for sale, gaibto the volume, manner of sale and other litinites of Rule 144 and subject to any
vesting requirements in respect of stock optiortsthr lapsing of any restrictions on restrictedsba

In general, under Rule 144 as currently in effagierson (or persons whose shares are aggregdtedjas beneficially owned restricted
securities for at least one year is entitled tbwithin any three-month period a number of shdhas does not exceed the greater of:

» one percent of our then outstanding shares of Glassmmon stock (750,000 shares immediately afftisrdffering and the closing
the Intel investment); ¢

» the average weekly trading volume of shares ofconmmon stock on the New York Stock Exchange dufiegfour calendar weeks
preceding the date on which notice of the saléddd fvith the Securities and Exchange Commiss

125



Table of Contents

Sales under Rule 144 also are subject to manrsalefprovisions, notice requirements and the aviditiaof current public information
about us. Under Rule 144(k), a person who is netrl to have been one of our affiliates at any tioméng the three months preceding a sale,
and who has beneficially owned the shares proptusbd sold for at least two years, is entitledeth such shares without complying with the
manner of sale, public information, volume limitatj or notice provisions of Rule 144. To the extbiat shares were acquired from one of our
affiliates, such person’s holding period for purp@sf effecting a sale under Rule 144 commencebleodate of transfer from the affiliate.
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UNITED STATES FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS
FOR NON-UNITED STATES STOCKHOLDERS

The following is a general discussion of the apatéd material U.S. federal income and estatedazerjuences relating to the ownership
and disposition of our Class A common stock by hlmited States holders, as defined below, who pweloar Class A common stock in this
offering and hold such Class A common stock astabpssets. This discussion is based on currexigfieg provisions of the Code, existing
and proposed Treasury regulations promulgated uheler, and administrative and judicial interpretatihereof, all as in effect or proposed on
the date hereof and all of which are subject tanghapossibly with retroactive effect or differémierpretations. This discussion does not
address all the tax consequences that may be melevapecific holders in light of their particuleircumstances or to holders subject to special
treatment under U.S. federal income or estateaas (such as financial institutions, insurance camigs, tax-exempt organizations, retirement
plans, partnerships and their partners, other thassigh entities and their members, dealers inrgéxs) brokers, U.S. expatriates, holders
whose “functional” currency is not the U.S. doltarpersons who have acquired our Class A commak st® part of a straddle, hedge,
conversion transaction, synthetic security or othtrgrated investment). This discussion does ddtess the U.S. state and local or non-U.S.
tax consequences relating to the ownership anasiispn of our Class A common stock.

YOU ARE URGED TO CONSULT YOUR OWN TAX ADVISOR REGAR DING THE U.S. FEDERAL TAX CONSEQUENCES
OF OWNING AND DISPOSING OF OUR CLASS A COMMON STOCK, AS WELL AS THE APPLICABILITY AND EFFECT OF
ANY STATE, LOCAL OR FOREIGN TAX LAWS.

As used in this discussion, the term “non-Uniteaké&X holder” refers to a beneficial owner of oumsSIA common stock that for U.S.
federal income tax purposes is not:

() an individual who is a citizen or resident b&tUnited States;

(i) a corporation (or other entity taxable as goowation) created or organized in or under theslaivthe United States or any state
or political subdivision thereof or therein, incing the District of Columbia;

(iii) an estate the income of which is subject t& | federal income tax regardless of source thpogof

(iv) a trust (a) with respect to which a court viitthe United States is able to exercise primapesuision over its administration
and one or more United States persons have theréytto control all its substantial decisions,(b) that has in effect a valid election
under applicable U.S. Treasury Regulations totb&téd as a United States person.

An individual may, in many cases, be treated asa&lent of the United States in any calendar yaadfS. federal income tax purposes,
rather than a nonresident, by, among other waysglgesent in the United States on at least 3% dathat calendar year and for an aggregate
of at least 183 days during the three-year penwting in that calendar year (counting for such psgs all the days present in the current year,
one-third of the days present in the immediategcpding year and one-sixth of the days presemigiseécond preceding year). Residents are
subject to U.S. federal income tax as if they weér®. citizens.

If a partnership or other entity or arrangemerdterd as a partnership for U.S. federal income tapgses holds Class A common stock,
the tax treatment of a partner will generally depapon the status of the partner and the activitiehe partnership. If you are a partner of a
partnership holding Class A common stock, we u@etp consult your own tax advisor.

Dividends

We or a withholding agent will have to withhold Uf8deral withholding tax from the gross amoun&ny dividends paid to a ndonited
States holder at a rate of 30%, unless (i) an egiple income tax treaty reduces
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or eliminates such tax, and a non-United Stateddnallaiming the benefit of such treaty providesismr such agent proper Internal Revenue
Service, or IRS, documentation or (ii) the dividerde effectively connected with a non-United Stéielder’'s conduct of a trade or business in
the United States, or where a treaty provides ifidehds are attributable to a U.S. permanent éstabent of such non-United States holder,
and the non-United States holder provides to wsioh agent proper IRS documentation. In the latiee, such non-United States holder
generally will be subject to U.S. federal income tath respect to such dividends in the same maaser U.S. citizen or corporation, as
applicable, unless otherwise provided in an apple&acome tax treaty. Additionally, a non-Unitethtes holder that is a corporation could be
subject to a branch profits tax on effectively cected dividend income at a rate of 30% (or at aced rate under an applicable income tax
treaty). If a non-United States holder is eligifdea reduced rate of U.S. federal withholding paxsuant to an income tax treaty, such non-
United States holder may obtain a refund of anygsg@mount withheld by timely filing an appropriak&im for refund with the IRS.

Sale, Exchange or Other Disposition

Generally, a non-United States holder will not bbjsct to U.S. federal income tax on gain realigpdn the sale, exchange or other
disposition of our Class A common stock unlessygh non-United States holder is an individual @nég the United States for 183 days or
more in the taxable year of the sale, exchangehar alisposition and certain other conditions aeg, rtii) the gain is effectively connected with
such non-United States holder’s conduct of a tadsusiness in the United States, or where a &atytrprovides, the gain is attributable to a
U.S. permanent establishment of such non-UniteteSteolder, or (iii) we are or have been a “U.8l peoperty holding corporation” for U.S.
federal income tax purposes at any time duringstieeter of the five-year period preceding such,satehange or other disposition or the
period that such non-United States holder held@ass A common stock.

We do not believe that we have been, are currentiyre likely to be a U.S. real property holdingparation for U.S. federal income tax
purposes. If we were to become a U.S. real progeniying corporation, so long as our common stgalegularly traded on an established
securities market and continue to be traded, aUnited States holder would be subject to U.S. faldecome tax on any gain from the sale,
exchange or other disposition of Class A commounkstmly if such non-United States holder actualgonstructively owned more than 5% of
our Class A common stock during the shorter offieyear period preceding such sale, exchangéhmralisposition or the period that such
non-United States holder held our Class A commookst

Special rules may apply to non-United States heldgrch as controlled foreign corporations, padsiregn investment companies and
corporations that accumulate earnings to avoidréddiecome tax, that are subject to special treatmader the Code. These entities should
consult their own tax advisors to determine the. fe8eral, state, local and other tax consequethegsnay be relevant to them.

Federal Estate Tax

Common stock owned or treated as owned by an ihg@@liwho is a non-United States holder at the tifrieis or her death generally will
be included in the individual’'s gross estate fos Lfederal estate tax purposes and may be subjettt federal estate tax unless an applicable
estate tax treaty provides otherwise.

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding Tax

Information reporting may apply to payments mada tmnUnited States holder on or with respect to our €lagommon stock. Backt
withholding tax (at the then applicable rate) mkspapply to payments made to a non-United Statkehon or with respect to our Class A
common stock, unless the non-United States holelgifies as to it status as a non-United Stateddrainder penalties of perjury or otherwise
establishes an exemption, and certain other camditare satisfied. Backup withholding is not anitimital tax. Any amounts withheld under
the backup withholding rules from a payment to a-bmited States holder will be allowed as a refond credit against such ndmited State
holder’s U.S. federal income tax liability, provitithat the required information is timely furnishedhe IRS.
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UNDERWRITING

Citigroup Global Markets Inc., J.P. Morgan Secastinc. and Lehman Brothers Inc. are acting aseihieesentatives of the underwriters
named below and, together with Credit Suisse SeesiUSA) LLC, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Stmilncorporated and Deutsche Bank
Securities Inc., are acting as joint book-runnirgnagers of this offering. Subject to the terms @mtlitions stated in the underwriting
agreement dated the date of this prospectus, eatdrwriter named below has agreed to purchasewarthve agreed to sell to that
underwriter, the number of shares of Class A comstook set forth opposite the underwriter’s name.

Number
Underwriter of shares

Citigroup Global Markets Inc

J.P. Morgan Securities In

Lehman Brothers In¢

Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LL

Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith
Incorporatec

Deutsche Bank Securities Ir

Banc of America Securities LL

Bear, Stearns & Co. In

UBS Securities LLC

Wachovia Capital Markets, LL:

A.G. Edwards & Sons, In

HSBC Securities (USA) Inc

Total

The underwriting agreement provides that the olibga of the underwriters to purchase the shardaded in this offering are subject to
approval of legal matters by counsel and to otbbeddions. The underwriters are obligated to pusehall of the shares (other than those
covered by the over-allotment option described Wwgibthey purchase any of the shares.

The underwriters propose to offer some of the shdirectly to the public at the public offeringgeiset forth on the cover page of this
prospectus and some of the shares to dealers ptiltlie offering price less a concession not toeext$ per share. The underwriters
may allow, and dealers may reallow, a concessiononexceed $ per share on sales teratbalers. If all of the shares are not solde
initial offering price, the representatives may rofpa the public offering price and the other sell@gns. The representatives have advised us
that the underwriters do not intend sales to digmmary accounts to exceed five percent of thd tmianber of shares of our Class A common
stock offered by them.

We have granted to the underwriters an option,csaile for 30 days from the date of this prospgdiu purchase up to 4,950,000
additional shares of Class A common stock at th@ipoffering price less the underwriting discouhhe underwriters may exercise the option
solely for the purpose of covering over-allotmeiftany, in connection with this offering. To thgtent the option is exercised, each
underwriter must purchase a number of additionateshapproximately proportionate to that underwstiaitial purchase commitment.

We, our directors and executive officers, EMC amell Capital have agreed that, for a period of d&8@s from the date of this prospeci
we and they will not, without the prior written @t of Citi, JPMorgan and Lehman Brothers, offeli, contract to sell, pledge or otherwise
dispose (including by effective economic disposi}iof, or establish or increase a put equivalesitim or liquidate or decrease a call
equivalent position within the meaning of Secti@cf the Exchange Act in respect of, any sharesiofcommon stock or any securities
convertible into, or exercisable or exchangeabiedioares of our common stock, or publicly annowrténtention to effect any such
transaction. The foregoing agreement does not apgly) the shares of Class A
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common stock to be sold in this offering; (b) thimd of any registration statement on Form S-84kyin respect of the Class A common stock
or securities convertible into, or exercisable xxtengeable for, the Class A common stock; (c)reffeales, contracts to sell, the issuance of or
the registration of Class A common stock or se@sritonvertible into, or exercisable or exchangeédn, the Class A common stock pursuant
to an equity-based compensation plan of ours iecetit the time of the offering; (d) offers, salemntracts to sell, the issuance of or the
registration of Class A common stock by us as d®raition for one or more acquisitions, provided tfjahe acquirer of such Class A comn
stock agrees to be subject to a lock-up agreemehtisame form as agreed to by us, and (ii) theeggte number of shares of Class A
common stock issued or agreed to be issued by alssnch acquisitions (measured as of the datkeo&pplicable acquisition agreement) does
not exceed 19 million shares of Class A commonkstoc(e) transfers of Class A common stock or sées convertible into, or exercisable or
exchangeable for, Class A common stock by any pestiter than EMC or us by gift, donation to a cfadnie organization or transfer to a trust
for the benefit of the transferring person or higriediate family, provided the recipient in eachecagrees to be bound by the terms of the lock:
up in the same form as agreed to by the transfep@rson, or transfers by will or the laws of des@nd distribution. Citi, JPMorgan and
Lehman Brothers, in their sole discretion, mayaséeany of the securities subject to these lockgupements at any time without notice. In
addition, we have agreed with the underwriters weatvill require, as a condition to participatimgthe exchange offer, participating employ
who receive options to purchase our Class A comshock and restricted stock awards of our Classrrnon stock in the exchange to agree
to the foregoing lock-up restrictions, subjecthie foregoing exceptions, for a period of 180 dagmfthe date of this prospectus. We may
release the securities subject to these lock-upeagents only with the prior written consent of ClIfMorgan and Lehman Brothers in their
sole discretion. Such release may occur at any d@imgewithout notice.

The 180-day lock-up period described in the prawggaragraph will be automatically extended if: dijing the last 17 days of the 180-
day period we issue an earnings release or anngnat®ial news or a material event relating to eucs; or (2) prior to the expiration of the
180-day period, we announce that we will releasriegs results during the 16-day period followihg tast day of the 180-day period, in
which case the restrictions described in the priegggaragraph will continue to apply until the exgpion of the 18-day period beginning on the
issuance of the earnings release or the annountehtre material news or event, unless Citi, JRjdorand Lehman Brothers waive this
extension in their sole discretion.

In relation to each member state of the Europeam&muic Area that has implemented the Prospectieciie (each, a relevant member
state), with effect from and including the datevdrich the Prospectus Directive is implemented at televant member state (the relevant
implementation date), an offer of the shares desdrin this prospectus may not be made to the pibthat relevant member state prior to the
publication of a prospectus in relation to the shahat has been approved by the competent aytiothat relevant member state or, where
appropriate, approved in another relevant memiage sind notified to the competent authority in tetdvant member state, all in accordance
with the Prospectus Directive, except that, witfleetffrom and including the relevant implementatitate, an offer of securities may be offered
to the public in that relevant member state attang:

» to any legal entity that is authorized or reguldtedperate in the financial markets or, if notswhorized or regulated, who
corporate purpose is solely to invest in securite:

» to any legal entity that has two or more of (1)parrage of at least 250 employees during theilzestial year; (2) a total balan
sheet of more than €43,000,000; and (3) an anratabmover of more than €50,000,000, as showtsilast annual or consolidated
accounts; o

* in any other circumstances that do not requiretii@ication of a prospectus pursuant to Articlef $he Prospectus Directiv
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Each purchaser of shares described in this praspémtated within a relevant member state will berded to have represented,
acknowledged and agreed that it is a “qualifiecester” within the meaning of Article 2(1)(e) of tReospectus Directive.

For purposes of this provision, the expressionddfef to the public” in any relevant member stateams the communication in any form
and by any means of sufficient information on therts of the offer and the securities to be offe®as to enable an investor to decide to
purchase or subscribe the securities, as the esipresiay be varied in that member state by any nreasiplementing the Prospectus Direc
in that member state, and the expression “Prospé&itective” means Directive 2003/71/EC and incliday relevant implementing measure
in each relevant member state. This EEA sellingicti®n is in addition to any other selling restidns set out below.

The sellers of the shares have not authorized ambtlauthorize the making of any offer of shalesugh any financial intermediary on
their behalf, other than offers made by the undiéeva with a view to the final placement of the i@saas contemplated in this prospectus.
Accordingly, no purchaser of the shares, other tharunderwriters, is authorized to make any furtiter of the shares on behalf of the
underwriters.

This prospectus is only being distributed to, andrily directed at, persons in the United Kingdbat &aire qualified investors within the
meaning of Article 2(1)(e) of the Prospectus Direethat are also (i) investment professionalsrfglivithin Article 19(5) of the Financial
Services and Markets Act 2000 (Financial Promotiorder 2005 (the “Orderdr (ii) high net worth entities, and other perstms/hom it may
lawfully be communicated, falling within Article 4®)(a) to (d) of the Order (all such persons togetheing referred to as “relevant persons”).
This prospectus and its contents are confidentidlshould not be distributed, published or repredu@n whole or in part) or disclosed by
recipients to any other persons in the United KorgdAny person in the United Kingdom that is neekevant person should not act or rely on
this document or any of its contents.

Neither this prospectus nor any other offering makeelating to the shares described in this peasys has been submitted to the
clearance procedures of tAatorité des Marchés Financieos by the competent authority of another membeesibithe European Economic
Area and notified to th&utorité des Marchés FinancierShe shares have not been offered or sold and wiilbe offered or sold, directly or
indirectly, to the public in France. Neither thi®gpectus nor any other offering material relatmghe shares has been or will be:

» released, issued, distributed or caused to besetdedssued or distributed to the public in Framc
» used in connection with any offer for subscriptmrsale of the shares to the public in Fral

Such offers, sales and distributions will be madEriance only:

« to qualified investors investisseurs qualifi€) and/or to a restricted circle of investoicercle restreint 'investisseur), in each cas
investing for their own account, all as definedand in accordance with, Article L.411-2, D.41121411-2, D.734-1, D.744-1,
D.754-1 and D.76-1 of the FrenclCode monétaire et financis;

» to investment services providers authorized to gaga portfolio management on behalf of third pestior

e in atransaction that, in accordance with artickll1-2-11-1°-or-2°-or 3° of the FrendBode monétaire et financiand article 211-2
of the General RegulationsRgglement Généralof theAutorité des Marchés Financiersloes not constitute a public offeaijpel
public & 'épargne).

The shares may be resold directly or indirectlyly @m compliance with Articles L.411-1, L.411-2,412-1 and L.621-8 through L.621-8-3 of
the FrenchCode monétaire et financier
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The offering of the shares has not been clearatiditalian Securities Exchange Commissi@ommissione Nazionale per le Societa e
la Borsa, the “CONSOB”) pursuant to Italian securities Bgtion and, accordingly, the shares may not afichei be offered, sold or
delivered, nor may or will copies of this prospectu any other documents relating to the shareidbebuted in Italy, except (i) to professiol
investors (Operatori qualificati), as defined in Article 31, second paragraph, ONSOB Regulation No. 11522 of July 1, 1998, as atedn
(the “Regulation No. 11522") or (ii) in other cintistances which are exempted from the rules onitdilan of investments pursuant to Article
100 of Legislative Decree No. 58 of February 288 &he “Financial Service Act”) and Article 33¢di paragraph, of CONSOB Regulation
No. 11971 of May 14, 1999, as amenc

Any offer, sale or delivery of the shares or dmition of copies of this prospectus or any otheutieent relating to the shares in Italy
may and will be effected in accordance with allidta securities, tax, exchange control and otheliegble laws and regulations, and, in
particular, will be: (i) made by an investment firbank or financial intermediary permitted to coaidsuch activities in Italy in accordance w
the Financial Services Act, Legislative Decree B®b of September 1, 1993, as amended (the “It&Blanking Law”), Regulation No. 11522,
and any other applicable laws and regulationsjr(igompliance with Article 129 of the Italian Bang Law and the implementing guidelines
the Bank of Italy; and (iii) in compliance with anyher applicable notification requirement or liatibn which may be imposed by CONSOE
the Bank of Italy.

Any investor purchasing the shares in the offeringplely responsible for ensuring that any offeresale of the shares it purchased ir
offering occurs in compliance with applicable laavgl regulations.

This prospectus and the information contained heaes intended only for the use of its recipierd,amless in circumstances which are
exempted from the rules on solicitation of investisgoursuant to Article 100 of the “Financial SeevAct” and Article 33, first paragraph, of
CONSOB Regulation No. 11971 of May 14, 1999, asrated, is not to be distributed, for any reasomny third party resident or located in
Italy. No person resident or located in Italy ottiean the original recipients of this document mely on it or its content.

Italy has only partially implemented the Prospedirective, the provisions under the heading “Ew@p Economic Area” above shall
apply with respect to Italy only to the extent thia relevant provisions of the Prospectus Direchigve already been implemented in Italy.

Insofar as the requirements above are based ortleatvare superseded at any time pursuant to thkeinentation of the Prospectus
Directive, such requirements shall be replacechkyapplicable requirements under the relevant imefging measure of the Prospectus
Directive.

Prior to this offering, there has been no publicketfor our Class A common stock. Consequently itiitial public offering price for the
shares was determined by negotiations betweenditharrepresentatives. Among the factors considerddtermining the initial public
offering price were our record of operations, aunrent financial condition, our future prospectst markets, the economic conditions in and
future prospects for the industry in which we cotepeur management, and currently prevailing gedmenaditions in the equity securities
markets, including current market valuations of lmlyptraded companies considered comparable tacoorpany. We cannot assure you,
however, that the prices at which the shares willis the public market after this offering wilbhbe lower than the initial public offering pri
or that an active trading market in our commonlsteitl develop and continue after this offering.

Our Class A common stock has been approved fandistin the New York Stock Exchange under the syrfgWw.”
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The following table shows the underwriting discautitat we are to pay to the underwriters in conaeratith this offering. These
amounts are shown assuming both no exercise aneixticise of the underwriters’ over-allotment opti

Paid by VMware

No Exercise Full Exercise
Per shart $ $
Total $ $

In connection with the offering, the underwriteraynpurchase and sell shares of Class A common 8tdble open market. These
transactions may include short sales, syndicatergmy transactions and stabilizing transactiongrS¢ales involve syndicate sales of shares of
our Class A common stock in excess of the numbshafes to be purchased by the underwriters iroffésing, which creates a syndicate sl
position. “Covered” short sales are sales of shav@de in an amount up to the number of sharesgepted by the underwriters’ ovallotment
option. In determining the source of shares toeclmst the covered syndicate short position, theeomdters will consider, among other things,
the price of shares available for purchase in flenanarket as compared to the price at which they parchase shares through the over-
allotment option. Transactions to close out theetett syndicate short positions involve either pasels of the common stock in the open
market after the distribution has been competatdeexercise of the over-allotment option. The uwdi¢éers may also make “naked” short
sales of shares in excess of the over-allotmembropthe underwriters must close out any nakedtgtwsition by purchasing shares of Class A
common stock in the open market. A naked shortiposis more likely to be created if the underwnstare concerned that there may be
downward pressure on the price of the shares iofle@ market after pricing that could adverselgeffnvestors who purchase in this offering.
Stabilizing transactions consist of bids for orghases of shares in the open market while theinffés in progress.

The underwriters also may impose a penalty bidaRgbids permit the underwriters to reclaim aisgliconcession from a syndicate
member when the underwriters repurchase shareisalligsold by that syndicate member in order teercsyndicate short positions or make
stabilizing purchases.

Any of these activities may have the effect of gring or retarding a decline in the market pritthe common stock. They may also
cause the price of the common stock to be higher the price that would otherwise exist in the opemket in the absence of these
transactions. The underwriters may conduct these#ctions on the exchange on which we are listedtbe over-the-counter market, or
otherwise. If the underwriters commence any oféheasnsactions, they may discontinue them at ang.ti

We estimate that our portion of the total expermgehis offering, other than underwriting discountsll be approximately $
million. The underwriters have agreed to reimburséor certain of these expenses up to $190,000.

The underwriters have performed investment ban&imdyadvisory services for EMC from time to time fdrich they have received
customary fees and expenses. The underwriters fnoay time to time in the future, engage in trangad with and perform services for us and
EMC in the ordinary course of their business.

A prospectus in electronic format may be made atsbel by one or more of the underwriters on a webmsgintained by a third-party
vendor or by one or more of the underwriters. Tdmesentatives may agree to allocate a numberoésho underwriters for sale to their
online brokerage account holders. The represeetatiill allocate shares to underwriters that makerlaternet distributions on the same basis
as other allocations. In addition, shares may Iettspthe underwriters to securities dealers wiselteshares to online brokerage account
holders. Other than the prospectus in electromiméd, the information on such website is not p&athe prospectus.

We have agreed to indemnify the underwriters agaigain liabilities, including liabilities undéine Securities Act, or to contribute to
payments the underwriters may be required to makause of any of those liabilities.
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LEGAL MATTERS

Selected legal matters with respect to the validitthe Class A common stock offered by this prospewill be passed upon for us by
Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP, Bostoasbachusetts. The underwriters are representetebyy@ottlieb Steen & Hamilton
LLP.

EXPERTS

The financial statements as of December 31, 20662805, for each of the two years in the periodegindecember 31, 2006 and for the
period from January 9, 2004 to December 31, 20@Auded in this prospectus have been so includeeliemce on the report of
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent regisfarblic accounting firm, given on the authorifysaid firm as experts in auditing and
accounting.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We have filed with the SEC a registration statemuerter the Securities Act with respect to the CRasemmon stock offered by this
prospectus. This prospectus does not contain #fleoinformation set forth in the registration staent and the exhibits and schedules to the
registration statement. Please refer to the registr statement, exhibits and schedules for fuiithfermation with respect to the Class A
common stock offered by this prospectus. Statenwmntined in this prospectus regarding the coastehany contract or other document are
summaries of the terms of such contracts and doctsm@/e encourage you to read the contracts orrdents filed as exhibits to the
registration statement. A copy of the registrastatement and its exhibits and schedules may Ipedtsd without charge at the SEC’s public
reference room, located at 100 F Street, N.E., \idgtdn, D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-8E30 for further information on the
public reference room. Our SEC filings are alsalaisée to the public from the SEC’s website at wagc.gov.

Upon completion of this offering, we will be subjéc the information reporting requirements of 8ecurities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, and we intend to file reports, proxy statgs and other information with the SEC. Theségar reports, proxy statements and of
information will be available for inspection andpgting at the SEC’s public reference room and thbsite of the SEC referred to above.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors blware, Inc.:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated badasheets and the related consolidated statenteintsome, stockholder’s equity
(deficit) and cash flows present fairly, in all maal respects, the financial position of VMwaneg.land its subsidiaries at December 31, 2006
and December 31, 2005, and the results of theiradipas and their cash flows for each of the twargeén the period ended December 31, 2
and for the period from January 9, 2004 to Decer8the2004, in conformity with accounting principlgsnerally accepted in the United States
of America. In addition, in our opinion, the finaalkstatement schedule listed on page F-36 preéaintg in all material respects, the
information set forth therein when read in conjimtiwith the related consolidated financial statateeThese financial statements and
financial statement schedule are the responsilgfithe Company’s management. Our responsibilitg isxpress an opinion on these financial
statements and financial statement schedule basedraaudits. We conducted our audits of thesemstants in accordance with the standards
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Boaraifeld States). Those standards require that wegpldrperform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the finanatehsénts are free of material misstatement. Antautludes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosurtifinancial statements, assessing the accouptingiples used and significant estimates
made by management, and evaluating the overahdinhstatement presentation. We believe that aditaprovide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

As discussed in Note A to the consolidated findrst@tements, the Company changed the manner ichvithiccounts for share-based
compensation in 2006.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Jose, California

April 17, 2007, except for Note A—Revision of Fircaal
Statement Presentation, as to which

the date is July 5, 2007
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VMware, Inc.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

December 31,

March 31,
2007 2006 2005
(unaudited)
ASSETS
Current assett
Cash and cash equivale $ 258,46¢ $ 176,13: $ 38,65:
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtfgloamts of $2,527 (unaudited), $2,139 and
$1,589, respectivel 146,89: 193,71( 96,48
Due from EMC, ne 58,42 2,24t —
Deferred income taxe 34,42« 27,65¢ 20,86
Other current asse 21,39¢ 22,68¢ 5,97:
Total current asse 519,60 422,43: 161,97
Furniture, fixtures and equipment, 1 58,47¢ 48,67¢ 19,34
Other assets, n 50,73! 49,91: 26,09:
Deferred tax asst 17,79 20,93t 6,407
Intangible assets, n 37,23( 43,51t 59,731
Goodwill 560,47¢ 560,48: 526,25:
Total asset $1,244,31°  $1,145,95( $ 799,80:
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDER 'S EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 42,25¢ $ 44227 $ 12,46t
Accrued expense 104,28: 103,32: 42,417
Due to EMC, ne — — 46,40:
Income taxes payable to EMC, current por! 107,49! 87,59¢ 63,27:
Deferred revenue, current porti 262,12( 242,60: 131,61
Total current liabilities 516,15¢ 477,74¢ 296,17.
Note payable to EMC (see Note | 800,00( 800,00( —
Income taxes payable to EMC, net of current por 5,90: 4,52z 1,81(
Deferred revenue, net of current port 78,13 63,917 16,84:
Deferred tax liability 27,61¢ 30,57¢ 31,15(
Commitments (see Note t
Stockholde’'s equity (accumulated deficit
Series preferred stock, par value $.01; authord38j000 share; no shares outstan: — — —
Class A common stock, par value $.01; authoriz6@@000 shares; issued and outstan
32,500 shares at March 31, 2007 (unaudited), DeeeBih 2006 and 20( 32t 32t 32t
Class B convertible common stock, par value $.Qfh@ized 1,000,000 shares; issued anc
outstanding 300,000 shares at March 31, 2007 (uteal)dDecember 31, 2006 and 2( 3,00(¢ 3,00(¢ 3,00(¢
Additional paic-in capital 6,23¢ — 560,64¢
Deferred compensatic — — (110,149
(Accumulated deficit (193,05) (234,13) —
Total stockholde' s equity (deficit) (183,49) (230,81) 453,82¢
Total liabilities and stockhold’s equity (deficit) $1,244,31  $1,145,95( $ 799,80:

The accompanying notes are an integral part o€dmsolidated financial statements.
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VMware, Inc.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

For the

Three Months

For the Year
Ended

For the Period from

Ended March 31, December 31, January 9, 2004 to
December 31,
2007 2006 2006 2005 2004
(unaudited)
Revenues
License $169,55 $ 90,30( $491,90: $287,00t $ 178,87:
Services 89,13¢ 38,77: 212,00: 100,06¢ 39,88:
258,69! 129,07 703,90: 387,07: 218,75t
Costs of revenue
Cost of license revenu 20,55¢ 12,40¢ 59,20: 40,34( 32,81:
Cost of services revenu 23,46¢ 9,59¢ 64,18( 24,85 12,62¢
44,02¢ 22,00« 123,38: 65,19: 45,43¢
Gross profit 214,67: 107,07: 580,52 321,88: 173,32(
Operating expense
Research and developme 54,95¢ 22,33¢ 148,25 72,56 43,90(
Sales and marketir 86,70" 42,56¢ 238,32 124,96 59,97¢
General and administrati\ 26,62 11,847 69,60: 30,76: 19,037
In-process research and developn — — 3,70( — 15,20(
Operating incom: 46,38: 30,32t 120,63¢ 93,59t 35,207
Investment incom 2,971 34C 3,271 3,077 53
Other income (expense), r 59 (34¢) (1,369 (1,332 (110)
Income before taxe 49,41¢ 30,317 122,54 95,34( 35,15(
Income tax provisiol 8,33¢ 9,981 36,83 28,56¢ 18,36¢
Income before cumulative effect of a change in antiag principle 41,08( 20,33¢ 85,71°* 66,77¢ 16,78:
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting pritesipet of tax of $0, $108, $108, $0 and — 17¢ 17¢ — —
Net income $ 41,08( $ 20,51: $ 85,89( $ 66,77¢ $ 16,78
Net income per weighted average share, basic fissCA and Class B (amounts for Class A and Cl:
shares are the same under the-class method. See note /
Income per share before cumulative effect of a gaan accounting principl $ 0.1z $ 0.0€ $ 0.2€ $ 0.2C $ 0.0t
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting pritec — — — — —
Net income per shai $ 0.1z $ 0.0€ $ 0.2€ $ 0.2 $ 0.0f
Net income per weighted average share, dilute€fass A and Class B (amounts for Class A and (
B shares are the same under the-class method. See note /
Income per share before cumulative effect of a ghan accounting principl $ 0.1z $ 0.0€ $ 0.2€ $ 0.2C $ 0.0t
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting pritec — — — — —
Net income per shai $ 0.1z $ 0.0€ $ 0.2¢ $ 0.2C $ 0.0t
Weighted average shares, basic and diluted forsGleend Class | 332,50( 332,50( 332,50( 332,50( 332,50(
Unaudited pro forma net income per weighted aveshgee, basic for Class A and Class B (amoun’
Class A and Class B shares are the same undevd-class method. See note /
Income per share before cumulative effect of a ghan accounting principle for Class A and Clas $ 011 $ 024
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting pritecipr Class A and Class — —
Unaudited pro forma net income per share for CAaasd Class E $ 011 $ 024
Unaudited pro forma net income per weighted avesigee, diluted for Class A and Class B (amounts
for Class A and Class B shares are the same umeléwt-class method. See note /
Income per share before cumulative effect of a ghan accounting principle for Class A and Clas $ 011 $ 024
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting prilecipr Class A and Class — —
Unaudited pro forma net income per share for CAaasd Class E $ 011 $ 024
Unaudited pro forma weighted average shares, basidliluted for Class A and Class 363,36t 363,36t

The accompanying notes are an integral part o€dmsolidated financial statements.
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VMware, Inc.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

For the Three Months
Ended March 31,

For the Year Ended
December 31,

2007 2006 2006
(unaudited)
Operating activities:
Net income $ 41,08( $ 20,51: $ 85,89(
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
provided by operating activitie
Cumulative effect of a change in account
principle — (a7%) (17%)
Depreciation and amortizatic 21,197 12,56¢ 66,57
In-process research and developn — — 3,70(
Stoclk-based compensatic 11,64« 6,46¢ 51,22¢
Provision for doubtful accoun 457 31€ 763
Loss on disposal of fixed ass! 10€ 122 4,48¢
Changes in assets and liabilities, ne
acquisitions
Accounts receivabl 46,36 13,87¢ (97,999
Other asset (60€) (1,019 (9,07¢)
Due to (from) EMC (56,179 5,80¢ (48,369
Accounts payabl (1,96%) 3,51¢ 31,76
Accrued expense 96( (1,469 60,90¢
Income taxes payable to EN 14,69¢ 5,52 (6,00€)
Deferred income taxes, r (6,597 3,721 (21,889
Deferred revenu 33,74( 29,85« 158,05¢
Other liabilities — — —
Net cash provided by operating activit 104,89¢ 99,62¢ 279,86:
Investing activities:
Additions to furniture, fixtures and equipme (16,589 (10,440 (52,579
Capitalized software development cc (6,672) (12,342 (32,529
Business acquisitions, net of cash acqu 4 27 (46,54))
Decrease (increase) in restricted c 68¢ 172 (10,749
Net cash used in investing activiti (22,569 (22,58 (142,38))
Financing activities:
Dividends paid to EM( — — —
Net cash used in financing activiti — — —
Net increase in cash and cash equival 82,33« 77,04: 137,48
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the ¢ 176,13: 38,65! 38,65!
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the pi $258,46¢ $115,69¢ $176,13:
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow informatiol
Cash paid for intere: $ — $ — $ 481
Cash paid for taxe $ 254 $ 6 $ 64,07
Non-cash items:
Dividend declared in the form of a note payabl&kC
(see Note M $ — $ — $ 800,00(
Fair value of EMC stock options issued in acquosi $ — $ — $ 68¢

For the Period from

January 9, 2004 to

2005 December 31, 2004
$ 66,77¢ $ 16,78!
39,46! 30,18¢
— 15,20(
27,07: 19,54:
20z 1,22¢
(51,967 (28,106
(2,120 (71€)
29,25; 17,15!
7,751 (2,550
20,90¢ 6,231
44,06: 10,94:
(22,689 7,01¢
79,53¢ 4,75¢€
= (3,670
238,24° 93,99¢
(20,652) (5,987)
(21,55¢) (8,155)
(2,167) —
(1,28() 17¢
(45,65%) (13,967
(190,000 (92,92()
(190,000 (92,920)
2,59¢ (12,889
36,05¢ 48,94¢
$ 38,65: $ 36,05¢
$ 51z $ —
$ 7,121 $ 412
$ — $ —
$ — $ —

The accompanying notes are an integral part o€timsolidated financial statements.
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VMware, Inc.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDER'S EQUITY (DE FICIT)
(in thousands)

Class A Common Class B Convertible Additional (Accumulated  Stockholder's
Stock Common Stock Paid-in Deferred Equity
Shares  Par Value Shares Par Value Capital Compensatior Deficit) (Deficit)
Acquisition and capitalization of VMwar
Inc. 32,50C $ 32t 300,00 $ 3,00 $657,080 $ (47,300 $ — $ 613,11
Grants of EMC restricted stock, net of
cancellations and withholding — — — — 9,11¢ (9,119 — —
Amortization of deferred compensati — — — — — 19,54: — 19,54
Benefit from tax sharing arrangeme¢
(see Note A — — — — 3,76¢ — — 3,76¢
Dividends declare — — — — (76,139 — (16,78 (92,92()
Net income — — — — — — 16,78 16,78!
Balance, December 31, 20 32,50( 325 300,00( 3,00( 593,83« (36,876 — 560,28
Grants of EMC restricted stock, net
cancellations and withholding — — — — 103,88! (103,88Y — —
Amortization of deferred compensati — — — — — 30,61¢ — 30,61¢
Charge from tax sharing arrangem
(see Note A — — — — (13,844 — — (13,844
Dividends declare — — — — (123,229 — (66,775 (290,000
Net income — — — — — — 66,77t 66,77¢
Balance, December 31, 20 32,50( 325 300,00( 3,00( 560,64¢ (110,149 — 453,82¢
Cumulative effect of change
accounting principle (see Note — — — — 1,06( — — 1,06(
EMC stock options issued
acquisitions — — — — 68¢ — — 68¢
Charge from tax sharing arrangement
(see Note A — — — — (32,28¢) — — (32,28¢)
Stoclk-based compensation expel — — — — 60,00¢ — — 60,00¢
Reclassification of deferred
compensatiol — — — — (110,149 110,14! — —
Dividends declared (see Note | — — — — (479,97 — (320,02) (800,000
Net income — — — — — — 85,89( 85,89(
Balance, December 31, 20 32,50( 325 300,00( 3,00( — — (234,13) (230,817
Charge from tax sharing arrangem
(see Note A) (unauditec — — — — (6,589 — — (6,587
Stock-based compensation expense
(unaudited — — — — 12,82: — — 12,82:
Net income (unauditec — — — — — — 41,08( 41,08(
Balance, March 31, 2007 (unaudite 32,50 $ 32t 300,00 $ 3,000 $ 6,23¢ $ —  $(193,05) $(183,49)

The accompanying notes are an integral part o€dmsolidated financial statements.
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VMWARE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A. The Company and Summary of Significant Accountig Policies
Background

VMware, Inc. (“VMware” or the “Company”) is the ldiag provider of virtualization solutions. VMwarevrtualization solutions
represent a pioneering approach to computing gzrates the operating system and application acétivom the underlying hardware to
achieve significant improvements in efficiency, iadaility, flexibility and manageability. VMware’broad and proven suite of virtualization
solutions addresses a range of complex IT probteatinclude infrastructure optimization, busineestinuity, software lifecycle management
and desktop management.

On January 9, 2004, EMC Corporation (“EMC”) acqdiedl the outstanding capital stock of VMware. Euoguisition was accounted for
as a purchase. Accordingly, all assets and ligdslivere adjusted to their fair market value. Foaricial statement purposes, the allocation of
the purchase price paid by EMC for VMware has heflected in VMware's stand-alone financial statetse

The purchase price paid by EMC, net of cash redeiwas $613.1 million, which consisted of $539.4liori of cash, $72.0 million in fa
value of EMC's stock options and $1.7 million adrisaction costs, which primarily consisted of feaisl for financial advisory, legal and
accounting services. The fair value of EMC'’s stopkions issued to VMware employees was estimated)asBlack-Scholes option-pricing
model. The fair value of the stock options wasneated assuming no expected dividends and the follp&MC weighted-average
assumptions:

Expected life (in years 4.0
Expected volatility 60.(%
Risk-free interest rat 2.C%

The intrinsic value allocated to the unvested otissued in the acquisition that had yet to beexhas of the acquisition date was $47.3
million and was initially recorded as deferred camgation in the purchase price allocation. Defecadpensation which related to those
earlier awards has been eliminated against additjpaid-in capital in conjunction with the adoptiohFinancial Accounting
Standards No. 123 R, “Shared-Based Payments” ("“RASL23R").

The following represents the allocation of theiadipurchase price (table in thousands):

Current assel $ 18,65¢
Furniture, fixtures and equipme 2,472
Other lon¢-term asset 1,52(
Intangible asset:
Goodwill 527,27:
Developed technology (weight-average useful life of 4.6 yeal 93,61(
Support and subscription contracts (weig-average useful life of 9.0 yeal 3,95(
x86 system vendor contracts (weigt-average useful life of 5.0 yeal 5,57(
Trademarks and tradenames (weig-average useful life of 5.0 yea 7,58(
Non-solicitation agreements (weigh-average useful life of 3.0 yeal 40
Acquired ir-process research and developm“IPR&D") 15,20(
Total intangible asse 653,22.
Deferred compensatic 47,30(
Current liabilities (85,059
Deferred income taxe (21,33)
Long-term liabilities (3,670
Total purchase pric $613,11.
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VMWARE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

In determining the purchase price allocation, EM@sidered, among other factors, its intention ®the acquired assets, historical
demand and estimates of future demand of VMwanesdycts and services. The fair value of intang#sdsets was primarily based upon the
income approach. The rate used to discount theasét flows to their present values was based upegighted average cost of capital of 14%.
The discount rate was determined after considerationarket rates of return on debt and equitytesghe weighted average return on
invested capital and the risk associated with a@hieforecast sales related to the technology asédta acquired from VMware.

The total weightedwerage amortization period for the intangible &ssebject to amortization is 4.8 years. The inifalegassets are bei
amortized based upon the pattern in which the eanimbenefits of the intangible assets are beinget, which in general reflects the cash
flows generated from such assets. None of the gitlddwleductible for income tax purposes.

IPR&D of $15.2 million was written off at the dadé acquisition because the IPR&D had no alternatises and had not reached
technological feasibility. The value assigned tB& was determined utilizing the income approactdetermining cash flow projections
relating to the IPR&D projects. The stage of cortipteof each in-process project was estimated terdene the discount rate to be applied to
the valuation of the in-process technology. Bagamhuthe level of completion and the risk associat#d in-process technology, a discount
of 50% was deemed appropriate for valuing the IPR&D

Prior to the acquisition by EMC, VMware’s fiscalareended on January 31. In connection with theiaitipun, VMware’s fiscal year end
was changed to December 31 to conform to EdA@&ar end. The results of operations of the pestex for the first eight days of the new fi
year ended December 31, 2004 have been excludedlifieconsolidated financial statemel

EMC currently owns substantially all of our comnginck. VMware’s certificate of incorporation wasemded to authorize shares of
Class A and Class B common stock. After a convarsicexisting common stock into Class A and ClasoBimon stock, EMC holds
32.5 million shares of Class A common stock and @@fillion shares of Class B common stock. The ashig rights of Class A and Class B
common stockholders are the same except with regp&oting, conversion, certain actions that regtiie consent of holders of Class B and
other protective provisions. Each share of Classm®mon stock has ten votes while each share of@a»mmon stock has one vote for all
matters to be voted on by stockholders. The capdtidn of the Company, including all share andgieare data has been retroactively adjusted
to reflect the recapitalization.

As discussed in Note M, in April 2007, the Compaleglared an $800.0 million dividend to EMC payahléhe form of a note. The
dividend has been given retroactive treatmenténDbcember 31, 2006 consolidated balance sheet.

Basis of Presentation

The financial statements have been derived frontémsolidated financial statements and accoungogrds of EMC using the historical
results of operations and historical basis of asaetl liabilities for VMware and its wholly ownedbsidiaries. The financial statements include
expense allocations for certain corporate functimosided to VMware by EMC, including general corgte expenses. These allocations were
based on estimates of the level of effort or resesiincurred on behalf of VMware. Additionally, tzn other costs incurred by EMC for the
direct benefit of VMware, such as rent, salaried benefits have been included in VMware’s finanstatements.

Management believes the assumptions underlyingirthacial statements and the above allocationsesrgonable. However, the financ
statements included herein may not necessarilgaefesults of operations,
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VMWARE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

financial position and cash flows as if VMware hoggkrated as a stand-alone company during all pepoesented. Accordingly, historical
results of VMware should not be relied upon asnaicator of the future performance of VMware.

Accounting Principles

The financial statements and accompanying noteprapared in accordance with accounting princigkserally accepted in the United
States of America.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include to®ants of VMware and its subsidiaries. All interquany transactions and balances
between VMware and its subsidiaries have been réitad.

Unaudited Financial Information

The accompanying consolidated balance sheet asaftVB1, 2007, the consolidated statements of iecama cash flows for the three
months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006 and the ddated statements of stockholder’s equity for tire¢ months ended March 31, 2007 are
unaudited. The unaudited interim financial statetsiéave been prepared on the same basis as thal inancial statements and, in the
opinion of management, reflect all adjustments,civlinclude only normal recurring adjustments, neassto present fairly the Company’s
financial position and results of operations anshddows for the three months ended March 31, 206¥2006. The financial data and other
information disclosed in the notes to the finanstaktements related to the three-month periodalaceunaudited. The results of the three
months ended March 31, 2007 are not necessarilgdtide of the results to be expected for the wrated December 31, 2007 or for any other
interim period or for any other future year.

Use of Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith generally accepted accounting principleguiees management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the repartexiints of assets and liabilities, the reporteduantsoof revenues and expenses during the
reporting periods and the disclosure of contingessets and liabilities at the date of the finarstialements. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.

Revenue Recognition

VMware derives revenue from the licensing of sofevand related services. VMware recognizes revémusoftware products and
related services in accordance with the Americatitlite of Certified Public Accountants’ StatemehPosition (SOP) 97-2Software
Revenue Recognitic’ as amended. VMware recognizes revenue when pevsuagidence of an arrangement exists, deliveryobaarred, the
sales price is fixed or determinable and collelitibis probable.

The following summarizes the major terms of VMwareodntractual relationships with customers andrbaner in which VMware
accounts for sales transactions.

License revenue
VMware recognizes revenue from the sale of softwaren risk of loss transfers, which is generallpmghipment or electronic transfer.

F-9



Table of Contents

VMWARE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

VMware licenses its software under perpetual liesrtirough its direct sales force and throughhigsoel of distributors, resellers, x86
system vendors and systems integrators. VMwaregsledgenue relating to products that have shippéts thannel until its products are sold
through the channel. VMware obtains sell-throughrimation from distributors and resellers on a rhbnbasis. For VMware’s channel
partners who do not report sell-through data, VMa@etermines sell-through based on such distribuémd certain resellers’ accounts
receivable balances and other relevant factorsx&®system vendors, revenue is recognized in @tgzon the receipt of binding royalty
reports.

For all sales, VMware uses either a purchase andairicense agreement and a purchase order asneeidf an arrangement. Sales
through distributors and resellers are evidenced master license agreement, together with purabr@ges on a transaction-by-transaction
basis.

The Company’s return policy does not allow end-sisereturn products for a refund. Certain distidlosi and resellers may rotate stock
when new versions of a product are released. VMwstienates future product returns at the time tef. $8Vlware’s estimate is based on
historical return rates, levels of inventory helddistributors and resellers and other relevartbfac

VMware offers rebates to certain of its channetrpens. When rebates are based on the set percaitageial sales, VMware recognizes
the cost of the rebates as a reduction of reverenwhe underlying revenue is recognized. Whenteskare earned only if a cumulative level
of sales is achieved, VMware recognizes the cotli@febates as a reduction of revenue proportiofal each sale that is required to achieve
the target.

VMware also offers marketing development fundg¢d¢ahannel partners. VMware records the cost ofrtaeketing development funds,
based on the maximum potential liability, as a ot of revenue.

Services revenue
Services revenue consists of software maintenamt@mefessional services.

VMware recognizes maintenance revenues ratably tbeecontract period.

Professional services include design, implememaditd training. Professional services are not cemed essential to the functionality of
VMware’s products as these services do not aleeptbduct capabilities and may be performed byorusts or other vendors. Professional
services engagements that have durations of 90altdgss are recognized in revenue upon completioghe engagement. Professional services
engagements of more than 90 days for which VMwsabie to make reasonably dependable estimates@gfgss toward completion are
recognized on a proportional performance basiscdbapen the hours incurred. Revenue on all otheageaents is recognized upon
completion.

Multiple element arrangements

VMware’'s software products are sold with maintereaand/or professional services. VSOE of fair valfiprofessional services is based
upon the standard rates VMware charges for susticesrwhen sold separately. VSOE for maintenanoécss is established by the rates
charged in stand-alone sales of maintenance ctsivathe stated renewal rate for maintenance dedun the license agreement. The revenue
allocated to software license included in multiplement contracts represents the residual amouheafontract after the fair value of the other
elements has been determined.

Customers under maintenance agreements are emdittedeive updates and upgrades on a when-andgiiable basis. In the event
upgrades have been announced but not deliveredugrreevenue is deferred after
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VMWARE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

the announcement date until delivery occurs urttesgompany has established VSOE of fair valug¢hferupgrade. VSOE of fair value of
upgrades is established based upon the price seahgigement. VMware has a history of selling upgsazh a stand-alone basis.

Deferred revenue includes unearned maintenancedemsssional services fees and license fees.

Foreign Currency Translation

The U.S. dollar is the functional currency of VMwar foreign subsidiaries. Gains and losses fromaidor currency transactions are
included in other expense, net, and consist oe®s$ $0.6 million in both 2006 and 2005.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquicstinents with a maturity of 90 days or less atithe of purchase. Cash equivalents
consist of money market funds.

Under the terms of various agreements, VMware batticted cash of $13.3 million and $2.5 milliorDeticember 31, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. Of these amounts, $10.2 million aBdb $nillion were included in other current assét®ecember 31, 2006 and 2005,
respectively, and $3.1 million was included in othssets, net at December 31, 2006.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

VMware maintains an allowance for doubtful accodotsestimated probable losses on uncollectibl®ats receivable. The allowance
is based upon the creditworthiness of VMware’s @mgrs, historical experience, the age of the red#évand current market and economic
conditions. Uncollectible amounts are charged ajdfre allowance account.

Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment

Furniture, fixtures and equipment are recordedat. @epreciation commences upon placing the &ssetrvice and is recognized on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful livkethe assets, as follows:

Furniture and fixture 5 years
Equipment 2to 5 year:
Leasehold improvemen Shorter of lease term or useful |

Upon retirement or disposition, the asset costraleded accumulated depreciation are removed wghgain or loss recognized in the
income statement. Repair and maintenance costading planned maintenance, are expensed as irturre

Research and Development and Capitalized Softwaex&opment Costs

Costs incurred in the research and developmengwfaoftware products are expensed as incurredtentihological feasibility is
established. Technological feasibility is definadlze earlier of the completion of a detail progdesign or a working model. Such costs
include salaries and benefits, including stock-bdasempensation, consultants, facilities-relateds;a@quipment costs, and depreciation.
Software development costs incurred subsequerstablkshing technological feasibility through thengral release of the software
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products are capitalized. Capitalized costs areréired over periods ranging from 18 to 24 monthisicl represent the products’ estimated
useful lives. Unamortized software developmentsostre $46.1 million (unaudited), $46.5 million &®2b5.8 million at March 31, 2007 and
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, anchaheded in other assets, net. Amortization expevee$8.0 million (unaudited), $2.8
million (unaudited), $22.3 million, $6.2 million dr$1.3 million for the three months ended MarchZ107 and 2006, and for the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.ukitsocapitalized were $7.6 million (unaudited), F1million (unaudited), $43.0 million,
$25.1 million and $8.2 million for the three mon#itsded March 31, 2007 and 2006, and for the yeatedeDecember 31, 2006, 2005 and
2004, respectively.

Long-lived Assets

Purchased intangible assets, other than goodwaéllamortized over their estimated useful lives Wwhignge from three to nine years.
Goodwill is carried at its historical cost.

VMware periodically reviews long-lived assets forpairment in accordance with SFAS No. 144 “Accoumfior Impairment or Disposal
of Long-Lived Assets”. VMware initiates reviews fionpairment whenever events or changes in bustiegsmstances indicate that the
carrying amount of the assets may not be fully vecable or that the useful lives of these assetmaionger appropriate. Each impairment test
is based on a comparison of the undiscounted ¢asfs fo the recorded value of the asset. If impairtns indicated, the asset is written down
to its estimated fair value.

VMware tests goodwill for impairment in accordangiéh SFAS No. 142 “Goodwill and other Intangibles&ss,” in the fourth quarter of
each year or more frequently if events or changesrcumstances indicate that the asset might Ipaii@d.

Advertising

Advertising production costs are expensed as ieduddvertising expense was $1.6 million, $0.9iomlland $0.3 million in 2006, 2005
and 2004, respectively.

Income Taxes

Income taxes as presented herein are calculatadseparate tax return basis, although VMware isidedl in the consolidated tax return
of EMC. Deferred tax liabilities and assets aregized for the expected future tax consequencesarits that have been included in the
financial statements or tax returns. Deferred i@silities and assets are determined based oniffieeethce between the tax basis of assets and
liabilities and their reported amounts using endtée rates in effect for the year in which thdefiénces are expected to reverse. Tax credits
are generally recognized as reductions of incom@rtavisions in the year in which the credits ariBke measurement of deferred tax assets is
reduced by a valuation allowance if, based upoiiaha evidence, it is more likely than not thatreoor all of the deferred tax assets will not
be realized.

VMware does not provide for a U.S. income tax ligobn undistributed earnings of VMware's foreignbsidiaries. The earnings of non-
U.S. subsidiaries, which reflect full provision foon-U.S. income taxes, are currently indefinitelynvested in non-U.S. operations or will be
remitted substantially free of additional tax.

The difference between the income taxes payabtagitalculated on a separate return basis andrttueint actually paid to EMC
pursuant to VMware's tax sharing agreement is piteskas a component of additional paid-in capital.
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Sales Taxes

Sales and other taxes collected from customersalpsequently remitted to government authoritiesecerded as accounts receivable
with a corresponding offset to sales tax payabie Balances are removed from the consolidated dalstmeet as cash is collected from the
customer and as remitted to the tax authority.

Earnings Per Share

Prior to the completion of the IPO, VMware had 3&#lion shares of Class A common stock and 300l0an shares of Class B
common stock outstanding. There is no differende/@en basic and diluted earnings per share bethese=were no outstanding options to
purchase shares of VMware common stock or othampiaily dilutive securities outstanding prior teetoffering. For purposes of calculating
earnings per share, the Company uses the two+tle®d. Because both classes share the sameirighitéddends, basic and diluted earnings
per share was the same for both classes. In caonetith the IPO, eligible employees will be offdréhe right to exchange equity instruments
held in EMC’s common stock for equity instrumentd/&ware’s common stock, and certain employees ballawarded stock option grants to
purchase shares of VMware’s common stock.

Unaudited pro forma per share data gives effe¢hénwveighted average shares used in the calcojdatidhe additional 30.9 million
shares, which, when multiplied by the assumed ioifeprice of $24.00 per share (the midpoint oftrege set forth on the cover page of this
prospectus), and after giving effect to a pro edliacation of offering costs, would have been reegiito be issued to generate proceeds
sufficient to pay the portion of the $800.0 millidividend declared in April 2007 (see Note M) teateeded the most recent twelve months’
earnings.

Comprehensive Income
Comprehensive income is equal to net income.

Concentrations of Risks

Financial instruments which potentially subject Vi to concentrations of credit risk consist ppatly of cash and cash equivalents
and accounts receivable. Deposits held with barkg exceed the amount of insurance provided on dapbsits. Generally, these deposits
be redeemed upon demand and are maintained wéhdial institutions of reputable credit and therefoear minimal credit risk. VMware
places cash and cash equivalents in money mankds fand limit the amount of investment with any @seler.

VMware provides credit to distributors, resellensi@ertain end-user customers in the normal caefrbesiness. Credit is generally
extended to new customers based upon industryatputor a credit evaluation. Credit is extendedxisting customers based on ongoing
credit evaluations, prior payment history and dest@ted financial stability.

Two distributors accounted for 28% and 11%, respelgt of VMware’s accounts receivable balance fBecember 31, 2006. Two
distributors accounted for 30% and 11%, respedtj\adl VMware’s accounts receivable balance as afdbgber 31, 2005. One of these
distributors accounted for 29%, 30% and 27% of meres in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

VMware employees have been granted stock optianarfd restricted stock awards of EMC’s common st@ik January 1, 2006, FAS
No. 123R became effective. The standard requiesgrézing compensatic
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costs for all share-based payment awards made ptogees based upon the awards’ estimated granfaiatealue. The standard covers
employee stock options, restricted stock and enga®tock purchases related to employee stock pgeggilans. Additionally, VMware applied
the provisions of the SEC’s Staff Accounting Butidilo. 107 on Share-Based Payment to VMware’s adomf FAS No. 123R. Previously,
VMware elected to account for these share-basech@atyawards under Accounting Principles Board @pirlo. 25, “Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees” (“APB No. 25"). Although thguéy awards have been made for grants in EMC’smomstock, for purposes of
presentation within these financial statementsctimpensation related to these equity grants hers ineluded as a component of stockholgler’

equity.

FAS No. 123R was adopted using the modified praspetransition method which does not result in thgtatement of results from prior
periods, and, accordingly, the results of operatimn the year ended December 31, 2006 and fueniegs will not be comparable to the
historical results of operations of VMware.

Under the modified prospective transition methotiSAMNo. 123R applies to new equity awards and tétgguwards modified,
repurchased or canceled after the adoption datgitiddally, compensation cost for the portion ofeads granted prior to the adoption date for
which the requisite service has not been rendesed the adoption date is recognized as the rdgussivice is rendered. The compensation
cost for that portion of awards is based on thatgdate fair value of those awards as calculateterprior period pro forma disclosures under
FAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compems@t{“FAS No. 123") as reported by EMC. The compatitn cost for those earlier
awards is attributed to periods beginning on aeraftie adoption date using the attribution metiad was used under FAS No. 123, which was
the straight-line method. Instead of recognizindeitures only as they occur, VMware now estimaegxpected forfeiture rate which is
utilized to determine VMware’s expense. Deferrethpensation which related to those earlier awardsean eliminated against additional
paid-in capital in conjunction with the adoptionFAS No. 123R.

For stock options, VMware has utilized the Blacki&@es option-pricing model to determine the failueaof VMware’s stock option
awards. For stock options and restricted stock, \&kwecognizes compensation cost on a straighbhlises over the awards’ vesting periods
for those awards which contain only a service nesteature.

In connection with the IPO, VMware and EMC are aactthg an exchange offer enabling eligible VMwanepboyees to exchange their
options to acquire EMC common stock for optionad¢quire VMware common stock and to exchange réstristock awards of EMC’s
common stock for restricted stock awards of VMwsi@dmmon stock based on a formulaic exchange wdtich will be determined by
dividing the two-day volume-weighted average poE&MC’s common stock for the last two full daystbé& exchange offer by the initial
public offering price of VMware’s Class A commomsk. The Company expects the exchange offer wirexon the date of the pricing of the
offering. The exchange offer is structured to gatheretain the intrinsic value of the tendered EBKZurities. The number of VMware options
received in exchange for EMC options will be detiewd by multiplying the number of tendered EMC op8 by the exchange ratio. The
exercise price of the VMware options received inhange will be the exercise price of the tendemCE®ptions divided by the exchange
ratio. The number of shares of VMware restrictextistreceived in exchange for EMC restricted stodklwe determined by multiplying the
number of tendered EMC restricted shares by theamge ratio. The exchange offer will likely resual& reduction in diluted earnings per
share due to the future inclusion of the potentidiware common shares.
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Revision of Financial Statement Presentation

The Company has revised its prior presentatioh@icumulative effect of adopting the provision$6fS No. 123R to now present the
impact of recording the pro forma balance sheetumtsorelated to capitalized software costs as ditdieadditional paid-in capital at January
1, 2006 as opposed to as a cumulative effect aflating change that impacted net income. The effetttis change was immaterial to the
consolidated financial statements and reducecdheetie for the full year 2006 and the three-montided March 31, 2006 by $1,060,000 and
increased additional paid-in capital at Januar30D6 by the same amount. This change had no ingpettte previously reported income before
cumulative effect of a change in accounting pritecigr on cash flows from operating, financing orasting activities.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standardsr@¢‘FASB”) issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, ‘@aunting for Uncertainty in
Income Taxes, an Interpretation of FASB Statememt109” (“FIN No. 48”). FIN No. 48 clarifies the asunting for uncertainty in income
taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financial statgs in accordance with FAS No. 109, “Accountiaglhcome Taxes.FIN No. 48 prescribe
a two-step process to determine the amount ofeaefit to be recognized. First, the tax positiorstrhe evaluated to determine the likelihood
that it will be sustained upon external examinatibthe tax position is deemed “more-likely-thaathto be sustained, the tax position is then
assessed to determine the amount of benefit tgnéo® in the financial statements. The amount efiténefit that may be recognized is the
largest amount that has a greater than 50 perigefihbod of being realized upon ultimate settlem&Mware adopted FIN No. 48 on
January 1, 2007, and it did not have a materiabichpn our financial statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued FAS No. 157y Faue Measurements” (“FAS No. 157%hich addresses how companies shi
measure fair value when they are required to dae salue measure for recognition or disclosurgppges under generally accepted accoul
principles. FAS No. 157 defines fair value, esttiis a framework for measuring fair value in gdheagcepted accounting principles and
expands disclosures about fair value measuremefts No. 157 is effective for financial statemerstsuied for fiscal years beginning after
November 15, 2007 and should be applied prospégtigrcept in the case of a limited number of fic@ahinstruments that requi
retrospective application. VMware is currently exadlng the potential impact of FAS No. 157 on VMw&/arfinancial position and results of
operations.

In February 2007, the FASB issued FAS No. 159, “Fhe Value Option for Financial Assets and Finahtiabilities-including an
amendment of FAS 115" (“FAS No. 159”). The new staént allows entities to choose, at specified eleaates, to measure eligible financial
assets and liabilities at fair value that are ritbenwise required to be measured at fair valua.ddbmpany elects the fair value option for an
eligible item, changes in that item’s fair valuesinbsequent reporting periods must be recognizedrient earnings. FAS No. 159 is effective
for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 200Mware is currently evaluating the potential impatFAS No. 159 on VMware'financia
position and results of operations.

B. Business Acquisitions, Goodwill and Intangible Asets

In June 2006, VMware acquired all of the outstagdiapital stock of Akimbi Systems, Inc. (“Akimbi'y, developer of software that
builds upon and leverages virtualization technoltgymprove the efficiency and effectiveness ofeeptise application development operati
and the IT organizations that support them. Thraihghacquisition of Akimbi, VMware’s capabilitiesrfvirtualizing information by providing
virtualization solutions to the development and &swironments have been enhanced.
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The purchase price, net of cash received, was $4ifliBn, which consisted of $45.9 million of cas$0.7 million in fair value of EMC’s
stock options and $0.7 million of transaction cpstlsich primarily consisted of fees incurred by Vsl for financial advisory, legal and
accounting services. The fair value of EMC’s stopkions issued to employees of Akimbi was estimatgdg a Black-Scholes option-pricing
model. The fair value of the stock options wasneated assuming no expected dividends and the foltpweighted-average assumptions:

Expected life (in years 2.5
Expected volatility 35.(%
Risk-free interest rat 5.C%

The consolidated financial statements include #salts of Akimbi from the date of acquisition. Tiierchase price has been allocated to
the tangible and identifiable intangible assetau@eq and the liabilities assumed based on estiifaie values as of the acquisition date.

The following represents the allocation of the pase price (table in thousands):

Current assel $ 41C
Furniture, fixtures and equipme 527
Other lon¢-term asset 24
Intangible asset:
Goodwill 34,25¢
Developed technology (weight-average useful life of 5.0 yeal 9,30(
IPR&D 3,70C
Total intangible asse 47,25¢
Current liabilities (54¢€)
Deferred income tax liabilit (380
Total purchase pric $47,28¢

In determining the purchase price allocation, VMaveonsidered, among other factors, VMware’s intentd use the acquired assets and
historical and estimated future demand of Akimpireducts. The fair value of intangible assets wasarily based upon the income approach.
The rate used to discount the net cash flows tio tinesent values was based upon a weighted avemsg®f capital of 25%. The discount rate
was determined after consideration of market ratesturn on debt and equity capital, the weigtdedrage return on invested capital and the
risk associated with achieving forecasted salegedlto the technology and assets acquired frormBiki

The amortization period for the developed technplisdh.0 years. The developed technology is beingrtized based upon the pattern in
which the economic benefits of the asset is betiliged, which in general reflects the cash flovemgrated from the asset. None of the
goodwill is deductible for income tax purposes.

The IPR&D of $3.7 million was written off at thetézof acquisition because it was determined thatffiR&D had no alternative uses .
had not reached technological feasibility. The gagsigned to IPR&D was determined utilizing trmme approach by determining cash flow
projections relating to the identified IPR&D projeThe stage of completion for the in-process mrojeas estimated to determine the discount
rates to be applied to the valuation of the in-pesctechnology. Based upon the level of completi@hthe risk associated with in-process
technology, VMware applied a discount rate of 35%dlue the project.
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Intangible Assets

Intangible assets, excluding goodwill as of Decen@de 2006 and 2005, consist of (tables in thousand

Gross Carrying

Accumulated

2006 Category Amount Amortization
Purchased technolog $ 102,91( $ (70,68¢)
Trademarks and tradenarr 7,58( (3,200
Customer relationships and customer | 5,29( 2,779
Other 5,66( (2,267
Total intangible assets, excluding good\ $  121,44( $ (77,92

Gross Carrying

Accumulated

2005 Category Amount Amortization
Purchased technolog $  93,61( $ (48,84%)
Trademarks and tradenarr 7,58( (1,736
Customer relationships and customer | 5,29( (809)
Other 5,66( (1,013
Total intangible assets, excluding good\ $  112,14( $ (52,409

Net Book
Value

Net Book

Amortization expense on intangibles was $25.5 anilli$26.1 million and $26.3 million in 2006, 200522004, respectively. As of
December 31, 2006, amortization expense on intémgisets for the next five years is expected tastfellows (table in thousands):

2007
2008
2009
2010
2011

Total

$25,15(
12,34
3,46¢
1,807
397
$43,16:

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for ylears ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 consis¢ dbliowing (table in thousand:

Balance, beginning of the ye
Goodwill acquirec
Finalization of purchase price allocatic

Balance, end of the ye
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$526,25.  $52547¢
34,25¢ 4,644
29) (3,879
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C. Other Current Assets
Other current assets consists of (table in thougand

December 31

March 31, December 31
2007 2006 2005
(unaudited)
Restricted cas $ 10,00 $ 10,17 $ 2,51t
Prepaid expenst 6,97¢ 7,331 2,52
Other receivable 4,23 4,95( 492
Other 187 22€ 444
$ 21,39¢ $ 22,68¢ $ 597
D. Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment
Furniture, fixtures and equipment consists of @dbhlthousands):
December 31
March 31, December 31
2007 2006 2005
(unaudited)
Furniture and fixture $ 5,13¢ $ 1,33¢ $ 99
Equipment 71,25¢ 57,32 23,67
Improvements 16,72: 11,45¢ 2,75¢
Construction in progres 3,60z 9,94 5,66(
96,71¢ 80,057 32,19«
Accumulated depreciatic (38,240 (31,389 (12,859
$ 58,47¢ $ 48,67¢ $ 19,34!

Depreciation expense was $6.9 million (unaudit&d)5 million (unaudited), $18.7 million, $7.2 mih and $2.6 million for the three

months ended March 31, 2007 and 2006, and the gaded December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, resplgctive

E. Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consist of (table in thousands):

December 31

March 31, December 31
2007 2006 2005
(unaudited)
Salaries and benefi $ 42,25¢ $ 45,57¢ $ 20,72(
Accrued rebate 31,36¢ 28,65t 7,891
Other 30,66( 29,09( 13,80¢
$104,28: $ 103,32: $ 42,417
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F. Income Taxes
VMware’s provision for income taxes consists ob{gin thousands):

Period from
Years Ended January 9,
December 31, 2004 to
December 31
2006 2005 2004
Federal:
Current $ 53,10: $ 47,08t¢ $ 11,02
Deferred (20,089 (20,840 5,957
33,01¢ 26,24¢ 16,97¢
State:
Current 3,09¢ 2,94z (214)
Deferred (2,189 (1,659 1,05¢
91z 1,28¢ 844
Foreign:
Current 2,902 1,02¢ 547
Deferred = = =
2,902 1,02¢ 547
Total provision for income taxe $ 36,83: $ 28,56¢ $ 18,36¢
A reconciliation of VMware’s income tax provisioa the statutory federal tax rate is as follows:
Period from
Years Ended January 9,
December 31, 2004 to
December 31
2006 2005 2004
Statutory federal tax ra 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State taxes, net of federal ben 0.7% 1.4% 2.4%
Tax rate differential for international jurisdictis (21.0%)  (16.7%) (12.4%)
U.S. tax credit: (4.9%) (3.9%) (8.0%)
Permanent items, including Subpart F Income, natudible stockhased compensation expenses
IPR&D charges 20.8% 16.1% 38.7%
Other (0.5%) (1.9%) (3.4%)
Effective tax rate 30.1% 30.0% 52.3%
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The components of the current and non-current cerfedax assets are as follows (table in thousands):

December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005
Deferred Tax Deferred Tax Deferred Tax Deferred Tax
Asset Liability Asset Liability

Current:
Accounts receivabl $ 63C $ — $ 604 $ —
Accrued expense 9,40z — 3,46( —
Deferred revenu 16,77¢ — 16,74( —
Net operating loss carryforwar 84¢€ — 63 —

Total curren 27,65¢ — 20,86 —
Non-current:
Property, plant and equipment, | 2,74¢ — 1,00% —
Intangible and other assets, — (30,579 — (31,150
Deferred revenu 15,69¢ — 5,40( —
Credit carryforward: 612 — — —
Net operating loss carryforwar 1,87¢ — — —

Total nor-current 20,93t (30,579 6,407 (31,15()
Total deferred tax assets and liabilit $ 48,59 $ (30,579 $ 27,27 $ (31,150

VMware has federal net operating loss carryforwafd7.0 million from acquisitions in 2005 and 200®ese carryforwards expire at
different periods through 2026. Portions of theseyforwards are subject to annual limitations/uding Section 382 of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), for U.Sptaposes. VMware expects to be able to fully heseé net operating losses against future
income.

Deferred income taxes have not been provided ois biferences related to investments in foreigbsidiaries. These basis differences
were approximately $12.9 million and $0.5 millianzecember 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, andistau of undistributed earnings
permanently invested in these entities. The unneiced deferred tax liability associated with theseemitted earnings is approximately
$4.4 million and $0.1 million as of December 310@@&nd 2005, respectively. Income before incomegddsom foreign operations for 2006,
2005 and 2004 was $82.0 million, $48.5 million &1d.0 million, respectively.

The difference between the income taxes payabtagitalculated on a separate return basis andrttweint actually paid to EMC
pursuant to VMware’s tax sharing agreement is piteskas a component of additional paid-in capithése differences resulted in an increase
of additional paid-in capital of $3.8 million in 20 and a decrease in additional paid-in capit§il&.8 million and $32.3 million in 2005 and
2006, respectively.

VMware adopted FASB Interpretation 48, “Accountfiog Uncertainty in Income Taxes” (“FIN No. 48"), tite beginning of fiscal year
2007. FIN No. 48 clarifies the accounting for urtaity in income taxes recognized in an enterpsifi@ancial statements in accordance with
FAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” FIN Nt8 prescribes a two-step process to determinartt@int of tax benefit to be
recognized. First, the tax position must be evaldiad determine the likelihood that it will be saiged upon external examination. If the tax
position is deemed “more-likely-than-ndt be sustained, the tax position is then assdssgetermine the amount of benefit to recognizéng
financial statements. The amount of the benefit ithay be recognized is the largest amount thaalgeater than 50 percent likelihood of
being realized upon ultimate settlement. VMware had¢hanges to the amount of its income tax payabke result of implementing FIN No.
48. Prior to
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the adoption of FIN No. 48, VMware’s policy wasdassify accruals for uncertain positions as aemntrliability unless it was highly probable
that there would not be a payment or settlemensdch identified risks for a period of at leasteary VMware reclassified $4.5 million of
income tax liabilities from current to non-curréiabilities because a cash settlement of thesditiab is not anticipated within one year of the
balance sheet date.

As of January 1, 2007, we had $4.4 million of uogrized tax benefits; if recognized, all of thisamt would be recognized as a
reduction of income tax expense impacting the éffeéncome tax rate. This amount did not changaiicantly during the three months
ended March 31, 2007. We are subject to U.S. fédemame tax and various state, local and inteameti income taxes in numerous
jurisdictions. Our domestic and international tibllities are subject to the allocation of revesia@d expenses in different jurisdictions anc
timing of recognizing revenues and expenses. Aaltlitly, the amount of income taxes paid is suliectur interpretation of applicable tax
laws in the jurisdictions in which we file.

We have substantially concluded all U.S. federabime tax matters for years through 2004. The W&eral income tax audit for 2005
and 2006 is scheduled to commence in June 2007Ayvartave income tax audits in progress in numestate, local and international
jurisdictions in which we operate. In our interoatil jurisdictions that comprise a significant pmmtof our operations, the years that may
examined vary, with the earliest year being 200848l on the outcome of examinations of VMwareréisalt of the expiration of statutes of
limitations for specific jurisdictions or the resof ruling requests from taxing authorities, ité&asonably possible that the related unrecognizec
tax benefits could change from those recorded irstatement of financial position. It is possiliiattone or more of these audits may be
finalized within the next 12 months. However, basadhe status of examinations, and the protocéhafizing audits, it is not possible to
estimate the impact of such changes, if any, tgoeviously recorded uncertain tax positions.

We recognize interest expense and penalties relaedome tax matters in income tax expense. titiah to the unrecognized tax
benefits noted above, we had accrued $0.1 millfdnterest as of January 1, 2007. The amount dicchange significantly during the three
months ended March 31, 2007.

G. 401(k) Plan

VMware employees participate in EMC’s 401(k) pl&iMware matches pre-tax employee contributions u@%oof eligible
compensation during each pay period (subject t&# maximum match each quarter). Matching coutiidns are immediately 100% vested.
VMware contributions for employees were $3.1 millio 2006, $2.0 million in 2005 and $0.9 million2004.

Employees may elect to invest their contributiona ivariety of funds, including an EMC stock fuiithe 401(k) plan limits an
employee’s maximum investment allocation in the EM@ck fund to 30% of his or her total contributidie matching contribution mirrors
the investment allocation of the employee’s contiin.
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H. Commitments and Contingencies
Operating Lease Commitments
VMware leases office facilities and equipment unggious operating leases. Facility leases geneiratlude renewal options. Rent
expense for 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $14.0 mildt8 million and $3.8 million, respectively.

VMware’s future lease commitments are as followablé in thousands):

2007 $ 13,56:
2008 8,96¢
2009 7,864
2010 7,617
2011 6,63-
Thereaftel 253,44.
Total minimum lease paymer $298,08:

Outstanding Obligations

At December 31, 2006 VMware had outstanding purelmaders aggregating $46.7 million. While the pasghorders are generally
cancelable without penalty, certain vendor agreesgrovide for percentage-based cancellation feesimmum restocking charges based on
the nature of the product or service. In additiware had outstanding construction contracts fohware’s new headquarter facilities
aggregating $77.6 million at December 31, 2006. Edd@ently reimburses VMware for the costs VMwareurs under these contracts and
will continue to do so through the date of VMwargigial public offering, at which time VMware wifpurchase the facilities from EMC. Total
costs incurred through December 31, 2006 were $&8l®n. There will be additional costs incurrdadugh the initial public offering date.

Guarantees and Indemnification Obligations

VMware enters into agreements in the ordinary a@ofdusiness with, among others, customers, bligtis, resellers, x86 system
vendors and systems integrators. Most of theseeagets require VMware to indemnify the other padginst third-party claims alleging that
a VMware product infringes or misappropriates @patcopyright, trademark, trade secret and/orrdtitellectual property right. Certain of
these agreements require VMware to indemnify thergparty against certain claims relating to progpdamage, personal injury or the acts or
omissions of VMware, its employees, agents or praatives.

VMware has agreements with certain vendors, fireniostitutions, lessors and service providers gams to which VMware has agreec
indemnify the other party for specified matters;lsas acts and omissions of VMware, its employagsnts or representatives.

VMware has procurement or license agreements wghect to technology that is used in VMware’s potsland agreements in which
VMware obtains rights to a product from an x86 sgswvendor. Under some of these agreements, VMvagadreed to indemnify the supplier
for certain claims that may be brought against suarty with respect to VMware’s acts or omissiogiaiting to the supplied products or
technologies.

VMware has agreed to indemnify the directors arfid@fs of VMware and VMware’s subsidiaries, to théent legally permissible,
against all liabilities reasonably incurred in cention with any action in which such individual mag involved by reason of such individual
being or having been a director or officer.
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In connection with certain acquisitions, VMware laaseed to indemnify the current and former dirextofficers and employees of the
acquired company in accordance with the acquiredpamy’s bylaws and charter in effect immediately prior to #uguisition or in accordan
with indemnification or similar agreements enteirgd by the acquired company and such persons. Wellwas maintained the acquired
company'’s directors’ and officers’ insurance, whittould enable VMware to recover a portion of artyfe amounts paid.

Based upon VMware’s historical experience and imfmiion known as of December 31, 2006, VMware bekdiability on the above
guarantees and indemnities at December 31, 20@8ignificant.

Litigation
VMware is a party to various legal proceedings WhitMware considers routine and incidental to VMwatteusiness. Management does

not expect the results of any of these proceedm@sve a material adverse effect on VMware’s tessnresults of operations or financial
condition.

I. Stockholder’'s Equity
Common Stock
Following this offering, VMware will have two class of authorized common stock: Class A common saockClass B common stock.

Dividend Rights

Subject to preferences that may apply to sharesedérred stock outstanding at the time, the hsldéioutstanding shares of VMware's
Class A common stock and Class B common stockraittegl to receive dividends, out of assets legaligilable, sharing equally in all such
dividends on a per share basis, at the times atiteiamounts that VMware’s board of directors metetmine from time to time.

Conversion Rights

Each share of Class B common stock is convertilbliégevheld by EMC or its successor-in-interest &t diption of EMC or its successor-
in-interest into one share of Class A common stdfckMware’s Class B common stock is distributedseurity holders of EMC in a
transaction (including any distribution in excharigeshares of EMC's or its successor-in-interestisymon stock or other securities) intended
to qualify as a distribution under Section 355h# Code, or any corresponding provision of any ssgar statute, shares of VMware’s Class B
common stock will no longer be convertible intorgsaof Class A common stock. Prior to any suchridigtion, all shares of Class B common
stock will automatically be converted into sharé€lass A common stock upon the transfer of suareshof Class B common stock by EMC
other than to any of EMG’successors or any of its subsidiaries (excludigvare). If such a distribution has not occurrealcte share of Cla:

B common stock will also automatically convert atls time as the number of shares of common stocledvby EMC or its successor-in-
interest falls below 20% of the outstanding shafééMware’s common stock. Following any such distiion, VMware may submit to its
stockholders a proposal to convert all outstandimayes of Class B common stock into shares of @lagsnmon stock, provided that VMware
has received a favorable private letter ruling fit Internal Revenue Service satisfactory to Ell@e effect that the conversion will not
affect the intended tax treatment of the distrimutiin a meeting of VMware stockholders calledtfos purpose, the holders of VMware

Class A common stock and VMware Class B commorksiolt be entitled to one vote per share and, sttitie applicable law, will vote
together as a single class and neither class ofrmomnstock will be entitled to a separate class.valleconversions will be effected on a share-
for-share basis.
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Voting Rights

Except that holders of Class A common stock argledito one vote per share while holders of CBs®ommon stock are entitled to 10
votes per share on all matters to be voted on byvéid’s stockholders and except with respect teetbetion of directors, conversion, certain
actions that require the consent of holders of CBasommon stock and other protective provisionsedadorth in this prospectus, the holders of
Class A common stock and Class B common stock tuvgical rights. The holders of VMware Class B coom stock, voting separately as a
class, are entitled to elect 80% of the total nunabelirectors on VMware’s board of directors whitlwould have if there were no vacancies
on the board of directors at the time. Subjectnp réights of any series of preferred stock to etk ctors, the holders of VMware Class A
common stock and the holders of VMware Class B comsiock, voting together as a single class, atidezhto elect the remaining directors,
which at no time will be less than one directorafty such election, the holders of Class A comntocksand the holders of Class B common
stock are entitled to one vote per share. In tlenethat the rights of any series of preferredisteculd preclude the holders of VMware
Class A common stock and the holders of VMware £Basommon stock, voting together as a single cfass electing at least one director,
the board of directors will increase the numbedicdctors prior to the issuance of that prefertedisto the extent necessary to allow these
stockholders to elect at least one director. Gélyerdl other matters to be voted on by stockhoddmust be approved by a majority of the v
entitled to be cast at a meeting by all sharesla$<CA common stock and Class B common stock présegerson or represented by proxy,
voting together as a single class, subject to aipg rights granted to holders of any preferrextist Additionally, following a distribution of
VMware Class B common stock to security holderEMIC, any person or group that beneficially owns 1@9mnore of the Class B common
stock will not have any right to vote their shaoé£lass B common stock in the election of direstonless that person or group of persons alsc
beneficially owns at least an equivalent percentdgéMware Class A common stock with two exceptions

» where such person or group obtains the consenMyfiafe’ s board of directors prior to acquiring benefidalnership of at least 5
of VMware’s common stock; ¢

» where such person or group acquires beneficial ot of at least 5% of VMware’s common stock soks a result of a
distribution of Class B common stock to EMC stodkleos and, prior to acquiring one additional sh&r€lass B common stock,
such person or group obtains the consent of VM's board of director:

No Preemptive or Redemption Rights

VMware'’s Class A common stock and Class B commooksare not entitled to preemptive rights and artesabject to redemption or
sinking fund provisions.

Right to Receive Liquidation Distributions

Upon VMware’s liquidation, dissolution or windingzuthe holders of VMware’s Class A common stock @tess B common stock are
entitled to share equally in all of VMware’s assetimaining after payment of all liabilities and firguidation preferences of any outstanding
preferred stock.

Approval Rights of Holders of Class B Common Stock

In addition to any other vote required by law or\iMware’s certificate of incorporation, until thidt date on which EMC ceases to
beneficially own 20% or more of the outstandingrebabf VMware’s common stock, the prior affirmativae or written consent of EMC as
the holder of the Class B common stock is requisedbject in each case to certain exceptions) ierai@authorize VMware to:

» consolidate or merge with any other ent
e acquire the stock or assets of another entity aegx of $100 million
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» issue any stock or securities except to VMV's subsidiaries or pursuant to this offering or VM&'s employee benefit plan
» dissolve, liquidate or wind VMware u
* declare dividends on VMwsa's stock;

* enter into any exclusive or exclusionary arrangemeth a third party involving, in whole or in pagiroducts or services that are
similar to EMC's; and

* amend, terminate or adopt any provision inconsistéth certain provisions of VMwa'’s certificate of incorporation or bylaw

Preferred Stock

Subject to the approval of the Class B stockholdard subject to any requirements of the New YddcISExchange, or any applicable
national securities exchange, VMware’s series prefestock may be issued from time to time in onmore series, with such terms as
VMware’s board of directors may determine.

Equity Plans

VMware employees patrticipate in the EMC Corpora003 Stock Plan (the “2003 Plan”) which providesthe grant of stock options,
stock appreciation rights, restricted stock antrieted stock units. The exercise price for a stopkion shall not be less than 100% of the fair
market value of EMC’s common stock on the daterahy Options generally become exercisable in adnnataliments over a period of three
to five years after the date of grant and expireyiars after the date of grant. Incentive stodioap will expire no later than ten years after the
date of grant. Restricted stock is common stockithsubject to a risk of forfeiture or other résions that will lapse upon satisfaction of
specified conditions. Awards of restricted stocktthest only by the passage of time will not vedlifin less than three years after the date of
grant.

In addition to the 2003 Plan, VMware employees haaicipated in EMC'’s three employee stock opfitans (the “1985 Plan,” the
“1993 Plan” and the “2001 Plan”). Under the terrhgach of the three plans, the exercise price adntive stock options issued must be equal
to at least the fair market value of EMC’s commtotk on the date of grant. In the event that noalifjad stock options are granted under the
1985 Plan, the exercise price may be less thafathmarket value at the time of grant, but in tase of employees not subject to Section 16 of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, not less rarvalue (which is $0.01 per share), and in tlse @d employees subject to Section 16, not
less than 50% of the fair market value on the déatgant. In the event that non-qualified stockiops are granted under the 1993 Plan or the
2001 Plan, the exercise price may be less thafathmarket value at the time of grant but not I#sm par value.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Under EMC’s 1989 Employee Stock Purchase Plan“{th89 Plan”), eligible VMware employees may purahabares of EMC’s
common stock through payroll deductions at the loefe85% of the fair market value of the stockre time of grant or 85% of the fair market
value at the time of exercise. Options to purclssees are granted twice yearly, on January lagdlJand are exercisable on the succeeding
June 30 or December 31. In 2006, 2005 and 2004nillidn shares, 0.5 million shares and 0.3 millgirares, respectively, were purchased
under the 1989 Plan by VMware employees at a wedyaverage purchase price per share of $9.32, Bhhd $9.58, respectively. Total cash
proceeds to EMC from the purchase of shares uhdet389 Plan by VMware employees in 2006, 200528@d were $9.0 million, $5.3
million and $3.2 million, respectively.
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Stock Options

The following tables summarize option activity ware employees in EMC stock options (shares ausiands):
Wid. Avg.
Number of Exercise

Shares Price

VMware options exchanged for EMC options at Jan&ar3004 (see Note /£ 6,311 $ 1.5¢
Options relating to employees transferred from E 122 24.1(
Granted 4,917 11.6¢
Forfeited (469) 6.4¢€
Expired (39 13.0¢
Exercisec (1,467 1.22
Outstanding, December 31, 20 9,37t 6.9t
Options relating to employees transferred from E 12¢ 22.04
Granted 3,44z 13.8¢
Forfeited (1,027 9.2¢
Expired (12) 9.4z
Exercisec (1,329) 3.41
Outstanding, December 31, 2C 10,58t 9.5¢
Options relating to employees transferred from E 298 23.5¢
Options exchanged in a business acquis 26E 0.4C
Granted 4,941 12.51]
Forfeited (847) 12.2%
Expired (114) 14.8(
Exercisec (1,299) 2.3t
Outstanding, December 31, 2C 13,82t 11.2¢
Options relating to employees transferred from E(U@audited’ 354 25.22
Granted (unauditec 87¢ 13.91
Forfeited (unauditec (207) 12.71
Expired (unaudited (14) 13.0¢
Exercised (unauditec (291 3.7¢
Outstanding, March 31, 2007 (unaudit 14,54¢ 11.8¢

The total pre-tax intrinsic values of options exsed for the three months ended March 31, 200728068, and the years ended December
31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 were $3.0 million (unaaljt$3.6 million (unaudited), $13.2 million, $1316llion and $17.3 million, respectively.
Cash proceeds from the exercise of stock optioitstpeEMC were $1.1 million (unaudited), $1.0 nalti (unaudited), $3.0 million, $4.5
million and $1.8 million for the three months endé@drch 31, 2007 and 2006, and the years ended Dee®d, 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively.
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Summarized information about stock options outstamthat are expected to vest and stock optionscesable at March 31, 2007
(unaudited) is as follows (shares and intrinsicigalin thousands):

Options Outstanding and Expected to Ves Options Exercisable
Weighted
Avg. Weighted Weighted Weighted
Number Remaining Number Avg. Aggregate
Contractual Avg. Aggregate Remaining Avg.
Range of of Exercise Intrinsic of Contractual Exercise Intrinsic
Exercise Price Options Life Price Value Options Life Price Value
$0.01- $5.00 1,88i 5090 $ 1.2¢ $23,69¢ 1,72¢ 56¢ $ 137 $21,51¢
$5.01- $10.00 932 8.6: 9.22 4,31 15¢ 4.81 6.47 1,172
$10.01- $15.00 9,117 8.3¢ 12.9¢ 8,857 2,197 7.3¢5 12.5¢ 3,104
$15.01- $20.00 61 4.4z 16.7: — 61 4.4z 16.7: —
$20.01- $30.00 25 2.3¢ 27.4¢ — 25 2.3¢ 27.4¢ —
$30.01- $50.00 13¢ 3.2¢F 34.71 — 13¢ 3.2t 34.71i —
$50.01- $70.00 72 3.01 60.61 — 72 3.01 60.61 —
$70.01- $90.00 49 3.4¢ 82.91 — 49 3.4¢ 82.91 —
12,27 7.84 11.7¢  $36,86¢ 4,42¢ 6.3(C 10.37  $25,79(
Expected forfeiture 2,26¢
Total options outstandir 14,54¢

The aggregate intrinsic values in the precedintgtedpresent the total pre-tax intrinsic valuesldasn EMC'’s closing stock price of
$13.85 as of March 31, 2007 which would have beerived by the option holders had all in-the-moogtjons been exercised as of that date.

Summarized information about stock options outstamthat are expected to vest and stock optionscesable at December 31, 2006 is
as follows (shares and intrinsic values in thousgnd

Options Outstanding and Expected to Ves Options Exercisable
Weighted
Avg. Weighted Weighted Weighted
Number Remaining Number Avg. Aggregate
Contractual Avg. Aggregate Remaining Avg.
Range of of Exercise Intrinsic of Contractual Exercise Intrinsic
Exercise Price Options Life Price Value Options Life Price Value
$ 0.01-$ 5.00 2,10(¢ 6.0 $ 1.2¢ $25,02: 1,913 571 $ 137 $22,64:
$ 5.01- $10.00 89:< 9.17 9.3¢ 3,451 13€ 4.87 6.5€ 90z
$10.01- $15.00 8,70(C 8.4¢ 12.8¢ 5,36¢ 2,02¢ 7.5¢ 12.4% 2,081
$15.01- $20.00 39 5.01 16.4¢ — 38 4.61 16.5i —
$20.01- $30.00 25 2.6 27.4¢ — 25 2.6: 27.4¢ —
$30.01- $50.00 68 3.5¢ 35.52 — 68 3.5¢ 35.52 —
$50.01- $70.00 12 3.17 59.5¢ — 12 3.17 59.5¢ —
$70.01- $90.00 45 3.71 83.8¢ — 45 3.71 83.8¢ —
11,88 8.0z 11.0¢  $33,84( 4,26: 6.51 8.67 $25,62¢
Expected forfeiture 1,94
Total options outstandin 13,82t
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The aggregate intrinsic values in the precedintetedpresent the total pre-tax intrinsic valuesldasn EMC's closing stock price of

$13.20 as of December 31, 2006 which would have beeeived by the option holders had all in-the-eoaptions been exercised as of that
date.

Restricted Stock

The following tables summarize restricted stockvagtfor grants to VMware employees of EMC resteid stock in 2006, 2005 and 2004
(shares in thousands):

Weighted
Average

Grant
Number of Date Fair

Shares Value

Restricted stock at January 8th, 2( — $ —
Granted 97¢ 12.3¢
Outstanding, December 31, 20 97¢ 12.3¢
Granted 7,71¢ 14.0¢
Vested (622) 12.7¢
Forfeited (172) 13.4(
Outstanding, December 31, 20 7,90z 13.9¢
Granted 3,30¢ 12.1¢
Vested (1,967) 13.7(
Forfeited (425 13.9¢
Restricted stock at December 31, 2I 8,81: 13.3¢
Granted (unauditec 48 13.9:¢
Vested (unauditec (1,900 14.01
Forfeited (unauditec (59 13.1¢
Restricted stock at March 31, 2007 (unaudi 6,901 13.1¢

The total fair values of EMC restricted stock thested in the three months ended March 31, 2002866, and the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005 were $26.6 million (dited), $8.7 million (unaudited), $26.9 million a$@.9 million, respectively.

The EMC restricted stock awards have various vgdeémms, including pro rata vesting over three yeend cliff vesting at the end of five
years from the date of grant with accelerationaaheof the first three or four years for achievapgcified performance criteri

As of December 31, 2006, 8.8 million shares of EM€ltricted stock were outstanding and unvestedh, avitaggregate intrinsic value of
$117.6 million and a weighted average remainingremtual life of approximately 3.7 years. Theserebare scheduled to vest through 2011.
As of March 31, 2007, 6.9 million (unaudited) sisaof EMC restricted stock were outstanding and stece with an aggregate intrinsic value
of $90.8 million (unaudited) and a weighted averaggeaining contractual life of approximately 3.@y® (unaudited). These shares are
scheduled to vest through 2011.
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Impact of Adopting FAS No. 123R

The following table summarizes the components @&l tstock-based compensation expense included iwafd's consolidated income
statement for the three months ended March 31, a0 in thousands):

Three Months Ended March 31, 2007

(unaudited)
Restricted Total
Stock Stock-Based
Options Stock Compensatior
Cost of license sale $ 25 $ 1 $ 36
Cost of services revenu 26C 234 494
Research and developmt 1,27¢ 5,11¢ 6,392
Sales and marketir 1,25¢ 1,68t 2,94¢
General and administrati\ 43E 1,343 1,77¢
Stoclk-based compensation expense before income 3,25 8,391 11,64«
Income tax benefi 1,062 1,862 2,92¢
Total stocl-based compensation, net of $2,191 $ 6,52¢ $ 8,72

Stock option expense includes $0.7 million (unadjiof expense associated with the EMC employesk gtorchase plan.

The following table summarizes the components @&l tstock-based compensation expense included iw&iel's consolidated income
statement in 2006 (table in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, 200
Restricted Total

Stock Stock-Based

Options Stock Compensatior

Cost of license sale $ 80 $ 19 $ 99
Cost of services revenu 1,24¢ 1,13¢ 2,38¢
Research and developmt 4,09t 22,24 26,34:
Sales and marketir 4,704 7,31¢€ 12,02(
General and administrati\ 2,50( 7,881 10,38:
Stoclk-based compensation expense before income 12,627 38,59¢ 51,22¢
Income tax benefi 2,321 9,90: 12,22¢
Total stocl-based compensation, net of - $10,30( $28,69" $ 38,997

Stock option expense includes $2.5 million of exggeassociated with the EMC employee stock purcpiase
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In connection with the adoption of FAS No. 123R, Whkte recorded to the income statement, a cumuleffeet adjustment, net of tax
of $0.2 million to record an amount for the revérdahe previously recognized compensation expeeksged to outstanding restricted stock
awards that are not expected to vest based ontiamaés of forfeitures as of the date of adoptioir4fS No. 123R. Additionally, VMware
recorded to stockholder’s equity, a cumulative efeadjustment, net of taxes, of $1.1 million toitalize amounts associated with software
development costs that were previously capitalinedMware’s pro forma compensation disclosures.

For the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 20@bfor the years ended December 31, 2006 andnibere31, 2005 VMware
capitalized $0.9 million (unaudited), $5.3 milligmnaudited), $8.8 million and $3.5 million, respeely, of equitybased compensation expe
associated with capitalized software developmemt tfe three months ended March 31, 2007, VMwapéalized $0.3 million (unaudited) of
equity-based compensation expense associated ofithese developed for internal use.

As of December 31, 2006, the total unrecognizeerdéx compensation cost for stock options, rastictock and options under the
employee stock purchase plan was $97.6 millions Tioih-cash expense will be recognized through 20ttia weighted average remaining
period of 1.4 years.

As a result of adopting FAS No. 123R, VMware's immbefore taxes and net income in 2006 were $4lmand $1.5 million lower,
respectively, than if VMware had continued to agtdor share-based compensation under APB No. a5icBand diluted earnings per share in
2006 would have been $0.01 higher if VMware hadauuipted FAS No. 123R.

For the periods prior to 2006, VMware elected tplg@\PB No. 25 and related interpretations in actmg for VMware’s stock-based
compensation plans. For the acquisition of VMwardeEMC, VMware exchanged the options held by VMwaneployees for EMC options as
of the acquisition date. In accordance with APB B, VMware recognized the fair value of the exawehoptions as part of the purchase
price. VMware also recorded the intrinsic valughe unvested options as compensation expenselaegiaining service period subsequent
to the acquisition.

For purposes of determining the pro forma impadiA$ No. 123 for 2005 and 2004, the Company’s poNas to record the amount by
which the fair value of the vested and unvested Bk awards exceeded the value of the acquioge®ins that were being exchanged. The
difference in the fair value of the EMC options leanged as compared to the fair value of the opti@hsd by VMware's employees was
insignificant.
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The following is a reconciliation of net income pegighted average share had VMware adopted thedhie recognition provisions of
FAS No. 123 in 2005 and 2004 (table in thousandse@ per share amounts):

For the For the Period from

Year Ended January 9, 2004

December 31 to December 31,

2005 2004

Net income $ 66,77¢ $ 16,78!

Add back: Stock compensation costs, net of taxstool-based award 21,42 16,45¢
Less: Stock compensation costs, net of taxes, toal sompensation

expense been measured at fair vi (15,139 (3,64%)
Adjusted stock compensation expense per FAS Nq.ri&t3f taxe! 6,29( 12,81
Adjusted net incom $ 73,06¢ $ 29,59/
Net income per weighted average share, basic dmgc—as reportet $ 0.2C $ 0.0t
Adjusted net income per weighted average sharé& bad dilutec $ 0.22 $ 0.0¢

The fair value of each option granted during tlre¢hmonths ended March 31, 2007, and for the y@ated December 31, 2006, 2005
and 2004 is estimated on the date of grant usia@tack-Scholes option-pricing model with the faliag weighted average assumptions:

Three Months For the
Year Ended For the Period from
Ended December 31, January 9, 2004
March 31, to December 31,
2007 2006 2005 2004
(unaudited)
Stock Option:
Dividend yield None None None None
Expected volatility 30.1% 34.4% 40.8% 52.8%
Risk-free interest rat 4.7% 4.8% 4.C% 3.€%
Expected life (in years 4.2 4.C 4.C 4.8
Weighter-average fair value at grant d; $ 4.4t $ 4.2¢ $ 5.22 $ 5.71
Three Months For the
Year Ended For the Period from

Ended

December 31,

January 9, 2004

March 31, to December 31,
2007 2006 2005 2004
(unaudited)
Employee Stock Purchase P!
Dividend yield None None None None
Expected volatility 25.2% 27.€% 42.1% 49.5%
Risk-free interest rat 5.04% 4.% 3.C% 1.4%
Expected life (in years 0.5 0.t 0.t 0.t
Weightec-average fair value at grant di $ 3.0¢ $ 2.8¢€ $ 3.9t $ 3.4¢

Expected volatilities are based on historical andlied volatilities from traded options in EMC’osk. VMware uses EMC historical
data to estimate the expected term of options gdawithin the valuation model. The risk-free rateeriods within the contractual life of the
option is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curveffect at the time of grant.
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J. Related Party Transactions

For the three months ended March 31, 2007 andehegnded December 31, 2006, VMware recognize@gsafnal service revenue of
$4.1 million (unaudited), and $1.4 million for sems provided to EMC pursuant to contractual agexgmwith EMC.

For the three months ended March 31, 2007 and 20@bthe years ended December 31, 2006 and 2008avd/purchased $0.6 million
(unaudited), $0.7 million (unaudited), $2.9 milliand $0.6 million, respectively, of storage systérmm EMC. The purchase amounts
represent EMC'’s cost.

The financial statements include expense allocationcertain corporate functions provided by EM@Juding accounting, treasury, tax,
legal and human resources. These allocations vesedon estimates of the level of effort or resesiincurred on VMware’s behalf. The total
costs allocated from EMC were $2.3 million (unaedjtand $1.3 million (unaudited) for the three nmsrénded March 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively, and $5.1 million in 2006, $5.3 mifli;» 2005 and $4.5 million in 2004. Additionallyertain other costs incurred by EMC for
VMware’s direct benefit, such as rent, salaries laagefits have been included as expenses in VMwéireincial statements. The total of these
other costs were $20.2 million (unaudited) and $1fillion (unaudited) for the three months endedd®te81, 2007 and 2006, respectively,
$63.7 million in 2006, $27.1 million in 2005 and.$Million in 2004. As part of VMware's tax shariagrangement, VMware paid EMC
income taxes of $63.1 million and $6.6 million 6B and 2005, respectively, which differed from déineounts owed on a separate return b
The difference between these amounts is preseastaccemponent of stockholder’s equity. VMware edriméerest income on VMware’s
intercompany balance from EMC in the amount of $ifion (unaudited), $0.8 million and $2.6 millidar the three months ended March 31,
2007 and the years ended December 31, 2006 and 23@fectively. For the three months ended Marcl2826, VMware incurred interest
expense on VMware's intercompany balance to EMténamount of $0.1 million (unaudited). VMware'sarest income and VMware's
expenses as a separate, stand-alone company rhighlee or lower than the amounts reflected in tharfcial statements.

K. Risks and Uncertainties

VMware’s future results of operations involve a raenof risks and uncertainties. Factors that caffiect VMware’s future operating
results and cause actual results to vary mateffiiy expectations include, but are not limiteduncertainty in the potential market for
VMware’s products; increasing competition; the némdcooperation of operating system and hardwarelers; restrictions imposed upon
VMware by EMC; reliance on distributors, reselle86 system vendors and systems integrators, depeadn VMware’s existing
management and key personnel; and protection of ¥idis intellectual property rights.

L. Segment Information

VMware operates in one reportable segment in aeomel with the provisions of SFAS No. 131 “Disclesiabout Segments of an
Enterprise and Related Information.” Operating segt® are defined as components of an enterpriag allich separate financial information
is evaluated regularly by the chief operating deaisnaker in deciding how to allocate resourcesasmtssing performance. The chief
operating decision maker is the President and Ghietutive Officer. VMware operates in one segmirarefore all financial segment
information required by SFAS No. 131 can be foumthie condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Revenues by geographic area are as follows (talifousands):

For the Period from

Three Months Ended January 9, 2004

March 31, Year Ended December 31 to December 31,
2007 2006 2006 2005 2004
(unaudited)
United State! $136,44: $66,68: $391,61- $209,60( $ 119,30
International 122,25. 62,39 312,29( 177,47: 99,45
Total $258,69: $129,07° $703,90 $387,07+ $ 218,75t

Long-lived assets, excluding financial instrumearisl deferred tax assets in the United States v&88.% million (unaudited) at March
31, 2007, $694.0 million at December 31, 2006 &62B%® million at December 31, 2005. No country othan the United States accounted
10% or more of these assets at March 31, 2007, rBleee31, 2006 or 2005. Long-lived assets, excluflimncial instruments and deferred tax
assets, internationally were $18.8 million (unaedjtat March 31, 2007, $5.5 million at DecemberZI)6 and $1.0 million at December 31,
2005.

VMware groups its products into portfolios that aategorized into the following classes:

Virtualization Platforms ProductsThe Company'’s virtualization platforms includaypervisor for system partitioning that provides th
capability to safely, securely and efficiently nmultiple operating systems simultaneously on teesphysical machine. The platforms
products include VMware Player, VMware Workstatisihware Server, VMware ESX Server, VMware VirtuaiB, and VMware VMFS
products.

Virtual Infrastructure Management and Automatiorofucts. The Companys virtual infrastructure management and automatroduct:
utilize the unique benefits of its virtualizatiolagforms to automate system infrastructure seryisesh as resource management, availability,
mobility and security, manage a virtualized enviremt and automate the interaction between varibeshstituencies and the virtual
infrastructure for a specific set of point solusoihey include VMware ACE, VMware VCB, VMware HXMware DRS, VMware VMotion,
VMware VirtualCenter, VMware Lab Manager, VMware Y I¥Mware Converter, VMware Capacity Planner.

Revenues by class of products or services werellasv:

For the Period from

Year Ended December 31 January 9, 2004
to December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Virtualization platform product $281,33t $204,69' $ 147,96(
Virtual infrastructure automation and managemeatpcts 210,56¢ 82,30¢ 30,91!
License revenue 491,90: 287,00¢ 178,87:
Services revenue 212,00: 100,06¢ 39,88
Total $703,90:¢ $387,07+ $ 218,75t

One distributor accounted for 23% (unaudited), 28%audited), 29%, 30%, and 27% of revenues inHreetmonths ended March 31,
2007 and 2006, and the years ended December 38, 2005, and 2004, respectively. One channel paatteounted for 11% (unaudited) of
revenue in the three months ended March 31, 2007.
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M. Subsequent Events

In April 2007, VMware acquired all of the capitéabsk of a privately-held company for $24.2 milliofhrough the acquisition VMware
advanced VMware’s desktop virtualization efforteeTacquired company provides software that connesetss to their desktop deployed on
VMware Infrastructure.

In April 2007, VMware declared an $800.0 milliorvidiend to EMC. The dividend was paid in the formaafote. The note matures in
April 2012 and bears an interest rate of the 90IdBYOR plus 55 basis points, with interest payaiplarterly in arrears commencing June 30,
2007. The note may be repaid, without penalty ngttame commencing July 2007. This dividend hasbgigen retroactive effect as of
December 31, 2006 in the accompanying consolidaa¢ahce sheet. The dividend was first applied agaetained earnings until that was
reduced to zero, then applied against additional-pacapital until that was reduced to zero, with thmaéder then allocated using a reduc
of retained earnings.

In April 2007, VMware entered into an agreemenadquire all of the capital stock of a privately<heffshore software development
company for aggregate cash consideration of less$10 million. VMware entered into the acquisitampart of its efforts to expand its
software development operations.

In June 2007, VMware adopted the 2007 Equity acéntive Plan. Awards under the 2007 Plan may lkedrform of stock options or
other stock-based awards including awards of msttistock. The maximum number of shares of the \dk¥g Class A common stock
reserved for the grant or settlement of awards wthde2007 Plan is 80 million. The exercise prioed stock option awarded under the 2007
Plan shall not be less than 100% of the fair mark&te of our common stock on the date of the gidiosst options granted under the 2007 |
vest 25% after the first year and then monthlyehéer over the following three years. In June dulgt 2007, VMware’s Compensation and
Corporate Governance Committee made broad-basatsgrithese options to purchase 35,679,411 sl&@kmss A common stock with an
exercise price of $23.00 per share. Certain optibasmay be granted to non-employee directors uinge2007 Plan are exercisable
immediately, terminate if not exercised within grear and vest one-third on the first three annasges of the grant. In June 2007, VMware’s
Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee graahts of these options to purchase 120,000 sbérelass A common stock with
exercise price of $23.00 per share. All optionsirexgix years from the date of grant. VMware’s Cemgation and Corporate Governance
Committee also issued 452,676 restricted stoclswmitler the 2007 Plan, 433,216 of which have ténaisprovide for 3rear cliff vesting, witl
performance acceleration in each of the first tlyesrs following achievement of certain performagoals. The remaining restricted stock
units will vest ratably over four years from theelaf the grant. The fair value of these awardmpisroximately $260.5 million which will be
recognized over the awards’ vesting periods.

VMware performed a contemporaneous valuation eaod &an equity grant of common stock was made. tardening the fair value of
the equity, VMware analyzed general market datduiing economic, governmental and environment@bia; considered its historic, current
and future state of its operations; analyzed ierating and financial results; analyzed its for&sagathered and analyzed available financial
data for publicly traded companies engaged in éimeesor similar lines of business to develop appatpwvaluation multiples and operating
comparisons, and analyzed other facts and datadewed pertinent to the valuation to arrive at atineated fair value.

VMware utilized both the income approach and theketsapproach in estimating the value of the equibe market approach estimates
the fair value of a company by applying to the camys historical and/or projected financial metnisarket multiples of the corresponding
financial metrics of publicly traded firms in siraillines of business. The use of the market approeguires judgments regarding the
comparability of companies that are similar to VMedf different comparable companies had been,ukednarket multiples and resulting
estimates of the fair value of our stock also wchdste been different. The income approach

F-34



Table of Contents

VMWARE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

involves applying appropriate risk-adjusted disdaates to estimated debt-free cash flows, basddresasted revenue and costs. The
projections used in connection with this valuatieere based on our expected operating performareetiog forecast period. There is inherent
uncertainty in these estimates. If different distaates or other assumptions had been used,sbking estimates of the fair value of our st
would have been different. Due to the prospectafaminent public offering, VMware did not applynzarketability discount in carrying out
either approach. Further, VMware did not apply aanity interest discount in concluding on fair valu

In reaching its estimated valuation range, VMwaresidered the indicated values derived from eatdratian approach in relation to the
relative merits of each approach, the suitabilitthe information used, and the uncertainties imgdl The results of the approaches overlag
with the income approach results falling withinaanower range, which VMware ultimately relied oritsiconcluding estimate of value.

In addition to the aforementioned analysis, the Gany believes that the fair value of its equityhatt time was further substantiated by
the arm’s-length transaction with Intel Capitalgdebed below) whereby Intel agreed to purchasexdflllion shares of VMware’s Class A
common stock at $23.00 per share, subject to adgrtif the price in the offering is below $23.0& ghare.

The fair value of each VMware option granted wasrested on the date of grant using the Black-Scholgtion-pricing model with the
following weighted average assumptions:

Risk-free interest rat 5.0%
Expected dividend yiel 0%
Expected life 3.4 year
Expected volatility 39.2%

The computation of expected volatility was basedhanhistorical and implied volatility of comparaldompanies, considering factors
such as industry, stage of life cycle, size andrfaial leverage. The expected term was calculaasddon the historical experience of VMware
employees have had with EMC stock option grantsyelsas the expected term of similar grants of pamable companies. The risk free
interest rate was based on a treasury instrumeosevterm is consistent with the expected life efstock options.

In July 2007, VMware entered into a stock purchegeement with Intel Capital, pursuant to whicteli@apital has agreed to purchase
9.5 million shares of our Class A common stock28.80 per share for an aggregate offering prick2a8.5 million, subject to the expiration
the applicable waiting period under the HSR Act Hrelsatisfaction of other customary closing caadd, including the absence of a material
adverse change. If VMware does not complete anmnitien public offering with an aggregate pricetie public of at least $250.0 million on
or before December 31, 2007, Intel Capital will &alre right to exchange its Class A common stockliares of Series A redeemable
preferred stock, the terms of which will be destgdeprior to the closing of the Intel investmeniM¥are has also entered into an investor
rights agreement with Intel Capital pursuant tockhintel Capital will have certain registration asttier rights as a holder of VMware’s Class
A common stock.
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VMWARE, INC.

SCHEDULE II—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
(in thousands)

Allowance for

Bad Debts
Charged to
Selling, Genera
Balance a and Charged tc Balance a
Beginning Administrative Other Bad Debts End of
Allowance for Bad Debts of Period Expenses Accounts Write -Offs Period
Year ended December 31, 2006 allowance for dou
accounts $ 1,58¢ $ 762 $ — $ (219 $ 2,13¢
Year ended December 31, 2005 allowance for doubtful
accounts 1,47 20z — (90) 1,58¢
Period from January 9, 2004 to December 31, 2004vahce
for doubtful account 35k 1,22¢ — (202) 1,477
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INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

Item 13. Other Expenses of Issuance and Distributio

SEC registration fe $ 29,126.6
NASD fee $  10,50(
Exchange listing fe *
Printing and engraving expens
Legal fees and expens
Accounting fees and expens
Blue Sky fees and expens
Transfer agent fees and expenr
Miscellaneou:

Total

L

*

* To be provided by amendme

Item 14. Indemnification of Directors and Officers.

Delaware law permits a corporation to adopt a giowi in its certificate of incorporation eliminagitr limiting the personal liability of a
director, but not an officer in his or her capaeit/such, to the corporation or its stockholdersrfonetary damages for breach of fiduciary ¢
as a director, except that such provision shalletiotinate or limit the liability of a director fql) any breach of the director’s duty of loyalty t
the corporation or its stockholders, (2) acts orssions not in good faith or which involve intemt& misconduct or a knowing violation of Iz
(3) liability under section 174 of the Delaware ®gai Corporation Law (the “DGCL”) for unlawful paynt of dividends or stock purchases or
redemptions or (4) any transaction from which tlieaor derived an improper personal benefit. Qartificate of incorporation will provide
that, to the fullest extent of Delaware law, nohewr directors will be liable to us or our stockders for monetary damages for breach of
fiduciary duty as a director.

Under Delaware law, a corporation may indemnify paygson who was or is a party or is threatenectmade a party to any type of
proceeding, other than an action by or in the rajtthe corporation, by reason of the fact thabhshe is or was a director, officer, employe
agent of the corporation, or is or was servindhatrequest of the corporation as a director, affiemployee or agent of another corporation or
other entity, against expenses, including attorniegs, judgments, fines and amounts paid in et actually and reasonably incurred in
connection with such proceeding if: (1) he or stie@in good faith and in a manner he or she redspmelieved to be in or not opposed to
best interests of the corporation and (2) with eespo any criminal proceeding, he or she had asarable cause to believe that his or her
conduct was unlawful. The termination of any pratieg by judgment, order, settlement, convictionypon a plea of nolo contendere or its
equivalent, shall not, of itself, create a presuampthat a person did not act in good faith and manner which he or she reasonably believ
be in or not opposed to the best interests of dinparation, and, with respect to any criminal pextiag, had reasonable cause to believe th
or her conduct was unlawful. A corporation may imaéfy any person who was or is a party or is theeat to be made a party to any
threatened, pending or completed action or suitiganbby or in the right of the corporation to proga judgment in its favor by reason of the
fact that he or she is or was a director, offieenployee or agent of the corporation, or is or 8&sing at the request of the corporation as a
director, officer, employee or agent of anotheipooation or other entity, against expenses, inagdittorneys’ fees, actually and reasonably
incurred in connection with such action or suhéfor she acted in good faith and in a manner lsb®reasonably believed to be in or not
opposed to the best interests of the corporaticepm that no indemnification will be made if thergon is found liable to the corporation
unless, in such a case, the court determines tisepé nonetheless entitled to indemnificationdioch expenses. A corporation must also
indemnify a present or former director or officenahas been successful on the merits or otherwidefense of any proceeding, or in defense
of any claim, issue or matter therein, against agps, including attorneys’ fees, actually and reably incurred by him or her. Expenses,
including attorneys’ fees, incurred by a directifficer, employee or agent, in
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defending civil or criminal proceedings may be paydthe corporation in advance of the final disposiof such proceedings upon, in the case
of a current director or officer, receipt of an entdking by or on behalf of such director or offite repay such amount if it shall ultimately be
determined that he or she is not entitled to bermuified by the corporation. The Delaware law regay indemnification and the advancement
of expenses is not exclusive of any other rightemon may be entitled to under any bylaw, agregmete of stockholders or disinterested
directors or otherwise.

Section 174 of the DGCL provides, among other thinlgat a director, who willfully or negligently ppoves of an unlawful payment of
dividends or an unlawful stock purchase or redeomptinay be held liable for such actions. A direetbo was either absent when the unlawful
actions were approved or dissented at the time,awaid liability by causing his or her dissent tels actions to be entered in the books
containing the minutes of the meetings of the baddirectors at the time such action occurrechumediately after such absent director
receives notice of the unlawful acts.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws genlgrptovide for mandatory indemnification of direcscand officers to the fullest extent
permitted by law. We also intend to enter into imtfication agreements with our directors in theridiled as an exhibit to this Registration
Statement that will generally provide for mandatmgemnification to the fullest extent permitted lay.

Delaware law also provides that a corporation magipase and maintain insurance on behalf of angoperho is or was a director,
officer, employee or agent of the corporation,sooii was serving at the request of the corporattoa director, officer, employee or agent of
another corporation or other entity, against aalility asserted against and incurred by such persbether or not the corporation would have
the power to indemnify such person against sudfiliia We will maintain, at our expense, an insuea policy that insures our officers and
directors, subject to customary exclusions and dahs, against specified liabilities that may beurred in those capacities.

Item 15. Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities.
The following relates to sales of securities theatehoccurred since June 1, 2004 that have notreggstered under the Securities Act:

In June and July 2007, the registrant made broadebaquity awards under its 2007 Equity and IngerRian to its employees and non-
employee directors, including grants of optionptiochase an aggregate of 35,799,411 shares of £lessimon stock with an exercise price
of $23.00 per share and awards of 19,460 restrttezk units. These option grants and awards trficeed stock units did not require
registration under the Securities Act because thntg and awards either did not involve a “saleSexdurities as such term is used in Section 2
(3) of the Securities Act or were exempt from région in reliance on Rule 701 promulgated undesti®n 3(b) of the Securities Act.

On June 8, 2007, the registrant made an award3)248 restricted stock units to Mark Peek, its €Riaancial Officer. This award of
restricted stock units was exempt from registratinder the Securities Act pursuant to the exemgtimm registration provided by Rule 701
promulgated thereunder.

Iltem 16. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(A) Exhibits:
Exhibit
Number Description
11 Form of Underwriting Agreemel
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatic
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Exhibit
Number Description

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws

4.1 Form of specimen common stock certifica

5.1 Opinion of Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom L
10.1 Form of Master Transaction Agreement between thgidRant and EMC**
10.2 Form of Administrative Services Agreement betwdenRegistrant and EMC*
10.3 Form of Tax Sharing Agreement between the Registmatt EMC**
104 Form of Intellectual Property Agreement betweenRlegistrant and EMC*
10.5 Form of Employee Benefits Agreement between thadRagt and EMC**
10.6 Form of Real Estate License Agreement between gggsRant and EMC*
10.7 Letter Agreement between the Registrant and MadkPeg
10.8 Form of Indemnification Agreement for directors amakcutive officers+**
10.9 2007 Equity and Incentive Plan+
10.10 Promissory Note between the Registrant and EMC @atjpn**
10.11 Form of Insurance Matters Agreement between théstagt and EMC**
10.12 Form of Option Agreement+*
10.13 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement+
10.14 2007 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
10.15 Letter Agreement between the Registrant and Thamasrewicz+**
10.16 Distribution Agreement between the Registrant angtdm Micro**, ***
10.17 Form of Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreememeéetthe Registrant and EMC
10.18 Class A Common Stock Purchase Agreement betweeRdbistrant and Intel Capital®
10.19 Investor Rights Agreement between the Registradtiaiel Capital**
10.20 Form of Early Exercise Option Agreement+
211 List of subsidiaries**
23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers |
23.2 Consent of Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom [ibBluded in Exhibit 5.1
24.1 Power of Attorney (included on signature page i

+  Management contract or compensatory plan or arraege

* To be filed by amendmer

**  Previously filed.

***  Confidential treatment requested for certain posiof this Exhibit pursuant to Rule 406 promulgateder the Securities Act, which
portions are omitted and filed separately with $eeurities and Exchange Commissi

(B) Financial Statement Schedules:

Schedules have been omitted because the informatiprired to be set forth therein is not applicaislées shown in the consolidated
financial statements or notes thereto.
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Item 17. Undertakings.

(a) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakpsotgide to the underwriters at the closing spediiin the underwriting agreements
certificates in such denominations and registemexich names as required by the underwriters tipprompt delivery to each purchaser.

(b) Insofar as indemnification for liabilities ang under the Securities Act of 1933 may be pegditb directors, officers and controlling
persons of the registrant pursuant to the provésaescribed in Item 14, or otherwise, the registhas been advised that in the opinion of the
Securities and Exchange Commission, such indenatiific is against public policy as expressed inSbeurities Act and is, therefore,
unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indéication against such liabilities (other than {reyment by the registrant of expenses incu
or paid by a director, officer or controlling pensof the registrant in the successful defense gpfamtion, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such
director, officer or controlling person in connectiwith the securities being registered, the regigtwill, unless in the opinion of its counsel
matter has been settled by controlling precedemhin® to a court of appropriate jurisdiction thesgtion whether such indemnification by it is
against public policy as expressed in the Secariiet and will be governed by the final adjudicatiaf such issue.

(c) The undersigned registrant hereby undertalags th

(1) For purposes of determining any liability untlee Securities Act of 1933, the information ondtfeom the form of prospectus
filed as part of this Registration Statement inargte upon Rule 430A and contained in a form ofpeatus filed by the registrant
pursuant to Rule 424(b)(1) or (4) or 497(h) undher $ecurities Act shall be deemed to be part efRgistration Statement as of the t
it was declared effective.

(2) For the purpose of determining any liabilityden the Securities Act of 1933, each pefective amendment that contains a fc
of prospectus shall be deemed to be a new registrstatement relating to the securities offerextém, and the offering of such securi
at that time shall be deemed to be the initial biise offering thereof.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the SecuritiesoA&033, the registrant has duly caused this AmesmdriNo. 3 to be signed on its behalf
by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized énGhty of Palo Alto, State of California, on Julg,2007.

VMWARE, INC.

By: /'s/  DIANE B. GREENE

Name: Diane B. Greene

Title: President and Chief Executive Officer and Director

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, the undersignedéi®r constitute and appoint David |. Goulden and FPaDacier and each
of them, his or her true and lawful attorney-intfand agent, each with full power of substitutiom aesubstitution, for him and in his name,
place and stead, in any and all capacities, to@mynand all amendments (including peffective amendments) to this registration stateren
any related registration statement filed pursuamule 462(b) under the Securities Act of 193%mgended, and to file the same, with exhibits
thereto, and other documents in connection thehewiith the Securities and Exchange Commissiomtigrg unto said attorneys-in-fact and
agents, and each of them, full power and authteigo and perform each and every act and thingisigwr necessary to be done in
connection therewith, as fully to all intents andgnses as he might or could do in person, herafifying and confirming all that each of said
attorneys-in-fact and agents, or his substituteudistitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be dongitiye hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the SecuritiesoA&033, this Amendment No. 3 has been signed éyadtowing persons in the
capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/ s/ DIANE B. G REENE President and Chief Executive Officer (princi July 24, 200
Diane B. Greene executive officer), and Directc
* Chief Financial Officer (principal financii July 24, 200
Mark S. Peek officer, principal accounting office
* Chairman of the Board of Directors July 24, 2007
Joseph M. Tucci
* Director July 24, 2007
Michael W. Brown
* Director July 24, 2007
John R. Egan
* Director July 24, 2007

David I. Goulden

* Director July 24, 200
David N. Strohm

*By: /sl PauL T. D ACIER Attorney-in-Fact July 24, 2007

Paul T. Dacier
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Exhibit
Number Description

1.1 Form of Underwriting Agreemet

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatic

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws

4.1 Form of specimen common stock certifica

5.1 Opinion of Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom L
10.1 Form of Master Transaction Agreement between trgidtant and EMC**
10.2 Form of Administrative Services Agreement betwdenRegistrant and EMC*
10.3 Form of Tax Sharing Agreement between the Registratt EMC**
104 Form of Intellectual Property Agreement betweenRlegistrant and EMC*
10.5 Form of Employee Benefits Agreement between thadRagt and EMC**
10.6 Form of Real Estate License Agreement between gggsRant and EMC*
10.7 Letter Agreement between the Registrant and MadkPe
10.8 Form of Indemnification Agreement for directors andtcutive officers+**
10.9 2007 Equity and Incentive Plan+
10.10 Promissory Note between the Registrant and EMC @atjpn**
10.11 Form of Insurance Matters Agreement between théstagt and EMC**
10.12 Form of Option Agreement+*
10.13 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement+
10.14 2007 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
10.15 Letter Agreement between the Registrant and Thamaisrewicz+**
10.16 Distribution Agreement between the Registrant angtdm Micro**, ***
10.17 Form of Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreememebetthe Registrant and EMC
10.18 Class A Common Stock Purchase Agreement betweeRdbistrant and Intel Capital®
10.19 Investor Rights Agreement between the Registradtiaiel Capital**
10.20 Form of Early Exercise Option Agreement+
211 List of subsidiaries**
23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers |
23.2 Consent of Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom [ibBluded in Exhibit 5.1
24.1 Power of Attorney (included on signature page i

+  Management contract or compensatory plan or arraage

* To be filed by amendmer

**  Previously filed.

***  Confidential treatment requested for certain pasgiof this Exhibit pursuant to Rule 406 promulgaieder the Securities Act, whi
portions are omitted and filed separately with $eeurities and Exchange Commissi



Exhibit 1.1
VMware, Inc.

33,000,000 Sharés
Class A Common Stock
($0.01 par value)

Underwriting Agreement

New York, New Yorl
, 2007

Citigroup Global Markets Inc.
388 Greenwich Street
New York, New York 1001:

J.P. Morgan Securities Inc.
277 Park Avenue, 9Floor
New York, New York 1017:

Lehman Brothers Inc.
399 Park Avenue, 10Floor
New York, New York 1002:

As Representatives of the several Underwriters

Ladies and Gentlemen:

VMware, Inc., a corporation organized under theslafithe state of Delaware (the “Company”), progasesell to the several
underwriters named in Schedule | hereto (the “Uwdgegrs”), for whom you (the “Representatives”) aing as representatives, 33,000,000
shares of Class A common stock, $0.01 par valuer@i@on Stock”) of the Company (said shares to heegsind sold by the Company being
hereinafter called the “Underwritten SecuritieS'he Company also proposes to grant to the Undemgrén option to purchase up to 4,950,
additional shares of Common Stock to cover ovearti@énts, if any (the “Option Securities”; the OptiBecurities, together with the
Underwritten Securities, being hereinafter calleel 1Securities”). To the extent there are no addal Underwriters listed on Schedule | other
than you, the term “Representatives” as used hateifi mean you, as Underwriters, and the termgf&entatives” and “Underwriters” shall
mean either the singular or plural as the conteqtiires. Certain terms used herein are define@atié 20 hereof.

! Plus an option to purchase from the Company, ¥h360,000 additional Securities to cover over-ailents.
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1. Representations and WarrantiElse Company represents and warrants to, and agitesach Underwriter as set forth below in
this Section 1.

(a) The Company has prepared and filed with the Bmsion a registration statement (file number 333368) on Form S-1,
including a related preliminary prospectus, forisggtion under the Act of the offering and saleétef Securities. Such Registration
Statement, including any amendments thereto fiteat o the Execution Time, has become effectiiee Company may have filed one
more amendments thereto, including a related pieding prospectus, each of which has previously eerished to you. The Company
will file with the Commission a final prospectusancordance with Rule 424(b). As filed, such fipadspectus shall comply in all
material respects with the Act and the rules thedeu and, except to the extent the Representathedsagree in writing to a
modification, shall be in all substantive respégtte form furnished to you prior to the Executibme or, to the extent not completed at
the Execution Time, shall contain such specificitamitbl information and other changes (beyond tettained in the latest Preliminary
Prospectus) that are permitted by Rule 430A ortti@tCompany has advised you, prior to the Exeoufime, will be included or made
therein.

(b) On the Effective Date, the Registration Statetaid, and when the Prospectus is first filedéoadance with Rule 424(b) and
on the Closing Date (as defined herein) and ondate on which Option Securities are purchasedidfi glate is not the Closing Date (a
“settlement date”), the Prospectus (and any supgiétihereto) will, comply in all material respeutish the applicable requirements of
the Act and the rules thereunder; on the Effediia¢e and at the Execution Time, the Registrati@ate®tent did not and will not contain
any untrue statement of a material fact or omgtéde any material fact required to be stated ih@menecessary in order to make the
statements therein not misleading; and on the afeday filing pursuant to Rule 424(b) and on thesiihg Date and any settlement date,
the Prospectus (together with any supplement thievétl not include any untrue statement of a matdact or omit to state a material
fact necessary in order to make the statementsithen the light of the circumstances under witlody were made, not misleading;
provided, however, that the Company makes no representations oantes as to the information contained in or ordiftem the
Registration Statement, or the Prospectus (or apglement thereto) in reliance upon and in conforwith information furnished in
writing to the Company by or on behalf of any Unaeter through the Representatives specificallyifmtusion in the Registration
Statement or the Prospectus (or any supplemerdttieit being understood and agreed that the sundy information furnished by any
Underwriter consists of the information describedsach in Section 8 hereof.

(c) (i) The Disclosure Package and the price toptitaic, the number of Underwritten Securities &mel number of Option Securit
to be included on the cover page of the Prospeatosn taken together as a whole, and (ii) eachrelgic road show, the use of which
has been consented to by the Company pursuanttm®&(l) hereof, when taken together as a whatk the Disclosure Package, the
price to the public, the number of Underwritten @ées and the number of Option Securities tortmuded on the cover page of the
Prospectus, does not contain any untrue statenfient o




material fact or omit to state any material factessary in order to make the statements therethgitight of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading. The precesgérdence does not apply to statements in or asnisgiom the Disclosure Package
based upon and in conformity with written infornaatifurnished to the Company by any Underwriter tigtothe Representatives
specifically for use therein, it being understood agreed that the only such information furnishgar on behalf of any Underwriter
consists of the information described as such oti&e 8 hereof.

(d) At the time of filing the Registration Statemethe Company was not an Ineligible Issuer (amdéfin Rule 405).

(e) Each Issuer Free Writing Prospectus does rhtde any information that conflicts with the infeation contained in the
Registration Statement, including any documentripamated by reference therein that has not beearseged or modified. The foregoi
sentence does not apply to statements in or oms$iom any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus based apd in conformity with written
information furnished to the Company by any Undé@ewvithrough the Representatives specifically fee therein, it being understood ¢
agreed that the only such information furnisheabgn behalf of any Underwriter consists of themfiation described as such in
Section 8 hereof.

(f) Each of the Company and its subsidiaries listedschedule Il has been duly incorporated andliglly existing as a corporation
in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiciiomvhich it is chartered or organized with fullrporate power and authority to own or
lease, as the case may be, and to operate itsrpespend conduct its business as described iDibeosure Package and the Prospectus.
Each of the Company’s subsidiaries not listed dmefale Il has been duly incorporated and is vakigting as a corporation in good
standing under the laws of the jurisdiction in whitis chartered or organized with full corporptaver and authority to own or lease, as
the case may be, and to operate its properties@mdiict its business as described in the DiscldBaokage and the Prospectus, except
where the failure to be incorporated or validlystixig or to have such power or authority would megtsonably be expected to have a
material adverse effect on the condition (finanoiabtherwise), prospects, earnings, businessagepties of the Company and its
subsidiaries, taken as a whole, whether or noingrisom transactions in the ordinary course ofihess (“Material Adverse Effect”).
Each of the Company and its subsidiaries is dublified to do business as a foreign corporationiand good standing under the laws
each jurisdiction that requires such qualificatiercept where the failure to be so qualified oy@od standing would not reasonably be
expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(9) The Company'’s authorized equity capitalizai®as set forth in the Disclosure Package and thspectus; the capital stock of
the Company conforms in all material respects éodscription thereof contained in the Discloswaekdge and the Prospectus; the
outstanding shares of Common Stock have been adyalidly authorized and issued and are fully @aid nonassessable; the Secur
have been duly and validly authorized, and, whened and delivered to and paid for by the Undeengipursuant to this Agreement, \
be fully paid and nonassessable; the holders ctanding shares of capital stock of the Companyatentitled to
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preemptive or other rights to subscribe for theuites; and, except with respect to (i) any opsiamd restricted securities issued or to be
issued pursuant to the Company’s tender offer dre@ale TO-I filed with the Commission on July 90ZQthe “Exchange Offer”), as
amended, and (ii) as set forth in the DisclosurekBge and the Prospectus, no options, warrantgher dghts to purchase, agreements or
other obligations to issue, or rights to convest ahligations into or exchange any securities $bigres of capital stock of or ownership
interests in the Company are outstanding.

(h) All the outstanding shares of capital stocleath subsidiary of the Company listed on Schedilerkto have been duly and
validly authorized and issued and are fully paid annassessable, and, except as otherwise setrfdhté Disclosure Package and the
Prospectus and except for directors’ qualifyingrebaall outstanding shares of capital stock ofstiiesidiaries of the Company listed on
Schedule Il are owned by the Company either diyemtthrough wholly owned subsidiaries of the Comp&ree and clear of any
perfected security interest or any other secunitgrests, claims, liens or encumbrances.

(i) There is no contract or other document of arabi@r required to be described in the Registrafitatement or Prospectus, or tc
filed as an exhibit to the Registration Statemeshich is not described or filed as required (arelBlisclosure Package contains in all
material respects the same description of the fdnggmatters as is contained in the Prospectus)tanstatements in the Preliminary
Prospectus and the Prospectus under the headingin@s—Intellectual Property” and “United Statedétal Income Tax
Considerations for Non-United States Stockholddrsdfar as such statements summarize legal matigrsements, documents or
proceedings discussed therein, are fair summafisgaoh legal matters, agreements, documents oepdiegs.

(j) This Agreement has been duly authorized, exatand delivered by the Company.

(k) The Company is not and, after giving effecthe offering and sale of the Securities and thdiegupon of the proceeds thereol
described in the Disclosure Package and the Pragpewill not be an “investment company,” as defiie the Investment Company Act
of 1940, as amended.

() No consent, approval, authorization, filing viar order of any court or governmental agencyaatyhis required to be obtained
by the Company or any of the subsidiaries of them@any in connection with the transactions conteteglaerein, except (i) such as h
been obtained under the Act or the Exchange Agifch as may be required under the blue sky t#vesy jurisdiction in connection
with the purchase and distribution of the Secwgibg the Underwriters in the manner contemplatedihend in the Disclosure Package
and the Prospectus; or (iii) such as would notoeally be expected to have (x) a Material AdverecEor (y) a material adverse effect
on the performance by the Company of its obligationder this Agreement or the consummation by tagany of the transactions
contemplated hereby.



(m) Neither the issue and sale of the Securitieghmconsummation of any other of the transacti@rein contemplated nor the
fulfilment of the terms hereof will conflict withresult in a breach or violation of, or impositiohany lien, charge or encumbrance upon
any property or assets of the Company or any dubsidiaries pursuant to, (i) the charter or hyslaf the Company or comparable
constituting documents of any of its subsidiar{@sthe terms of any indenture, contract, leasertgage, deed of trust, note agreement,
loan agreement or other agreement, obligation, iiondcovenant or instrument to which the Companyny of its subsidiaries is a pa
or bound or to which its or their property is suljer (iii) any statute, law, rule, regulationdgment, order or decree applicable to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries of any coudutatory body, administrative agency, governmebaaly, arbitrator or other authority
having jurisdiction over the Company or any ofsitdsidiaries or any of its or their properties,eptdn the case of (ii) and (iii) where
such conflict, breach, violation, imposition, chaugr encumbrance would not reasonably be expectedve (x) a Material Adverse
Effect or (y) a material adverse effect on the penfance of this Agreement or the consummation @tthinsactions contemplated hereby.

(n) No holders of securities of the Company haghts to the registration of such securities undeRegistration Statement.

(0) The consolidated historical financial statersearid schedules of the Company and its consolidatiesidiaries included in the
Preliminary Prospectus, the Prospectus and thesRatipn Statement present fairly, in all materéggpects, the consolidated financial
condition, results of operations and cash flowthefCompany and its consolidated subsidiaries #seoflates and for the periods
indicated, comply as to form in all material redpagith the applicable accounting requirementshefAct and have been prepared in
conformity with generally accepted accounting pipfes applied on a consistent basis throughoupér®ds involved (except as
otherwise noted therein). The selected financitd dat forth under the caption “Selected Consdidi&inancial Information” in the
Preliminary Prospectus, the Prospectus and Retistratatement fairly present in all material regpeon the basis stated in the
Preliminary Prospectus, the Prospectus and thesRatijpn Statement, the information included therei

(p) The selected financial data set forth underctiygtion “Selected Consolidated Financial Informitiin the Preliminary
Prospectus, the Prospectus and Registration Statdaidy present, in all material respects, on llasis stated in the Preliminary
Prospectus, the Prospectus and the Registratitenstat, the information included therein, comply@#rm in all material respects w
the applicable accounting requirements of the Actlaave been prepared in conformity with U.S. galheaccepted accounting
principles applied on a consistent basis througtiwaiperiods involved.

(a) No action, suit or proceeding by or before aayrt or governmental agency, authority or bodgmy arbitrator involving the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or its or tipeoperty is pending or, to the knowledge of the @any, threatened that would
reasonably be expected to have (i) a material adveffect on the
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performance of this Agreement or the consummatfdhetransactions contemplated hereby or (ii) ddvial Adverse Effect, except in
the case of clause (ii) as set forth in or contexegl in the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus.

(r) Each of the Company and its subsidiaries owrlsases all such properties as are necessarg totiduct of its respective
operations as presently conducted, except wherailoee to own or lease any such property woultireasonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect.

(s) Neither the Company nor any of its subsidialiiged on Schedule Il hereto is in violation ofaldt of any provision of its
charter or bylaws or comparable constituting doausieNone of the subsidiaries of the Company stedi on Schedule 1l hereto is in
violation or default of any provision of its charte bylaws or comparable constituting documentsept where such violation or default
would not reasonably be expected to have a Matédaerse Effect. Neither the Company nor any ositbsidiaries is in violation or
default of (i) the terms of any indenture, contrd&ase, mortgage, deed of trust, note agreengart,dgreement or other agreement,
obligation, condition, covenant or instrument toiethit is a party or bound or to which its propeigysubject, or (ii) any statute, law, rule,
regulation, judgment, order or decree of any caegulatory body, administrative agency, governmlenbdy, arbitrator or other author
having jurisdiction over the Company or such sulsjdor any of its properties, as applicable, excepthe case of the foregoing clauses
(i) and (ii), where such violation or default wouldt reasonably be expected to have a Material AsgvEffect.

(t) PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, who have certifiedain financial statements of the Company anddtssolidated subsidiaries
and delivered their report with respect to the saticonsolidated financial statements and scheduésled in the Preliminary
Prospectus and the Prospectus, are independeint pabbuntants with respect to the Company withenrheaning of the Act and the
applicable published rules and regulations thereund

(u) There are no transfer taxes or other similas fer charges under federal law or the laws ofstaie, or any political subdivision
thereof, required to be paid by the Company in egtion with the execution and delivery of this Agmeent or the issuance or sale by the
Company of the Securities.

(v) The Company and each of its subsidiaries Hed &ll tax returns that are required to be filedhas requested extensions thereof
(except in any case in which the failure so toiteuld not reasonably be expected to have a Matkdeerse Effect, except as set fortl
or contemplated in the Disclosure Package and thepectus) and has paid all taxes required to laehyait and any other assessment,
fine or penalty levied against it, to the exterattany of the foregoing is due and payable, exie@Eny such assessment, fine or penalty
that is currently being contested in good faitaemould not reasonably be expected to have a Mbeatverse Effect, except as set fo
in or contemplated in the Disclosure Package aedPtiospectus.
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(w) No labor problem or dispute with the employeéthe Company or any of its subsidiaries existidmthe knowledge of the
Company, is threatened or imminent, and the Compasynot received notice of any existing or immtriahor disturbance by the
employees of any of its or its subsidiaries’ pnpadisuppliers, contractors or customers, that woedgonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect, except as set forth itontemplated in the Disclosure Package and thepBctiss.

(x) The Company and each of its subsidiaries aered by insurers of recognized financial respalityilunder policies currently i
full force and effect against such material losmed risks and in such amounts as are prudent atdroary in the businesses in which
they are engaged; the Company and each of itsdiabies are in compliance with the terms of suclicigs and instruments in all
material respects; and there are no material clayrthe Company or any of its subsidiaries undgrsarch policy or instrument as to
which any insurance company is denying liabilitydefending under a reservation of rights clausgheethe Company nor any such
subsidiary has been refused any insurance covemgght or applied for; and neither the Companyamyr such subsidiary has any rea
to believe that it will not be able to renew itsstig insurance coverage as and when such covergaees or to obtain similar coverage
from similar insurers as may be necessary to coatits business at a cost that would reasonabéxpected to not have a Material
Adverse Effect, except as set forth in or conteneglan the Disclosure Package and the Prospectus.

(y) No subsidiary of the Company listed on Schedukbereto is currently prohibited by agreementontract, directly or indirectly,
from paying any dividends to the Company, from mgkany other distribution on such subsidiary’s taptock, from repaying to the
Company any loans or advances to such subsidiany fihe Company or from transferring any of suchssgliary’s property or assets to
the Company, except as described in the Discld3aockage and the Prospectus.

(z) The Company and its subsidiaries possessahgies, certificates, permits and other authooimatissued by all applicable
authorities necessary to conduct their respectisginiesses, except where the failure to possessuatylicense, certificate, permit or ot
authorization would not have a Material AdversecEff and neither the Company nor any such subgitias received any notice of
proceedings relating to the revocation or modifaabf any such license, certificate, authorizatirpermit which would reasonably be
expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, exaspet forth in or contemplated in the Disclosuaek@ge and the Prospectus.

(aa) The Company and each of its subsidiaries muaiat system of internal accounting controls sidfitto provide reasonable
assurance that (i) transactions are executed or@acce with management’s general or specific aigioons; (ii) transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation ofi¢iahstatements in conformity with generally adeejpaccounting principles and to
maintain asset accountability; (iii) access to tssiepermitted only in accordance with managensegegheral or specific authorization;
and (iv) the recorded accountability for assetimpared with the existing assets at reasonatdevals and appropriate action is taken
with respect to any differences. The Company andubsidiaries are not aware of any material wesskimetheir internal control over
financial reporting, except as otherwise set fantthe Disclosure Package and the Prospectus.
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(bb) The Company and its subsidiaries maintaincéffe “disclosure controls and procedures” (as decim is defined in Rule 13a-
15(e) under the Exchange Act).

(cc) The Company has not taken, directly or indiye@ny action designed to or that would constitok that would reasonably be
expected to cause or result in, under the Exchawger otherwise, stabilization or manipulationtbé price of any security of the
Company to facilitate the sale or resale of theugiges.

(dd) The Company and its subsidiaries are (i) imgliance with any and all applicable foreign, fedestate and local laws and
regulations relating to the protection of humanltheand safety, the environment or hazardous dctexbstances or wastes, pollutants or
contaminants (“Environmental Laws”), (ii) have reeel and are in compliance with all permits, licemer other approvals required of
them under applicable Environmental Laws to condhugir respective businesses and (iii) have natived notice of any actual or
potential liability under any Environmental Law,cexpt where such non-compliance with Environmengal4, failure to receive required
permits, licenses or other approvals, or liabilitgyuld not reasonably be expected to have a Mat&daérse Effect, except as set forth in
or contemplated in the Disclosure Package and thepectus. Except as set forth in the Disclosuok#ge and the Prospectus, neithe
Company nor any of the subsidiaries has been named'potentially responsible party” under the Coghpnsive Environmental
Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1380amended.

(ee) None of the following events has occurredxists: (i) a failure by the Company or any of itssidiaries to fulfill the
obligations, if any, under the minimum funding stards of Section 302 of the United States Empldyetrement Income Security Act
of 1974, as amended, and the regulations and pebliterpretations thereunder (“ERISA”) with resi® a Plan (as defined below),
determined without regard to any waiver of suchgations or extension of any amortization peridai;an audit or investigation by the
Internal Revenue Service, the U.S. Department bbtahe Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation grather federal or state
governmental agency or any foreign regulatory agevith respect to the employment or compensatioangployees by the Company or
any of its subsidiaries that would reasonably heeeted to have a Material Adverse Effect; (iii) dmgach of any contractual obligation,
or any violation of law or applicable qualificatistandards, with respect to the employment or cosgat@on of employees by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries that would reabty be expected to have a Material Adverse Efféohe of the following events has
occurred or is reasonably likely to occur: (i) atemel increase in the aggregate amount of cortiohe required to be made to all Plan
the current fiscal year of the Company and its islidnses compared to the amount of such contrilmgtimade in the most recently
completed fiscal year of the Company and its sudses; (i) a material increase in the “accumutapest-retirement benefit
obligations” (within the meaning of Statement ofi&icial Accounting Standards 106) of the Compamlinsubsidiaries compared to
the amount of such obligations in the most recertiyipleted fiscal year of
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the Company and its subsidiaries; (iii) any evantandition giving rise to a liability for the Corapy or any of its subsidiaries under T
IV of ERISA that would reasonably be expected teeha Material Adverse Effect; or (iv) the filing afclaim by one or more employees
or former employees of the Company or any of itss@liaries related to their employment that woeldsonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect. For purposes of this paaad, the term “Plan” means a plan (within the nieguof Section 3(3) of ERISA)
subject to Title IV of ERISA with respect to whitle Company or any of its subsidiaries may haveliabylity.

(ff) The Company and its directors or officerstlieir capacities as such, have complied in all medteespects with the provisions
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the rulesragdlations promulgated in connection therewitte (tSarbanes-Oxley Act”)
applicable to them.

(99) Neither the Company nor any of its subsid&rier, to the knowledge of the Company, any direacfficer or employee of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, any agent gatimbehalf of the Company or any of its subsidmor any affiliate that directly or
indirectly through one or more intermediaries istcolled by the Company or any of its subsidiafmsch affiliate, a “downstream
affiliate”) is aware of or has taken any actionmedily or indirectly, that would result in a violkat by such persons of the Foreign Corrupt
Practices Act of 1977, as amended, and the rulésegulations thereunder (the “FCPAHcluding, without limitation, making use of t
mails or any means or instrumentality of interstaitenmerce corruptly in furtherance of an offer, payt, promise to pay or authorizat
of the payment of any money, or other propertyt, gifomise to give, or authorization of the givioiganything of value to any “foreign
official” (as such term is defined in the FCPA)amy foreign political party or official thereof any candidate for foreign political office,
in contravention of the FCPA; and the Companysitissidiaries and, to the knowledge of the Compasylownstream affiliates have
conducted their businesses in compliance with B4, and have instituted and maintained policies@ocedures designed to ensure,
and which are reasonably expected to continuegarencontinued compliance therewith.

(hh) The operations of the Company and its subdédiaare and have been conducted at all timesrptiance with applicable
financial recordkeeping and reporting requirememis the money laundering statutes and the rulesegndations thereunder and any
related or similar rules, regulations or guidelinesued, administered or enforced by any govertahagency (collectively, the “Money
Laundering Laws”) and no action, suit or proceediggr before any court or governmental agencyh@ity or body or any arbitrator
involving the Company or any of its subsidiarieshwiespect to the Money Laundering Laws is pendingo the knowledge of the
Company, threatened.

(ii) Neither the Company nor any of its subsidianmr, to the knowledge of the Company, any diredficer, agent, employee or
downstream affiliate of the Company or any of itbsidiaries is currently subject to any sanctiamiaistered by the Office of Foreign
Assets Control of the U.S. Treasury Department #GPF; and the Company will not directly or indirégiuse the proceeds of the
offering, or lend,



contribute or otherwise make available such proseée@ny subsidiary, joint venture partner or oghenson or entity, for the purpose of
financing the activities of any person currentlpjegat to any U.S. sanctions administered by OFAC.

(i) The subsidiaries listed on Schedule Il attathereto are the only significant subsidiarieshef Company as defined by Rule 1-
02 of Regulation S-X.

(kk) The Company and its subsidiaries own, posdiessise or have other rights to use all materdépts, patent applications, trade
and service marks, trade and service mark regmtigttrade names, copyrights, licenses, inventimade secrets, technology, know-how
and other intellectual property (collectively, thitellectual Property”) necessary for the condoicthe business of the Company and its
subsidiaries as now conducted or as proposed iDif®@osure Package and the Prospectus to be ctattuexcept as set forth in the
Preliminary Prospectus and the Prospectus undexaiitton “Business—Intellectual Property,” (a) e knowledge of the Company,
there are no ownership rights of third partiesrty ktellectual Property owned by the Company ®iStibsidiaries (the “Company
Intellectual Property”); (b) to the knowledge oét@ompany, there is no material infringement bydtparties of any Company
Intellectual Property; (c) there is no pendingtorthe knowledge of the Company, threatened actioit, proceeding or claim by others
challenging the rights of the Company or any ofitbsidiaries in or to any Company Intellectualderty, and the Company is unaware
of any facts which would form a reasonable basisfty such claim; (d) to the knowledge of the Conypahere is no pending or
threatened action, suit, proceeding or claim bexsttthallenging the validity or scope of any Comypktellectual Property; (e) there is
no pending or, to the knowledge of the Companyedtened action, suit, proceeding or claim by ottireasthe Company or any of its
subsidiaries infringes or otherwise violates antept trademark, copyright, trade secret or otmepietary rights of others; and (f) to the
knowledge of the Company, the Company is not igfrig any patent or patent application (to the exéepatent does issue with such
claims) of any third party. The Company and itssédiaries have, or will have on the Closing Datdid; and enforceable licenses in and
to, or rights to use, patents, patent applicatioopyrights, trade secrets, and know-how ownedaotrolled by EMC Corporation and its
subsidiaries that are used in the conduct of tlsinless of the Company and its subsidiaries as oducted or as proposed in the
Disclosure Package and the Prospectus to be cadluct

(Il) Except as disclosed in the Disclosure Packathe Prospectus, neither the Company nor aity stibsidiaries (i) to the
knowledge of the Company, has any material lendingther material relationship with any bank ordeg affiliate of the Underwriters
or (ii) intends to use any of the proceeds fromghle of the Securities hereunder to repay anyandsg debt owed to any affiliate of 1
Underwriters.

(mm) The Company has furnished to the Represeptatetter substantially in the form_of ExhibihAreto from each of its
directors and executive officers addressed to #résentatives.
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(nn) The Company has furnished to the RepreseptatiMetter substantially in the form_of ExhibihBreto from EMC Corporation
addressed to the Representatives.

Any certificate signed by any officer of the Compamnd delivered to the Representatives or couns¢he Underwriters in connection

with the offering of the Securities shall be deeragdpresentation and warranty by the Companyg #eetmatters covered thereby, to each
Underwriter.

2. Purchase and Sal@) Subject to the terms and conditions and iraneke upon the representations and warranties hegeforth,
the Company agrees to sell to each Underwriter eaioti Underwriter agrees, severally and not jojmtiypurchase from the Company, at
a purchase price of $  per share, the amount of the Underwritten Secar#tet forth opposite such Underwriter’s name ine8cite |
hereto.

(b) Subject to the terms and conditions and irarele upon the representations and warranties hegeforth, the Company hereby
grants an option to the several Underwriters talpase, severally and not jointly, up to 4,950,0@did» Securities at the same purchase
price per share as the Underwriters shall payifeldnderwritten Securities. Said option may be @zed only to cover oveaotments it
the sale of the Underwritten Securities by the Wwediéers. Said option may be exercised in wholéguart at any time on or before the
30th day after the date of the Prospectus upotenrir telegraphic notice by the RepresentativésadCompany setting forth the num
of shares of the Option Securities as to whichstheeral Underwriters are exercising the optiontaedsettlement date. The number of
Option Securities to be purchased by each Undesmshall be the same percentage of the total nunftsrares of the Option Securities
to be purchased by the several Underwriters as Jaderwriter is purchasing of the Underwritten Sé@s, subject to such adjustments
as you in your absolute discretion shall make imiahte any fractional shares.

3. Delivery and PaymenDelivery of and payment for the Underwritten Setiesiand the Option Securities (if the option pdad
for in Section 2(b) hereof shall have been exedc@eor before the third Business Day immediategcpding the Closing Date) shall be made
at 10:00 AM, New York City time, on , 2007, or at such time on such later date not rtiae three Business Days after the
foregoing date as the Representatives shall dasigwaich date and time may be postponed by agneebedween the Representatives and the
Company or as provided in Section 9 hereof (sut¢h dad time of delivery and payment for the Semgibeing herein called the “Closing
Date”). Delivery of the Securities shall be madé¢ht® Representatives for the respective accourtteaeveral Underwriters against payment
by the several Underwriters through the Represeetabf the purchase price thereof to or upon tierof the Company by wire transfer
payable in same-day funds to an account specifigtids Company. Delivery of the Underwritten Sedesitand the Option Securities shall be
made through the facilities of The Depository Tr@smpany unless the Representatives shall othemsseict.

If the option provided for in Section 2(b) heresfeixercised after the third Business Day immedigietceding the Closing Date,
the Company will deliver the Option
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Securities as specified in the foregoing paragraptthe date specified by the Representatives twstiall be within three Business Days after
exercise of said option) for the respective accooithe several Underwriters, against paymentbyseveral Underwriters through the
Representatives of the purchase price thereof typon the order of the Company by wire transfergdgy in same-day funds to an account
specified by the Company. If settlement for thei@pSecurities occurs after the Closing Date, tben@any will deliver to the Representatives
on the settlement date for the Option Securitied,tae obligation of the Underwriters to purchdse ®ption Securities shall be conditioned
upon receipt of, supplemental opinions, certifisaad letters confirming as of such date the opiicertificates and letters delivered on the
Closing Date pursuant to Section 6 hereof.

4. Offering by Underwriterdt is understood that the several Underwriters psepto offer the Securities for sale to the pubdicet
forth in the Prospectus.

5. AgreementsThe Company agrees with the several Underwriteats th

(a) Prior to the termination of the offering of tBecurities, the Company will not file any amendtrefrthe Registration Statement
or supplement to the Prospectus or any Rule 462¢pjstration Statement unless the Company hasshediyou a copy for your review
prior to filing and will not file any such proposathendment or supplement to which you reasonalcbblrhe Company will cause the
Prospectus and any supplement thereto to be filedform approved by the Representatives with th@@ission pursuant to the
applicable paragraph of Rule 424(b) within the tipeeiod prescribed. The Company will promptly aévise Representatives (i) when
the Prospectus, and any supplement thereto, shadl heen filed (if required) with the Commissiomsuant to Rule 424(b) or when any
Rule 462(b) Registration Statement shall have figahwith the Commission, (ii) when, prior to teimation of the offering of the
Securities, any amendment to the Registration Bté shall have been filed or become effectivg,dfiany request by the Commission
or its staff for any amendment of the Registratdatement, or any Rule 462(b) Registration Staténoerfior any supplement to the
Prospectus or for any additional information, @)}he issuance by the Commission of any stop asdspending the effectiveness of the
Registration Statement or the institution or theeatg of any proceeding for that purpose and (whefreceipt by the Company of any
notification with respect to the suspension ofdhalification of the Securities for sale in anyigdiiction or the institution or threatening
of any proceeding for such purpose. The Companiyusd its reasonable best efforts to prevent thaaisce of any such stop order or the
occurrence of any such suspension to the use dtelgéstration Statement and, upon such issuancecnirrence, to obtain as soon as
possible the withdrawal of such stop order or fdfigm such occurrence, including, if necessaryfilryyg an amendment to the
Registration Statement or a new registration statérand using its reasonable best efforts to haske amendment or new registration
statement declared effective as soon as practicable

(b) If, at any time prior to the filing of the Pmexctus pursuant to Rule 424(b), any event occuasrasult of which the Disclosure
Package would include any untrue statement of aniahfact or omit to state any material fact nesegg to make the statements therei
the light of the circumstances under which theyenaade or the
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circumstances then prevailing not misleading, tbenfany will (i) notify promptly the Representativ@s that any use of the Disclosure
Package may cease until it is amended or supplemgfif) amend or supplement the Disclosure Packagerrect such statement or
omission; and (iii) supply any amendment or supg@etnto you in such quantities as you may reasonaijyest.

(c) If, at any time when a prospectus relating® $ecurities is required to be delivered undeAitigincluding in circumstances
where such requirement may be satisfied pursuaRtte 172), any event occurs as a result of whHiehRrospectus as then supplemented
would include any untrue statement of a materietl é@ omit to state any material fact necessamasie the statements therein in the |
of the circumstances under which they were madkecircumstances then prevailing not misleadingf, ib shall be necessary to amend
the Registration Statement or supplement the Pctgpéo comply with the Act or the rules thereundee Company promptly will
() notify the Representatives of any such eveitpfepare and file with the Commission, subjecthe first sentence of paragraph (a) of
this Section 5, an amendment or supplement whidllrcairect such statement or omission or effechstmmpliance; and (iii) supply any
supplemented Prospectus to you in such quantiigea may reasonably request.

(d) As soon as practicable after the Effective Dite Company will make generally available tosigurity holders and to the
Representatives an earnings statement or statewfethis Company and its subsidiaries which wilisfgtthe provisions of Section 11(a)
of the Act and Rule 158.

(e) The Company will furnish to the Representatiaed counsel for the Underwriters, without chasjgned copies of the
Registration Statement (including exhibits theretod to each other Underwriter a conformed cophefRegistration Statement (without
exhibits thereto) and, so long as delivery of aspeztus by an Underwriter or dealer may be requiyetthe Act (including in
circumstances where such requirement may be satipfirsuant to Rule 172), as many copies of eaglinttnary Prospectus, the
Prospectus and any supplement thereto, and eadr IBeee Writing Prospectus intended for genesttiblution to prospective investors,
and any amendment or supplement thereto, as theefamatives may reasonably request. The Compdhpayithe expenses of printir
or other production of all documents relating te tifering.

(f) The Company will arrange, if necessary, for tjualification of the Securities for sale under lgngs of such jurisdictions as the
Representatives may designate and will maintaih su@lifications in effect so long as requiredtfeg distribution of the Securities;
provided that in no event shall the Company begaltdid (i) to qualify to do business in any jurisidic where it is not now so qualified,
(i) to take any action that would subject it ta\dee of process in suits, other than those arisiigof the offering or sale of the Securit
in any jurisdiction where it is not now so subjectiii) to subject itself to taxation where it widuwtherwise not be subject.
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(g) The Company will not, without the prior writteonsent of the Representatives, offer, sell, eattio sell, pledge, or otherwise
dispose of (or enter into any transaction whictidsigned to, or might reasonably be expected sojtrin the disposition (whether by
actual disposition or effective economic dispositihue to cash settlement or otherwise) by the Camnpaany downstream affiliate of
the Company), directly or indirectly, including tfikng (or participation in the filing) of a redistion statement with the Commission or
the establishment or increase of a put equivalesitipn or liquidation or decrease of a call eqléwa position within the meaning of
Section 16 of the Exchange Act with respect to, strgres of Common Stock or any securities converititbo, or exercisable, or
exchangeable for, shares of Common Stock, or gylditnounce an intention to effect any such tramsacfor a period of 180 days fro
the date of the Prospectus, providdwwever, that the foregoing does not apply to (a) theraffgof the Securities pursuant to this
Agreement; (b) any filing by the Company of anyise@gtion statement on Form S-8 in respect of Com&twck or securities convertible
into, or exercisable or exchangeable for, CommariSt(c) offers, sales, contracts to sell, theasse of or the registration of Common
Stock or securities convertible into, or exercisadnl exchangeable for, Common Stock pursuant egaity-based compensation plan of
the Company in effect at the time of this Agreemant (d) offers, sales, contracts to sell, thedase of or the registration of Common
Stock or securities convertible into, or exercisadnl exchangeable for, Common Stock by the Compargonsideration for one or more
acquisitions, providethat (x) any acquirer of such Common Stock entais & lock-up agreement with the Representativbstantially
in the form attached hereto as Exhibipor to the completion of any such acquisitiond &) the aggregate number of shares of
Common Stock or securities convertible into, orreisable or exchangeable for, Common Stock issuedjeeed to be issued by us in all
such acquisitions (measured as of the date ofghkcable acquisition agreement) does not exceeaill®n shares of Common Stock.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if (x) during thestd 7 days of the 180-day restricted period the @y issues an earnings release or
material news or a material event relating to thenany occurs, or (y) prior to the expiration ¢ tt80-day restricted period, the
Company announces that it will release earninggtseduring the 16-day period following the lasyad the 180-day period, the
restrictions imposed in this clause shall contituapply until the expiration of the 18-day perlmehjinning on the issuance of the
earnings release or the occurrence of the mategiab or material event (such 180-day period, amit be extended pursuant to the terms
of this Agreement, the “Lock-Up Period”).

(h) The Company will require, as a condition totggation in the Exchange Offer or to the receipany option or other equity-
based award to be granted at or around the Cl&xatg and described in the Disclosure Package anBrbspectus, that each participant
in the exchange offer or recipient of any such avagree with the Company to the restrictions sehfm an “Election to Exchange”
substantially in the form Exhibit Bereto, and the Company will not waive, releasetberwise amend the obligations of any such
participant or recipient thereunder without theopriritten consent of the Representatives.
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(i) The Company will not, during the Lock-Up Perjaiend, modify or allow any exceptions to the feglgolicy described in the
Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, withouirtbewritten consent of the Representatives.

() The Company will not take, directly or indirgGtany action designed to or that would constitut¢éhat might reasonably be
expected to cause or result in, under the Exchaeger otherwise, stabilization or manipulationtbé price of any security of the
Company to facilitate the sale or resale of theugiges.

(k) The Company agrees to pay the costs and expeelsing to the following matters: (i) the pregiion, printing or reproduction
and filing with the Commission of the RegistratiBtatement (including financial statements and aththereto), each Preliminary
Prospectus, the Prospectus and each Issuer FréagNRiospectus, and each amendment or supplemanitof them; (ii) the printing
(or reproduction) and delivery (including postaagie freight charges and charges for counting artkgging) of such copies of the
Registration Statement, each Preliminary ProspetitadProspectus and each Issuer Free Writing Betisp, and all amendments or
supplements to any of them, as may, in each caseasonably requested for use in connection Wwétoffering and sale of the
Securities; (i) the preparation, printing, autlieation, issuance and delivery of certificatestfr Securities, including any stamp or
transfer taxes in connection with the original &ste and sale of the Securities by the Compartyet&Jhderwriters; (iv) the printing (or
reproduction) and delivery of this Agreement, ahyelsky memorandum and all other agreements orrdents printed (or reproduced)
and delivered in connection with the offering of tRecurities; (v) the registration of the Secwsitiader the Exchange Act and the listing
of the Securities on the New York Stock Exchangg;gny registration or qualification of the Sedias for offer and sale under the
securities or blue sky laws of the several stateguding filing fees and the reasonable fees aqutrses of one counsel for the
Underwriters relating to such registration and dicaltion); (vii) any filings required to be madettvthe NASD, Inc. (including filing
fees and the reasonable fees and expenses of tfantse Underwriters relating to such filingsyji{) the transportation and other
expenses incurred by or on behalf of Company reptasives in connection with presentations to peope purchasers of the Securiti
(ix) the fees and expenses of the Company’s acaatsmand the fees and expenses of counsel (ingllmiial and special counsel) for the
Company; and (x) all other costs and expenseséntit the performance by the Company of its okiligs hereunder; provided
however, that (1) the Underwriters shall pay or reimbutee Company for up to $190,000 of the costs inclimeconnection with the
offering of the Securities, and (2) except to theept otherwise expressly provided in this Sec&@q or in Sections 6, 7 or 8 hereof, the
Underwriters shall pay their own costs and expeirsgsding the fees and expenses of their counstklae expenses of advertising any
offering of the Securities made the Underwriters.

() The Company agrees that, unless it has or slaak obtained the prior written consent of therBsgntatives, and each
Underwriter, severally and not jointly, agrees wilie Company that, unless it has or shall haveimddaas the case may be, the prior
written consent of the Company, it has not madevaitichot make any offer
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relating to the Securities that would constitutdssuer Free Writing Prospectus or that would atfie® constitute a Free Writing
Prospectus that is required to be filed by the Camypwith the Commission or retained by the Compamyer Rule 433; providetthat the
prior written consent of the parties hereto shaldeemed to have been given in respect of theWrgmg Prospectuses included in
Schedule 11l hereto. Each Underwriter, severallgt aot jointly, agrees with the Company that, uniesss or shall have obtained, as the
case may be, the prior consent of the Companysitiiot made and will not make any offer relatinth Securities through a bona fide
electronic road show, as defined in Rule 433. Amy fwriting prospectus consented to in writing by Representatives or the Company
is hereinafter referred to as a “Permitted FredigyiProspectus.” The Company agrees that (x)sttheated and will treat, as the case
may be, each Permitted Free Writing Prospectus éssaier Free Writing Prospectus and (y) it haspiimd and will comply, as the case
may be, with the requirements of Rules 164 andaff8icable to any Permitted Free Writing Prospedhauding in respect of timely
filing with the Commission (if required), legendiagd record keeping.

6. Conditions to the Obligations of the Underwstefhe obligations of the Underwriters to purchdse Wnderwritten Securities
and the Option Securities, as the case may bd,Ishalibject to the accuracy of the representatiiswarranties on the part of the Company
contained herein as of the Execution Time, the i6fpBate and any settlement date pursuant to Se8tlrereof, to the accuracy of the
statements of the Company made in any certifigatiesuant to the provisions hereof, to the perforredry the Company of its obligations
hereunder and to the following additional condigipn

(a) The Prospectus, and any supplement therete, tegen filed in the manner and within the timequriequired by Rule 424(b);
any other material required to be filed by the Camppursuant to Rule 433(d) under the Act shalkhaeen filed with the Commission
within the applicable time periods prescribed factsfilings by Rule 433; and no stop order suspegthe effectiveness of the
Registration Statement or any notice objectingdaise shall have been issued by the Commission@apdoceedings for that purpose
shall have been instituted or threatened.

(b) The Company shall have requested and causetti8kaArps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP, counseltfe Company, to have
furnished to the Representatives their opinioneddaie Closing Date and addressed to the Repréigsestasubstantially in the form
attached hereto as Exhibit. E

(c) [Intentionally omitted.]

(d) The Representatives shall have received frosai@Gottlieb Steen & Hamilton LLP, counsel for thederwriters, such opinion
or opinions, dated the Closing Date and address#tbtRepresentatives, with respect to the issuandesale of the Securities, the
Registration Statement, the Disclosure PackageRithgpectus (together with any supplement theeetd)other related matters as the
Representatives may reasonably require, and thep&@ayrshall have furnished to such counsel suchrdents as they request for the
purpose of enabling them to pass upon such matters.
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(e) The Company shall have furnished to the Reptatiees a certificate of the Company, signed lgygtesident or the chief
executive officer of the Company and the princijgancial or accounting officer of the Company,eththe Closing Date, stating that the
signers of such certificate have carefully examitiedRegistration Statement, the Disclosure PackhgeProspectus and any amendment
or supplement thereto, as well as each electroaid show used in connection with the offering &f 8ecurities, and this Agreement and
that:

() the representations and warranties of the Camjiathis Agreement are true and correct on anof #se Closing Date wit
the same effect as if made on the Closing Datet€ompany has complied with all the agreemerdssatisfied all the conditio
on its part to be performed or satisfied at orpticthe Closing Date;

(i) no stop order suspending the effectiveneghefRegistration Statement and no proceedinghé&dmurpose have been
instituted or, to the Company’s knowledge, threaterand

(iii) since the date of the most recent financtatesments included in the Disclosure Package amétbspectus, there has b
no Material Adverse Effect, except as set fortbrimontemplated in the Disclosure Package and tbepectus.

(f) The Company shall have requested and causedwaterhouseCoopers LLP to have furnished to thedRentatives, at the
Execution Time and at the Closing Date, lettertediaespectively as of the Execution Time and ab®fClosing Date, substantially in
the form attached hereto as Exhibit F

(g) Subsequent to the Execution Time or, if earliee dates as of which information is given in Registration Statement and the
Prospectus, there shall not have been (i) any ehandecrease specified in the letter or lettefiermed to in paragraph (f) of this Sectio
or (ii) any change, or any development involvingraspective change, in or affecting the conditiitmaficial or otherwise), earnings,
business or properties of the Company and its digvgs taken as a whole, whether or not arisingnftransactions in the ordinary cou
of business, except as set forth in or contemplistdigde Disclosure Package and the Prospectudfin ef which, in any case referred to
in clause (i) or (ii) above, is, in the sole judgmef the Representatives, so material and adwerse make it impractical or inadvisable
proceed with the offering or delivery of the Setigd as contemplated by the Registration StatenttenDisclosure Package and the
Prospectus.

(h) The Securities shall have been listed and addhénd authorized for trading on the New York BtBgchange, and satisfactory
evidence of such actions shall have been providéde Representatives.

(i) Prior to the Closing Date, the Company shallhturnished to the Representatives such furthetificates and documents, of
types customarily furnished in transactions simitathe transactions contemplated hereby, as theeRentatives may reasonably reqt
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If any of the conditions specified in this Sect®shall not have been fulfilled when and as prodiohethis Agreement, or if any of the
opinions and certificates mentioned above or elsgevin this Agreement shall not be reasonablyfsatisry in form and substance to the
Representatives and counsel for the Underwritbis Agreement and all obligations of the Underwsiteereunder may be canceled at, or at
any time prior to, the Closing Date by the Représtéres. Notice of such cancellation shall be gitethe Company in writing or by telephone
or facsimile confirmed in writing. In connectiontivithe purchase of any Option Securities on anjeseént date, references to the “Closing
Date” in this Section 6 shall instead refer to sgettlement date.

The documents required to be delivered by thisi@eé shall be delivered at the office of Clearytiieb Steen & Hamilton LLP, couns
for the Underwriters, at One Liberty Plaza, New K,adew York 10006, on the Closing Date; providdwbwever, such documents may be
delivered to counsel for the Underwriters electraily on the Closing Date in the event that phylsiedivery as described above promptly
follows.

7. Reimbursement of UnderwritéiSxpenses If the sale of the Securities provided for helisinot consummated because any
condition to the obligations of the Underwriters feeth in Section 6 hereof is not satisfied, bessaaf any termination pursuant to Section 10
hereof or because of any refusal, inability oruialon the part of the Company to perform any agesg herein or comply with any provision
hereof other than by reason of a default by anthefUnderwriters, the Company will reimburse thelblmvriters severally through the
Representatives on demand for all documented rehmout-of-pocket expenses (including reasonade &nd disbursements of counsel) that
shall have been incurred by them in connection thiéhproposed purchase and sale of the Securities.

8. Indemnification and Contributiona) The Company agrees to indemnify and hold kessneach Underwriter, the directors,
officers, employees and agents of each Underwaitdreach person who controls any Underwriter withehmeaning of either the Act or
the Exchange Act against any and all losses, cladarmages or liabilities, joint or several, to whtbey or any of them may become
subject under the Act, the Exchange Act or othdeffal or state statutory law or regulation, at camaw or otherwise, insofar as such
losses, claims, damages or liabilities (or actiongspect thereof) arise out of or are based @myruntrue statement or alleged untrue
statement of a material fact contained in the tegjion statement for the registration of the Sitigsras originally filed or in any
amendment thereof, or in any Preliminary ProspecthesProspectus or any Issuer Free Writing Pragpexr in any amendment thereof
or supplement thereto, or arise out of or are bapet the omission or alleged omission to stateethea material fact required to be
stated therein or necessary to make the statenartsn not misleading, and agrees to reimbursk sach indemnified party, as
incurred, for any legal or other expenses reasgrinburred by them in connection with investigatimgdefending any such loss, claim,
damage, liability or action; providedhowever, that the Company will not be liable in any sueeto the extent that any such loss,
claim, damage or liability arises out of or is hs@on any
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such untrue statement or alleged untrue statenmanhission or alleged omission made therein iraregle upon and in conformity with
written information furnished to the Company byoorbehalf of any Underwriter through the Reprederga specifically for inclusion
therein. This indemnity agreement will be in adatitto any liability which the Company may otherwiseve.

(b) Each Underwriter severally and not jointly aggéo indemnify and hold harmless the Company, e&ih directors, each of its
officers who signs the Registration Statement, each person who controls the Company within theningeof either the Act or the
Exchange Act, to the same extent as the foregoidgnnity from the Company to each Underwriter,dnly with reference to written
information relating to such Underwriter furnishtecthe Company by or on behalf of such Underwtiteough the Representatives
specifically for inclusion in the documents referte in the foregoing indemnity. This indemnity agment will be in addition to any
liability which any Underwriter may otherwise havédhe Company acknowledges that the statementsmbt(f) in the last paragraph of
the cover page regarding delivery of the Securaied, under the heading “Underwriting,” (i) thetlof Underwriters and their respective
participation in the sale of the Securities, (iii¢ sentences related to concessions and reallesaaed (iv) the paragraph related to
stabilization, syndicate covering transactions padalty bids in the Preliminary Prospectus andPitespectus constitute the only
information furnished in writing by or on behalf thfe several Underwriters for inclusion in the Rémgition Statement, Preliminary
Prospectus or the Prospectus, or any amendmenpplesnent thereto, or any Issuer Free Writing Rro&[s.

(c) Promptly after receipt by an indemnified partyder this Section 8 of notice of the commencernéahy action, such
indemnified party will, if a claim in respect thefés to be made against the indemnifying partyarrttis Section 8, notify the
indemnifying party in writing of the commencememeteof; but the failure so to notify the indemnifyiparty (i) will not relieve it from
liability under paragraph (a) or (b) above unlesd t the extent it did not otherwise learn of saction and such failure results in the
forfeiture by the indemnifying party of substanti@ghts and defenses and (ii) will not, in any dyeelieve the indemnifying party from
any obligations to any indemnified party other ttia@ indemnification obligation provided in parggnga) or (b) above. The
indemnifying party shall be entitled to appoint neal (including local counsel) of the indemnifyipagrty’s choice at the indemnifying
party’s expense to represent the indemnified gargny action for which indemnification is sought hich case the indemnifying party
shall not thereafter be responsible for the feesepenses of any separate counsel retained bgdbmnified party or parties except as
set forth below); providegdhowever, that such counsel shall be reasonably satisfatdathe indemnified party. Notwithstanding the
indemnifying party’s election to appoint counsetépresent the indemnified party in an action,ittdemnified party shall have the right
to employ separate counsel (including local coynseld the indemnifying party shall bear the reabbmfees, costs and expenses of such
separate counsel if (i) the use of counsel chogehdindemnifying party to represent the indeneaifparty would present such counsel
with a conflict of interest, (ii) the actual or paotial defendants in, or targets of, any such adticlude both the indemnified party and the
indemnifying party and the indemnified party stedve reasonably concluded
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that there may be legal defenses available todtaarother indemnified parties which are differéoin or additional to those available to
the indemnifying party, (i) the indemnifying pgirshall not have employed counsel satisfactorpéoindemnified party to represent the
indemnified party within a reasonable time afteticeof the institution of such action or (iv) tlrelemnifying party shall authorize the
indemnified party to employ separate counsel aettpense of the indemnifying party; providdtbwever, the indemnifying party shall
not, in connection with any one such action or sseebut substantially similar or related actiam¢hie same jurisdiction arising out of 1
same general allegations or circumstances, besliafdier this Section 8 for the reasonable feesapednses of more than one separate
firm of attorneys at any time for all such indenmeif parties (in addition to any local counsel), ethfirm, if not designated by the
indemnifying party, shall be designated in writingthe Representatives for any indemnification $owmder Section 8(a) or by the
Company for any indemnification sought under Sec8¢b). An indemnifying party will not, without tharior written consent of the
indemnified parties, settle or compromise or cohgethe entry of any judgment with respect to gepding or threatened claim, action,
suit or proceeding in respect of which indemnifisator contribution may be sought hereunder (whetheot the indemnified parties are
actual or potential parties to such claim or agtiamess such settlement, compromise or consehidas an unconditional release of each
indemnified party from all liability arising out afuch claim, action, suit or proceeding.

(d) In the event that the indemnity provided inggaaph (a), (b) or (c) of this Section 8 is unaafalé to or insufficient to hold
harmless an indemnified party for any reason, tbe@any and the Underwriters severally agree toritmrie to the aggregate losses,
claims, damages and liabilities (including legabtirer expenses reasonably incurred in connectitmimvestigating or defending the
same) (collectively “Losses”) to which the Compamgd one or more of the Underwriters may be sulijestich proportion as is
appropriate to reflect the relative benefits reediby the Company on the one hand and by the Umiersvon the other from the offeri
of the Securities; providedhowever, that in no case shall any Underwriter (excepbhag be provided in any agreement among
underwriters relating to the offering of the Setias) be responsible for any amount in excesseftitiderwriting discount or commission
applicable to the Securities purchased by such kiriter hereunder. If the allocation provided bg immediately preceding sentence is
unavailable for any reason, the Company and theebdwiters severally shall contribute in such prdijoor as is appropriate to reflect not
only such relative benefits but also the relataelff of the Company on the one hand and of the bivriters on the other in connection
with the statements or omissions which resulteslicth Losses, as well as any other relevant eqaitabisiderations. Benefits receivec
the Company shall be deemed to be equal to thertetgproceeds from the offering (before deducérgenses) received by it, and
benefits received by the Underwriters shall be d=kto be equal to the total underwriting discowams commissions, in each case as set
forth on the cover page of the Prospectus. Reldduk shall be determined by reference to, amadhgrathings, whether any untrue or
any alleged untrue statement of a material fath®@omission or alleged omission to state a matexdarelates to information provided
by the Company on the one hand or the Underwriterthe other, the intent of the parties and tredative knowledge, access to
information and opportunity to correct or prevemtts
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untrue statement or omission. The Company and titekriters agree that it would not be just andtagle if contribution were
determined by pro rata allocation or any other meétbf allocation which does not take account ofaheitable considerations referred to
above. Notwithstanding the provisions of this paagt (d), no person guilty of fraudulent misrepregagon (within the meaning of
Section 11(f) of the Act) shall be entitled to a@mtion from any person who was not guilty of sfictudulent misrepresentation. For
purposes of this Section 8, each person who cenéimlUnderwriter within the meaning of either thet Ar the Exchange Act and each
director, officer, employee and agent of an Undaenshall have the same rights to contributiosash Underwriter, and each person
who controls the Company within the meaning ofegitthe Act or the Exchange Act, each officer of @mnpany who shall have signed
the Registration Statement and each director o€tapany shall have the same rights to contribugimthe Company, subject in each
case to the applicable terms and conditions ofgthisgraph (d).

(e) The party listed on Schedule | to Annex A heigte “Indemnifying Underwriter”) hereby agreesndemnify and hold
harmless each of the Company, the Underwritere(dtian the Indemnifying Underwriter) and theimrestive officers, directors,
employees, agents and each person, if any, whoadstihe Company or any Underwriter (other thanltttemnifying Underwriter)
within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securifies, or Section 20 of the Exchange Act (collectiwehe “Indemnified Parties”agains
any and all losses, claims, damages, expensesdingl without limitation, fees and expenses ddraeys) or liabilities (or actions in
respect thereof) (collectively, the “Liabilitiesf any nature to the extent arising, directly atiiactly, out of or relating to the
transmission by the Indemnifying Underwriter byattenic mail of the text and related attachmerguoh email, each in the form set fc
in Annex A (the “Communication”), to certain potetpurchasers.

The provisions of Sections 8(c) hereunder shallyatgpthis Section 8(e), provided that, for the ses of this Section 8(e), (i) all
references to the indemnifying party shall be ustierd to refer to the Indemnifying Underwriter) @il references to Section 8, 8(a), ¢
or 8(c) shall be understood to refer to this Sec8(e); and (iii) the following phrase shall backen from the third sentence of Section 8
(c): “the Representatives for any indemnificationght under Section 8(a) or by the Company forindgmnification sought under
Section 8(b)” and replaced with the following: “tRepresentatives for any indemnification soughthgyUnderwriters (other than the
Indemnifying Underwriter) and their respective offis, directors, employees, agents and each péfsmy, who controls any
Underwriter (other than the Indemnifying Underwriiteind by the Company for any indemnification suatugy the Company or its
officers, directors, employees, agents and eacddopeif any, who controls the Company.”

If the indemnification provided for in this Secti8(e) is unavailable or insufficient to hold harsdean Indemnified Party in respect
of any Liabilities (or actions in respect theredfien the Indemnifying Underwriter shall contribtieethe amount paid or payable by the
Indemnifying Underwriter as a result of such Li&h#k (or actions in respect thereof) in such prtipo as is appropriate to reflect the
relative fault of such Indemnified Party on the dramd and the Indemnifying Underwriter on the oihezonnection with the distribution
of the Communication, as well as any other releegpiitable considerations. The relative fault & hdemnified Party on the one hand
and
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the Indemnifying Underwriter on the other shalldetermined by reference to, among other thingsidenatity of the party that distribut
the Communication. The amount paid or payable bindemnified Party as a result of the Liabilities &ctions in respect thereof)
referred to in this paragraph shall be deemeddindte any legal or other expenses reasonably iedury such Indemnified Party in
connection with investigating or defending any saction or claim. The obligations of the IndemnifyiUnderwriter under this Section 8
(e) shall be in addition to any liability that itay otherwise have.

9. Default by an Underwriterlf any one or more Underwriters shall fail to glase and pay for any of the Securities agreed to b
purchased by such Underwriter or Underwriters healeuand such failure to purchase shall constéwtefault in the performance of its or tt
obligations under this Agreement, the remaining émaditers shall be obligated severally to take ng pay for (in the respective proportions
which the amount of Securities set forth oppositgrtnames in Schedule | hereto bears to the agtg@gnount of Securities set forth opposite
the names of all the remaining Underwriters) theuiies which the defaulting Underwriter or Undeiters agreed but failed to purchase;
provided, however, that in the event that the aggregate amount afir@ees which the defaulting Underwriter or Undeiters agreed but faile
to purchase shall exceed 10% of the aggregate amb@ecurities set forth in Schedule | hereto,rfr@aining Underwriters shall have the
right to purchase all, but shall not be under apljgation to purchase any, of the Securities, &sdich nondefaulting Underwriters do not
purchase all the Securities, this Agreement withieate without liability to any nondefaulting Unsleiter or the Company. In the event of a
default by any Underwriter as set forth in thist®et9, the Closing Date shall be postponed fohqueriod, not exceeding five Business Days,
as the Representatives shall determine in ordéthbaequired changes in the Registration Statéerahthe Prospectus or in any other
documents or arrangements may be effected. Nottuntained in this Agreement shall relieve any digfegi Underwriter of its liability, if any
to the Company and any nondefaulting Underwriteidiamages occasioned by its default hereunder.

10. Termination This Agreement shall be subject to terminatiothmabsolute discretion of the Representativesidbige given to
the Company prior to delivery of and payment fa 8ecurities, if at any time prior to such delivand payment (i) trading in the Company’s
Common Stock shall have been suspended by the Cxsiumior the New York Stock Exchange or tradingdourities generally on the New
York Stock Exchange shall have been suspendedhided or minimum prices shall have been establigiveduch exchange, (ii) a banking
moratorium shall have been declared either by tdderNew York State authorities or (iii) there Bliave occurred any outbreak or escalation
of hostilities, declaration by the United Statesofational emergency or war, or other calamitgrais the effect of which on financial markets
is such as to make it, in the sole judgment ofRkpresentatives, impractical or inadvisable to @edcwith the offering or delivery of the
Securities as contemplated by the Preliminary Rycisis or the Prospectus.

11. Representations and Indemnities to Surviliee respective agreements, representations, nt@saindemnities and other
statements of the Company or its officers and efinderwriters set forth in or made pursuant te Agreement will remain in full force and
effect, regardless of any investigation made bgrobehalf of any Underwriter or the Company or afthe officers, directors, employees,
agents or controlling persons referred to in Sed@dereof, and will survive delivery of and paymfanr the Securities. The provisions of
Sections 7 and 8 hereof shall survive the termimadir cancellation of this Agreement.
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12. Notices All communications hereunder will be in writingdeffective only on receipt, and, (a) if sentie Representatives,
will be (i) telefaxed to the Citigroup Global Matkdnc. General Counsel (fax no.: (212) 816-79112) eonfirmed by post to Citigroup Global
Markets Inc., at 388 Greenwich Street, New YorkwiNéork 10013, Attention: General Counsel; (i) fabeed to the J.P. Morgan Securities
Syndicate Desk (fax no.: (212) 622-8358) and cargil by post to J.P. Morgan Securities Inc., atRak Avenue, 9 Floor, New York, New
York 10172, Attention: Syndicate Desk; and (iiilefaxed to the Lehman Brothers Inc. Syndicate Diepemt (fax no.: 646-934-8133) and
confirmed by post to Lehman Brothers Inc., 745 &8@vévenue, New York, NY 10019, Attention: Syndie&lepartment, and, in the case of a
notice pursuant to Section 8 hereof, also telefagddirector of Litigation, Office of the GenerabGnsel, Lehman Brothers Inc. (fax no.: 212-
520-0421) and confirmed by post to Lehman Brotlres 399 Park Avenue, T0Floor, New York, New York 10022, Attention: Directof
Litigation, Office of the General Counsel; or (bsént to the Company, will be mailed, deliveredetefaxed to (650) 475-5001 and confirmed
to it at 3210 Porter Drive, Palo Alto, CA 94304}é&kition: General Counsel.

13. SuccessorsThis Agreement will inure to the benefit of anelliinding upon the parties hereto and their respesticcessors
and, to the extent set forth in Section 8 herduns$, Agreement shall inure to the benefit of andimeling upon the officers, directors,
employees, agents and controlling persons refeor@gdsuch section, and no other person will hawergght or obligation hereunder.

14. No fiduciary duty The Company hereby acknowledges that (a) thehpsecand sale of the Securities pursuant to this
Agreement is an arm’s-length commercial transadtieveen the Company, on the one hand, and therWritkrs and any affiliate through
which it may be acting, on the other, (b) the Umdéers are acting as principal and not as an agefiluciary of the Company and (c) the
Company’s engagement of the Underwriters in conoeatith the offering and the process leading uth®offering is as independent
contractors and not in any other capacity. Furtleeemthe Company agrees that it is solely respta$ilo making its own judgments in
connection with the offering (irrespective of whatkany of the Underwriters has advised or is ctilyerdvising the Company on related or
other matters). The Company agrees that it willahaitn that the Underwriters have rendered adviseryices of any nature or respect, or owe
an agency, fiduciary or similar duty to the Companyconnection with such transaction or the predeading thereto.

15. Integration This Agreement supersedes all prior agreementsiaderstandings (whether written or oral) betwienCompany
and the Underwriters, or any of them, with respedhe subject matter hereof.

16. Applicable Law This Agreement will be governed by and constrimeatccordance with the laws of the State of Newkyor
applicable to contracts made and to be performéumihe State of New York.

23



17. Waiver of Jury Trial The Company hereby irrevocably waives, to thiesitilextent permitted by applicable law, any andigiht
to trial by jury in any legal proceeding arisingt @i or relating to this Agreement or the transatsi contemplated hereby.

18. CounterpartsThis Agreement may be signed in one or more @patts, each of which shall constitute an origaral all of
which together shall constitute one and the sameeagent.

19. Headings The section headings used herein are for conmeaienly and shall not affect the construction bkre
20. Definitions. The terms that follow, when used in this Agreetnshall have the meanings indicated.
“Act” shall mean the Securities Act of 1933, as adex, and the rules and regulations of the Comarigsiomulgated thereunder.

“Business Day” shall mean any day other than arSaiy a Sunday or a legal holiday or a day on whighking institutions or trust
companies are authorized or obligated by law teecia New York City.

“Commission” shall mean the Securities and ExchaDgemission.

“Disclosure Package” shall mean (i) the PreliminBrgspectus that is generally distributed to inmessand used to offer the
Securities, (ii) the Issuer Free Writing Prospeesysf any, identified in Schedule 11l hereto, diii) any other Free Writing Prospectus that the
parties hereto shall hereafter expressly agreaitimg to treat as part of the Disclosure Package.

“Effective Date” shall mean each date and time thatRegistration Statement, any post-effectiveratmeent or amendments
thereto and any Rule 462(b) Registration Statelnecame or becomes effective.

“Exchange Act” shall mean the Securities Exchangeoh 1934, as amended, and the rules and regngatibthe Commission
promulgated thereunder.

“Execution Time” shall mean the date and time thet Agreement is executed and delivered by thégsanereto.
“Free Writing Prospectus” shall mean a free writprgspectus, as defined in Rule 405.
“Issuer Free Writing Prospectus” shall mean andsee writing prospectus, as defined in Rule 433.

“Preliminary Prospectus” shall mean any preliminprgspectus referred to in paragraph 1(a) aboveaapgreliminary prospectus
included in the Registration Statement at the HEffedDate that omits Rule 430A Information.
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“Prospectus” shall mean the prospectus relatirthadSecurities that is first filed pursuant to RaiB#(b) after the Execution Time.

“Registration Statement” shall mean the registratiatement referred to in paragraph 1(a) aboe&jding exhibits and financial
statements and any prospectus supplement relatitig tSecurities that is filed with the Commissjamsuant to Rule 424(b) and deemed part
of such registration statement pursuant to Ruled4a8 amended at the Execution Time and, in thateagy post-effective amendment thereto
or any Rule 462(b) Registration Statement becorfiestave prior to the Closing Date, shall also msach registration statement as so
amended or such Rule 462(b) Registration Staterasrihe case may be.

“Rule 158", “Rule 163", “Rule 164", “Rule 172", “Ra 405", “Rule 415", “Rule 424", “Rule 430A” and ‘iRe 433" refer to such
rules under the Act.

“Rule 430A Information” shall mean information withspect to the Securities and the offering thepeofitted to be omitted from
the Registration Statement when it becomes effegtivsuant to Rule 430A.

“Rule 462(b) Registration Statement” shall meaegistration statement and any amendments thetetbdursuant to Rule 462(b)
relating to the offering covered by the registnatidatement referred to in Section 1(a) hereof
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If the foregoing is in accordance with your undansting of our agreement, please sign and retuas tbe enclosed duplicate
hereof, whereupon this letter and your acceptaha# epresent a binding agreement among the Coyngath the several Underwriters.

Very truly yours,
VMware, Inc.

By:

Name
Title:
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The foregoing Agreement is hereby
confirmed and accepted as of the
date first above written.

Citigroup Global Markets Inc.
J.P. Morgan Securities Inc.
Lehman Brothers Inc.

By: Citigroup Global Markets Inc

By: J.P. Morgan Securities In

By: By:
Name Name
Title: Title:

For themselves and the other
several Underwriters named in
Schedule I to the foregoing
Agreement.
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By: Lehman Brothers Inc

By:

Name
Title:



SCHEDULE |

Underwriters

Number of Underwritten
Securities
to be Purchased

Citigroup Global Markets Inc

J.P. Morgan Securities In
Lehman Brothers Inc

Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LL
Deutsche Bank Securities Ir
Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporal
A.G. Edwards & Sons, Ini

Banc of America Securities LL
Bear, Stearns & Co. In

HSBC Securities (USA) Inc

UBS Securities LLC

Wachovia Securities, Ini

Total




[Form of Lock-Up Agreement] EXHIBIT A

[Letterhead of officer or director of VMware, Inc.]

VMware, Inc.
Public Offering of Common Stock

, 20(

Citigroup Global Markets Inc.
388 Greenwich Street
New York, New York 1001:

J.P. Morgan Securities Inc.
277 Park Avenue, 9Floor
New York, New York 1017:

Lehman Brothers Inc.
399 Park Avenue, 10Floor
New York, New York 1002:

As Representatives of the several Underwriters

Ladies and Gentlemen:

This letter is being delivered to you in connectiaith the proposed Underwriting Agreement (the “@nariting Agreement”),
between VMware, Inc., a Delaware corporation (tGerhpany”), and each of you as representativeggobap of Underwriters named therein,
relating to an underwritten public offering of CommStock, $0.01 par value (the “Common Stock”thaf Company.

In order to induce you and the other Underwritereriter into the Underwriting Agreement, the unidgrsd agrees that it will not,
without the prior written consent of the Represgws, offer, sell, contract to sell, pledge orexthise dispose of (or enter into any transaction
which is designed to, or might reasonably be exgzbtit, result in the disposition (whether by actlisposition or effective economic
disposition due to cash settlement or otherwisehbyundersigned or any affiliate of the undersijaeany person in privity with the
undersigned or any affiliate of the undersigned@¥dly or indirectly, including the filing (or ptcipation in the filing) of a registration
statement with the Securities and Exchange Comamissi the establishment or increase of a put etgriv@osition or liquidation or decrease
of a call equivalent position within the meaningSgfction 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1@34amended, and the rules and regulations
of the Securities and Exchange Commission prometbttereunder with respect to, any shares of constamk of the Company or any
securities convertible into, or exercisable or exaeable for such common stock, or publicly annewartintention to effect any such
transaction, for a period of 180 days from the détine Prospectus (the “lock-up period”).
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Notwithstanding the foregoing, the undersigned tnagsfer its shares of common stock (i) dsaa fidegift or gifts, providedhat
the donee or donees thereof agree to be boundtingvpy the restrictions set forth herein, (ii)dsnations to charitable organizatiopspvidec
that each recipient agrees to be bound in writinghle restrictions set forth herein, (iii) by wili the laws of descent and distribution, (iv) to
any trust for the direct or indirect benefit of tinedersigned or the immediate family of the undgrsd, providedhat the trustee of the trust
agrees to be bound in writing by the restrictiosisferth herein, and providddrtherthat any such transfer shall not involve a dispasifor
value, (v) to any of its direct or indirect whollyvned subsidiaries if the undersigned is a corpmaprovidedthat the transferee agrees to be
bound in writing by the restrictions set forth hiereand providedurtherthat any such transfer shall not involve a dispasitor value, or
(vi) with the prior written consent of the Represdives on behalf of the Underwriters. For purpasfethis Lock-Up Agreement, “immediate
family” shall mean any relationship by blood, mage or adoption, not more remote than first coudathing in this agreement shall preclude
the sale of shares to the Company, including taleatisfy taxes payable in connection with thdingsof previously awarded shares that
constitute restricted stock.

If (i) the Company issues an earnings release ¢enahnews, or a material event relating to thenpany occurs, during the last 17
days of the lock-up period, or (ii) prior to thepiration of the lockdp period, the Company announces that it will rede@arnings results duri
the 16-day period beginning on the last day ofitls&-up period, the restrictions imposed by thisesagnent shall continue to apply until the
expiration of the 18-day period beginning on trsu@nce of the earnings release or the occurrente ohaterial news or material event, unless
the Representatives waive, in writing, such extemsThe undersigned hereby acknowledges that thep@oy has agreed in the Underwriting
Agreement to provide written notice of any evemtt tvould result in an extension of the lagiperiod and agrees that any such notice pro
delivered will be deemed to have given to, andiveckby, the undersigned.

If (a) for any reason the Underwriting Agreemerdlshe terminated prior to the Closing Date (asraef in the Underwriting
Agreement), (b) the Underwriting Agreement shall Io@® entered into by November 13, 2007, or (c)@benpany notifies you that it does no
the Underwriters do not intend to proceed withdffering contemplated by the proposed Underwrithggeement, the agreement set forth
above shall automatically be terminated.

Yours very truly,
[Signature of officer, director or major stockhaifd

[Name and address of officer, director or mi
stockholder]
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[Form of EMC Lock -Up Agreement] EXHIBIT B

[Letterhead of EMC Corporation]

VMware, Inc.
Public Offering of Common Stock

, 20(

Citigroup Global Markets Inc.
388 Greenwich Street
New York, New York 1001:

J.P. Morgan Securities Inc.
277 Park Avenue, 9Floor
New York, New York 1017:

Lehman Brothers Inc.
399 Park Avenue, 10Floor
New York, New York 1002:

As Representatives of the several Underwriters

Ladies and Gentlemen:

This letter is being delivered to you in connectiaith the proposed Underwriting Agreement (the “@nariting Agreement”),
between VMware, Inc., a Delaware corporation (tGerhpany”), and each of you as representativeggobap of Underwriters named therein,
relating to an underwritten public offering of CommStock, $0.01 par value (the “Common Stock”thaf Company.

In order to induce you and the other Underwritereriter into the Underwriting Agreement, the unidgrsd agrees that it will not,
without the prior written consent of the Represgws, offer, sell, contract to sell, pledge orexthise dispose of (or enter into any transaction
which is designed to, or might reasonably be exgzbtit, result in the disposition (whether by actlisposition or effective economic
disposition due to cash settlement or otherwisehbyundersigned or any affiliate of the undersit(ather than the Company), directly or
indirectly, including the filing (or participatioim the filing) of a registration statement with tBecurities and Exchange Commission or the
establishment or increase of a put equivalent joosdr liquidation or decrease of a call equivalgosition within the meaning of Section 16 of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amendebthenrules and regulations of the Securities axah&nge Commission promulgated
thereunder with respect to, any shares of comnurksif the Company or any securities convertibte,ior exercisable or exchangeable for
such common stock, or publicly announce an intantiioeffect any such transaction, for a period&d dlays from the date of the Prospectus
(the “lock-up period”).
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If (i) the Company issues an earnings release ¢enahnews, or a material event relating to thenpany occurs, during the last 17
days of the lock-up period, or (i) prior to thepération of the lockup period, the Company announces that it will be@arnings results duri
the 16-day period beginning on the last day ofitls&-up period, the restrictions imposed by thisesagnent shall continue to apply until the
expiration of the 18-day period beginning on theu@nce of the earnings release or the occurrente ohaterial news or material event, unless
the Representatives waive, in writing, such extamsThe undersigned hereby acknowledges that tihep@oy has agreed in the Underwriting
Agreement to provide written notice of any evemtt tivould result in an extension of the logliperiod and agrees that any such notice pro
delivered will be deemed to have given to, andiveckby, the undersigned.

If (@) for any reason the Underwriting Agreemerdlshe terminated prior to the Closing Date (asraf in the Underwriting
Agreement), (b) the Underwriting Agreement shall @ entered into by November 13, 2007, or (c)@bepany notifies you that it does no
the Underwriters do not intend to proceed withdffering contemplated by the proposed Underwrithggeement, the agreement set forth
above shall automatically be terminated.

Yours very truly,
EMC Corporatior
By:

Name:
Title:




[Form of Acquiring Shareholder Lock-Up Agreement] EXHIBIT C

[Letterhead of Acquiring Shareholder]

VMware, Inc.
Public Offering of Common Stock

, 20(

Citigroup Global Markets Inc.
388 Greenwich Street
New York, New York 1001:

J.P. Morgan Securities Inc.
277 Park Avenue, 9Floor
New York, New York 1017:

Lehman Brothers Inc.
399 Park Avenue, 10Floor
New York, New York 1002:

As Representatives of the several Underwriters

Ladies and Gentlemen:

This letter is being delivered to you in connectiaith the [proposed] Underwriting Agreement (thertdérwriting Agreement”),
between VMware, Inc., a Delaware corporation (tGerhpany”), and each of you as representativeggobap of Underwriters named therein,
relating to an underwritten public offering of CommStock, $0.01 par value (the “Common Stock”thaf Company.

Pursuant to Section 5(g) of the Underwriting Agreeinthe undersigned agrees that it will not, withitbe prior written consent of
the Representatives, offer, sell, contract to pédiclge or otherwise dispose of (or enter into taaysaction which is designed to, or might
reasonably be expected to, result in the dispos{tidhether by actual disposition or effective eaniodisposition due to cash settlement or
otherwise) by the undersigned or any affiliatehef tindersigned or any person in privity with theensigned or any affiliate of the
undersigned), directly or indirectly, including tfiékng (or participation in the filing) of a redgistion statement with the Securities and
Exchange Commission or the establishment or inerefa put equivalent position or liquidation ocriEase of a call equivalent position witl
the meaning of Section 16 of the Securities Exchahg of 1934, as amended, and the rules and régudeof the Securities and Exchange
Commission promulgated thereunder with respecing,shares of common stock of the Company or acyrges convertible into, or
exercisable or exchangeable for such common stwgiblicly announce an intention to effect anytstransaction, for a period of 180 days
from the date of the Prospectus (the “lock-up pEio
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If (i) the Company issues an earnings release ¢enahnews, or a material event relating to thenpany occurs, during the last 17
days of the lock-up period, or (i) prior to thepération of the lockup period, the Company announces that it will be@arnings results duri
the 16-day period beginning on the last day ofitls&-up period, the restrictions imposed by thisesagnent shall continue to apply until the
expiration of the 18-day period beginning on theu@nce of the earnings release or the occurrente ohaterial news or material event, unless
the Representatives waive, in writing, such extamsThe undersigned hereby acknowledges that tihep@oy has agreed in the Underwriting
Agreement to provide written notice of any evemtt tivould result in an extension of the logliperiod and agrees that any such notice pro
delivered will be deemed to have given to, andiveckby, the undersigned.

If (@) for any reason the Underwriting Agreemerdlshe terminated prior to the Closing Date (asraf in the Underwriting
Agreement), (b) the Underwriting Agreement shall @ entered into by November 13, 2007, or (c)@bepany notifies you that it does no
the Underwriters do not intend to proceed withdffering contemplated by the proposed Underwrithggeement, the agreement set forth
above shall automatically be terminated.

Yours very truly,
[Signature of Acquiring Shareholde

[Name and address of Acquiring Sharehol
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Exhibit 5.1
[Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP]
July 24, 2007

VMware, Inc.
3401 Hillview Avenue
Palo Alto, California 94304

RE: VMware, Inc.
Registration Statement on Form S-1
(File No. 333142368)

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We have acted as special counsel to VMware, Inbglaware corporation (the “Company”), in connegtiaith the initial public offering
(the “Initial Public Offering”) by the Company opuo 37,950,000 shares (including 4,950,000 sheubfect to an over-allotment option) (the
“Shares”) of Class A common stock, par value $@édshare.

This opinion is being furnished in accordance wlith requirements of Item 601(b)(5) of RegulatioK 8nder the Securities Act of 1933,
as amended (the “Act”).

In connection with the opinion set forth herein, liaa’e examined and relied on originals or copigh@following: (i) the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 3323B8) as filed with the Securities and Exchange @@sion (the “Commission”) on
April 26, 2007 under the Act; (ii) Amendment Notdlthe Company’s Registration Statement on FormaS-flled with the Commission on
June 11, 2007 under the Act; (iii) Amendment Nto Zhe Company’s Registration Statement on FormaS-filed with the Commission on
July 9, 2007; (iv) Amendment No. 3 to the Comparé&gistration Statement being filed with the Consiais on the date hereof (such
Registration Statement, as so amended, being laéterimeferred to as the “Registration Statemerft’) the form of Underwriting Agreement
(the “Underwriting Agreement”) proposed to be eateinto by and among the Company, as issuer, aigt@ip Global Markets Inc., J.P.
Morgan Securities Inc. and Lehman Brothers, Irerepresentatives of the several underwriters naherdin, filed as an exhibit to the
Registration Statement; (vi) a specimen certifi@tielencing the Shares; (vii) the Amended and Regt@ertificate of Incorporation of the
Company, as amended to the date hereof and cyriergffect, certified by the Secretary of Statdted State of Delaware; (viii)) the Amended
and Restated Bylaws of the Company; and (ix) aer@solutions of the Board of Directors of the Camyprelating to the issuance and sale of
the Shares, the Registration Statement and refastidrs. We have also examined originals or copirsified or otherwise identified to our
satisfaction, of such records of the Company aiti sgreements, certificates and receipts of puifficials, certificates of officers or other
representatives of the Company and others, andathelh documents as we have deemed necessaryropepfe as a basis for the opinion set
forth below.

In our examination, we have assumed the legal @gpafcall natural persons, the genuineness ofigtatures, the authenticity of all
documents submitted to us as originals, the corifgrtm original documents of all documents subnditte us as facsimile, electronic, certified
or photostatic copies, and the authenticity ofahiginals of such copies. In making our examinatibexecuted documents, we have assumed
that the parties thereto, other than the Compaay the power, corporate or other, to enter intogertbrm all obligations thereunder and have
also assumed the due authorization by all requésitien, corporate or other, and the executiondetidery by such parties of such documents
and the validity and binding effect thereof on spealties. As to any facts material to the opinigpressed herein that we did not independe
establish or verify, we have relied upon statemantsrepresentations of officers and other reptatieas of the Company and others and of
public officials.



VMware, Inc.
July 24, 2007
Page 2

In rendering the opinion set forth below, we hassuened that if issued in physical form, certifisatepresenting the Shares in the form
examined by us will be manually signed by an autiedr officer of the transfer agent and registrartfi@ Shares and registered by such transfer
agent and registrar or, if issued in book entryrfoan appropriate account statement evidencin§tiages credited to the recipient’s account
maintained with the Company’s transfer agent fer$inares will be issued by said transfer agent.

We do not express any opinion as to the laws ofjamgdiction other than the corporate laws of 8tate of Delaware, and we do not
express any opinion as to the effect of any otiwslon the opinion stated herein.

Based upon and subject to the foregoing, we atieeobpinion that when (i) the Registration Statentextomes effective under the Act;
(i) the Underwriting Agreement has been duly exedwand delivered; and (iii) the Shares have bednrégistered by the transfer agent and
registrar, and have been delivered upon paymetlinf the consideration payable with respectite Ehares as determined by the Board of
Directors of the Company and as contemplated byJtiderwriting Agreement, the Shares will be valitlyued, fully paid and nonassessable.

We hereby consent to the filing of this opinioniwihe Commission as an exhibit to the Registrafitatement. We also consent to the
reference to our firm under the caption “Legal Medtin the Registration Statement. In giving this corisere do not thereby admit that we
included in the category of persons whose consemtjuired under Section 7 of the Act or the raled regulations of the Commission.

Very truly yours,
/sl Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the use in Amendment No tBisdRegistration Statement on Form S-1 of our regated April 17, 2007, except
for Note A—Revision of Financial Statement Prestoita as to which the date is July 5, 2007, retatmthe financial statements and financial
statement schedule of VMware, Inc. which appeassioh Registration Statement. We also consenetoetfierence to us under the heading
“Experts” in such Registration Statement.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Jose, CA
July 22, 2007



